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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INFORMATION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”), the other reports, statements, and information that we have previously filed or that we may subsequently file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and public announcements that we have previously made or may subsequently make include, may include,
incorporate by reference or may incorporate by reference certain statements that may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements
included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report and those reports, statements, information and announcements address activities, events or
developments that Reed’s, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “we,” “us,” “our” or “Reed’s”) expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future. Any statements in
this document about expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical facts and are forward-looking
statements. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “predict,” “potential,”
“believe,” “will likely result,” “expect,” “will continue,” “anticipate,” “seek,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “projection,” “would” and “outlook” and similar
expressions. Accordingly, these statements involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed in them. Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the factors discussed throughout this document. All forward-
looking statements concerning economic conditions, rates of growth, rates of income or values as may be included in this document are based on information
available to us on the dates noted, and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements.
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The risk factors referred to in this Annual Report beginning on page 14 could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by us, and you should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks
only as of the date on which it is made, and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement or statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is
not possible for us to predict which will arise. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

Management cautions that these statements are qualified by their terms and/or important factors, many of which are outside of our control, involve a number of
risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from the statements made, including, but not limited to, the
following risk factors:

e QOur ability to generate sufficient cash flow to support marketing and product development plans and general operating activities,

® Decreased demand for our products resulting from changes in consumer preferences,

e Competitive products and pricing pressures and our ability to gain or maintain our share of sales in the marketplace,

e The introduction of new products,

e Our being subject to a broad range of evolving federal, state and local laws and regulations including those regarding the labeling and safety of food
products, establishing ingredient designations and standards of identity for certain foods, environmental protections, as well as worker health and safety. Changes

in these laws and regulations could have a material effect on the way in which we produce and market our products and could result in increased costs,

e Changes in the cost and availability of raw materials and the ability to maintain our supply arrangements and relationships and procure timely and/or
adequate production of all or any of our products,




e Our ability to penetrate new markets and maintain or expand existing markets,

e Maintaining existing relationships and expanding the distributor network of our products,

e Decline in global financial markets and economic downturn resulting from the coronavirus COVID-19 global pandemic,
e Business interruptions resulting from the coronavirus COVID-19 global pandemic,

o Our ability to remediate weaknesses we identified in our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting in a timely
enough manner to eliminate the risks posed by such material weaknesses in future periods,

e Maintaining the listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market or other national securities exchange,
o The marketing efforts of distributors of our products, most of whom also distribute products that are competitive with our products,

e Decisions by distributors, grocery chains, specialty chain stores, club stores and other customers to discontinue carrying all or any of our products that
they are carrying at any time,

o The availability and cost of capital to finance our working capital needs and growth plans,
® The effectiveness of our advertising, marketing and promotional programs,

e Changes in product category consumption,

e Economic and political changes,

e Consumer acceptance of new products, including taste test comparisons,

® Possible recalls of our products, and

e Whether or not we will be entitled to forgiveness of our Paycheck Protection Program loan.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of
activity, performance, or achievements.




PART 1
Item 1. Business

Overview

Reed’s Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Reed’s”, the “Company,” “we,” or “us” throughout this report) owns a leading portfolio of handcrafted, all-natural
beverages that is sold in over 40,000 outlets nationwide (including the natural and specialty food channel, grocery stores, mass merchants, drug stores, convenience
stores, club stores and on-premise locations including bars and restaurants). Reed’s two core brands are Reed’s Craft Ginger Beer and Reed’s Real Ginger Ale and
Virgil’s Handcrafted soda. Reed’s Craft Ginger Beers are unique due to the proprietary process of using fresh ginger root combined with a Jamaican inspired
recipe of natural spices, honey and fruit juices. Reed’s uses this same handcrafted approach in its Reed’s Real Ginger Ale and Virgil’s line of great tasting, bold
flavored craft sodas, including its award-winning Virgil’s Root Beer.

Reed’s is the leading ginger beer in the US; Virgil’s is the leading independent (not aligned with Coca-Cola, Pepsi or Keurig Dr. Pepper) all-natural full line craft
soda and is ranked fourth in the craft soda category.

Historical Development

Reed’s Original Ginger Brew, created in 1987 by Christopher J. Reed, our founder, and current Chief Innovation Officer and director, was introduced to the market
in Southern California stores in 1989. By 1990, we began marketing our products through United Natural Foods Inc. (“UNFI”) and other natural food distributors
and moved our production to a larger facility in Boulder, Colorado.

In 1991, we incorporated our business operations in the state of Florida under the name of Original Beverage Corporation and moved all production to a co-pack
facility in Pennsylvania. Throughout the 1990’s, we continued to develop and launch new Ginger Brew varieties. Reed’s Ginger Brews reached broad placement in
natural and gourmet foods stores nationwide through UNFI and other major specialty, natural/gourmet and mainstream food and beverage distributors.

In 1997, we began licensing the products of China Cola and eventually acquired the rights to that product in 2000. In 1999, we purchased the Virgil’s Root Beer
brand from the Crowley Beverage Company. In 2000, we moved into an 18,000-square foot warechouse property, the Brewery, in Los Angeles, California, to
headquarters. In 2001, pursuant to a reincorporation merger, we changed our state of incorporation to Delaware and also changed our name to “Reed’s, Inc.”

In September 2018, we completed the relocation of its headquarters to Norwalk, Connecticut. In December 2018, after a lengthy marketing and bidding process,
we sold the Brewery to a company owned by Christopher J. Reed, our founder. The sale of the Brewery marked a fundamental shift in the nature of our operations
and effectively eliminated our costs associated with excess manufacturing capacity.

Industry Overview
Reed’s offers its portfolio of natural hand-crafted beverages in the craft specialty foods industry as natural alternatives to the $32 billion mainstream carbonated
soft drinks (“CSD”) market in the United States as measured by IRI Multi Outlet scan data. Reed’s products are sold across the country and internationally in the

following major channels: natural food, specialty food, grocery, mass merchant, convenience, club, drug, and on-premise locations (bars and restaurants).

Even after a year of the pandemic, overall sales growth of natural food and beverage products continues to outpace sales growth for conventional products across
all retail channels. We see ample opportunity to scale our natural beverage business and grow our distribution in these channels.

Carbonated Soft Drink Industry Overview
The retail CSD category has rallied during the pandemic. This past year, after 13 years of declines, the retail CSD category grew 13%. The ginger ale segment
grew even faster at 15.4% and is now a $1.1 billion dollar market. Ginger ale growth, we believe, is driven primarily by a consumer perception of ginger ale as a

healthier alternative to other sodas. Our new line of ginger ales made with real ginger deliver on this perception and are poised to breakout in the segment.

In the wake of COVID-19, consumers are shifting consumption to better-for-you products. We believe there is significant growth potential from consumers
switching away from mainstream beverages that contain artificial ingredients and preservatives towards great-tasting, natural alternatives.




Consumer Trends Driving Growth for Our Products
The following is a list of consumer trends that are accelerating as we exit the pandemic, and which support our brands.
e Natural: Interest in all-natural products has gone mainstream.
e Clean Label: 62% of Americans are avoiding at least one ingredient.
e Reduced Sugar: A favorable trend for our zero-sugar beverages, 77% of consumers say they are reducing their sugar intake.

o Functionality: Right before the pandemic, 65% of consumers looked for function in what they eat and drink. This accelerating trend will drive growth for
our ginger-based beverages.

e Craft: Appeal continues to grow of higher-quality, independent, and more authentic brands.

e Premiumization: A trend towards embracing quality has accelerated during the pandemic with consumers splurging on premium beverages at retail,
including premium mixers.

o  Better-for-you Mocktails: More consumers are seeking non-alcoholic alternatives with bold and unique flavors.

e Ready-to-Drink Cocktails: Category is exploding alongside hard seltzer as people seek novelty and variety, which puts our RTD Mules in a great
position to succeed.

Our strategies will remain responsive to these macro consumer trends as we concentrate our efforts on developing the Company’s sales and marketing functions.
Our Products

We make our hand-crafted beverages with only premium, natural ingredients. Our products are free of genetically modified organisms (“GMOs”) and artificial
preservatives. Over the years, Reed’s has developed several product offerings. In 2019, we streamlined our focus to our core categories of Reed’s Ginger
Beverages and Virgil’s Craft Sodas. In April 2020, we launched our new line of Reed’s Real Ginger Ales, in both Full Sugar and Zero Sugar versions, made with
2,000mg of fresh organic ginger.

Reed’s Craft Ginger Beer

Reed’s Craft Ginger Beer is set apart from other ginger beers by its proprietary process of brewing fresh ginger root, its exclusive use of all-natural ingredients, and
its authentic Jamaican-inspired recipe. We do not use artificial preservatives, artificial flavors, or colors, and Reed’s Ginger Beer is certified kosher. We offer
different levels of fresh ginger content, ranging from our lightest-spiced Original, to our medium-spiced Extra, and finally to our spiciest Strongest. We also offer
three sweetener options: one with cane sugar, honey and fruit juices; one with honey and pineapple juice; and another without sugar (Zero Sugar) made from an
innovative blend of natural sweeteners (developed in 2018 and commercialized in 2019).
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As of the end of 2020, the Reed’s Craft Ginger Beer line included five major varieties:

Reed’s Original Ginger Beer — Our first to market product uses a Jamaican-inspired recipe that calls for fresh ginger root, lemon, lime, honey, raw cane sugar,
pineapple, herbs and spices.

Reed’s Premium Ginger Beer — Our Original Ginger Beer sweetened with honey and pineapple juice. (No cane sugar added.)
Reed’s Extra Ginger Beer — Contains 100% more fresh ginger than Reed’s Original recipe for extra spice.
Reed’s Strongest Ginger Beer — Contains 200% more fresh ginger than Reed’s Original for the strongest spice.

Reed’s Zero Sugar Extra Ginger Beer — launched in 2019 in bottles and cans, it uses a proprietary natural sweetening system for a zero-calorie version of our
Reed’s Extra Ginger Beer.

Reed’s Real Ginger Ale

Reed’s Real Ginger Ale is unique for the category because it combines real fresh ginger with the classic, refreshing taste that consumers love. It contains nothing
artificial and is Non-GMO project verified. We offer two sweetener options: one with cane sugar and the other with our zero-calorie, all-natural sweetener blend.

NEW! Reed’s Real Ginger Ale — launched in April 2020 in standard and slim cans. It is the only mass market ginger ale made with organic fresh ginger.

NEW! Reed’s Zero Sugar Real Ginger Ale — also launched in April 2020 in standard and slim cans. It uses our all-natural sweetener blend to match the great
taste of the cane sugar version in a zero-calorie drink.

Other New Ginger Beverages under the Reed’s brand

NEW! Reed’s Wellness Ginger Shots — launched in February 2020 offered in two varieties: Daily Ginger and Ginger Energize. These convenient, shelf-stable
shots provide a ginger boost on the go.

NEW! Reed’s Zero Sugar Classic Mule — launched in June 2020 containing 7% ABV (Alcohol By Volume), is the ultimate mule, made with fresh ginger root, to
be enjoyed anytime, anywhere.

Virgil’s Handcrafted Sodas

Virgil’s is a premium handcrafted soda that uses only all-natural ingredients to create bold renditions of classic flavors. We don’t use any artificial preservatives,
any artificial colors, or any GMO-sourced ingredients, and our Virgil’s line is certified kosher.

The Virgil’s line includes the following products:

Handcrafted Line: Virgil’s first Handcrafted soda was launched in 1994. It began as one man’s passion to create the finest root beer ever produced and has since
won numerous awards. Virgil’s difference is using all-natural ingredients to craft bold, classic soda flavors. Virgil’s Handcrafted line includes Root Beer, Vanilla
Cream, Black Cherry, and Orange Cream.

Zero Sugar Line: Virgil’s launched a new line of Zero Sugar, Zero Calorie craft sodas in 2019. Each Zero Sugar soda is sweetened with a proprietary blend of
natural sweeteners with no added sugars. This all-natural line of Zero Sugar flavors includes Root Beer, Cola, Black Cherry, Vanilla Cream, Orange Cream and
Lemon-Lime. The product has recently been certified Keto compliant.

2021 Product Launches
During the second quarter of 2021, Reed’s will launch the below:

Reed’s Real Ginger Ale Zero Sugar Line Extensions: Shirley Tempting and Transfusion

Reed’s Real Ginger Ale and Virgil’s 20 oz Bottles for the Convenience Channel

Virgil’s Zero Sugar Line Extensions: Dr. Better, Grapefruit, and Ginger Ale

Limited Edition Swing Lid Bottles 0.5 liter: Virgil’s Bavarian Nutmeg Root Beer and Flying Cauldron Butterscotch Beer
Reed’s Craft Stormy Mule




Our Primary Markets

We target a smaller segment of the estimated $32 billion mainstream carbonated and non-carbonated soft drink markets in the United States. Our brands are
generally considered premium and natural, with upscale packaging. They are loosely defined as the craft specialty bottled carbonated soft drink category.

We have an experienced and geographically diverse sales force promoting our products, with senior sales representatives strategically placed in multiple regions
across the country, supported by local Reed’s sales staff. Additionally, we have sales managers handling national accounts for natural, specialty, grocery, mass,
club, drug and convenience channels. Our sales managers are responsible for all activities related to the sales, distribution, and marketing of our brands to our
entire retail partner and distributor network in North America. The Company not only employs an internal sales force but has partnered with independent sales
brokers and outside representatives to promote our products in specific channels and key targeted accounts.
We sell to well-known popular natural food and gourmet retailers, large grocery store chains, mass merchants, club stores, convenience and drug stores, liquor
stores, industrial cafeterias (corporate feeders), and to on-premise bars and restaurants nationwide and in some international markets. We also sell our products and
promotional merchandise directly to consumers via the Internet through our Amazon storefront which can be accessed through our company web site
www.drinkreeds.com.
Some of our representative key customers include:

e Natural stores: Whole Foods Market, Sprouts, Natural Grocers by Vitamin Cottage, Fresh Thyme Farmers Market

e  Gourmet & specialty stores: Trader Joe’s, Bristol Farms, Lazy Acres, The Fresh Market, Central Market

e Grocery and mass chains: Kroger (and all Kroger banners), Safeway, Albertson’s, Publix, Food Lion, Stop & Shop, H.E.B., Wegmans, Target, Walmart

e  Club stores: BJ’s

e Liquor stores: BevMo!, Total Wine & More, Spec’s

e Convenience & drug stores: Circle K, CVS Health, Rite Aid

Our Distribution Network

Our products are brought to market through an extremely flexible and fluid hybrid distribution model, which is a mix of direct-store-delivery, customer warechouse,
and distributor networks. The distribution system used depends on customer needs, product characteristics, and local trade practices.

Our product reaches the market in the following ways:
Direct to Natural & Specialty Wholesale Distributors

Our natural and specialty distributor partners operate a distribution network delivering thousands of SKUs of natural and gourmet products to thousands of small,
independent, natural retail outlets around the U.S., along with national chain customers, both conventional and natural. This system of distribution allows our
brands far reaching access to some of the most remote parts of North America. During the past year we expanded, and will continue to expand, in this distribution
network.

Direct to Store Distribution (“DSD”) Through Non-Alcoholic Beverage Distributor Network

Our independent distributor partners operate DSD systems which deliver primarily beverages, foods, and snacks directly to retail stores where the products are
merchandised by their route sales and field sales employees. DSD enables us to merchandise with maximum visibility and appeal. DSD is especially well-suited to
products frequently restocked and responds to in-store promotion and merchandising. We are primarily focused on expanding our DSD network on a national
basis.




Direct to Store Warehouse Distribution

Some of our products are delivered from our co-packers and warehouses directly to customer warehouses. Some retailers mandate we deliver directly to them, as it
is more cost effective and allows them to pass savings along to their customers. Other retailers may not mandate direct delivery, but they recommend and prefer it
as they have the capability to self-distribute and can realize significant savings with direct delivery.

Wholesale Distribution

Our Wholesale Distributor network handles the wholesale shipments of our products. These distributors have a warehouse and distribution center, and ship Reed’s
and Virgil’s products directly to the retailer (or to customers who opt for drop shipping).

International Distribution

We presently export Reed’s and Virgil’s brands throughout international markets via US based exporters. International markets where our brands are present are
France, UK, South Africa, portions of the Caribbean, Canada, Spain, Philippines, Isracl and Australia. In the UK, our Virgil’s brands can be found at Pizza Hut,
Tesco Supermarket and Sainsbury.

International sales to some areas of the world are cost prohibitive, except for some specialty sales, since our premium sodas were historically packed in glass,
which drives substantial freight costs when shipping overseas. Despite these cost challenges, we believe there are good opportunities to expand internationally, and
we are increasing our marketing focus on these areas by adding freight friendly packages such as aluminum cans. We are open to exporting and co-packing
internationally and expanding our brands into foreign markets, and we have held preliminary discussions with trading companies and import/export companies for
the distribution of our products throughout Asia, Europe, Australia, and South America. We believe these areas are a natural fit for Reed’s ginger products because
of the popularity and importance of ginger in international markets, especially the Asian market, where ginger is a significant part of the local diet and nutrition.

We believe the strength of our brands, innovation, and marketing, coupled with the quality of our products and flexibility of our distribution network, allows us to
compete effectively.

Distribution Agreements

We have entered into agreements with some of our distributors that commit us to “termination fees” if we terminate our agreements early or without cause. These
agreements provide for our distributor partners to have the right to distribute our products to a defined type of retailer within a defined geographic region. As is
customary in the beverage industry, if we should terminate the agreement or not automatically renew the agreement, we would be obligated to make certain
payments to our distributor partners. We constantly review our distribution agreements with our partners across North America.

Some of our outside distributors are not bound by written agreements with us and may discontinue their relationship with us on short notice. Most distributors
handle a number of competitive products. In addition, our products are sometimes a small part of our distributors’ businesses.

Manufacturing Our Products

All of Reed’s products are produced by our co-pack partners, which assemble our products and charge us a fee, generally by the case, for the products produced.
We have a long-standing relationship with two co-packers in Pennsylvania. Additionally, in conjunction with the sale of our plant, we entered into a three-year co-
packing agreement with CCB, whereby CCB will produce Reed’s Inc. beverages in glass bottles at prevailing West Coast market rates. In 2019, we entered into a
co-packing agreement with Sonoma Beverage Company on the West Coast. We recently engaged an additional co-packer on the East Coast, Clinton’s Ditch, and
another on the West Coast, Noel Canning. We are in discussions and negotiations with additional co-packers to secure added capability for future production
needs. We periodically review our co-packing relationships to ensure that they are optimal with respect to quality of production, cost and location.
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Warehousing and Logistics are a significant portion of the Company’s operational costs. In order to drive efficiency and reduce costs, on February 1, 2019 we
entered into a strategic partnership with Veritiv Logistics Solutions to manage all freight movement for the Company. Veritiv is one of the largest distribution
service providers in North America and has expertise that will provide a competitive advantage in the movement of raw materials and finished goods. This
partnership will support planning and execution of all inventory movement, assessment of storage needs and cost management.

We follow a “fill as needed” model to the best of our ability and have no significant order backlog.
New Product Development

While we have simplified our business and have streamlined a significant number of SKUs in order to further our primary objective of accelerating the growth of
the Reed’s and Virgil’s core product offerings, we believe significant opportunity remains in the all-natural beverage space.

Healthier alternatives will be the future for carbonated soft drinks. We will continue to drive product development in the all-natural, no and low sugar offerings in
the “better for you” beverage categories. In addition, we believe there are powerful consumer trends that will help propel the growth of our brand portfolio
including the increased consumption of ginger as a recognized superfood, the growing use of ginger beer in today’s popular cocktail drinks, and consumers’
increased demand for higher quality, all-natural handcrafted beverages.

Christopher J. Reed, the Company’s founder and Chief Innovation Officer continues to support our new product development efforts in 2020. Mr. Reed possesses
thirty plus years of product development and innovation experience. Recent innovations include our compelling line of full flavor, all-natural, zero sugar, zero
calorie sodas. Reed’s has also begun to expand and broaden its product development capabilities by engaging and working with larger, experienced beverage flavor
houses and innovative ingredient research and supply companies.

We believe our new business model enhances our ability to be nimble and innovative, producing category leading new products in a short period of time.
Competition
Nonalcoholic Beverages

The nonalcoholic beverage segment of the commercial beverage industry is highly competitive, consisting of numerous companies ranging from small or emerging
to very large and well established. The principal areas of competition include pricing, packaging, development of new products and flavors, and marketing
campaigns. Our products compete with a wide range of drinks produced by a relatively large number of manufacturers. Many of these brands have enjoyed broad,
well-established national recognition for years, through well-funded ad and other branding campaigns. Competitors in the ginger beer category include Goslings,
Fever Tree, Bundaberg, Cock ‘n Bull and Q Tonic; in the craft soda category we compete with brands such as Stewart’s, IBC, Zevia, Blue Sky, Hansen’s, Henry
Weinhard’s, Boylan, and Jones Soda; In the Ginger Ale category we compete with Canada Dry, Schweppes, Seagram’s and Zevia.

Important factors affecting our ability to compete successfully include the taste and flavor of products, trade and consumer promotions, rapid and effective
development of new, unique cutting-edge products, attractive and different packaging, branded product advertising, and pricing. We also compete for distributors
who will concentrate on marketing our products over those of our competitors, provide stable and reliable distribution, and secure adequate shelf space in retail
outlets. Competitive pressures in the soft drink category could also cause our products to be unable to gain or even lose market share, or we could experience price
erosion.
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Despite our products having a relatively high price for a craft premium beverage product, minimal mass media advertising to date, and a small but growing
presence in the mainstream market compared to many of our competitors, we believe our all-natural innovative beverage recipes, packaging, use of premium
ingredients, and a proprietary ginger processing formula provide us with a competitive advantage. Our commitments to the highest quality standards and brand
innovation are keys to our success.

Shot Category

Our Reed’s Wellness Ginger Shot was introduced during 2020. The shot category is very competitive and a few mainstream companies dominate the category, but
there is room for an all-natural alternative. Competition for market share and acceptance of new products is significant. Main competitors are 5S-Hour Energy,
Ginger Time, and Rescue Ginger Shots.

Candy

Reed’s Craft Crystallized Ginger and Reed’s Ginger Chews restaged their product line up in 2020 and we will be working with a new distribution partner in 2021.
The category is small and there is not a significant number of entrants. Key competitors are Chimes and Gin Gins.

Raw Materials

Substantially all of the raw materials used in the preparation, bottling and packaging of our products are purchased by Reed’s or by our contract packers in
accordance with our specifications.

Generally, the raw materials used in our products are obtained from domestic and foreign suppliers and many of the materials have multiple reliable suppliers. This
provides a level of protection against a major supply constriction or adverse cost or supply impacts. Since our raw materials are common ingredients and supply is
casily accessible, we have few long-term contracts in place with our suppliers.

Glass Bottles and Aluminum Cans

A significant component of our product cost is the purchase of glass bottles and aluminum cans. In December 2017, we entered into an exclusive strategic
partnership with Owens-Illinois (glass), and in February 2018 we entered into a strategic partnership with Crown Cork & Seal for aluminum cans. Both suppliers
provide expertise in emerging package and material innovation that can be leveraged to further expand marketing and package offerings.

Working Capital Practices

Historically, we have financed our operations through public and private sales of common stock, issuance of preferred and common stock, convertible debt
instruments, term loans and credit lines from financial institutions, and cash generated from operations. We have taken decisive action to improve our margins,
including fully outsourcing our manufacturing process, streamlining our product portfolio, negotiating improved vendor contracts and restructuring our selling
prices.

Licensing

During 2020 we entered into a licensing agreement with Full Sail Brewery headquartered in Hood River, Oregon to manufacture and sell our new line of Reed’s
Alcoholic Moscow Mule in 4 pack, 12 pack, and 16 ounce cans. Full Sail manages all aspects of production and distribution.
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Seasonality

Sales of our nonalcoholic beverages are somewhat seasonal with a higher than average volume in the warmer months. The volume of sales in the beverage business
may be affected by weather conditions.

Proprietary Rights

We own copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets relating to our products and the processes for their production; the packages used for our products; and the design
and operation of various processes and equipment used in our business. Some of our proprietary rights are licensed to our co-packers and suppliers and other
parties. Reed’s ginger processing and brewing process, finished beverage products and concentrate formulas are among its most valuable trade secrets.

We own trademarks in the United States that we consider material to our business. Trademarks in the United States are valid as long as they are in use and/or their
registrations are properly maintained. Pursuant to our manufacturing and bottling agreements, we authorize our bottlers to use applicable Reed’s trademarks in
connection with their manufacture, sale and distribution of our products. We have registered and intend to obtain additional trademarks in international markets as
may become necessary.

We use confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with employees, manufacturers and distributors to protect our proprietary rights. Mr. Reed is also subject to
an intellectual property agreement with Reed’s restricting competition consistent with his fiduciary obligations to Reed’s.

Regulation
General

The production, distribution and sale in the United States of many of our products are subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Federal Trade
Commission Act, the Lanham Act, state consumer protection laws, competition laws, federal, state and local workplace health and safety laws, various federal,
state and local environmental protection laws, and various other federal, state and local statutes and regulations applicable to the production, transportation, sale,
safety, advertising, labeling and ingredients of such products. Outside the United States, the distribution and sale of our many products and related operations are
also subject to numerous similar and other statutes and regulations.

A California law known as Proposition 65 requires a specific warning to appear on any product containing a component listed by the state as having been found to
cause cancer or birth defects. The state maintains lists of these substances and periodically adds other substances to these lists. Proposition 65 exposes all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of having to provide warnings on their products in California because it does not provide for any generally applicable
quantitative threshold below which the presence of a listed substance is exempt from the warning requirement. Consequently, the detection of even a trace amount
of a listed substance can subject an affected product to the requirement of a warning label. However, Proposition 65 does not require a warning if the manufacturer
of a product can demonstrate that the use of that product exposes consumers to a daily quantity of a listed substance that is:

below a “safe harbor” threshold that may be established;
naturally occurring;

the result of necessary cooking; or

subject to another applicable exemption.

No Company beverages produced for sale in California are currently required to display warnings under this law. We are unable to predict whether a component
found in a Company product might be added to the California list in the future, although the state has initiated a regulatory process in which caffeine and other
natural occurring substances will be evaluated for listing. Furthermore, we are also unable to predict when or whether the increasing sensitivity of detection
methodology may become applicable under this law and related regulations as they currently exist, or as they may be amended, might result in the detection of an
infinitesimal quantity of a listed substance in a beverage of ours produced for sale in California.
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Bottlers of our beverage products presently offer and use non-refillable, recyclable containers in the United States. Some of these bottlers also offer and use
refillable containers, which are also recyclable. Legal requirements apply in various jurisdictions in the United States and overseas requiring deposits or certain
taxes or fees be charged for the sale, marketing and use of certain non-refillable beverage containers. The precise requirements imposed by these measures vary.
Other types of beverage container-related deposit, recycling, tax and/or product stewardship statutes and regulations also apply in various jurisdictions in the
United States and overseas. We anticipate additional, similar legal requirements may be proposed or enacted in the future at local, state and federal levels, both in
the United States and elsewhere.

All of our facilities and other operations in the United States are subject to various environmental protection statutes and regulations, including those relating to the
use of water resources and the discharge of wastewater. Our policy is to comply with all such legal requirements. Compliance with these provisions has not had,
and we do not expect such compliance to have, any material adverse effect on our capital expenditures, net income or competitive position.

Environmental Matters

Our primary cost pertaining to environmental compliance activity is in recycling fees and redemption values. We are required to collect redemption values from
our customers and remit those redemption values to the state, based upon the number of bottles or cans of certain products sold in the state.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2020, we have 34 full-time equivalent employees on our corporate staff. We employ additional people on a part-time basis as needed. We have
never participated in a collective bargaining agreement. We believe relations with our employees are good.

Available Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and, accordingly, we file annual reports, quarterly reports and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Access to copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form
8-K and other filings with the SEC, including amendments to such filings, may be obtained free of charge from our website, http://www.reedsinc.com. These
filings are available promptly after we file them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. We are not incorporating our website or any information from the website into
this annual report. The SEC also maintains a website, http://www.sec.gov, that contains our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Report on Form 8-K and other filings with the SEC. Access to these filings is free of charge.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those presented in our forward-looking
statements. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to
us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm our business. All forward-looking statements
in this document are based on information available to us as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligations to update any such forward-looking statements.

Summary of Material Risk Factors

® Ve have a history of operating losses. If we continue to suffer losses from operations, our working capital may be insufficient to support our ability to
expand our business operations as rapidly as we would deem necessary at any time, unless we are able to obtain additional financing.
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® We may need additional financing in the future, which may not be available when needed or may be costly and dilutive.
® Our secured credit facility with Rosenthal and Rosenthal, Inc. contains financial covenants that, if breached, could trigger default.
® The recent global coronavirus outbreak could harm our business and results of operations.

® Disruption within our supply chain, contract manufacturing or distribution channels could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

® [ncreased market spending may not drive volume growth.

® [ncreases in costs of packaging, ingredients and contract manufacturing tolling fees may have an adverse impact on our gross margin.

o [fwe do not adequately manage our inventory levels, our operating results could be adversely affected.

® [t is difficult to predict the timing and amount of our sales because our distributors are not required to place minimum orders with us.
Risk Factors Related to our recently received Paycheck Protection Program Loan

We may not be entitled to forgiveness of our recently received Paycheck Protection Program Loan, and our application for the Paycheck Protection
Program Loan could in the future be determined to have been impermissible.

On April 20, 2020, we were granted a Paycheck Protection Program loan (the “PPP Loan”) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the
“CARES Act”) administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the “SBA”) in the aggregate amount of $770,000 pursuant to the Paycheck Protection
Program (the “PPP”) under the CARES Act. The PPP Loan agreement is dated April 20, 2020, matures on April 20, 2022, bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum,
with the first six months of interest deferred, is payable monthly commencing on November 2020, and is unsecured and guaranteed by the U.S. Small Business
Administration. The loan term may be extended to April 20, 2025, if mutually agreed to by the Company and lender. The PPP Loan may be prepaid at any time
prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. Under the CARES Act, as amended in June 2020, loan forgiveness is generally available for the sum of
documented payroll costs, covered rent payments, covered mortgage interest and covered utilities during the “Covered Period”, which is 8 weeks or 24 weeks (at
the election of the Company) beginning on the date of the first disbursement of the PPP Loan. We will be required to repay any portion of the outstanding principal
that is not forgiven, along with accrued interest, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will be eligible for loan forgiveness, that we will apply for
forgiveness, or that any amount of the PPP Loan will ultimately be forgiven by the SBA. In order to apply for the PPP Loan, we were required to certify, among
other things, that the current economic uncertainty made the PPP Loan request necessary to support our ongoing operations. We made this certification in good
faith after analyzing, among other things, the maintenance of our workforce, our need for additional funding to continue operations, and our ability to access
alternative forms of capital in the current market environment to offset the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Following this analysis, we believe that we satisfied
all eligibility criteria for the PPP Loan, and that our receipt of the PPP Loan is consistent with the broad objectives of the CARES Act. The certification described
above is subject to interpretation. On April 23, 2020, the SBA issued guidance stating that it is unlikely that a public company with substantial market value and
access to capital markets will be able to make the required certification in good faith. The lack of clarity regarding loan eligibility under the Paycheck Protection
Program has resulted in significant media coverage and controversy with respect to public companies applying for and receiving loans. If, despite our good-faith
belief that given our circumstances we satisfied all eligible requirements for the PPP Loan, we are later determined to have not been in compliance with these
requirements or it is otherwise determined that we were ineligible to receive the PPP Loan, we may be required to repay the PPP Loan in its entirety and/or be
subject to additional penalties. Should we be audited or reviewed by federal or state regulatory authorities as a result of filing an application for forgiveness of the
PPP Loan or otherwise, such audit or review could result in the diversion of management’s time and attention and the incurrence of additional costs. Any of these
events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risk Factors Relating to Our Business
We have a history of operating losses.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a net loss of $10,177 and used cash in operations of $9,496. As of December 31, 2020, we had a
cash balance of $595 with borrowing capacity of $5,166, stockholders’ equity of $10,404 and a working capital of $9,528, compared to a cash balance of $913,
stockholder’s equity of $1,147 and working capital of $4,885 at December 31, 2019.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company experienced significant financing shortages and engaged in two separate transactions to raise
capital in 2020. Recently, the Company received net proceeds of $5,310 from an underwritten offering of common stock in April 2020, and $11,254 from an
underwritten offering of common stock in November 2020.

If we continue to suffer losses from operations, our working capital may be insufficient to support our ability to expand our business operations as rapidly as we
would deem necessary at any time, unless we are able to obtain additional financing. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain such financing on
acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to pursue our business objectives and
would be required to reduce our level of operations, including reducing infrastructure, promotions, sales and marketing programs, personnel and other operating
expenses. These events could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. If adequate funds are not available or if they are not
available on acceptable terms, our ability to fund the growth of our operations, take advantage of opportunities, develop products or services or otherwise respond
to competitive pressures, could be significantly limited.

We may need additional financing in the future, which may not be available when needed or may be costly and dilutive.

We may require additional financing to support our working capital needs in the future. The amount of additional capital we may require, the timing of our capital
needs and the availability of financing to fund those needs will depend on a number of factors, including our strategic initiatives and operating plans, the
performance of our business and the market conditions for debt or equity financing. Additionally, the amount of capital required will depend on our ability to meet
our case sales goals and otherwise successfully execute our operating plan. We believe it is imperative to meet these sales objectives in order to lessen our reliance
on external financing in the future. Although we believe various debt and equity financing alternatives will be available to us to support our working capital needs,
financing arrangements on acceptable terms may not be available to us when needed. Additionally, these alternatives may require significant cash payments for
interest and other costs or could be highly dilutive to our existing shareholders. Any such financing alternatives may not provide us with sufficient funds to meet
our long-term capital requirements. If necessary, we may explore strategic transactions that we consider to be in the best interest of the Company and our
shareholders, which may include, without limitation, public or private offerings of debt or equity securities, and other strategic alternatives; however, these options
may not ultimately be available or feasible.
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Our indebtedness and liquidity needs could restrict our operations and make us more vulnerable to adverse economic conditions.

Our existing indebtedness may adversely affect our operations and limit our growth, and we may have difficulty making debt service payments on such
indebtedness as payments become due. We may also experience the occurrence of events of default or breach of financial covenants. If market or other economic
conditions deteriorate, our ability to comply with these covenants may be impaired. If we violate any of the restrictions or covenants, a significant portion of our
indebtedness may become immediately due and payable, our lenders’ commitment to make further loans to us may terminate. We might not have, or be able to
obtain, sufficient funds to make these accelerated payments.

Our secured credit facility with Rosenthal and Rosenthal, Inc. contains financial covenants that, if breached, could trigger default.

Pursuant to our Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (“Rosenthal”) dated October 4, 2018 for our secured credit facility, we are required to
maintain at the end of each of our fiscal quarters, tangible net worth in an amount not less than negative $1,500,000 and working capital of not less than negative
$2,500,000. We met these requirements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, and 2019. Any breach that is not waived by Rosenthal could trigger default.

The recent global coronavirus outbreak could harm our business and results of operations.

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to
spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, customers, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially
leading to an economic downturn. It has also disrupted the normal operations of many businesses, including ours. This outbreak could decrease spending, adversely
affect demand for our product and harm our business and results of operations. It is not possible for us to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of
the outbreak and its effects on our business or results of operations at this time.

The COVID-19 pandemic and mitigation measures has had an adverse impact on global economic conditions, including disruption of stock markets and
may impact on our ability to obtain financing on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

In February and March 2020, the financial markets significantly declined as the reality of the COVID-19 pandemic came into focus. The extent to which the
COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact our results will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time, including
new information that may emerge concerning the severity of the virus and its variants and the actions to contain its impact. Disruption of stock markets had an
impact on the cost of capital in 2020 and may, in the future, impact on our ability to obtain financing on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

Disruption within our supply chain, contract manufacturing or distribution channels could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our ability, through our suppliers, business partners, contract manufacturers, independent distributors and retailers, to produce, transport, distribute and sell
products is critical to our success.

Damage or disruption to our suppliers or to manufacturing or distribution capabilities due to weather, natural disaster, fire or explosion, terrorism, pandemics such
as COVD-19 and influenza, labor strikes or other reasons, could impair the manufacture, distribution and sale of our products. Many of these events are outside of
our control. Failure to take adequate steps to protect against or mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to effectively manage such events if
they occur, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our reliance on distributors, retailers and brokers could affect our ability to efficiently and profitably distribute and market our products, maintain our
existing markets and expand our business into other geographic markets.

Our ability to maintain and expand our existing markets for our products, and to establish markets in new geographic distribution areas, is dependent on our ability
to establish and maintain successful relationships with reliable distributors, retailers and brokers strategically positioned to serve those areas. Most of our
distributors, retailers and brokers sell and distribute competing products and our products may represent a small portion of their businesses. The success of this
network will depend on the performance of the distributors, retailers and brokers of this network. There is a risk that the mentioned entities may not adequately
perform their functions within the network by, without limitation, failing to distribute to sufficient retailers or positioning our products in localities that may not be
receptive to our product. Our ability to incentivize and motivate distributors to manage and sell our products is affected by competition from other beverage
companies who have greater resources than we do. To the extent that our distributors, retailers and brokers are distracted from selling our products or do not
employ sufficient efforts in managing and selling our products, including re-stocking the retail shelves with our products, our sales and results of operations could
be adversely affected. Furthermore, such third-parties’ financial position or market share may deteriorate, which could adversely affect our distribution, marketing
and sales activities.

Our ability to maintain and expand our distribution network and attract additional distributors, retailers and brokers will depend on a number of factors, some of
which are outside our control. Some of these factors include:

e the level of demand for our brands and products in a particular distribution area;
e  our ability to price our products at levels competitive with those of competing products; and
e  our ability to deliver products in the quantity and at the time ordered by distributors, retailers and brokers.

We may not be able to successfully manage all or any of these factors in any of our current or prospective geographic areas of distribution. Our inability to achieve
success with regards to any of these factors in a geographic distribution area will have a material adverse effect on our relationships in that particular geographic
area, thus limiting our ability to maintain or expand our market, which will likely adversely affect our revenues and financial results.

We incur significant time and expense in attracting and maintaining key distributors.

Our marketing and sales strategy depends in large part on the availability and performance of our independent distributors. We currently do not have, nor do we
anticipate in the future that we will be able to establish, long-term contractual commitments from some of our distributors. We may not be able to maintain our
current distribution relationships or establish and maintain successful relationships with distributors in new geographic distribution areas. Moreover, there is the
additional possibility that we may have to incur additional expenditures to attract and maintain key distributors in one or more of our geographic distribution areas
in order to profitably exploit our geographic markets.

If we lose any of our key distributors or national retail accounts, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend in large part on distributors to distribute our beverages and other products. Some of our outside distributors are not bound by written agreements with
us and may discontinue their relationship with us on short notice. Some distributors handle a number of competitive products. In addition, our products are a small
part of our distributors’ businesses.

We continually seek to expand distribution of our products by entering into distribution arrangements with regional bottlers or other direct store delivery
distributors having established sales, marketing and distribution organizations. Many of our distributors are affiliated with and manufacture and/or distribute other
soda and non-carbonated brands and other beverage products. In many cases, such products compete directly with our products.

The marketing efforts of our distributors are important for our success. If our brands prove to be less attractive to our existing distributors and/or if we fail to attract
additional distributors, and/or our distributors do not market and promote our products above the products of our competitors, our business, financial condition and

results of operations could be adversely affected.
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It is difficult to predict the timing and amount of our sales because our distributors are not required to place minimum orders with us.

Our independent distributors and national accounts are not required to place minimum monthly or annual orders for our products. In order to reduce their inventory
costs, independent distributors typically order products from us on a “just in time” basis in quantities and at such times based on the demand for the products in a
particular distribution area. Accordingly, we cannot predict the timing or quantity of purchases by any of our independent distributors or whether any of our
distributors will continue to purchase products from us in the same frequencies and volumes as they may have done in the past. Additionally, our larger distributors
and partners may make orders that are larger than we have historically been required to fill. Shortages in inventory levels, supply of raw materials or other key
supplies could negatively affect us.

If we do not adequately manage our inventory levels, our operating results could be adversely affected.

We need to maintain adequate inventory levels to be able to deliver products to distributors on a timely basis. Our inventory supply depends on our ability to
correctly estimate demand for our products. Our ability to estimate demand for our products is imprecise, particularly for new products, seasonal promotions and
new markets. If we materially underestimate demand for our products or are unable to maintain sufficient inventory of raw materials, we might not be able to
satisfy demand on a short-term basis. If we overestimate distributor or retailer demand for our products, we may end up with too much inventory, resulting in
higher storage costs, increased trade spending and the risk of inventory spoilage. If we fail to manage our inventory to meet demand, we could damage our
relationships with our distributors and retailers and could delay or lose sales opportunities, which would unfavorably impact our future sales and adversely affect
our operating results. In addition, if the inventory of our products held by our distributors and retailers is too high, they will not place orders for additional
products, which would also unfavorably impact our sales and adversely affect our operating results.

Our dependence on independent contract manufacturers could make management of our manufacturing and distribution efforts inefficient or unprofitable.

We are expected to arrange for our contract manufacturing needs sufficiently in advance of anticipated requirements, which is customary in the contract
manufacturing industry for comparably sized companies. Based on the cost structure and forecasted demand for the particular geographic area where our contract
manufacturers are located, we continually evaluate which of our contract manufacturers to use. To the extent demand for our products exceeds available inventory
or the production capacity of our contract manufacturing arrangements, or orders are not submitted on a timely basis, we will be unable to fulfill distributor orders
on demand. Conversely, we may produce more product inventory than warranted by the actual demand for it, resulting in higher storage costs and the potential risk
of inventory spoilage. Our failure to accurately predict and manage our contract manufacturing requirements and our inventory levels may impair relationships
with our independent distributors and key accounts, which, in turn, would likely have a material adverse effect on our ability to maintain effective relationships
with those distributors and key accounts.

Increases in costs of packaging, ingredients and contract manufacturing tolling fees may have an adverse impact on our gross margin.

Over the past few years, costs of organic and natural ingredients have increased due to increased demand and required the Company to obtain these ingredients
from a wider population of qualified vendors. Packaging costs such as paper and aluminum cans have experienced industry wide price increases in the past and
there is always the risk that the company’s co-packers increase their toll rates based on increases in their fixed and variable costs. If the Company is unable to pass
on these costs, the gross margin will be significantly impacted.

Increased market spending may not drive volume growth

The Company’s marketing efforts in the past have been limited. The current increase in marketing spending may not generate an increase in sales volume resulting
in a net decrease in gross revenue.
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Increases in costs of energy and freight may have an adverse impact on our gross and operating margins.

Over the past few years, volatility in the global oil markets has resulted in high fuel prices, which many shipping companies have passed on to their customers by
way of higher base pricing and increased fuel surcharges. With recent declines in fuel prices, some companies have been slow to pass on decreases in their fuel
surcharges. If fuel prices increase again, we expect to experience higher shipping rates and fuel surcharges, as well as energy surcharges on our raw materials. It is
hard to predict what will happen in the fuel markets in 2021. Due to the price sensitivity of our products, we may not be able to pass such increases on to our
customers.

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel, our efficiency and operations would be adversely affected.

Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain highly qualified employees in such areas as sales, marketing, product development, supply chain, finance
and accounting. In general, we compete to hire new employees, and, in some cases, must train them and develop their skills and competencies. Our operating
results could be adversely affected by increased costs due to increased competition for employees, higher employee turnover or increased employee benefit costs.
Any unplanned turnover, particularly involving our key personnel, could negatively impact our operations, financial condition and employee morale.

If we fail to protect our trademarks and trade secrets, we may be unable to successfully market our products and compete effectively.

We rely on a combination of trademark and trade secrecy laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property rights.
Failure to protect our intellectual property could harm our brand and our reputation, and adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Further, enforcing or
defending our intellectual property rights, including our trademarks, copyrights, licenses and trade secrets, could result in the expenditure of significant financial
and managerial resources. We regard our intellectual property, particularly our trademarks and trade secrets, to be of considerable value and importance to our
business and our success, and we actively pursue the registration of our trademarks in the United States and internationally. However, the steps taken by us to
protect these proprietary rights may not be adequate and may not prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating our trademarks, trade secrets or similar
proprietary rights. In addition, other parties may seek to assert infringement claims against us, and we may have to pursue litigation against other parties to assert
our rights. Any such claim or litigation could be costly. In addition, any event that would jeopardize our proprietary rights or any claims of infringement by third
parties could have a material adverse effect on our ability to market or sell our brands, profitably exploit our products or recoup our associated research and
development costs.

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us to significant liabilities and damage our reputation.

We may become party to litigation claims and legal proceedings. Litigation involves significant risks, uncertainties and costs, including distraction of management
attention away from our business operations. We evaluate litigation claims and legal proceedings to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and to estimate,
if possible, the amount of potential losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, we establish reserves and disclose the relevant litigation claims or legal
proceedings, as appropriate. These assessments and estimates are based on the information available to management at the time and involve a significant amount of
management judgment. Actual outcomes or losses may differ materially from those envisioned by our current assessments and estimates. Our policies and
procedures require strict compliance by our employees and agents with all U.S. and local laws and regulations applicable to our business operations, including
those prohibiting improper payments to government officials. Nonetheless, our policies and procedures may not ensure full compliance by our employees and
agents with all applicable legal requirements. Improper conduct by our employees or agents could damage our reputation or lead to litigation or legal proceedings
that could result in civil or criminal penalties, including substantial monetary fines, as well as disgorgement of profits.

We are subject to risks inherent in sales of products in international markets.

Our operations outside of the United States contribute to our revenue and profitability, and we believe that developing and emerging markets present important
future growth opportunities for us. However, there can be no assurance that existing or new products that we manufacture, distribute or sell will be accepted or be
successful in any particular foreign market, due to local or global competition, product price, cultural differences, consumer preferences or otherwise. Here are
many factors that could adversely affect demand for our products in foreign markets, including our inability to attract and maintain key distributors in these
markets; volatility in the economic growth of certain of these markets; changes in economic, political or social conditions, imposition of new or increased labeling,
product or production requirements, or other legal restrictions; restrictions on the import or export of our products or ingredients or substances used in our
products; inflationary currency, devaluation or fluctuation; increased costs of doing business due to compliance with complex foreign and U.S. laws and
regulations. If we are unable to effectively operate or manage the risks associated with operating in international markets, our business, financial condition or
results of operations could be adversely affected.
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Changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by management related to complex accounting matters could
significantly affect our financial results.

The United States generally accepted accounting principles and related pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations with regard to a wide
variety of matters that are relevant to our business, such as, but not limited to, stock-based compensation, trade spend and promotions, and income taxes are highly
complex and involve many subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by our management. Changes to these rules or their interpretation or changes in
underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments by our management could significantly change our reported results.

If we are unable to build and sustain proper information technology infrastructure, our business could suffer.

We depend on information technology as an enabler to improve the effectiveness of our operations and to interface with our customers, as well as to maintain
financial accuracy and efficiency. If we do not allocate and effectively manage the resources necessary to build and sustain the proper technology infrastructure,
we could be subject to transaction errors, processing inefficiencies, the loss of customers, business disruptions, or the loss of or damage to intellectual property
through security breaches.

We could be subject to cybersecurity attacks.

Cybersecurity attacks are evolving and include malicious software, attempts to gain unauthorized access to data, and other electronic security breaches that could
lead to disruptions in business processes, unauthorized release of confidential or otherwise protected information and corruption of data. Such unauthorized access

could subject us to operational interruption, damage to our brand image and private data exposure, and harm our business.
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Risks Factors Relating to Our Industry
The current aluminum shortage can harm our ability to meet consumer demand.

As a craft beverage company, we do not meet volume requirements to have a contract in place with our aluminum can supplier. Craft beverage companies such as
us are facing an aluminum can shortage. We anticipate we will continue to see supply issues with all sizes of aluminum cans. This aluminum can shortage can
harm our ability to timely produce enough product to meet consumer demand.

We may experience a reduced demand for some of our products due to health concerns (including obesity) and legislative initiatives against sweetened
beverages.

Consumers are concerned about health and wellness; public health officials and government officials are increasingly vocal about obesity and its consequences.
There has been a trend among some public health advocates and dietary guidelines to recommend a reduction in sweetened beverages, as well as increased public
scrutiny, potential new taxes on sugar-sweetened beverages, and additional governmental regulations concerning the marketing and labeling/packing of the
beverage industry. Additional or revised regulatory requirements, whether labeling, tax or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations. Further, increasing public concern with respect to sweetened beverages could reduce demand for our beverages and increase
desire for more low-calorie soft drinks, water, enhanced water, coffee-flavored beverages, tea, and beverages with natural sweeteners. We are continuously
working to launch new products that round out our diversified portfolio.

Legislative or regulatory changes that affect our products could reduce demand for products or increase our costs.

Taxes imposed on the sale of certain of our products by federal, state and local governments in the United States, Canada or other countries in which we operate
could cause consumers to shift away from purchasing our beverages. Several municipalities in the United States have implemented or are considering
implementing taxes on the sale of certain “sugared” beverages, including non-diet soft drinks, fruit drinks, teas and flavored waters to help fund various initiatives.
These taxes could materially affect our business and financial results.

Additional taxes levied on us could harm our financial results.

Recent legislative proposals to reform U.S. taxation of non-U.S. earnings could have a material adverse effect on our financial results by subjecting a significant
portion of our non-U.S. earnings to incremental U.S. taxation and/or by delaying or permanently deferring certain deductions otherwise allowed in calculating our
U.S. tax liabilities.

We compete in an industry that is brand-conscious, so brand name recognition and acceptance of our products are critical to our success.

Our business is substantially dependent upon awareness and market acceptance of our products and brands by our targeted consumers. In addition, our business
depends on acceptance by our independent distributors of our brands as beverage brands that have the potential to provide incremental sales growth rather than
reduce distributors’ existing beverage sales. Although we believe that we have been relatively successful towards establishing our brands as recognizable brands in
the all-natural “better for you” beverage industry, it may be too early in the product life cycle of these brands to determine whether our products and brands will
achieve and maintain satisfactory levels of acceptance by independent distributors, retail customers and consumers. We believe that the success of our brands will
also be substantially dependent upon acceptance of our product name brands. Accordingly, any failure of our brands to maintain or increase acceptance or market
penetration would likely have a material adverse effect on our revenues and financial results.

Competition from traditional non-alcoholic beverage manufacturers may adversely affect our distribution relationships and may hinder development of our
existing markets, as well as prevent us from expanding our markets.

We target a niche in the estimated $32 billion carbonated and non-carbonated soft drink markets in the US, Canada and international markets. Our brands are
generally regarded as premium and natural, with upscale packaging and are loosely defined as the artisanal (craft), premium bottled carbonated soft drink category.
The soft drink industry is highly fragmented, and the craft soft drink category consists of such competitors as IBC, Stewart’s, Zevia, Henry Weinhard’s, Hansen’s,
Izze, Boylan and Jones Soda, to name a few. These brands have the advantage of being seen widely in the national market and being commonly known for years
through well-funded ad campaigns. Our products have a relatively high price for an artisanal premium beverage product, minimal mass media advertising to date
and a small but growing presence in the mainstream market compared to some of our larger competitors.
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The beverage industry is highly competitive. We compete with other beverage companies not only for consumer acceptance but also for shelf space in retail outlets
and for marketing focus by our distributors, all of which also distribute other beverage brands. Our products compete with a wide range of drinks produced by a
relatively large number of manufacturers, most of which have substantially greater financial, marketing and distribution resources than ours. Some of these
competitors are placing pressure on independent distributors not to carry competitive sparkling brands such as ours. We also compete with regional beverage
producers and “private label” soft drink suppliers.

Increased competitor consolidations, market-place competition, particularly among branded beverage products, and competitive product and pricing pressures
could impact our earnings, market share and volume growth. If, due to such pressure or other competitive threats, we are unable to sufficiently maintain or develop
our distribution channels, we may be unable to achieve our current revenue and financial targets. As a means of maintaining and expanding our distribution
network, we intend to introduce new, innovative products and packages. We may not be successful in doing this and other companies may be more successful in
this regard over the long term. Competition, particularly from companies with greater financial and marketing resources than ours, could have a material adverse
effect on our existing markets, as well as on our ability to expand the market for our products.

We compete in an industry characterized by rapid changes in consumer preferences and public perception, so our ability to continue developing new products
to satisfy our consumers’ changing preferences will determine our long-term success.

Failure to introduce new products or product extensions into the marketplace as current ones mature and to meet our consumers’ changing preferences could
prevent us from gaining market share and achieving long-term profitability. Product lifecycles can vary, and consumers’ preferences and loyalties change over
time. Although we try to anticipate these shifts and innovate new products to introduce to our consumers, we may not succeed. Customer preferences also are
affected by factors other than taste, such as health and nutrition considerations and obesity concerns, shifting consumer needs, changes in consumer lifestyles,
increased consumer information and competitive product and pricing pressures. Sales of our products may be adversely affected by the negative publicity
associated with these issues. If we do not adequately anticipate or adjust to respond to these and other changes in customer preferences, we may not be able to
maintain and grow our brand image and our sales may be adversely affected.

Global economic conditions may continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations.

The beverage industry, and particularly those companies selling premium beverages, can be affected by macro-economic factors, including changes in national,
regional, and local economic conditions, unemployment levels and consumer spending patterns, which together may impact the willingness of consumers to
purchase our products as they adjust their discretionary spending. Adverse economic conditions may negatively impact the ability of our distributors to obtain the
credit necessary to fund their working capital needs, which could negatively impact their ability or desire to continue to purchase products from us in the same
frequencies and volumes as they have done in the past. If we experience adverse economic conditions in the future, sales of our products could be adversely
affected, collectability of accounts receivable may be compromised, and we may face obsolescence issues with our inventory, any of which could have a material
adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

If we encounter product recalls or other product quality issues, our business may suffer.
Product quality issues, real or imagined, or allegations of product contamination, even when false or unfounded, could tarnish our image and could cause
consumers to choose other products. In addition, because of changing government regulations or implementation thereof, or allegations of product contamination,

we may be required from time to time to recall products entirely or from specific markets. Product recalls could affect our profitability and could negatively affect
brand image.
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We could be exposed to product liability claims.

Although we have product liability and basic recall insurance, insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover all product liability claims that may arise. To the
extent our product liability coverage is insufficient, a product liability claim would likely have a material adverse effect upon our financial condition. In addition,
any product liability claim brought against us may materially damage the reputation and brand image of our products and business.

Our business is subject to many regulations and noncompliance is costly.

The production, marketing and sale of our beverages, including contents, labels, caps and containers, are subject to the rules and regulations of various federal,
provincial, state and local health agencies. If a regulatory authority finds that a current or future product or production run is not in compliance with any of these
regulations, we may be fined, or production may be stopped, which would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, any adverse
publicity associated with any noncompliance may damage our reputation and our ability to successfully market our products. Furthermore, the rules and
regulations are subject to change from time to time and while we closely monitor developments in this area, we cannot anticipate whether changes in these rules
and regulations will impact our business adversely. Additional or revised regulatory requirements, whether labeling, environmental, tax or otherwise, could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Significant additional labeling or warning requirements may inhibit sales of affected products.

Various jurisdictions may seek to adopt significant additional product labeling or warning requirements relating to the chemical content or perceived adverse health
consequences of certain of our products. These types of requirements, if they become applicable to one or more of our products under current or future
environmental or health laws or regulations, may inhibit sales of such products. In California, a law requires that a specific warning appear on any product that
contains a component listed by the state as having been found to cause cancer or birth defects. This law recognizes no generally applicable quantitative thresholds
below which a warning is not required. If a component found in one of our products is added to the list, or if the increasing sensitivity of detection methodology
that may become available under this law and related regulations as they currently exist, or as they may be amended, results in the detection of an infinitesimal
quantity of a listed substance in one of our beverages produced for sale in California, the resulting warning requirements or adverse publicity could affect our sales.

We may not be able to develop successful new beverage products, which are important to our growth.

An important part of our strategy is to increase our sales through the development of new beverage products. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to
continue to develop, market and distribute future beverage products that will enjoy market acceptance. The failure to continue to develop new beverage products
that gain market acceptance could have an adverse impact on our growth and materially adversely affect our financial condition. We may have higher obsolescent
product expense if new products fail to perform as expected due to the need to write off excess inventory of the new products.

Our results of operations may be impacted in various ways by the introduction of new products, even if they are successful, including the following:

e sales of new products could adversely impact sales of existing products;

e we may incur higher cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses in the periods when we introduce new products due to
increased costs associated with the introduction and marketing of new products, most of which are expensed as incurred; and

e when we introduce new platforms and package sizes, we may experience increased freight and logistics costs as our co-packers adjust their facilities
for the new products.
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The growth of our revenues is dependent on acceptance of our products by mainstream consumers.

We have dedicated significant resources to introduce our products to the mainstream consumer. As such, we have increased our sales force and executed
agreements with distributors who, in turn, distribute to mainstream consumers at grocery stores and other retailers. If our products are not accepted by the
mainstream consumer, our business could suffer.

Our failure to accurately estimate demand for our products could adversely affect our business and financial results.

We may not correctly estimate demand for our products. Our ability to estimate demand for our products is imprecise, particularly with new products, and may be
less precise during periods of rapid growth, particularly in new markets. If we materially underestimate demand for our products or are unable to secure sufficient
ingredients or raw materials including, but not limited to, glass, cans, cartons, labels, flavors or packing arrangements, we might not be able to satisfy demand on a
short-term basis. Furthermore, industry-wide shortages of certain juice concentrates and sweeteners have been and could, from time to time in the future, be
experienced, which could interfere with and/or delay production of certain of our products and could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial
results. We do not use hedging agreements or alternative instruments to manage this risk.

The loss of our largest customers would substantially reduce revenues.

Our customers are material to our success. If we are unable to maintain good relationships with our existing customers, our business could suffer.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had two broker/distributors that accounted for approximately 25% and 12% of its sales, respectively; and
during the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had two broker/distributors that accounted for 12% and 11% of its sales, respectively. These two
broker/distributors serve hundreds if not thousands of various retail chains and end customers.

No other customer exceeded 10% of sales for either period.

The loss of our largest vendors would substantially reduce revenues.

Our vendors are important to our success. If we are unable to maintain good relationships with our existing vendors, our business could suffer.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s largest two vendors accounted for approximately 12%, and 11% of its purchases, respectively. During
the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s largest three vendors accounted for approximately 12%, 11%, and 10% of its purchases, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s largest two vendors accounted for 12% and 10% of the total accounts payable, respectively. As of December 31, 2019,
the Company’s largest three vendors accounted for 19%, 15% and 14% of the total accounts payable, respectively.

No other account was more than 10% of the balance of accounts payable in either period.

The loss of our third-party distributors could impair our operations and substantially reduce our financial results.

We depend in large part on distributors to distribute our beverages and other products. Some of our outside distributors are not bound by written agreements with
the Company and may discontinue their relationship with us on short notice. Some distributors handle a number of competitive products. In addition, our products
are a small part of our distributors’ businesses.

We continually seek to expand distribution of our products by entering into distribution arrangements with regional bottlers or other direct store delivery
distributors having established sales, marketing and distribution organizations. Many of our distributors are affiliated with and manufacture and/or distribute other

soda and non-carbonated brands and other beverage products. In many cases, such products compete directly with our products.
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The marketing efforts of our distributors are important for our success. If our brands prove to be less attractive to our existing distributors and/or if we fail to attract
additional distributors, and/or our distributors do not market and promote our products above the products of our competitors, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Price fluctuations in, and unavailability of, raw materials and packaging that we use could adversely affect us.

We do not enter into hedging arrangements for raw materials. Although the prices of raw materials that we use have not increased significantly in recent years, our
results of operations would be adversely affected if the price of these raw materials were to rise and we were unable to pass these costs on to our customers.

We depend upon an uninterrupted supply of the ingredients for our products, a significant portion of which we obtain overseas, principally from Peru, Fiji and
Indonesia. Any decrease in the supply of these ingredients or increase in the prices of these ingredients as a result of any adverse weather conditions, pests, crop
disease, interruptions of shipment or political considerations, among other reasons, could substantially increase our costs and adversely affect our financial
performance.

We also depend upon an uninterrupted supply of packaging materials, such as glass, cans and paper items. We obtain bottles both domestically and internationally.
Any decrease in supply of these materials or increase in the prices of the materials, as a result of decreased supply or increased demand, could substantially
increase our costs and adversely affect our financial performance.

The loss of any of our co-packers could impair our operations and substantially reduce our financial results.
We rely on third parties, called co-packers in our industry, to produce our beverages.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had utilized six and four, respectively, separate US based co-packers for most its production
needs. Although there are other packers that could produce the Company’s beverages, a change in packers may cause a delay in the production process, which
could ultimately affect operating results.

Our co-packing arrangements with other companies are on a short-term basis and such co-packers may discontinue their relationship with us on short notice. Our
co-packing arrangements expose us to various risks, including:

e if any of those co-packers were to terminate our co-packing arrangement or have difficulties in producing beverages for us, our ability to produce our
beverages would be adversely affected until we were able to make alternative arrangements; and

e  our business reputation would be adversely affected if any of the co-packers were to produce inferior quality.

We believe that we have substantially reduced this risk by reducing our reliance upon any single co-packer. We are in discussion and negotiation with additional
co-packers to ensure added capability for future production needs.

We compete in an industry characterized by rapid changes in consumer preferences and public perception, so our ability to continue to market our existing
products and develop new products to satisfy our consumers’ changing preferences will determine our long-term success.

Consumers are seeking greater variety in their beverages. Our future success will depend, in part, upon our continued ability to develop and introduce different and
innovative beverages. In order to retain and expand our market share, we must continue to develop and introduce different and innovative beverages and be
competitive in the areas of quality and health, although there can be no assurance of our ability to do so. There is no assurance that consumers will continue to
purchase our products in the future. Additionally, many of our products are considered premium products and to maintain market share during recessionary
periods, we may have to reduce profit margins, which would adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, there is increasing awareness and concern for
the health consequences of obesity. This may reduce demand for our non-diet beverages, which could affect our profitability. Product lifecycles for some beverage
brands and/or products and/or packages may be limited to a few years before consumers’ preferences change. The beverages we currently market are in varying
stages of their lifecycles and there can be no assurance that such beverages will become or remain profitable for us. The beverage industry is subject to changing
consumer preferences and shifts in consumer preferences may adversely affect us if we misjudge such preferences. We may be unable to achieve volume growth
through product and packaging initiatives. We also may be unable to penetrate new markets. If our revenues decline, our business, financial condition and results
of operations will be materially and adversely affected.
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Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate because of the seasonality of our business.

Our highest revenues occur during the summer and fall, the third and fourth quarters of each fiscal year. These seasonality issues may cause our financial
performance to fluctuate. In addition, beverage sales can be adversely affected by sustained periods of bad weather.

Our manufacturing process is not patented.

None of the manufacturing processes used in producing our products are subject to a patent or similar intellectual property protection. Our only protection against a
third party using our recipes and processes is confidentiality agreements with the companies that produce our beverages and with our employees who have
knowledge of such processes. If our competitors develop substantially equivalent proprietary information or otherwise obtain access to our knowledge, we will
have greater difficulty in competing with them for business, and our market share could decline.

If we are not able to retain the full-time services of our management team, it will be more difficult for us to manage our operations and our operating
performance could suffer.

Our business is dependent, to a large extent, upon the services of our management team. We do have a written employment agreement with two of five members of
our management team. In addition, we do not maintain key person life insurance on any of our management team. Therefore, in the event of the loss or
unavailability of any member of the management team to us, there can be no assurance that we would be able to locate in a timely manner or employ qualified
personnel to replace him or her. The loss of the services of any member of our management team or our failure to attract and retain other key personnel over time
would jeopardize our ability to execute our business plan and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The price of our common stock may be volatile, and a shareholder’s investment in our common stock could suffer a decline in value.
There has been significant volatility in the volume and market price of our common stock, and this volatility may continue in the future. In addition, factors such as
quarterly variations in our operating results, litigation involving us, general trends relating to the beverage industry, actions by governmental agencies, national
economic and stock market considerations as well as other events and circumstances beyond our control could have a significant impact on the future market price
of our common stock and the relative volatility of such market price.
A prolonged decline in the price of our common stock could result in a reduction in the liquidity of our common stock and a reduction in our ability to raise capital.
If we are unable to raise the funds required for all of our planned operations and key initiatives, we may be forced to allocate funds from other planned uses, which
may negatively impact our business and operations, including our ability to develop new products and continue our current operations.
Many factors that are beyond our control may significantly affect the market price of our shares. These factors include:

e price and volume fluctuations in the stock markets;

e changes in our revenues and earnings or other variations in operating results;
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any shortfall in revenue or increase in losses from levels expected by us or securities analysts;
e changes in regulatory policies or law;

e  operating performance of companies comparable to us; and

e general economic trends and other external factors.

Even if an active market for our common stock is established, stockholders may have to sell their shares at prices substantially lower than the price they paid for
them or might otherwise receive than if a broad public market existed.

There has been a very limited public trading market for our securities and the market for our securities may continue to be limited, and be sporadic and highly
volatile.

There is currently a limited public market for our common stock. Holders of our common stock may, therefore, have difficulty selling their shares, should they
decide to do so. In addition, there can be no assurances that such markets will continue or that any shares which may be purchased, may be sold without incurring a
loss. Any such market price of our shares may not necessarily bear any relationship to our book value, assets, past operating results, financial condition or any
other established criteria of value, and may not be indicative of the market price for the shares in the future.

Future financings could adversely affect common stock ownership interest and rights in comparison with those of other security holders.

Our board of directors has the power to issue additional shares of common or preferred stock up to the amounts authorized in our certificate of incorporation
without stockholder approval, subject to restrictive covenants contained in the Company’s contracts. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or
convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders will be reduced, and these newly issued securities may have rights, preferences
or privileges senior to those of existing stockholders. If we issue any additional common stock or securities convertible into common stock, such issuance will
reduce the proportionate ownership and voting power of each other stockholder. In addition, such stock issuances might result in a reduction of the book value of
our common stock. Any increase of the number of authorized shares of common stock or preferred stock would require board and shareholder approval and
subsequent amendment to our certificate of incorporation.

Risk Factors Related to Distribution of Alcoholic Beverages
Demand for our products may be adversely affected by many factors, including changes in consumer preferences and trends.

Consumer preferences may shift due to a variety of factors including changes in demographic and social trends, public health initiatives, product innovations,
changes in vacation or leisure activity patterns and a downturn in economic conditions, which may reduce consumers’ willingness to purchase distilled spirits or
cause a shift in consumer preferences away from ginger beer based cocktails toward beer, wine or non-alcoholic beverages. Our success depends in part on
fulfilling available opportunities to meet consumer needs and anticipating changes in consumer preferences with successful new products and product innovations.
The competitive position of our brands could also be affected adversely by any failure to achieve consistent, reliable quality in the product or in service levels to
customers.

We face substantial competition in our industry and many factors may prevent us from competing successfully.

We compete based on product taste and quality, brand image, price, service and ability to innovate in response to consumer preferences. The global spirits industry
is highly competitive and is dominated by several large, well-funded international companies. It is possible that our competitors may either respond to industry
conditions or consumer trends more rapidly or effectively or resort to price competition to sustain market share, which could adversely affect our sales and

profitability.
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Adverse public opinion about alcohol could reduce demand for our products.

Anti-alcohol groups have, in the past, advocated successfully for more stringent labeling requirements, higher taxes and other regulations designed to discourage
alcohol consumption. More restrictive regulations, negative publicity regarding alcohol consumption and/or changes in consumer perceptions of the relative
healthfulness or safety of beverage alcohol could decrease sales and consumption of alcohol and thus the demand for our products. This could, in turn, significantly
decrease both our revenues and our revenue growth, causing a decline in our results of operations.

Class action or other litigation relating to alcohol abuse or the misuse of alcohol could adversely affect our business.

Companies in the beverage alcohol industry are, from time to time, exposed to class action or other litigation relating to alcohol advertising, product liability,
alcohol abuse problems or health consequences from the misuse of alcohol. It is also possible that governments could assert that the use of alcohol has significantly
increased government funded health care costs. Litigation or assertions of this type have adversely affected companies in the tobacco industry, and it is possible
that we, as well as our suppliers, could be named in litigation of this type.

Also, lawsuits have been brought in a number of states alleging that beverage alcohol manufacturers and marketers have improperly targeted underage consumers
in their advertising. Plaintiffs in these cases allege that the defendants’ advertisements, marketing and promotions violate the consumer protection or deceptive
trade practices statutes in each of these states and seek repayment of the family funds expended by the underage consumers. While we have not been named in
these lawsuits, we could be named in similar lawsuits in the future. Any class action or other litigation asserted against us could be expensive and time-consuming
to defend against, depleting our cash and diverting our personnel resources and, if the plaintiffs in such actions were to prevail, our business could be harmed
significantly.

Regulatory decisions and legal, regulatory and tax changes could limit our business activities, increase our operating costs and reduce our margins.

Our business is subject to extensive regulation in all of the countries in which we operate. This may include regulations regarding production, distribution,
marketing, advertising and labeling of beverage alcohol products. We are required to comply with these regulations and to maintain various permits and licenses.
We are also required to conduct business only with holders of licenses to import, warehouse, transport, distribute and sell beverage alcohol products. We cannot
assure you that these and other governmental regulations applicable to our industry will not change or become more stringent. Moreover, because these laws and
regulations are subject to interpretation, we may not be able to predict when and to what extent liability may arise. Additionally, due to increasing public concern
over alcohol-related societal problems, including driving while intoxicated, underage drinking, alcoholism and health consequences from the abuse of alcohol,
various levels of government may seek to impose additional restrictions or limits on advertising or other marketing activities promoting beverage alcohol products.
Failure to comply with any of the current or future regulations and requirements relating to our industry and products could result in monetary penalties,
suspension or even revocation of our licenses and permits. Costs of compliance with changes in regulations could be significant and could harm our business, as
we could find it necessary to raise our prices to maintain profit margins, which could lower the demand for our products and reduce our sales and profit potential.

Also, the distribution of beverage alcohol products is subject to extensive taxation both in the U.S. and internationally (and, in the U.S., at both the federal and state
government levels), and beverage alcohol products themselves are the subject of national import and excise duties in most countries around the world. An increase
in taxation or in import or excise duties could also significantly harm our sales revenue and margins, both through the reduction of overall consumption and by
encouraging consumers to switch to lower-taxed categories of beverage alcohol.
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Risk Factors Related to Our Common Stock
If we are not able to achieve our objectives for our business, the value of an investment in our Company could be negatively affected.
In order to be successful, we believe that we must, among other things:

e increase the volume for our products

e continue to find savings in our cost of goods (co-packer fees, packaging and ingredients);

e expand the number of co-packers for our core and innovation products;

e continue to recruit and retain top talent;

e drive increased awareness through our brand pull campaigns, and trial and repeat purchase of our core brands;

e drive increased SKU placement on shelf, and open new outlets of retail distribution through our investment in sales resources, partnerships and trade
marketing support;

e manage our operating expenses to sufficiently support operating activities and

e avoid significant increases in variable costs relating to production, marketing and distribution.
We may not be able to meet these objectives, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. We have incurred significant operating
expenses in the past and may do so again in the future and, as a result, will need to increase revenues in order to improve our results of operations. Our ability to
increase sales volume will depend primarily on success in marketing initiatives with industry brokers, improving our distribution base with DSD companies,
introducing new no sugar brands, and focusing on the existing core brands in the market. Our ability to successfully enter new distribution areas and obtain
national accounts will, in turn, depend on various factors, many of which are beyond our control, including, but not limited to, the continued demand for our brands
and products in target markets, the ability to price our products at competitive levels, the ability to establish and maintain relationships with distributors in each

geographic area of distribution and the ability in the future to create, develop and successfully introduce one or more new brands, products, and product extensions.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders
to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that:

e authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated preferred stock;

e specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only upon the request of a majority of our board of directors or our Chief Executive
Officer;

e establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed nominations of persons
for election to our board of directors; and

e prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors.
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These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management, and may discourage, delay or
prevent a transaction involving a change of control of our Company that is in the best interest of our minority stockholders. Even in the absence of a takeover
attempt, the existence of these provisions may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock if they are viewed as discouraging future takeover
attempts.

Furthermore, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware
corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a three-year period following the time that this stockholder becomes an
interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. A “business combination” includes, among other things, a merger,
asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with
affiliates and associates, owns, or did own within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, 15% or more of the corporation’s voting
stock. Under Section 203, a business combination between a corporation and an interested stockholder is prohibited unless it satisfies one of the following
conditions:

e Dbefore the stockholder became interested, the board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

e upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the voting
stock outstanding, shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers, and employee stock plans, in some instances; or

e at or after the time the stockholder became interested, the business combination was approved by the board of directors of the corporation and
authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is
not owned by the interested stockholder.

The existence of this provision may have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions the Company’s board of directors does not approve in advance.
Section 203 may also discourage attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of Common Stock held by stockholders.

These provisions of Delaware law and the Certificate of Incorporation could have the effect of discouraging others from attempting hostile takeovers and, as a
consequence, they may also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market price of the Company’s common stock that often result from actual or rumored hostile
takeover attempts. These provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes in the Company’s management. It is possible that these provisions could make
it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Collectively, members of our board of directors and our executive officers hold approximately 8% of the Company’s outstanding common stock, beneficially
own approximately 10% of our common stock and may greatly influence the outcome of all matters on which stockholders vote.

Collectively, members of our board of directors and our executive officers hold approximately 8% of our outstanding common stock and beneficially own
approximately 10% of our common stock. Members of our board of directors and our executive officers may influence the outcome of certain matters on which
stockholders vote. (Beneficial ownership is calculated pursuant to Section 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and includes shares
underlying derivative securities which may be exercised or converted within 60 days.)

30




If securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our shares, publish negative research or reports, or do not publish reports about our business, our share
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us, our business and our
industry. If one or more analysts adversely change their recommendation regarding our shares or our competitors’ stock, our share price would likely decline. If
one or more analysts cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our
share price or trading volume to decline. As a result, the market price for our common stock may decline.

We have the ability to issue additional shares of our common stock and shares of preferred stock without asking for stockholder approval, which could cause
your investment to be diluted.

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize the Board of Directors to issue up to 120,000,000 shares of common stock and up to 500,000 shares of preferred stock. The
power of the Board of Directors to issue shares of common stock, preferred stock or warrants or options to purchase shares of common stock or preferred stock is
generally not subject to stockholder approval. Accordingly, any additional issuance of our common stock, or preferred stock that may be convertible into common
stock, may have the effect of diluting your investment, and the new securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our common stock.

Substantial sales of our stock may impact the market price of our common stock.

Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock, including shares that we may issue upon exercise of options and warrants, could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock. Further, if we raise additional funds through the issuance of common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for
common stock, the percentage ownership of our stockholders will be reduced, and the price of our common stock may fall.

Our common stock is thinly traded, and investors may be unable to sell some or all of their shares at the price they would like, or at all, and sales of large
blocks of shares may depress the price of our common stock.

Our common stock has historically been sporadically or “thinly-traded,” meaning that the number of persons interested in purchasing shares of our common stock
at prevailing prices at any given time may be relatively small or nonexistent. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading activity
in shares of our common stock is minimal or non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer that has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will
generally support continuous sales without an adverse effect on share price. This could lead to wide fluctuations in our share price. Investors may be unable to sell
their common stock at or above their purchase price, which may result in substantial losses. Also, as a consequence of this lack of liquidity, the trading of relatively
small quantities of shares by our stockholders may disproportionately influence the price of shares of our common stock in either direction. The price of shares of
our common stock could, for example, decline precipitously in the event a large number of shares of our common shares are sold on the market without
commensurate demand, as compared to a seasoned issuer that could better absorb those sales without adverse impact on its share price.

We do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our shares of common stock in the near future, so our shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their
shares unless they sell their shares.

We intend to retain any future earnings to finance the development and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. There is no assurance that future dividends will be paid, and if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect to the amount
of any such dividend. Unless we pay dividends, our shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell such shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Property

The Company leases 8,620 square feet of office space in Norwalk, Connecticut, which serves as our principal executive offices. The lease commenced September
1, 2018 and continues in effect for a period of 6.5 years.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are a party to ordinary, routine litigation incidental to our business. Our management evaluates our exposure to these claims and proceedings
individually and in the aggregate and provides for potential losses on such litigation if the amount of the loss is estimable and the loss is probable.

We are not party to any material pending legal proceedings (including environmental proceedings), other than ordinary, routine litigation incidental to the business
at the current time. Although the results of such litigation matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of ordinary,
routine litigation will not have a material adverse impact on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART 11
Item 5. Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We voluntarily withdrew the principal listing of our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share from the NYSE American, LLC and transferred the listing to The
Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC. The listing and trading of our common stock on the NYSE American, LLC ended at market close on May 9, 2019 and that trading
began on the Nasdaq Capital Market at market open on May 10, 2019 under the stock symbol “REED”.
On December 21, 2020, our shareholders approved an increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock from 100 million to 120 million. As of
December 31, 2020, there were approximately 5,000 holders of record of the common stock (including only non-objecting beneficial owners of record) and
86,317,096 outstanding shares of common stock.
We currently have no expectation to pay cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we paid dividends on Series A Preferred Stock through the issuance of 4,530 shares of common stock. These equity
securities were not registered under the Securities Act.

Equity Compensation Plans
Pursuant to the SEC’s Regulation S-K Compliance and Disclosure Interpretation 106.01, the information required by this Item pursuant to Item 201(d) of
Regulation S-K relating to securities authorized for issuance under the Corporation’s equity compensation plans is located in Item 12 of Part III of this Annual

Report and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a smaller reporting company, Reed’s is not required to provide the information required by this Item 6.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements based on assumptions about our
future business. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including but
not limited to those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Amounts presented in the discussion below are in thousands, except share and per share amounts.

Results of Operations

Overview

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company fully utilized its expanded network of co-packers and implemented an upgraded set of quality protocols.
In addition to our traditional sales channels, the Company is utilizing its ecommerce platform that includes their branded web sites and Amazon to offer its line of

shots, ginger candy and drinks packaged in cans.

Two public equity offerings which closed during the year ended December 31, 2020, provided the Company with funds for working capital and general corporate
purposes. These funds enabled us to initiate the implementation of our 2020 strategy that included driving growth while strategically reducing operating costs.

The Company remains focused on driving sales growth and improving margin. The sales growth focus is on channel expansion, new product introduction and
improved sales execution. The margin enhancement initiative is driven by co-packer upgrades, better leveraged purchasing and improved efficiency. Underpinning

these initiatives is a focus on strategically reducing operating costs.

33




COVID-19 Considerations

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic did not have a material net impact on our operating results. In the future, the pandemic may
cause reduced demand for our products if, for example, the pandemic results in a recessionary economic environment which negatively effects the consumers who
purchase our products. Based on the recent increase in demand for our products, we believe that over the long term, there will continue to be strong demand for our
products.

Our ability to operate without significant negative operational impact from the COVID-19 pandemic will in part depend on our ability to protect our employees and
our supply chain. The Company has endeavored to follow the recommended actions of government and health authorities to protect our employees. Since the
inception of the COVID-19 pandemic and through the year ended December 31, 2020, we maintained the consistency of our operations during the onset of the
COVID-19 pandemic. We will continue to innovate in managing our business, coordinating with our employees and suppliers to do our part in the infection
prevention and remain flexible in responding to our customers and suppliers. However, the uncertainty resulting from the pandemic could result in an unforeseen
disruption to our workforce and supply chain (for example an inability of a key supplier or transportation supplier to source and transport materials) that could
negatively impact our operations.

Through December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has not negatively impacted the Company’s liquidity position as of such date. Net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2020 were up 23% from the prior year period. Through December 31, 2020, we continue to generate cash flows to meet our short-term liquidity
needs, and we expect to maintain access to the capital markets. We have also not observed any material impairments of our assets or a significant change in the fair

value of our assets due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

For additional information on risk factors related to the pandemic or other risks that could impact our results, please refer to “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of
this Form 10-K.

Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, 2020

The following table sets forth key statistics for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, in thousands:

Year Ended December 31, Pct.
2020 2019 Change
Gross sales (A) $ 46,801 $ 39,300 19%
Less: Promotional and other allowances (B) 5,186 5,480 -5%
Net sales $ 41,615 $ 33,820 23%
Cost of goods produced (C) 28,849 25,635 13%
% of Gross sales 62% 65%
% of Net sales 69% 76%
Cost of goods sold — idle capacity (D) - 309 -100%
% of Net sales -% 1%
Gross profit $ 12,766 $ 7,876 62%
% of Net sales 31% 23%
Expenses
Delivery and handling $ 6,856 § 5,993 14%
% of Net sales 16% 18%
Dollar per case ($) 2.76 2.83
Selling and marketing 7,503 9,188 -18%
% of Net sales 18% 27%
General and administrative 7,023 7,551 -7%
% of Net sales 17% 22%
Total Operating expenses 21,382 22,732 -6%
Loss from operations $ 8,616) $ (14,856) -42%
Interest expense and other expense $ (1,561) $ (1,256) 24%
Net loss $ 10,177)  $ (16,112) -37%
Loss per share — basic and diluted $ 0.17) $ (0.46) -63%
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 1lute ,644, 5,058, 73%
ighted ge shi ding - basic & diluted 60,644,842 35,058,004 3%
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(4) Gross sales are used internally by management as an indicator of and to monitor operating performance, including sales performance of particular products,
salesperson performance, product growth or declines and overall Company performance. The use of gross sales allows evaluation of sales performance before the
effect of any promotional items, which can mask certain performance issues. We therefore believe that the presentation of gross sales provides a useful measure of
our operating performance. Gross sales are not a measure that is recognized under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net sales, which is
determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not be used alone as an indicator of operating performance in place of net sales. Additionally, gross sales may
not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies, as gross sales have been defined by our internal reporting practices. In addition, gross
sales may not be realized in the form of cash receipts as promotional payments and allowances may be deducted from payments received from certain customers.

(B) Although the expenditures described in this line item are determined in accordance with GAAP and meet GAAP requirements, the disclosure thereof does not
conform to GAAP presentation requirements. Additionally, our definition of promotional and other allowances may not be comparable to similar items presented
by other companies. Promotional and other allowances primarily include consideration given to the Company'’s distributors or retail customers including, but not
limited to the following: (i) reimbursements given to the Company’s distributors for agreed portions of their promotional spend with retailers, including slotting,
shelf space allowances and other fees for both new and existing products; (ii) the Company’s agreed share of fees given to distributors and/or directly to retailers
for in-store marketing and promotional activities; (iii) the Company’s agreed share of slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees given directly to retailers;
(iv) incentives given to the Company’s distributors and/or retailers for achieving or exceeding certain predetermined sales goals; and (v) discounted or free
products. The presentation of promotional and other allowances facilitates an evaluation of their impact on the determination of net sales and the spending levels
incurred or correlated with such sales. Promotional and other allowances constitute a material portion of our marketing activities. The Company’s promotional
allowance programs with its numerous distributors and/or retailers are executed through separate agreements in the ordinary course of business. These
agreements generally provide for one or more of the arrangements described above and are of varying durations, ranging from one week to one year.

(C) Cost of goods produced: Cost of goods produced consists of the costs of raw materials and packaging utilized in the manufacture of products, co-packing fees,
repacking fees, in-bound freight charges, inventory adjustments, as well as certain internal transfer costs. Cost of goods produced is used internally by
management to measure the direct costs of goods sold, aside from unallocated plant costs. Cost of goods produced is not a measure that is recognized under GAAP
and should not be considered as an alternative to cost of goods sold, which is determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not be used alone as an indicator
of operating performance in place of cost of goods sold.

(D) Cost of goods sold — idle capacity: Cost of goods sold — idle capacity consists of direct production costs in excess of charges allocated to our finished goods in
production. Plant costs in excess of production allocations are expensed in the period incurred rather than added to the cost of finished goods produced. Plant
costs include labor costs, production supplies, repairs and maintenance, and inventory write-off. Our charges for labor and overhead allocated to our finished
goods are determined on a market cost basis, which is lower than our actual costs incurred. Cost of goods sold — idle capacity is not a measure that is recognized
under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to cost of goods sold, which is determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not be used alone as
an indicator of operating performance in place of cost of goods sold.
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Sales, Cost of Sales, and Gross Margins

The following chart sets forth key statistics for the transition of the Company’s top line activity through the years ended December 31, 2020.

Total Total Per Case Per Case
2020 2019 vs PY 2020 2019 vs PY
Cases:
Reed’s 1,254 970 29%
Virgil’s 1,204 1,083 11%

Total Core 2,458 2,053 20%

Non Core 2 33 -94%

Candy 26 34 -24%

Total 2,486 2,120 17%
Gross Sales:

Core $ 45324  $ 37,769 20% $ 184 § 18.4 0%

Non Core 556 560 -1% 278.0 16.9 1,548%

Candy 921 971 -5% 354 28.6 24%

Total $ 46,801 §$ 39,300 19% 18.8 18.5 2%
Discounts: Total $ (5,186) $ (5,480) 5% $ 21 S (2.6) -19%
COGS:

Core $ (28,139) $ (24,286) 16% $ (11.4) $ (11.8) -3%

Non Core (110) (678) -84% (55.0) $ (20.5) 168%

Candy (600) (671) -11% 23.1) $ (19.8) 16%

Idle Plant - (309) -100% - (0.1) -100%

Total $ (28,849) $ (25,944) 11% $ (11.6) $ 12.2) -5%
Gross Margin: $ 12,766  $ 7,876 62% $ 51 $ 3.7 38%

as % Net Sales 31% 23%

As part of the Company’s ongoing initiative to simplify and streamline operations by reducing the number of SKUs, the Company has identified core products on
which to place its strategic focus. These core products consist of Reed’s and Virgil’s branded beverages. Beginning in 2020, our Wellness Shots are captured in
Non-core products. Non-core products for 2019 consist primarily of slower selling discontinued Reed’s and Virgil’s SKUs.

As aresult of our decision to focus on the core Reed’s and Virgil’s beverage brands and simplify operations by reducing the overall number of SKUs that we offer,
the Company’s core beverage volume for the year ended December 31, 2020, represents 98% of all beverage volume.

Sales

Core brand gross revenue increased by 20% to $45,324 compared to the same period last year, driven by Reed’s volume growth of 29%. The result is an increase
in total gross revenue of 19%, to $46,801 in the year ended December 31, 2020, from $39,300 during the same period last year. Price on our core brands remained
flat from the prior year, while volume grew 20% as compared to the same period last year.

Discounts as a percentage of gross sales decreased to 11% from 14% in the same period last year. As a result, net sales revenue grew 23% in the year ended
December 31, 2020 to $41,615, compared to $33,820 in the same period last year.
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Cost of Goods Sold and Produced

Cost of goods sold increased $2,905 during the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the same period last year. As a percentage of net sales, cost of goods
sold in the year ended December 31, 2020 improved to 69% as compared to 77% for the same period last year.

The total cost of goods per case decreased to $11.60 per case in the year ended December 31, 2020 from $12.24 per case for the same period last year. The cost of
goods sold per case on core brands was $11.45 during the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $11.83 for the same period last year. Improvements in
COGS have been driven by cost savings initiatives on core brands.

Gross Margin

Gross margin increased to 31% for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to 23% for the same period last year. The improvements in gross margin have
been driven by reduced discount spend and cost savings initiatives.

Operating Expenses

Delivery and Handling Expenses

Delivery and handling expenses consist of delivery costs to customers and warehousing costs incurred for handling our finished goods after production. Delivery
and handling expenses increased by $863 in the year ended December 31, 2020 to $6,856 from $5,993 in the same period last year, driven by increased volumes.
Delivery costs in the year ended December 31, 2020 were 16% of net sales and $2.76 per case, compared to 18% of net sales and $2.83 per case during the same
period last year. The improvement was driven by a reduction in cross country shipments but this savings was negatively impacted by increasing freight rates due to
Covid-19.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Marketing expenses consist of direct marketing, marketing labor, and marketing support costs. Selling expenses consist of all other selling-related expenses
including personnel and contractor support.

Total selling and marketing expenses were $7,503 during the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $9,188 during the same period last year. As a percentage
of net sales, selling and marketing costs decreased to 18% during the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to 27% during the same period last year. The
decrease was driven by the lapping of the “Fooled Your Mom” campaign from 2019, and reduced expenditures on trade shows and sponsorships, partially offset by
an increase in stock compensation and market research.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of the cost of executive, administrative, and finance personnel, as well as professional fees. General and
administrative expenses decreased in the year ended December 31, 2020 to $7,023 from $7,551, a decrease of $528 over the same period last year. The decrease
was driven by a $638 decrease in severance expense, and a $147 decrease in professional and consulting fees, partially offset by a $76 increase in stock option

expense and $181 increase in other general and administrative expenses.

Loss from Operations

The loss from operations was $8,616 for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to a loss of $14,856 in the same period last year driven by increased
gross profit and reductions in operating expenses discussed above.

Interest and Other Expense

Interest and other expense for the year ended December 31, 2020, consisted of $262 loss on extinguishment of debt, $1,307 of interest expense offset by the change
in fair value of our warrant liability of $8. During the same period last year, interest and other expense consisted of $1,286 of interest expense offset by the change
in fair value of our warrant liability of $30.
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Modified EBITDA

In addition to our GAAP results, we present Modified EBITDA as a supplemental measure of our performance. However, Modified EBITDA is not a recognized
measurement under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, income from operations or any other performance measure derived in
accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. We define Modified EBITDA as net income (loss),
plus interest expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, changes in fair value of warrant expense, and one-time restructuring-related costs
including employee severance and asset impairment.

Management considers our core operating performance to be that which our managers can affect in any particular period through their management of the
resources that affect our underlying revenue and profit generating operations during that period. Non-GAAP adjustments to our results prepared in accordance with
GAAP are itemized below. You are encouraged to evaluate these adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate for supplemental analysis. In
evaluating Modified EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in this
presentation. Our presentation of Modified EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring
items.

Set forth below is a reconciliation of net loss to Modified EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019
Net loss $ (10,177) $ (16,112)
Modified EBITDA adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 204 152
Interest expense 1,307 1,286
Stock option and other noncash compensation 1,592 1,296
Loss on extinguishment of debt 262 -
Change in fair value of warrant liability ®) (30)
Impairment and severance costs 5 643

Total EBITDA adjustments $ 3362 $ 3,347

Modified EBITDA $ (6,815 $ (12,765)

We present Modified EBITDA because we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by
excluding items that we do not believe are indicative of our core operating performance. In addition, we use Modified EBITDA in developing our internal budgets,
forecasts and strategic plan; in analyzing the effectiveness of our business strategies in evaluating potential acquisitions; making compensation decisions; and in
communications with our board of directors concerning our financial performance. Modified EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, which includes, among
others, the following:

e Modified EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;
e Modified EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

e Modified EBITDA does not reflect future interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our debts;
and

e  Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future,
and Modified EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern. Such assumption
contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a net loss of $10,177 and used cash in operations of $9,496. As of December 31, 2020, we had a
cash balance of $595 with borrowing capacity of $5,166, stockholders’ equity of $10,404 and a working capital of $9,528, compared to a cash balance of $913,
stockholders’ equity of $1,147 and working capital of $4,885 at December 31, 2019. Notwithstanding the loss for 2020, management projects adequate cash from
operations and available line of credit in 2021 to ensure continuation of the Company as a going concern.

In April 2020, the Company conducted a public offering of 15,333,334 shares of its common shares at a public offering price of $0.375 per share. The net proceeds
to the Company from this offering are $5,310, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

In November 2020, the Company conducted a public offering of 21,562,500 shares of its common shares at a public offering price of $0.523 per share. The net
proceeds to the Company from this offering are $11,254, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

Historically, we have financed our operations through public and private sales of common stock, issuance of preferred and common stock, convertible debt
instruments, term loans and credit lines from financial institutions, and cash generated from operations. We have taken decisive action to improve our margins,
including fully outsourcing our manufacturing process, streamlining our product portfolio, negotiating improved vendor contracts and restructuring our selling
prices.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Use of Estimates and Assumptions. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Those estimates and
assumptions include estimates for reserves of uncollectible accounts receivables, assumptions used in valuing inventories at net realizable value, impairment
testing of recorded long-term tangible and intangible assets, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, accruals for potential liabilities, assumptions made in
valuing stock instruments issued for services, and assumptions used in valuing warrant liabilities, and assumptions used in the determination of the Company’s
liquidity.

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amounts. The Company evaluates the collectability of its trade accounts receivable based on
a number of factors. In circumstances where the Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to the Company, a
specific reserve for bad debts is estimated and recorded, which reduces the recognized receivable to the estimated amount the Company believes will ultimately be
collected. In addition to specific customer identification of potential bad debts, bad debt charges are recorded based on the Company’s historical losses and an
overall assessment of past due trade accounts receivable outstanding.
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Inventory. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We regularly review our inventory quantities on hand and record a provision for excess
and obsolete inventory based primarily on our estimated forecast of product demand and our ability to sell the product(s) concerned. Demand for our products can
fluctuate significantly. Factors that could affect demand for our products include unanticipated changes in consumer preferences, general market conditions or
other factors, which may result in cancellations of advance orders or a reduction in the rate of reorders placed by customers. Additionally, our management’s
estimates of future product demand may be inaccurate, which could result in an understated or overstated provision required for excess and obsolete inventory.

Revenue Recognition. Revenue and costs of sales are recognized when control of the products transfers to our customer, which generally occurs upon shipment
from our facilities. The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied at that time. The Company does not have any significant contracts with customers
requiring performance beyond delivery, and contracts with customers contain no incentives or discounts that could cause revenue to be allocated or adjusted over
time. Shipping and handling activities are performed before the customer obtains control of the goods and therefore represent a fulfillment activity rather than a
promised service to the customer.

Stock Compensation Expense. The Company periodically issues stock options and restricted stock awards to employees and non-employees in non-capital raising
transactions for services and for financing costs. The Company accounts for such grants issued and vesting based on ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation
whereby the value of the award is measured on the date of grant and recognized as compensation expense on the straight-line basis over the vesting period. The
Company recognizes the fair value of stock-based compensation within its Statements of Operations with classification depending on the nature of the services
rendered.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 of the financial statements for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

As a smaller reporting company, Reed’s is not required to provide the information required by this Item 7A.

40




Item 8. Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Financial Statements:

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019

Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31. 2020 and 2019
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Notes to Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Reed’s, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Reed’s, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related statements of operations,
changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In
our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they relate.

Inventory Reserves

As described in Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements, the Company’s inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, determined on first-in,
first-out (“FIFO”) basis. The Company also determines a reserve for slow moving and potentially obsolete inventory equal to the difference between the cost of the
inventory and the estimated net realizable value of the inventory based on estimated reserve percentages, which consider historical usage, known trends, inventory
age, and market conditions. At December 31, 2020, the balance of inventory and inventory reserves were $11.3 million and $0.2, respectively

We identified the reserve for slow moving and potentially obsolete inventory as a critical audit matter, because of the significant judgment by management in
estimating the slow moving and potentially obsolete inventory reserve, and the high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures
and evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used in developing the reserve.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

e  We evaluated the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management including those related to forecasted inventory usage by considering
historic sales activity and sales forecast

e We tested the completeness, accuracy, and relevance of the underlying data used in management’s estimates of slow-moving and potentially obsolete
inventory.

e We tested the calculations and application of management’s methodologies related to the valuation estimates of slow-moving and potentially obsolete
inventory.

e We developed an independent expectation of the excess and potentially obsolete inventory reserve using historic inventory activity and compared our
independent expectation to the amount recorded in the financial statements.

e We evaluated management’s ability to accurately estimate the reserve by comparing actual write-off activity in the current year to the excess and
potentially obsolete reserve estimated by the Company in the prior year.

e We tested inventory write-off activity subsequent to December 31, 2020 to discern whether there were any indications that the reserve for excess and
potentially obsolete inventory may be understated.

Evaluation of Liquidity
As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, Management believes, based on the Company’s operating plan, that projected cash from operations and

available line of credit financing is sufficient to fund operations for at least one year from the date the Company’s December 31, 2020, financial statements are
issued.



We identified management’s evaluation of the Company’s liquidity as a critical audit matter due to the significant judgments required by management in
developing assumptions in preparing the Company’s forecasted cash flows. Addressing the matter involved especially challenging auditor judgment and effort in
performing procedures and evaluating evidence supporting management’s funding requirements.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

e Consideration of positive and negative evidence impacting management’s forecasts, including market and industry trends.
Consideration of the Company’s historical ability to raise capital.
Testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by management in preparing the forecasted cash flows by comparison to prior period
forecasts to actual results.

e Evaluating the sufficiency of the Company’s liquidity disclosure.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.

/s/ Weinberg & Company, P.A.

Los Angeles, California
March 30, 2021
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ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash

REED’S INC.
BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $234 and $375, respectively

Receivable from related party

Inventory, net of reserve for obsolescence of $194 and $646, respectively

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $361 and $482, respectively
Equipment held for sale, net of impairment reserves of $96 and $96, respectively

Intangible assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Payable to related party

Accrued expenses

Revolving line of credit

Current portion of note payable
Current portion of lease liabilities

Total current liabilities

Lease liabilities, less current portion
Note payable, less current portion
Convertible note to a related party
Warrant liability

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity:

Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $10 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 9,411 shares

issued and outstanding

Common stock, $.0001 par value, 120,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares authorized, respectively;
86,317,096 and 47,595,206 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

$ 595 $ 913
4,718 2,099

682 356

11,119 10,508

1,341 420

18,455 14,296

920 1,053

67 67

615 576

$ 20,057 $ 15,992
$ 6,746 $ 5,357
557 182

895 646

- 3,177

599 -

130 49

8,927 9,411

555 737

171

- 4,689

- 8

9,653 14,845

94 94

9 5

97,031 77,596
(86,730) (76,548)

10,404 1,147

$ 20,057 $ 15,992

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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REED’S, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

Net Sales $ 41,615 $ 33,820

Cost of goods sold 28,849 25,944

Gross profit 12,766 7,876

Operating expenses:

Delivery and handling expense 6,856 5,993

Selling and marketing expense 7,503 9,188

General and administrative expense 7,023 7,551

Total operating expenses 21,382 22,732

Loss from operations (8,616) (14,856)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (262) -

Interest expense (1,307) (1,286)
Change in fair value of warrant liability 8 30

Net loss (10,177) (16,112)
Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (5) (5)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (10,1 82) $ (16,1 17)
Loss per share — basic and diluted $ 0.17)  $ (0.46)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding — basic and diluted 60,644,842 35,058,004

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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REED’S, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance, December 31, 2018

Fair value of vested options

Fair value of vested restricted shares granted to
Directors for services

Fair value of vested restricted shares granted to a
former officer for services

Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock

Common shares issued pursuant to the rights
offerings, net of offering costs

Exercise of warrants

Net Loss

Balance, December 31, 2019

Fair value of vested options

Fair value of vested restricted shares granted to
Directors and officers for services

Fair value of warrants issued on extinguishment
of debt

Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock

Common shares issued pursuant to the rights
offerings, net of offering costs

Common shares issued on conversion of note
payable

Exercise of options

Net Loss

Balance, December 31, 2020

For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Amounts in thousands except share amounts)

Total
Additional Stockholders’
Common Stock Preferred Stock Paid In Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Deficit)
25,729,461 $ 3 9,411 $ 94 $ 53,591 $ (60,431) § (6,743)
- - - - 790 - 790
46,035 - - - 132 - 132
442,002 - - - 374 - 374
4,254 - - - 5 ) -
21,150,417 2 - - 22,339 - 22,341
223,037 - - - 365 - 365
_ - - - - (16,112) (16,112)
47,595,206 5 9,411 94 77,596 (76,548) 1,147
- - - - 1,176 - 1,176
444,740 - - - 416 - 416
- - - - 402 - 402
4,530 - - - 5 %) -
36,895,834 4 - - 16,560 - 16,564
1,339,286 857 857
37,500 - - - 19 - 19
i g | = - (10,177) (10,177)
86,317,096  $ 9 9,411 $ 94 $ 97,031 $ (86,7300 $ 10,404

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:

REED’S, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(Amounts in thousands)

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

Net loss $ (10,177) (16,112)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 88 61
Gain on sale of property & equipment - (45)
Loss on termination of leases - 8
Loss on extinguishment of debt 262
Amortization of debt discount 452 323
Amortization of right of use assets 116 91
Fair value of vested options 1,176 790
Fair value of vested restricted shares granted to directors and officers for services 416 506
Decrease in accounts receivable allowance (141) (248)
Increase (decrease) in inventory reserve (452) 449
Decrease in fair value of warrant liability ®) 30)
Accrual of interest on convertible note to a related party 558 528
Lease liability (28) -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (2,478) 757
Inventory (159) (3,575)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (759) (645)
Accounts payable 1,390 (182)
Accrued expenses 248 (837)
Net cash used in operating activities (9,496) (18,161)
Cash flows from investing activities.
Intangible asset trademark costs 39)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 45
Purchase of property and equipment (122) (322)
Net cash used in investing activities (161) 277)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under revolving line of credit 50,975 54,831
Repayments of revolving line of credit (54,636) (58,827)
Capitalization of financing costs (130) (130)
Proceeds from loan payable 770 -
Amounts from related party 49 195
Repayment of convertible note payable (4,250) -
Principal repayments on finance lease obligation (22) (48)
Exercise of options 19 -
Exercise of warrants - 365
Proceeds from sale of common stock 16,564 22,341
Net cash provided by financing activities 9,339 18,727
Net increase (decrease) in cash (318) 289
Cash at beginning of period 913 624
Cash at end of period $ 595 913
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 1,740 498
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Offset accounts receivable related party and accounts payable related party $ 153
Dividends on Series A Convertible Preferred Stock $ 5 5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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REED’S, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

1. Operations and Liquidity

Reed’s Inc. (the “Company”) is the owner and maker of both Reed Craft Ginger Beer and Reed’s Real Ginger Ale and Virgil’s Handcrafted Sodas. Established in
1989, Reed’s is America’s best-selling Ginger Beer brand and has been the leader and innovator in the ginger beer category for decades. Virgil’s is America’s best-
selling independent, full line of natural craft sodas. The Reed’s Inc. portfolio is sold in over 40,000 retail stores nationwide. Reed’s Ginger Beers are unique due to
the proprietary process of using fresh ginger root combined with a Jamaican inspired recipe of natural spices and fruit juices. Reed’s uses this same handcrafted
approach in its Reed’s Real Ginger Ale and Virgil’s line of great tasting, bold flavored craft sodas, including its award-winning Virgil’s Root Beer.

COVID-19 Considerations

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic did not have a material net impact on our operating results. In the future, the pandemic may
cause reduced demand for our products if, for example, the pandemic results in a recessionary economic environment which negatively effects the consumers who
purchase our products. Based on the recent increase in demand for our products, we believe that over the long term, there will continue to be strong demand for our
products.

Our ability to operate without significant negative operational impact from the COVID-19 pandemic will in part depend on our ability to protect our employees and
our supply chain. The Company has endeavored to follow the recommended actions of government and health authorities to protect our employees. Since the
inception of the COVID-19 pandemic and through the year ended December 31, 2020, we maintained the consistency of our operations during the onset of the
COVID-19 pandemic. We will continue to innovate in managing our business, coordinating with our employees and suppliers to do our part in the infection
prevention and remain flexible in responding to our customers and suppliers. However, the uncertainty resulting from the pandemic could result in an unforeseen
disruption to our workforce and supply chain (for example an inability of a key supplier or transportation supplier to source and transport materials) that could
negatively impact our operations.

Through December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has not negatively impacted the Company’s liquidity position as of such date. Net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2020 were up 23% from the prior year period. Through December 31, 2020, we continue to generate cash flows to meet our short-term liquidity
needs, and we expect to maintain access to the capital markets. We have also not observed any material impairments of our assets or a significant change in the fair
value of our assets due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern. Such assumption
contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded
a net loss of $10,177 and used cash in operations of $9,496. As of December 31, 2020, we had a cash balance of $595 with borrowing capacity of $5,166,
stockholders’ equity of $10,404 and a working capital of $9,528. Notwithstanding the net loss for 2020, management projects adequate cash from operations and
available line of credit in 2021 to ensure continuation of the Company as a going concern for at least one year from the date the Company’s 2020 financial
statements are issued.

During 2020, the Company conducted public offerings and sold 36.9 million of its common shares and received net proceeds of $16,564 (see Note 11).

Historically, we have financed our operations through public and private sales of common stock, issuance of preferred and common stock, convertible debt
instruments, term loans and credit lines from financial institutions, and cash generated from operations. We have taken decisive action to improve our margins,
including fully outsourcing our manufacturing process, streamlining our product portfolio, negotiating improved vendor contracts and restructuring our selling
prices.




2. Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Those estimates and assumptions include estimates for
reserves of uncollectible accounts receivables, assumptions used in valuing inventories at net realizable value, impairment testing of recorded long-term tangible
and intangible assets, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, accruals for potential liabilities, assumptions made in valuing stock instruments issued for
services, and assumptions used in valuing warrant liabilities, and assumptions used in the determination of the Company’s liquidity.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are generally recorded at the invoiced amounts net of an allowance for expected losses. The Company evaluates the collectability of its trade
accounts receivable based on a number of factors. In circumstances where the Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial
obligations to the Company, a specific reserve for bad debts is estimated and recorded, which reduces the recognized receivable to the estimated amount the
Company believes will ultimately be collected. In addition to specific customer identification of potential bad debts, bad debt charges are recorded based on the
Company’s historical losses and an overall assessment of past due trade accounts receivable outstanding.

The allowance for accounts receivable is established through a provision reducing the carrying value of receivables. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
allowance was $234 and $375, respectively.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. We regularly review our inventory
quantities on hand and record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory based primarily on our estimated forecast of product demand and our ability to sell the
product(s) concerned. Demand for our products can fluctuate significantly. Factors that could affect demand for our products include unanticipated changes in
consumer preferences, general market conditions or other factors, which may result in cancellations of advance orders or a reduction in the rate of reorders placed
by customers. Additionally, our management’s estimates of future product demand may be inaccurate, which could result in an understated or overstated provision
required for excess and obsolete inventory. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the reserve for inventory obsolescence aggregated $194 and $646, respectively.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost. Expenditures for major renewals and improvements that extend the useful lives of property and equipment or increase

production capacity are capitalized, and expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is calculated using accelerated
and straight-line methods over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Property and Equipment Type Years of Depreciation
Computer hardware and software 3-7 years
Machinery and equipment 5 years
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Management assesses the carrying value of property and equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If there is indication of impairment, management prepares an estimate of future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposition. If these cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized to write down the asset to its estimated fair value.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company determined there were no indicators of impairment of its property and equipment.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of indefinite-lived brand names acquired, so classified because we anticipate that these brand names will contribute cash flows to
the Company perpetually. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that assets might be impaired, and evaluated annually to determine whether the indefinite useful life is appropriate. As part of our
impairment test, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not the asset is impaired. If further testing is necessary, we compare
the estimated fair value of our asset with its book value. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, as determined by its discounted cash flows, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company determined there was no
impairment of its indefinite-lived brand names.

Warrant Liabilities

Various stock sales made by the Company to finance operations have been accompanied by the issuance of warrants. Some of these warrant agreements contain
fundamental transaction provisions which may give rise to an obligation of the Company to pay cash to the warrant holders in the event that a fundamental
transaction occurs (such as a merger or change in control of the Company) and such cash payment is elected by the holder. For accounting purposes, in accordance
with ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, those warrants with fundamental transaction terms are accounted for as liabilities given the terms may give
rise to an obligation of the Company to the warrant holders. These liabilities are measured at fair value at each reporting period and the change in the fair value is
recognized in earnings in the accompanying Statements of Operations.

Fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing model, which uses certain assumptions related to risk-free interest rates, expected volatility,
expected life of the stock options or restricted stock, and future dividends. Expense is recorded based upon the value derived from the Black-Scholes-Merton
Option Pricing model and based on actual experience. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing model could materially affect the amount
of expense recorded in future periods.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). The
underlying principle of ASC 606 is to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers at the amount expected to be collected. ASC 606
creates a five-step model that requires entities to exercise judgment when considering the terms of contract(s), which include (1) identifying the contract or
agreement with a customer, (2) identifying our performance obligations in the contract or agreement, (3) determining the transaction price, (4) allocating the
transaction price to the separate performance obligations, and (5) recognizing revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.
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Revenue and costs of sales are recognized when control of the products transfers to our customer, which generally occurs upon shipment from our facilities. The
Company’s performance obligations are satisfied at that time. The Company does not have any significant contracts with customers requiring performance beyond
delivery, and contracts with customers contain no incentives or discounts that could cause revenue to be allocated or adjusted over time. Shipping and handling
activities are performed before the customer obtains control of the goods and therefore represent a fulfillment activity rather than a promised service to the
customer.

All of the Company’s products are offered for sale as finished goods only, and there are no performance obligations required post-shipment for customers to derive
the expected value from them.

The Company does not allow for returns, except for damaged products when the damage occurred pre-fulfillment. Damaged product returns have historically been
insignificant. Because of this, the stand-alone nature of our products, and our assessment of performance obligations and transaction pricing for our sales contracts,
we do not currently maintain a contract asset or liability balance for obligations. We assess our contracts and the reasonableness of our conclusions on a quarterly
basis.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold is comprised of the costs of raw materials and packaging utilized in the manufacture of products, co-packing fees, repacking fees, in-bound
freight charges, as well as certain internal transfer costs. Additionally, cost of goods sold includes direct production costs in excess of charges allocated to finished
goods in production. Plant costs include labor costs, production supplies, repairs and maintenance, depreciation, direct inventory write-off charges and adjustments
to the inventory reserve. Charges for labor and overhead allocated to finished goods are determined on a market cost basis, which may be lower than the actual
costs incurred. Plant costs in excess of production allocations are expensed in the period incurred rather than added to the cost of finished goods produced.
Expenses not related to the production of our products are classified as operating expenses.

Delivery and Handling Expense

Shipping and handling costs are comprised of purchasing and receiving, inspection, warechousing, transfer freight, and other costs associated with product
distribution after manufacture and are included as part of operating expenses.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling and marketing expense. Advertising costs aggregated $1,518 and $2,570 for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Stock Compensation Expense

The Company periodically issues stock options and restricted stock awards to employees and non-employees in non-capital raising transactions for services and for
financing costs. The Company accounts for such grants issued and vesting based on ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation whereby the value of the award
is measured on the date of grant and recognized for employees as compensation expense on the straight-line basis over the vesting period. Recognition of
compensation expense for non-employees is in the same period and manner as if the Company had paid cash for the services. The Company recognizes the fair
value of stock-based compensation within its Statements of Operations with classification depending on the nature of the services rendered.

The fair value of the Company’s stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing model, which uses certain assumptions related to risk-
free interest rates, expected volatility, expected life of the stock options or restricted stock, and future dividends. Compensation expense is recorded based upon the
value derived from the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing model and based on actual experience. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton Option
Pricing model could materially affect compensation expense recorded in future periods.
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Income Taxes

The Company uses an asset and liability approach for accounting and reporting for income taxes that allows recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets
based upon the likelihood of realization of tax benefits in future years. Under the asset and liability approach, deferred taxes are provided for the net tax effects of
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. A
valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not these items will either expire before the Company is able to realize their benefits,
or that future deductibility is uncertain. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

Loss per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income applicable to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if all dilutive potential
common shares had been issued, using the treasury stock method. Potential common shares are excluded from the computation when their effect is antidilutive.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are the same because potential dilutive securities would have
had an anti-dilutive effect. The potentially dilutive securities consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Convertible note to a related party - 2,266,667
Warrants 3,362,241 6,413,782
Common stock equivalent of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock 37,644 37,644
Unvested restricted common stock 150,000 -
Options 9,417,898 3,265,580
Total 12,967,783 11,983,673

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into Common shares at the rate of 1:4.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses various inputs in determining the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities and measures these assets on a recurring basis. Financial assets
recorded at fair value are categorized by the level of subjectivity associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Accounting Standards Codification
Section 820 defines the following levels of subjectivity associated with the inputs:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs based on the Company’s assumptions.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term bank loans, accounts payable, notes
payable and other payables, approximate their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments. The carrying values of capital lease obligations and
long-term financing obligations approximate their fair values because interest rates on these obligations are based on prevailing market interest rates.

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company’s balance sheets included Level 2 liabilities comprised of the fair value of warrant liabilities aggregating $0 and
$8, respectively (see Note 10).

Segments

The Company operates in one segment for the manufacture and distribution of our products. In accordance with the “Segment Reporting” Topic of the ASC, the
Company’s chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer and President, who reviews operating results to make decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performance for the entire Company. Existing guidance, which is based on a management approach to segment reporting,
establishes requirements to report selected segment information quarterly and to report annually entity-wide disclosures about products and services, major
customers, and the countries in which the entity holds material assets and reports revenue. All material operating units qualify for aggregation under “Segment
Reporting” due to their similar customer base and similarities in: economic characteristics; nature of products and services; and procurement, manufacturing and
distribution processes. Since the Company operates in one segment, all financial information required by “Segment Reporting” can be found in the accompanying
financial statements.
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Concentrations

The Company’s cash balances on deposit with banks are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250. Generally, the Company’s
policy is to minimize borrowing costs by immediately applying cash receipts to borrowings against its credit facility. From time to time, however, the Company
may be exposed to risk for the amounts of funds held in bank accounts in excess of the FDIC limit. To minimize the risk, the Company’s policy is to maintain cash
balances with high quality financial institutions.

Gross sales. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s largest two customers accounted for 25% and 12% of gross sales, respectively. During the
year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s largest two customers accounted for 12% and 11% of gross sales, respectively.

Accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had accounts receivable from one customer which comprised 23% of its gross accounts receivable.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had accounts receivable from one customer which comprised 14% of its gross accounts receivable.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, the Company utilized six and four, respectively, separate, co-packers for most its production
and bottling of beverage products in the United States. With the December 31, 2018 sale of its manufacturing plant, the Company no longer conducts a
manufacturing operation, accordingly it utilizes co-packers to produce 100% of its products as of those dates. The Company has long-standing relationships with
two different co-packers, and in conjunction with the sale of its manufacturing plant we entered into a third co-packing agreement with California Custom
Beverage LLC (“CCB”), the purchaser of the plant (see Note 15). CCB is 100% owned by Chris Reed, founder of the Company and current Chief Information
Officer and director. Although there are other packers, a change in co-packers may cause a delay in the production process, which could ultimately affect operating
results.

Purchases from vendors. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company’s largest two vendors accounted for approximately 12% and 11% of all
purchases, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s largest three vendors accounted for approximately 12%, 11%, and 10% of all
purchases, respectively.

Accounts payable. As of December 31, 20120 the Company’s largest two vendors accounted for 12% and 10% of the total accounts payable, respectively. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company’s largest three vendors accounted for 19%, 15% and 14% of the total accounts payable, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. ASU 2016-13 requires entities to use a forward-looking
approach based on current expected credit losses (“CECL”) to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables. This may
result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2023, and early adoption is permitted.
The Company does not believe the potential impact of the new guidance and related codification improvements will be material to its financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06 (“ASU 2020-06") “Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and
Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity.” ASU 2020-06
will simplify the accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred
stock. Limiting the accounting models will result in fewer embedded conversion features being separately recognized from the host contract as compared with
current GAAP. Convertible instruments that continue to be subject to separation models are (1) those with embedded conversion features that are not clearly and
closely related to the host contract, that meet the definition of a derivative, and that do not qualify for a scope exception from derivative accounting and (2)
convertible debt instruments issued with substantial premiums for which the premiums are recorded as paid-in capital. ASU 2020-06 also amends the guidance for
the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. ASU 2020-06 will be effective
for the Company January 1, 2024. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than January 1, 2021, including interim periods within that year. Management is
currently evaluating the effect of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 on the financial statements, but currently does not believe ASU 2020-06 will have a significant
impact on the Company’s accounting for its convertible debt instruments. The effect will largely depend on the composition and terms of the financial instruments
at the time of adoption.




Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, its Emerging Issues Task Force, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the
Securities and Exchange Commission did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company’s present or future financial
statements.

3. Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value, and net of reserves is comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Raw materials and packaging $ 6,793 $ 4,261
Finished products 4,326 6,247
Total $ 1,119 $ 10,508

The Company has recorded a reserve for slow moving and potentially obsolete inventory. The reserve at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $194 and $ 646,
respectively.

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Right-of-use assets under operating leases $ 724 $ 730
Right-of-use assets under finance leases 54 179
Computer hardware and software 400 543
Machinery and equipment 103 83
Total cost 1,281 1,535
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (361) (482)
Net book value $ 920 $ 1,053

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $88 and $24, respectively, and amortization of right-of-use assets for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $116 and $91, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company disposed of right-of-use assets under
finance leases with a net book value of $51 and terminated $51 of related finance leases (see Note 9). Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2020, the
Company reclassified $6 of right-of-use assets under operating leases to right-of-use assets under finance leases and disposed of fully depreciated computer
hardware and software of $244 with zero net book value.

Equipment held for sale consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Equipment held for sale $ 163 $ 163
Reserve (96) (96)
Net book value $ 67 $ 67

The balance as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 consists of residual manufacturing equipment, at estimated net realizable value, which management anticipates
selling during 2021.
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5. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of brand names acquired, specifically Virgil’s, and costs related to trademarks. They have been assigned an indefinite life, as we
currently anticipate that they will contribute cash flows to the Company perpetually. These indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are assessed for
impairment annually and evaluated annually to determine whether the indefinite useful life remains appropriate. We first assess qualitative factors to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the asset is impaired. If further testing is necessary, we compare the estimated fair value of our asset with its book value. If
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, as determined by the discounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, an impairment loss is
recognized in an amount equal to that excess. Based on management’s assessment, there were no indications of impairment at December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company capitalized costs of $39 pertaining to legal and other fees incurred in applying for international
trademarks for Reeds and Virgil’s brands.

Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Brand names $ 576 $ 576
Trademarks 39 -
Total $ 615 $ 576
6. Line of Credit
Amounts outstanding under the Company’s credit facilities are as follows (in thousands):
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Line of Credit $ - $ 3,661
Capitalized finance costs - (484)
Net balance $ - $ 3,177

On October 4, 2018, the Company entered into a financing agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. The financing agreement provides a maximum borrowing
capacity of $13,000. Borrowings are based on a formula of eligible accounts receivable and inventories (the “permitted borrowings”) plus advances (an “over-
advance” of up to $4,000) in excess of permitted borrowings. At December 31, 2020, the unused borrowing capacity under the financing agreement was $5,166.
The line of credit matures on March 30, 2021, with automatic yearly renewals thereafter until terminated.

Borrowings under the Rosenthal financing agreement bear interest at the greater of prime or 4.75%, plus an additional 2.0% to 3.5% depending on whether the
borrowing is based upon receivables, inventory or is an over-advance. Additionally, the line of credit is subject to monthly facility and administration fees, and
aggregate minimum monthly fees (including interest) of $4.

The line of credit is secured by substantially all of the assets, excluding intellectual property, of the Company. The over-advance is secured by all of Reed’s
intellectual property collateral. Additionally, any over-advance is guaranteed by an irrevocable stand-by letter of credit in the amount of $1,500, issued by Daniel J.
Doherty III and the Daniel J. Doherty, III 2002 Family Trust, affiliates of Raptor/Harbor Reeds SPV LLC (“Raptor”). As of December 31, 2020, Raptor
beneficially owns 7.4% of the Company’s outstanding common stock. In the event of a default under the financing agreement, Raptor has a put option to purchase
from Rosenthal the entire amount of any outstanding over-advance plus accrued interest, prior to Rosenthal declaring an event of default under the financing
agreement.

The financing agreement with Rosenthal includes customary restrictions that limit our ability to engage in certain types of transactions, including our ability to
utilize tangible and intangible assets as collateral for other indebtedness. Additionally, the agreement contains a financial covenant that requires us to meet certain
minimum working capital and tangible net worth thresholds as of the end of each quarter. We were in compliance with the terms of our agreement with Rosenthal
as of December 31, 2020.
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The Company annually incurs an additional $130 of fees from the bank, which is equal to 1% of the $13,000 borrowing limit. These costs have been capitalized
and recorded as a debt discount and are amortized over the remaining life of the Rosenthal agreement. Amortization of debt discount was $452 and $323 for the
year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. On December 31, 2020, the remaining unamortized debt discount of $162 is included in prepaid expense
and other current assets on the balance sheet.

7. Convertible Note to a Related Party

The Convertible Note to a Related Party consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
12% Convertible Note Payable $ - $ 3,400
Accrued Interest - 1,289
Total obligation $ - 3 4,689

On April 21, 2017, pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company issued a secured, convertible, subordinated, non-redeemable note in the principal
amount of $3,400 (the “Raptor Note”) and warrants to purchase 1,416,667 shares of common stock.

The Raptor Note bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum, compounded monthly. It is secured by the Company’s assets, subordinate to the first priority security
interest of Rosenthal & Rosenthal (see Note 6). The note may not be prepaid and matures on April 21, 2021. It may be converted, at any time and from time to
time, into shares of common stock of the Company, at a revised conversion price of $1.50.

The warrant will expire on April 21, 2022 and has an adjusted exercise price of $1.50 per share. The note and warrant contain customary anti-dilution provisions,
and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the note and exercise of the warrant have been registered on Form S-3. The investor was also granted
the right to participate in future financing transactions of the Company for a term of two years.

On December 11, 2020, the Company entered into a Satisfaction, Settlement and Release Agreement with Raptor satisfying all of its obligations to Raptor as its
junior secured lender. In full satisfaction of the Raptor Note, including release of collateral, and termination of related junior lender documentation, the Company
(a) paid Raptor $4,250 in cash, (b) issued to Raptor a 5-year warrant with a fair value of $402 to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company common stock with an
exercise price of $0.644 per share, and (c) issued to Raptor 1,339,286 shares of Common Stock with a fair value of $857 upon conversion of $750 of the Raptor
Note at a reduced per share conversion price of $0.56 per share. The aggregate amount of the cash paid, the fair value of the warrants issued, and the fair value of
shares issued upon conversion of the Raptor Note was approximately $5,509. The carrying amount of the balance of the Raptor note, including accrued interest,
was approximately $5,247, resulting in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $262 recorded on the statements of operations during the year ended December 31,
2020.

8. Note Payable

On April 20, 2020, the Company was granted a loan (the “PPP loan”) from City National Bank in the aggregate amount of $770, pursuant to the Paycheck
Protection Program (the “PPP”) under the CARES Act. At December 31, 2020, the note payable balance was $770, of which $599 was reflected as the current
portion of note payable.

The PPP loan agreement is dated April 20, 2020, matures on April 20, 2022, bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum, with the first six months of interest deferred,
is payable monthly commencing on November 2020, and is unsecured and guaranteed by the U.S. Small Business Administration. We applied ASC 470, Debt, to
account for the PPP loan. Funds from the PPP loan may only be used for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act, including qualifying payroll costs,
qualifying group health care benefits, qualifying rent and debt obligations, and qualifying utilities. The Company believes it used the entire loan amount for
qualifying expenses. Under the terms of the PPP, certain amounts of the loan may be forgiven if they are used for qualifying expenses. The Company was in
compliance with the terms of the PPP loan as of December 31, 2020.
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If the conditions outlined in the PPP loan program are adhered to by the Company, all or part of such loan could be forgiven. The Company believes that all or a
substantial portion of the PPP loan is eligible for forgiveness. The Company applied for full forgiveness of the PPP loan on March 17, 2021. As for the potential
loan forgiveness, once the PPP loan is, in part or wholly, forgiven and a legal release is received, the liability would be reduced by the amount forgiven and a gain
on extinguishment would be recorded. However, the Company cannot provide any assurance whether the PPP loan will ultimately be forgiven by the SBA.

9. Leases Liabilities

The Company determines whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception. Right-of-use assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset
during the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are recognized at lease commencement based upon the estimated present value of unpaid lease payments over the lease term. The Company leases its
headquarters office, and certain office equipment and automobiles. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not included on the balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, lease costs totaled $181 and $181, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, lease liabilities totaled $852, made up of finance leases liabilities of $133 and operating lease liabilities of $719. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company made payments of $44 towards its finance lease liability and $22 towards its operating lease liability. As of December 31, 2019,
the Company’s lease liabilities totaled $786, made up of finance lease liabilities of $89 and operating lease liabilities of $697. During the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company terminated $51 of finance leases, and made payments of $22 towards its finance lease liability and $28 towards its operating lease liability. As
of December 31, 2020, lease liabilities totaled $685, made up of finance lease liabilities of $16 and operating lease liabilities of $669.

As of December 31, 2020, the weighted average remaining lease terms for operating lease and finance lease are 4.00 years and 0.28 years, respectively. As of
December 31, 2020, the weighted average discount rate for operating lease is 12.60% and 6.03% for finance lease.

Future minimum lease payments under the leases are as follows (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

2021 $ 209
2022 222
2023 226
2024 221
2025 -
Total payments 878
Less: Amount representing interest (193)
Present value of net minimum lease payments 685
Less: Current portion (130)
Non-current portion $ 555
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10. Warrant Liability

Various sales of common stock made by the Company to finance operations have been accompanied by the issuance of warrants. Some of these warrant
agreements contain fundamental transaction provisions which may give rise to an obligation of the Company to pay cash to the warrant holders. For accounting
purposes, in accordance with ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, those warrants with fundamental transaction terms are accounted for as liabilities
given the terms may give rise to an obligation of the Company to the warrant holders. These liabilities are measured at fair value at each reporting period and the
change in the fair value is recognized in earnings in the accompanying Statements of Operations.

The fair value of the warrant liability was determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, using
the following assumptions:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Stock Price $ 0.59 $ 091
Risk free interest rate 0.48% 1.95%
Expected volatility 76.35% 83.36%
Expected life in years 0.42 1.42
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Number of Warrants containing fundamental transaction provisions 138,762 138,762
Fair Value of Warrants $ - $ 8

The risk-free interest rate is based on rates established by the Federal Reserve Bank. The Company uses the historical volatility of its common stock to estimate its
future volatility. The expected life of the warrant is based upon its remaining contractual life. The expected dividend yield reflects that the Company has not paid
dividends to its common stockholders in the past and does not expect to do so in the foreseeable future.

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the estimated fair value of the warrant liability during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Beginning Balance $ 8 $ 38
Change in fair value 8) (30)
Ending balance $ g $ 8

11. Stockholders’ Equity

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock™) consists of $10 par value, 5% non-cumulative, non-voting, participating preferred stock, with a
liquidation preference of $10.00 per share. 500,000 shares are authorized. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, there were 9,411 shares outstanding. Each share of
Preferred Stock can be converted into four shares of the Company’s common stock.

Dividends are payable at the rate of 5% annually, pro-rata and non-cumulative. The dividend can be paid in cash or, at the discretion of our board of directors, in
shares of common stock based on its then fair market value. The Company cannot declare or pay any dividend on shares of our common stock until the holders of
the Preferred Stock have received their annual dividend. In addition, the holders of the Preferred Stock are entitled to receive pro rata distributions of dividends on
an “as converted” basis with the holders of our common stock.
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In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, or if there is a change of control event as defined, the holders of the Preferred Stock are
entitled to receive, prior to distributions to the holders of common stock, $10.00 per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends. Thereafter, all remaining assets
are distributed pro rata among all security holders. Since June 30, 2008, the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to redeem all or any portion of the
Preferred Stock at $10.00 per share, the original issue price, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends.

The Preferred Stock may be converted at any time, at the option of the holder, into four shares of common stock, subject to adjustment in the event of stock splits,
reverse stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalization, reclassification, and similar transactions. The Company is obligated to reserve authorized but unissued shares
of common stock sufficient to affect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.

Except as provided by law, the holders of the Preferred Stock do not have the right to vote on any matters, including the election of directors. However, so long as
any shares of Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Company shall not, without the approval of a majority of the preferred stockholders, authorize or issue any
equity security having a preference over the Preferred Stock with respect to dividends, liquidation, redemption or voting, including any other security convertible
into or exercisable for any senior preferred stock.

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company paid dividends on the Preferred Stock through the issuance of 4,530 and 4,254 shares of its
common stock, respectively, which based upon the then-current market price of the stock equated to dividends of $5 in each of the years. No shares of Series A
preferred stock were converted into common stock in 2020 and 2019.

Common Stock

The Company’s common stock has a par value of $.0001. On December 21, 2020, our shareholders approved an increase in the authorized number of common
shares from 100,000,000 to 120,000,000. As of December 31, 2020, there were 120,000,000 shares authorized with 86,317,096 outstanding. As of December 31,
2019, there were 100,000,000 shares authorized, and 47,595,206 shares of common stock outstanding.

Common Stock Issuance

In November 2020, the Company conducted a public offering of 21,562,500 shares of its common shares at a public offering price of $0.56 per share. The net
proceeds to the Company from this offering are $11,254, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

In April 2020, the Company conducted a public offering of 15,333,334 shares of its common shares at a public offering price of $0.375 per share. The net proceeds
to the Company from this offering are $5,310, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

In October 2019, the Company conducted a public offering of 13,416,667 shares of its common shares at a public offering price of $0.60 per share. The net
proceeds to the Company from this offering are $7,474, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

In February 2019, the Company conducted a public offering of 7,733,750 shares of its common shares at a public offering price of $2.10 per share. The net
proceeds to the Company from this offering are $14,867, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

12. Share-Based Payments

Management believes that the ability to issue equity compensation, in order to incentivize performance by employees, directors, and consultants, is essential to the
Company’s growth strategy.

On September 29, 2017, the 2017 Compensation Plan (the “2017 Plan”) was approved by our shareholders. Initially it provided for the issuance of up to 3,000,000
shares. On December 13, 2018 our shareholders approved a 3,500,000 share increase in the number of shares issuable under the 2017 Plan. Options issued and
forfeited under the 2017 Plan contain an Evergreen provision and cannot be re-priced without shareholder approval. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, shares
issuable under the 2017 Plan were 1,168,258 and 3,436,864, respectively. With the shareholder approval of the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan on December 21, 2020,
no further shares will be issued from the 2017 Compensation Plan.




On December 21, 2020, the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) was approved by our shareholders. The 2020 Plan provides for the issuance of up to
8,500,000 shares. Options issued and forfeited under the 2020 plan contain an Evergreen provision and cannot be re-priced without shareholder approval. As of
December 31, 2020, shares issuable under the 2020 Plan were 3,874,048.

The 2020 Plan permits the grant of options and stock awards to our employees, directors and consultants. The options may constitute either “incentive stock
options” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code or “non-qualified stock options”. The Plan is currently administered by the board of
directors. The exercise price of an option granted under the plan cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value per share of common stock on the date of the
grant of the option. Options may not be granted under the plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the plan. Incentive stock options granted to a
person owning more than 10% of the combined voting power of the common stock cannot be exercisable for more than five years. When an option is exercised, the
purchase price of the underlying stock is received in cash, except that the plan administrator may permit the exercise price to be paid in any combination of cash,
shares of stock having a fair market value equal to the exercise price, or as otherwise determined by the plan administrator.

Restricted common stock

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Weighted
Fair Value Average
Unvested Issuable at Date of Grant Date
Shares Shares Issuance Fair Value
Balance, December 31, 2018 598,370 - 592 1.63
Granted 46,035 - 132 2.88
Vested (488,037) 488,037 - -
Forfeited (156,368) - (218) 1.60
Issued = (488,037) (506) -
Balance, December 31, 2019 - - - -
Granted 594,740 - 508 0.85
Vested (444,740) 444,740 - -
Issued - (444,740) (416) -
Balance, December 31, 2020 150,000 - $ 92 $ 0.89

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 594,740 shares of restricted stock to a director and two executive employees. 350,000 of these
shares vested immediately, 94,740 shares vested in increments of 47,370 each over a two-month period of October and November 2020, 75,000 shares will vest in
increments of 18,750 each over four years from the date of grant, and 75,000 shares will vest over four years based on performance criteria determined by the
Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. Unvested shares remain subject to forfeiture if vesting conditions are not met. The aggregate fair value of the
stock awards was $508 based on the market price of our common stock price which ranged from $0.81 to $0.95 per share on the dates of grants and is amortized as
shares vest. The total fair value of restricted common stock vesting during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $416 and $506, respectively, and is
included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of operations. As of December 31, 2020, the amount of unvested compensation
related to issuances of restricted common stock was $92, which will be recognized as an expense in future periods as the shares vest. When calculating basic loss
per share, these shares are included in weighted average common shares outstanding from the time they vest. When calculating diluted net income per share, these
shares are included in weighted average common shares outstanding as of their grant date.
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In 2018, the Company awarded an aggregate of 784,004 shares of restricted common stock to Valentin Stalowir, former Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
pursuant to his employment agreement with the Company. The 784,004 restricted shares had an aggregate fair value of $1,291 based on the market price of our
common stock on the dates of grant. Of the 784,004 restricted shares, 185,634 shares vested and were issued during 2018. On October 31, 2019, the Company
entered into a Separation, Settlement and Release of Claims Agreement with Mr. Stalowir in connection with his resignation as Chief Executive Officer and the
subsequent termination of his employment. As part of the Agreement, 442,002 shares of restricted common stock issued in 2018 vested and were issued, and the
balance of 156,368 unvested shares of restricted common stock issued to Mr. Stalowir in 2018 were forfeited. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company recognized $374 as compensation expense related to the fair value of vested restricted shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 46,035 shares of restricted stock to members of the board of directors. 17,652 shares vested
immediately and the balance of 28,383 shares vested throughout 2019. The aggregate fair value of the stock awards was $132 based on the market price of our

common stock on the dates of grant. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the total of 46,035 shares vested and were issued, and $132 was recognized as
compensation expense.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized a total $506 as compensation expense related to vesting of shares of restricted common stock.

Stock Options

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has issued stock options to purchase an aggregate of 9,417,898 shares of common stock. The Company’s stock option
activity during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Terms (Years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 3,674,286 $ 2.16 8.53 $ 1,026
Granted 1,431,840 2.48
Exercised - -
Unvested forfeited or expired (1,571,794) 2.25
Vested forfeited or expired (268,702) 3.07
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 3,265,630 $ 2.19 7.09 $ 6
Granted 6,893,752 0.87
Exercised (37,500) 0.50
Unvested forfeited or expired (515,941) 2.10
Vested forfeited or expired (188,043) 4.20
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 9,417,898 $ 1.19 8.55 $ 78
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 2,266,440 $ 1.45 6.09 $ 78

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company approved options exercisable into 4,625,952 shares to be issued pursuant to Reed’s 2020 Equity Incentive
Plan, and 2,267,800 shares to be issued pursuant to Reed’s 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. 6,558,752 options were issued to employees including 3,279,376
options that vest annually over a four-year vesting period, and 3,279,376 options that will vest based on performance criteria to be established by the board. In
addition, 335,000 options granted to consultants, board members, and former employees vest over various periods.
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The stock options are exercisable at a weighted average price $0.87 per share and expire in ten years. The total fair value of these options at grant date was
approximately $3,561, which was determined using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model with the following average assumption: average stock price of
$0.87 per share, weight average expected term of 5.91 years, weighted average volatility ranging from 76%, dividend rate of 0%, and weighted average risk-free
interest rate of 0.48%. The fair value of the options of $3,561 will be amortized as the options vest over a weighted average period of 2.67 years.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company approved options to be issued pursuant to Reed’s 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan to certain current
employees totaling 1,258,000 shares. One half of these options vest annually over a four-year vesting period; the other half of these options will vest based on
performance criteria to be established by the board. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company granted options to purchase 113,330
shares of common stock to new board members. Options granted to consultants, former employees, and board members vest at various periods. On September 11,
2019, the Company granted options to purchase 60,510 shares of common stock to certain consultants. None of the options granted to the consultants to purchase
60,510 shares of common stock vested and were forfeited, resulting in no compensation expense.

The stock options are exercisable at a price ranging from $2.33 to $3.37 per share and expire in ten years. Total fair value of these options at grant date was
approximately $911, which was determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model with the following average assumption: stock price ranging from
$2.33 to $3.37 per share, expected term of seven years, volatility of 61%, dividend rate of 0% and risk-free interest rate ranging from 1.39% to 2.60%.

In the measurement of stock options granted in 2020 and 2019, the expected term represents the weighted-average period of time that share option awards granted
are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to vesting schedules and historical participant exercise behavior; the expected volatility is based upon historical
volatility of the Company’s common stock; the expected dividend yield is based on the fact that the Company has not paid dividends in the past and does not
expect to pay dividends in the future; and the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of measurement corresponding
with the expected term of the share option award.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $1,176 and $790 of compensation expense relating to vested stock options. As of
December 31, 2020, the aggregate amount of unvested compensation related to stock options was approximately $3,561 which will be recorded as an expense in
future periods as the options vest.

As of December 31, 2020, the outstanding options have an intrinsic value of $78. The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the closing
market price as of December 31, 2020, which was $0.59, and the exercise price of the outstanding stock options.

Additional information regarding options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2020, is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted

Number of Average Remaining Number of Average

Shares Exercise Contractual Shares Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Price Life (years) Exercisable Price

$0.50 - $0.88 1,860,300 $ 0.66 9.05 860,300 0.50
$0.89 - $1.34 4,975,952 0.95 9.70 - -
$2.49 - $3.74 1,899,605 1.74 5.96 1,060,240 1.72
$2.49 - $3.74 582,091 2.78 6.92 245,950 2.69
$5.01 - $5.01 99,950 3.74 1.05 99,950 3.74
9,417,898 $ 1.19 8.55 2,266,440 1.45
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13. Stock Warrants

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 3,362,241 shares of common stock. The Company’s warrant activity

during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted Remaining
-Average Contractual Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price Terms (Years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 6,897,277 $ 2.06 242 $ 1,447
Granted - -
Exercised (283,495) 2.09
Forfeited or expired (200,000) 5.60
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 6,413,782 2.06 1.52 $ -
Granted 1,000,000 0.64
Exercised - -
Forfeited or expired (4,051,541) 2.03
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 3,362,241 $ 1.56 249 $ -
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 3,362,241  $ 1.56 249 $ -

On December 11, 2020, the Company issued to Raptor a 5-year warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company common stock with an exercise price of
$0.64 (see Note 7). The fair value of the warrants granted was determined to be $402. The fair value of the warrant was calculated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model using the following assumptions — stock price of $0.64; exercise price of $0.64; expected life of 5 years; volatility of 79%; dividend rate of 0% and
discount rate of 0.51%. During the year ended December 31, 2020, warrants to acquire 4,051,541 shares of common stock expired. As of December 31, 2020, the
outstanding warrants have no intrinsic value.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, a total of 283,495 warrants were exercised, including 87,485 warrants that were exercised on a cashless basis, resulting
in the issuance of 223,037 shares of our common stock. Aggregate proceeds to the Company were $365. During the year ended December 31, 2019, warrants to
acquire 200,000 shares of common stock expired.

Additional information regarding warrants outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2020, is as follows:

Warrants Outstanding Warrants Exercisable

Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted

Number of Average Remaining Number of Average

Shares Exercise Contractual Shares Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Price Life (years) Exercisable Price

$0.64 - $1.55 2,560,194 1.17 2.92 2,560,194 1.17
$2.00 - $4.25 802,047 2.82 1.11 802,047 2.82
3,362,241 1.56 2.49 3,362,241 1.56

14. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had available Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”s) to reduce future taxable income. For
Federal purposes the amounts available were approximately $66,000 and $ 58,000, respectively. For state purposes approximately $42,000 and $ 34,000 was
available at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Federal carryforward for NOLs arising in years prior to 2018 is approximately $33,000, which expires
on various dates through 2037. NOLs for 2018, 2019 and 2020 of approximately 33,000, can be carried forward indefinitely, but are only able to offset 80% of
taxable income in future years. The state carryforward expires on various dates through 2040. Given the Company’s history of net operating losses, management
has determined that it is more likely than not that the Company will not be able to realize the tax benefit of the carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company has not
recognized a deferred tax asset for this benefit.
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Due to restrictions imposed by Internal Revenue Code Section 382 regarding substantial changes in ownership of companies with loss carryforwards, the
utilization of the Company’s NOL may be limited as a result of changes in stock ownership. NOLs incurred subsequent to the latest change in control are not
subject to the limitation.

The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the
taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position is measured based on
the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company did
not have a liability for unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company recognizes as income tax expense, interest and penalties on uncertain tax provisions. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has not
accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. Tax years 2016 through 2020 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which

the Company is subject.

Upon the attainment of taxable income by the Company, management will assess the likelihood of realizing the tax benefit associated with the use of the NOLs and
will recognize the appropriate deferred tax asset at that time.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Deferred income tax asset:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 15,641 $ 12,776
Disqualified corporate interest expense 857 581
Stock-based compensation 1,260 942
Accounts receivable allowances 61 98
Inventory reserves 51 168
Operating lease liability 179 181
Reserve for asset impairment 58 58
Gross deferred tax assets 18,107 14,804
Valuation allowance (17,903) (14,488)
Total deferred tax assets 203 316
Deferred tax liabilities:
Operating lease right-of-use asset (203) (190)
Deferred finance costs - (126)
Total deferred tax liabilities (203) (316)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ - % -
Reconciliation of the effective income tax rate to the U.S. statutory rate is as follows:
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Federal statutory tax rate 21)% 2DH%
State rate, net of federal benefit (5)% 5)%

(26)% (26)%
Effect of change in tax rate -% -%
Valuation allowance 26% 26%
Effective tax rate $ - $ -
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15. Related Party Transactions

On December 31, 2018, the Company completed the sale of its Los Angeles manufacturing plant to California Custom Beverage, LLC (“CCB”), an entity owned
by Christopher J. Reed, a related party, and CCB assumed the monthly payments on our lease obligation for the Los Angeles manufacturing plant. Our release
from the obligation by the lessor, however, is dependent upon CCB’s deposit of $1,200 of security with the lessor. The deposit is secured by Mr. Reed’s pledge of
common stock to the lessor and guaranteed personally by Mr. Reed and his wife. As of December 31, 2020, $800 has been deposited with the lessor and Mr. Reed
has placed approximately 363,000 pledged shares valued at $338 that remain in escrow with the lessor.

Beginning in 2019, we are to receive a 5% royalty on CCB’s private label sales to existing customers for three years and a 5% referral fee on CCB’s private label
sales to referred customers for three years. During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded royalty revenue from CCB of $98 and
$128, respectively.

At December 31, 2019, the Company had royalty revenue receivable from CCB of $128. In addition, at December 31, 2019, the Company has outstanding
receivable from CCB of $228 consisting of inventory advances to CCB. The aggregate receivable from CCB at December 31, 2019 was $356. During the year
ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded royalty revenue receivable of $98, advanced inventory and equipment of $381, and reduced CCB receivable by
$153 by offsetting CCB payable of $153, leaving an aggregate receivable balance of $682 at December 31, 2020.

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had accounts payable due to CCB of $557 and $182, respectively.

Lindsay Martin, daughter of a director of the Company, was employed as Vice President of Marketing during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Ms.
Martin was paid approximately $215 and $161, respectively, for her services during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, we are a party to claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Our management evaluates our exposure to these
claims and proceedings individually and in the aggregate and provides for potential losses on such litigation if the amount of the loss is estimable and the loss is
probable.

We believe that there are no material litigation matters at the current time. Although the results of such litigation matters and claims cannot be predicted with
certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such claims and proceedings will not have a material adverse impact on our financial position, liquidity, or results of
operations.

17. Subsequent Events

On March 11, 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to that certain Financing Agreement (see Note 6) dated October 4, 2018, as amended or
supplemented with its senior secured lender, Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (“Rosenthal”) releasing that irrevocable standby letter of credit by Daniel J. Doherty, I11
and Daniel J. Doherty, III 2002 Family Trust in the amount of $1.5 million, which served as financial collateral for certain obligations of Reed’s under the
Rosenthal credit facility, with a $2 million dollar pledge of securities to Rosenthal by John J. Bello and Nancy E. Bello, as Co-Trustees of The John and Nancy
Bello Revocable Living Trust, under trust agreement dated December 3, 2012, evidenced by that certain Pledge Agreement to Rosenthal (the “Bello Pledge™).

John Bello, current Chairman and former Interim Chief Executive Officer of Reed’s, is a related party. He is also a greater than 5% beneficial owner of Reed’s
common stock. As consideration for the Bello Pledge, Mr. Bello received 400,000 shares of Reed’s restricted stock.

The Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department notified the Company on December 2, 2020 that the bid price of our common stock has closed at less than $1 per
share over the previous 30 consecutive business days, and, as a result, did not comply with Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (“Bid Price Rule”). On February 22, 2021,
Nasdaq Listing Qualifications notified the Company, that for 10 consecutive business days, from February 5, 2021 to February 19, 2021, the closing bid price of
Reed’s common stock was $1.00 per share or greater. Accordingly, Reed’s regained compliance with Listing Rule 550(a)(2) and the matter is now closed.

On January 26, 2021, the board of directors of Reed’s, pursuant to a joint recommendation from its governance and compensation committees, set the cash
compensation of its non-employee directors at $50,000 for fiscal 2021, payable quarterly in accordance with the company’s policies for non-employee director
compensation and granted Restricted Stock Awards consisting of 49,180 shares of common stock to each of its non-employee directors. The Restricted Stock
Awards will vest in four equal increments on a quarterly basis on each of February 1, 2021, May 1, 2021, August 1, 2021 and November 1, 2021, in accordance
with the company’s policies for non-employee director compensation.

Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the Company issued 86,225 shares of common comprised of 6,000 shares issued on the exercise of stock options, 61,475 shares
of restricted stock issued to directors, and 18,750 shares of restricted stock issued to an executive on vesting.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2020 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and the oversight of our audit
committee, has evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. In assessing the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting, our management used the framework established in Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.

This Annual Report does not contain an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm related to internal control over financial reporting
because the rules for smaller reporting companies provide an exemption from the attestation requirement.

Remediation of Previously ldentified Material Weaknesses

As disclosed in Part II, Item 9A., “Controls and Procedures,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, management identified
the following control deficiencies during fiscal 2019 that constituted material weaknesses: (1) we did not have controls designed to assess the design and operation
of internal controls pertaining to these outsourced information technology service providers over the period of reliance and (2) we did not maintain effective
policies to ensure adequate segregation of duties within its accounting processes.

To remediate these previously identified material weaknesses, our management, with oversight from our audit committee, implemented a remediation plan, we
designed and implemented controls related to the periodic monitoring and review of outsourced information technology service providers, and we implemented

procedures and independent reconciliations of significant accounts to mitigate the lack of segregation of duties.

Based on the actions taken, management determined that our newly designed and enhanced controls were in place and operated effectively for a sufficient period
of time to enable us to conclude that the material weaknesses were remediated as of December 31, 2020.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Other than as described above in the section “Remediation Efforts on Previously Identified Material Weakness,” there were no other changes in our internal control
over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

An effective internal control system, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error or overriding of controls, and,
therefore, can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to reliable financial reporting. Because of its inherent limitations, our internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Effective
internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART II1
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance.
General
Reed’s current directors have terms which will end at the next annual meeting of the stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualify, subject to their

death, resignation or removal. The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our current directors and executive officers as of December 31,
2020:

Name Position Age
Norman E. Snyder, Jr. Chief Executive Officer, Director 59
Thomas J. Spisak Chief Financial Officer 53
Neal Cohane Chief Sales Officer 59
Richard H. Hubli Vice President, Operations 63
Christopher J. Reed Chief Innovation Officer 62
John J. Bello Chairman of the Board 74
Lewis Jaffe Director, Chairman of Governance Committee, member of Audit, Operations and Compensation 63
Committees
James C. Bass Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of Compensation Committee 68
Scott R. Grossman Director, Chairman of the Compensation Committee and member of Audit and Governance Committees 42
Louis Imbrogno, Jr. Director 75

Business Experience of Directors and Executive Officers

Norman E. Snyder, Jr. was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and director of Reed’s effective March 1, 2020. Prior to his promotion, Mr. Snyder served as
Chief Operating Officer of Reed’s from September 2019 through February 29, 2020. Prior to joining Reed’s, Mr. Snyder served as President and Chief Executive
Office for Avitae USA, LLC, an emerging premium new age beverage company that markets and sells a line of ready-to-drink caffeinated waters. Prior to Avitae,
he served as the President and Chief Operating Officer for Adina For Life, Inc., President and Chief Executive Officer of High Falls Brewing Company, and Chief
Financial Officer, and later Chief Operating Officer of South Beach Beverage Company, known as SoBe. In prior experience, Mr. Snyder served as Controller for
National Football League Properties, Inc., and in various roles at PriceWaterhouseCoopers during an eight-year tenure. Mr. Snyder earned a B.S. in Accounting
from the State University of New York at Albany.

Thomas J. Spisak has served as Chief Financial Officer of Reed’s since December 2019. Prior to joining Reed’s, Mr. Spisak provided financial leadership,
including extensive expertise over a broad range of finance functions during his 26 year tenure in the North America region of Diageo, a multinational alcoholic
beverage company with net sales over UK £12.9 billion (U.S. $16 billion). Mr. Spisak held numerous positions in multiple divisions of Diageo, most recently
serving as Vice President of Finance and Controller of North America. Previously, he held positions of Vice President of Commercial Finance, Director of
Business Performance and Senior Finance Director of Marketing and Innovation Decision Support, as well as other roles in finance. Prior to Diageo, Mr. Spisak
served at International Masters Publishers, Inc., a private company with publishing activities in 35 countries. Mr. Spisak holds an MBA in International Business
from Fairfield University and a Bachelor of Science in Finance from the University of Rhode Island.

Neal Cohane has served as Reed’s Chief Sales Officer since March of 2008 and previously as Vice President of Sales since August 2007. From March 2001 until
August 2007, Mr. Cohane served in various senior-level sales and executive positions for PepsiCo, most recently as Senior National Accounts Manager, Eastern
Division. In this capacity, Mr. Cohane was responsible for all business development and sales activities within the Eastern Division. From March 2001 until
November 2002, Mr. Cohane served as Business Development Manager, Non-Carbonated Division within PepsiCo where he was responsible for leading the non-
carbonated category build-out across the Northeast Territory. From 1998 to March 2001, Mr. Cohane spent three years at South Beach Beverage Company, most
recently as Vice President of Sales, Eastern Region. From 1986 to 1998, Mr. Cohane spent approximately twelve years at Coca-Cola of New York where he held
various senior-level sales and managerial positions, most recently as General Manager New York. Mr. Cohane holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration
from Merrimack College in North Andover, Massachusetts.

Richard H. Hubli was appointed Vice President of Operations effective September 28, 2020. Mr. Hubli has nearly four decades of diversified experience in supply
chain and operations management. From January 2015 to the present, he owned and operated Rockhouse Services, LLC, a consultancy focused on operations &
supply chain improvement. From July 2014 to January 2015, he served as SVP of Operations for Harvest Hill Beverage Company. Prior, from August 2012 to July
2014, he served as VP of Operations for High Ridge Brands with end-to-end operations accountability of a copacker based supply chain plus new product delivery
& quality. From March 2009 to July 2012, he served as VP of Operations of Kozy Shack Enterprises. From March 2008 to March 2009, Mr. Hubli was the VP of
Operations for Fuze Beverages leading, directing S&OP; managing all operations/supply chain activities while integrating the business unit into Coca-Cola. From
2000 to 2007, he served as a VP of Operations Strategy Development at Cadbury Schweppes Americas Beverages where he created the long-term operations
strategy. From 1991 to 2000, Mr. Hubli worked for the North American division of Colgate Palmolive initially as Director of Technology and later as Director of
Supply Chain Development. In these roles he ran new product delivery across all business categories and spearheaded supply chain re-engineering initiatives. At
Nestle Foods, where he worked from 1987 to 1991, he held the positions of Manager Coffee/Tea Industrial Engineering and Marketing Manager for the Nescafe
brand. Mr. Hubli began his five-year tenure with PepsiCo R&D in 1982 as Program Manager and subsequently became Manager, Concentrate Operations leading
copack production of aseptic juices for the Slice brand. He began his career as Logistics Analyst for Maxwell House Coffee, then a division of General Foods, in
1980. Mr. Hubli earned a BS in Industrial Engineering and an MBA, both in 1979 from the University of Rhode Island.
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Christopher J. Reed founded our company in 1987. Since inception, Mr. Reed has served in the roles of Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer, and is
currently the company’s Chief Innovation Officer. Mr. Reed has been a non-independent Director since our incorporation in 1991. Mr. Reed also served as Chief
Financial Officer during fiscal year 2007 until October 1, 2007 and again from April 17, 2008 to January 19, 2010. Mr. Reed remains a Director of the company
with the election of John Bello as Chairman of the Board by fellow Board members. Mr. Reed has been responsible for our design and products, including the
original product recipes, the proprietary brewing process and the packaging and marketing strategies. Mr. Reed received a B.S. in Chemical Engineering in 1980
from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute in Troy, New York.

John J. Bello is Reed’s Chairman and sales and marketing expert. Since 2001, Mr. Bello has been the Managing Director of JoNa Ventures, a family venture fund.
From 2004 to 2012 Mr. Bello also served as Principal and General Partner at Sherbrooke Capital, a venture capital group dedicated to investing in leading, early
stage health and wellness companies. Mr. Bello is the founder and former CEO of South Beach Beverage Company, the maker of nutritionally enhanced teas and
juices marketed under the brand name SoBe. The company was sold to PepsiCo in 2001 for $370 million and in the same year Ernst and Young named Mr. Bello
National Entrepreneur of the Year in the consumer products category for his work with SoBe. Before founding SoBe, Mr. Bello spent fourteen years at National
Football League Properties, the marketing arm of the NFL and served as its President from 1986 to 1993. As the President, Mr. Bello has been credited for building
NFL Properties into a sports marketing leader and creating the model by which every major sports league now operates. Prior to working for the NFL, Mr. Bello
served in marketing and strategic planning capacities at the Pepsi Cola Division of PepsiCo Inc. and in product management roles for General Foods Corporation
on the Sanka and Maxwell House brands. As a board chair, Mr. Bello has also worked with IZZE in brand building, marketing and strategic planning capacities.
That brand was also sold to PepsiCo.

Mr. Bello earned his BA from Tufts University, cum laude, and received his MBA from the Tuck School of business at Dartmouth College as an Edward Tuck
Scholar. Mr. Bello is extensively involved in non-profit work and currently serves as a Tufts University Trustee and advisory board member (athletics) and the
Veteran Heritage Project in Scottsdale, Arizona. Mr. Bello also serves on the board of Rockford Fosgate, a seller of OEM audio equipment, and is executive
director of Eye Therapies which has licensed its technology to Bausch and Lomb, who markets a redness reduction eye drop under the Lumify brand name.

James C. Bass has served as a director since September 29, 2017, is Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Bass is
retired from the position of Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Sony Interactive Entertainment America LLC, commonly referred to as the
PlayStation business of Sony where he joined in 1995 as Vice President of Finance. Mr. Bass has more than thirty-five years of financial and international
management experience and was responsible for all of Sony’s financial operations and controls including general accounting and financial reporting, planning,
analysis and systems, treasury and risk management, internal audit, and federal, state and local income taxes. Prior experience includes holding several senior
management positions encompassing fourteen years with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, gaining international experience running operations in parts of Asia and
Europe.
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Mr. Bass also spent two years at Wang Laboratories as a Divisional Controller. He started his career in New York at the public accounting firm, Haskins and Sells,
now Deloitte & Touche. Mr. Bass received a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in accounting and finance from Pace University, New York City. He is a
Certified Public Accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Lewis Jaffe has served as a director since October 19, 2016, is Chairman of the Governance Committee and a member of the Audit and Compensation
Committees. Since August 2014, Mr. Jaffe is an Executive-in-Residence and Clinical Faculty at the Fred Kiesner Center for Entrepreneurship, Loyola Marymount
University. He is also a technology futurist, Executive Coach and Public Speaker. Since January 2010 Mr. Jaffe has served on the board of FitLife Brands Inc.
(FTLF:OTCBB) and serves on its audit, compensation and governance committees. Since 2006 he has served on the board of directors of York Telecom, a private
company, and serves on its compensation and governance committees. From 2006 to 2008 Mr. Jaffe was Interim Chief Executive Officer and President of Oxford
Media, Inc. Mr. Jaffe has also served in executive management positions with Verso Technologies, Inc., Wireone Technologies, Inc., Picturetel Corporation, and
he was also previously a Managing Director of Arthur Andersen. Mr. Jaffe was the co-founder of MovieMe Network. Mr. Jaffe also served on the Board of
Directors of Benihana, Inc. as its lead independent director from 2004 to 2012.

Mr. Jaffe is a graduate of the Stanford Business School Executive Program, holds a Bachelor of Science from LaSalle University and holds a Masters Professional
Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors, a public company director education and credentialing program.

Scott R. Grossman has served as a director since September 29, 2017, serves as Chairman of the Compensation Committee and is also a member of the Audit and
Governance Committees. Mr. Grossman has nearly two decades of investing and advisory experience in both public and private companies undergoing significant
change. Mr. Grossman is the founder and CEO of Vindico Capital LLC, a value-oriented investment firm that invests in public company transformations in
partnership with management. Prior to Vindico, Mr. Grossman was a Senior Portfolio Manager at Magnetar Capital, a $13 billion multi-strategy alternative asset
manager, which he first joined in 2006. Prior to Magnetar, Mr. Grossman worked at Soros Fund Management in its Private Equity division and Merrill Lynch in its
investment banking group. In addition, Mr. Grossman is a non-operating partner and current Board Member at Zeitguide. Mr. Grossman received an MBA from
the Stanford Graduate School of Business and a BA from Columbia University where he majored in economics.

Louis Imbrogno, Jr. has served as a director since August 2019. He served a 40-year tenure at PepsiCo, bringing extensive expertise in beverage supply chain and
management. At PepsiCo he served in a variety of field operating assignments and staff positions including the role of Senior Vice President of Worldwide
Technical Operations. In this role he was responsible for Pepsi-Cola’s worldwide beverage quality, concentrate operations, research & development and contract
manufacturing, reporting directly to the heads of Pepsi-Cola North America and PepsiCo Beverages International. Since Imbrogno’s retirement from PepsiCo, he
has consulted for multiple companies including PepsiCo.

Legal Proceedings

In 2014, Louis Imbrogno Jr. served as Chief Executive Officer of Constar International, Inc. for a six-month period during a bankruptcy proceeding and subsequent
sale in a court administered public auction. He was not an executive officer of the company prior to the initiation of the bankruptcy proceedings.

Except as described above, to the best of our knowledge, none of our executive officers or directors are parties to any material proceedings adverse to Reed’s, have
any material interest adverse to Reed’s or have, during the past ten years been subject to legal or regulatory proceedings required to be disclosed hereunder.

Family Relationships
There are no family relationships between any of our executive officers and directors.
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Corporate Governance
Audit Committee of the Board

The Audit Committee was formed in January 2007. The board has determined that each member of our Audit Committee is an “independent director” as defined
by Rule 5605(a)(2) of The NASDAQ Stock Market Rules and that members of the Audit Committee are independent under the additional requirements of Rule
10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). The board has determined James C. Bass meets SEC requirements of an “audit
committee financial expert” within the meaning of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, Section 407(b). In addition, the board determined that (i) none of the Audit
Committee members have participated in the preparation of the financial statements of the company at any time during the past three years and (2) Audit
Committee members are able to read and understand fundamental financial statements. Additionally, we intend to continue to have at least one member of the
Audit Committee whose experience or background results in the individual’s financial sophistication. The Audit Committee charter is posted on our website at
www.reedsinc.com.
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Code of Ethics

Our Chief Executive Officer and all senior financial officers, including the Chief Financial Officer, are bound by a Code of Ethics that complies with Item 406 of
Regulation S-B of the Exchange Act. Our Code of Ethics is posted on our website at http://investor.reedsinc.com.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires our directors and executive officers and beneficial holders of
more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our equity securities.

To our knowledge, based solely upon a review of Forms 3 and 4 and amendments thereto furnished to Reed’s under 17 CFR 240.16a-3(e) during our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2020 the following individuals each filed one late Form 4 representing one transaction (unless otherwise noted): Thomas J. Spisak, Norman E.
Snyder, Jr., John Bello, Neal Cohane. None of our officers or directors filed Form 5.

Stockholder Director Nomination Procedures

There have not been any material changes to the procedures by which stockholders may recommend nominees to the our board of directors.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The following table summarizes all compensation for fiscal years 2020 and 2019 earned by our “Named Executive Officers” during the reported periods:

Stock All Other
Awards Compensation

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus a ?2) Total

Norman E. Snyder, Jr. 2019 $ 59,776 - - $ 62,610 $ 122,386
Chief Executive Officer (Former Chief Operating Officer) 2020 $ 308,782 $ 157,500 $ 121,500 $ 14,353 $ 602,135
John J. Bello 2019 $ 127,200 $ 104,167 $ 231,367
(Former Interim Chief Executive Officer, Chairman) (3) 2020 $ 177,758 $ 104,167 $ 281,925
Thomas J. Spisak 2019 $ 20,833 $ - - $ - $ 20,833
Chief Financial Officer 2020 $ 253,847 $ 67,500 - $ 3,488 $ 324,835
Neal Cohane 2019 $ 210,000 $ 3,000 $ 213,000
Chief Sales Officer 2020 $ 213,231 $ 66,150 $ 11,656 $ 291,037
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(1) The amounts represent the fair value for share-based payment awards issued during the year. The award is calculated on the date of grant in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards.

(2) Other compensation includes both cash payments and the estimated value of the use of company assets.

(3) Mr. Bello served as Interim Chief Executive Officer from September 30, 2019 through February 29, 2020. His director compensation was suspended during the
period as his service as Interim Chief Executive Officer. Director compensation of $37,500 and consulting fees of $66,667. Mr. Bello was issued 200,000 RSAs as
compensation for his services as Interim Chief Executive Officer on February 25, 2020 for his service from September 30, 2019 through February 29, 2020. Pro-
rata portion of this award earned during 2019 is included in this table. Mr. Bello’s 2020 Director fees and compensation are also reported under the Director
Compensation Table.

Employment Agreements

Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

The board appointed Mr. Snyder to the office of Chief Operating Officer, effective March 1, 2020. Mr. Snyder succeeded John J. Bello who served as Interim
Chief Executive Officer from September 30, 2019 through February 29, 2020. The board granted Mr. Snyder a one-time bonus of 150,000 RSAs vesting March 1,
2020, subject to the conditions and limitations of Reed’s Second Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan, in conjunction with his promotion.
Pursuant his employment agreement, on February 25, 2020, he received an equity award of 446,000 stock options, one-half scheduled to vest in equal increments
on an annual basis for four years and remainder to vest based on performance criteria to be determined by the board of directors (or compensation committee of the
board). Mr. Snyder’s performance-based cash bonus was set at a target amount of 30% of base salary for the term of his service as Chief Operating Officer. The
agreement provided for acceleration of equity grants triggered by a “change of control”, as defined in the agreement and contains confidentiality, invention
assignment and non-solicitation covenants. Mr. Snyder is also eligible to participate in the company’s benefit plans available to its executive officers.

On June 24, 2020, we entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Norman E. Snyder, Jr. reflecting his promotion to Chief Executive Officer
on March 1, 2020. The term of the agreement continues through March 1, 2023 and will automatically renew for an additional one-year term, unless earlier
terminated or unless notice of non-renewal is submitted by either party 90 days in advance. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr. Snyder’s base salary of $300,000 per
year increased to $350,000 on September 30, 2020 based on satisfaction of certain objectives and to $360,500 on March 1, 2021. Mr. Snyder is also eligible to
receive a performance-based cash bonus at a target amount of 50% of his base salary in effect. He is also eligible to participate in Reed’s other benefit plans
available to its executive officers. The agreement provides for acceleration of equity grants triggered by a “change of control”, as defined in the agreement and
contains customary, non-competition, confidentiality, invention assignment and non-solicitation covenants. Mr. Snyder is also entitled to six months’ severance
benefits in the event of termination without cause by Reed’s or for good reason by Mr. Snyder, subject to execution of a release.
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John J. Bello

On February 19, 2020 the board of directors granted John Bello 200,000 RSAs, vesting March 1, 2020, as compensation for his services as Interim Chief Executive
from September 30, 2019 through February 29, 2020.

Thomas J. Spisak

We entered into an at-will employment agreement with Thomas J. Spisak to serve as the Chief Financial Officer of Reed’s, effective December 2, 2019. The
agreement may be terminated by the Company or Mr. Spisak, with or without notice and with or without cause, pursuant to the terms of the agreement. Mr.
Spisak’s base annual base salary was increased to $257,500 from $250,000 effective March 1, 2020. Mr. Spisak is also eligible to receive performance-based cash
bonus at a target amount of 30% of his base salary. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Spisak received an initial equity award of 150,000 incentive stock
options and 150,000 restricted stock awards on March 3, 2020, one-half of the award (75,000 options and 75,000 restricted stock awards) vesting in equal
increments on an annual basis for four years and the remainder (75,000 options and 75,000 restricted stock awards) vesting based on performance criteria to be
determined by the board of directors or compensation committee. Mr. Spisak is also eligible to participate in Reed’s other benefit plans available to its executive
officers. The agreement contains customary confidentiality, non-competition and invention assignment covenants.

Current Salary Arrangements of Other Executive Officers

Neal Cohane receives an annual salary which increased from $210,000 to $250,000 on March 1, 2021 with a 30% bonus target, and he is eligible to participate in
benefits offered by the company to its executive officers.

Richard H. Hubli receives an annual salary of $200,000 with a 30% bonus target, and he is eligible to participate in benefits offered by the company to its
executive officers.

Christopher J. Reed receives an annual salary of $113,500.

Change-in-Control Provisions

It is our general policy that awards that vest over a term greater one-year include provisions for acceleration upon a change-in-control.

Our 2017 Plan provides the consequences of a change-in-control provisions may be set forth in individual award agreements. For purposes of the 2020 Plan, a
“change in control” generally includes (a) the acquisition of more than 50% of the company’s common stock, (b) the acquisition within a twelve-month period of
30% or more of the Company’s common stock, (c) the replacement of a majority of the board of directors, within a twelve-month period, by directors whose
election was not endorsed by the incumbent board, or (d) the acquisition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End

The following table sets forth information regarding unexercised options and equity incentive plan awards for each Named Executive Officer outstanding as of
December 31, 2020:

Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan
Incentive Awards:
Plan Market or
Equity Awards: Payout
Incentive Number of Value of
Plan Unearned Unearned
Awards: Market Shares, Shares,
Number of Number of Number of Number of Value of Units or Units or
Securities Securities Securities Shares or Shares or Other Other
Underlying Underlying Underlying Units of Units of Rights Rights
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option  Stock That  Stock That ~ That Have  That Have
Options (#) Options (#) Unearned Exercise Expiration Have Not Have Not Not Vested  Not Vested
Name and Position Exercisable Exercisable Options Price Date Vested (#) Vested ($) (#) ($)
Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
(Chief Executive Officer, Former Chief Operating
Officer) 110,324 167,250 162,362 $ 0.88  2/25/2030
25,000 - - 3 0.50  3/25/2030
55,291 93,750 98,288 $ 0.70  5/20/2030
90,675 403,000 302,250 $ 0.95  9/16/2030
John Bello
Former Interim Chief Executive Officer, Chairman 50,000 - - 3 3.74  9/30/2021 24,590 $ 14,508
50,000 - - 3 0.50  3/25/2030
Thomas J. Spisak
(Chief Financial Officer) 36,827 56,250 54914 $ 0.89 3/2/2030 56,250 $ 33,188 54914 $§ 32,399
10,000 - - 8 0.50  3/25/2030
84,263 374,500 280,875 $ 0.95  9/16/2030
Neal Cohane
(Chief Sales Officer) 175,781 46,875 46,875 $ 1.60  3/28/2028
44,233 75,000 78,630 $ 0.70  5/20/2030
46,294 205,752 154314  § 0.95  9/16/2030
(A) These options will vest in 2021.
(B) These options vest 25% per year beginning in 2021.
(C) These options vest in accordance with performance criteria established by the board of directors.
Director Compensation
The following table summarizes the compensation paid to our non-employee directors for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Fees Earned Non-Equity
or Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other
Name Paid in Cash Awards (1) Awards Compensation Compensation Total
John J. Bello(2) $ 104,167 $ 177,758 - - = $ 281,925
Lewis Jaffe $ 37,500 $ 15,158 - - - $ 52,658
Daniel J. Doherty, I1I (3) $ 37,500 $ 15,158 - - = $ 52,658
James C. Bass $ 37,500 $ 15,158 - - - $ 52,658
Scott R. Grossman $ 37,500 $ 15,158 - - = $ 52,658
Louis Imbrogno, Jr. $ 37,500 $ 15,158 - - - $ 52,658

(1) The amounts represent the fair value of restricted stock awards granted during the year. The award is calculated on the date of grant in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards, excluding any impact of assumed forfeiture rates.

(2) Mr. Bello’s 2020 director fees and awards are also reported under the Executive Compensation Table.

(3) Daniel J. Doherty, I1I resigned from his position as director effective December 31, 2020.

50




Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our shares of common stock beneficially owned as of March 22, 2021 for (i) each Named Executive
Officer and director, and (ii) all Named Executive officers and directors as a group and (iii) each stockholder known to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of
our outstanding shares of common stock. A person is considered to beneficially own any shares (i) over which such person, directly or indirectly, exercises sole or
shared voting or investment power or (ii) of which such person has the right to acquire beneficial ownership at any time within 60 days through an exercise of
stock options or warrants or otherwise. Unless otherwise indicated, voting and investment power relating to the shares shown in the table for our directors and
executive officers is exercised solely by the beneficial owner or shared by the owner and the owner’s spouse or children.

For purposes of this table, a person or group of persons is deemed to have “beneficial ownership” of any shares of common stock that such person has the right to
acquire within 60 days of March 22, 2021. For purposes of computing the percentage of outstanding shares of our common stock held by each person or group of
persons named above, any shares that such person or persons has the right to acquire within 60 days of March 22, 2021 is deemed to be outstanding but is not
deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The inclusion herein of any shares listed as beneficially
owned does not constitute an admission of beneficial ownership. Except as otherwise indicated below, the persons named in the table have sole voting and
investment power with respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each listed executive officer and
director is 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851.

Percentage of

Named Beneficial Owner Number of Shares Shares Beneficially
Directors and Named Executive Officers Beneficially Owned Owned (1)

John J. Bello (2) 5,466,895 6.3%
Norman E. Snyder, Jr. (3) 903,908 1.0%
Neal Cohane (4) 542,585 0.6%
James C. Bass (5) 451,947 0.5%
Lewis Jaffe (6) 294,634 0.3%
Thomas J. Spisak (7) 284,584 0.3%
Scott R. Grossman (8) 221,529 0.3%
Louis Imbrogno (9) 205,151 0.1%
Directors and Named Executive Officers as a group (8 persons) 8,352,484 9.5%
5% or greater stockholders

Raptor/ Harbor Reed SPV LLC (10) 6,619,600 7.4%
Union Square Park Partners 6,936,672 8.0%
Polar Asset Management Partners Inc 5,315,917 6.2%

* Less than 1%

(1) Based on 86,317,096 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2020.

(2) Includes 100,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options, 24, 590 RSAs from 2021 Board Compensation, 400,000 shares of restricted
common stock, and warrants of 133,201.

(3) Includes 256,290 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.

(4) Includes 341,308 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.

(5) Includes 80,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options and 24,590 RSAs from 2021 Board Compensation.

(6) Includes 80,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options and 24,590 RSAs from 2021 Board Compensation.

(7) Includes 167,917 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options.

(8) Includes 80,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options and 24,590 RSAs from 2021 Board Compensation.

(9) Includes 69,950 shares issuable upon exercise of currently-exercisable options and 24,950 RSAs from 2021 Board Compensation

(10) Principal address is 280 Congress Street, 12th Floor Boston, Massachusetts 02210. Includes 2,810,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
currently-exercisable warrants.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

On September 29, 2017, the 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan for 3,000,000 shares was approved by our shareholders. On December 13, 2018 the Amended and
Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan was approved by our shareholders increasing the number of shares issuable by 3,500,000 to 6,500,000. On December
16, 2019, the Second Amended and Restated 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan (“2017 Plan”) was approved by our shareholders, increasing the number of shares
issuable by 1,000,000 to 7,500,000. On December 21, 2020, the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (“2020 Plan”) for 8,500,000 shares was approved by our shareholders.
The 2020 Plan replaced the 2017 Plan, which will expire by its terms on September 30, 2027. We have discontinued the 2017 Plan and all plans that preceded the
2017 Plan and will not issue any new awards under these prior plans, although awards granted under these plans will remain in effect.

The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2020, with respect to equity securities authorized for issuance under compensation plans:
Number of Securities

Remaining Available
for Future Issuance

Number of Securities to Weighted-Average Under Equity
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Compensation Plans
of Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, (excluding securities

Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights reflected in



Plan Category (a) (b) Column (a)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 9,417,898  § 1.19 3,874,048
Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders - 8 - -
TOTAL 9,417,898 § 1.19 3,874,048
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Our board of directors has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any transaction, arrangement or relationship between Reed’s and one of our
executive officers, directors, director nominees or 5% or greater stockholders (or their immediate family members), each of whom we refer to as a “related
person,” in which such related person has a direct or indirect material interest.

If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, defined as a “related party transaction,” the related party must report the
proposed related party transaction to our Chief Financial Officer. The policy calls for the proposed related party transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed
appropriate, approved by the Governance Committee. Our Governance Committee is comprised of John Bello, Lewis Jaffe and Scott R. Grossman. Mr. Jaffe
serves as Chairman. The board of directors has determined all of the members of the Governance Committee are independent under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock
Market, LLC. If practicable, the reporting, review and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the
Governance Committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related party transaction. Any related party transactions that are ongoing in nature will be
reviewed annually at a minimum. The related party transactions listed below were reviewed by the full board of directors. Prior to August 2005, we did not have
independent directors on our board to review and approve related party transactions. The Governance Committee shall review future related party transactions.

The following includes a summary of transactions since the beginning of fiscal 2019 or any currently proposed transaction, in which we were or are to be a
participant and the amount involved exceeded or exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two
completed fiscal years and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest (other than compensation described under “Executive
Compensation”). We believe the terms obtained or consideration that we paid or received, as applicable, in connection with the transactions described below were
comparable to or better than terms available or the amounts that would be paid or received, as applicable, in arm’s-length transactions.

Transactions with California Custom Beverage, LLC (“CCB”)

On December 31, 2018, after completion of bidding process, Reed’s sold its beverage manufacturing equipment and private label beverage business for a purchase
price of $1.25 million pursuant to an asset purchase agreement of the same date with California Custom Beverage, LLC (“CCB”), an entity owned by Christopher
J. Reed, founder, Chief Innovation Officer and director of Reed’s. Mr. Reed obtained debt financing from a commercial bank, PMC Financial Services, LLC, in the
amount of $1,050,000. In addition, in support of the transaction, a group of current Reed’s stockholders, including Chairman John J. Bello and certain institutional
investors, purchased 350,000 shares of common stock of REED from Christopher J. Reed at $2.00 per share, in a private transaction exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. The pricing was based on the higher of $2.00 per share or a 10% discount to the 5-day volume weighted average price
ending December 28, 2018.

As part of the transaction, CCB assumed the monthly payments on our lease obligation for the Los Angeles manufacturing plant. Our release from the obligation
by the lessor, however, is dependent upon CCB’s deposit of $1.2 million of security with the lessor. The deposit is secured by Mr. Reed’s pledge of common stock
to the lessor and guaranteed personally by Mr. Reed and his wife. As of December 31, 2020, $800 has been deposited with the lessor and Mr. Reed has placed
approximately 363,000 pledged shares valued at $338 that remain pledged in in escrow in favor of lessor.

The plant equipment was sold to CCB on an “as-is, where is” basis. In addition, the parties entered into a 3-year co-packing contract for the production of Reed’s
beverages in glass bottles at prevailing West Coast market rates. Certain transitional services were provided by Reed’s to CCB for 30 days. The transaction

documents also contain customary protections for intellectual property, indemnification and non-competition provisions.
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Beginning in 2019, we began receiving a 5% royalty on CCB’s private label sales to existing customers for three years and a 5% referral fee on CCB’s private
label sales to referred customers for three years. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded royalty revenue from CCB of $98. During the
year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded royalty revenue from CCB of $128.

At December 31, 2019, the Company had royalty revenue receivable from CCB of $128. In addition, at December 31, 2019, the Company has outstanding
receivable from CCB of $228 consisting of inventory advances to CCB. The aggregate receivable from CCB at December 31, 2019 was $356. During the year
ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded royalty revenue receivable of $98, advanced inventory and equipment of $381, and reduced CCB receivable by
$153 and reducing CCB payable of $153, leaving an aggregate receivable balance of $682 at December 31, 2020.

At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had accounts payable due to CCB of $557 and $182, respectively.
Settlement of Secured Convertible Subordinated Non-redeemable Note with Raptor/ Harbor Reeds SPV, LLC

On December 11, 2020, we entered into a Satisfaction, Settlement and Release Agreement (“Satisfaction Agreement”) with Raptor/ Harbor Reeds SPV, LLC
(“Raptor”) satisfying all of our obligations to Raptor as our junior secured lender. Raptor is a related party. Daniel J. Doherty III, a former director of Reed’s, is a
principal and member of Raptor. The transaction was completed on December 15, 2020.

Prior to this transaction, our obligation under that certain Senior Secured Amended and Restated Subordinated Convertible Non-Redeemable Secured Note
(“Subordinated Note”) dated October 4, 2018 in favor of Raptor, including accrued and unpaid interest through maturity on April 21, 2021, was approximately
$5.5 million.

In full satisfaction of the Subordinated Note, including release of collateral, and termination of related junior lender documentation, we (a) paid Raptor $4,250,000
in cash, (b) issued to Raptor a 5-year warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value, of Reed’s (“Common Stock™) with an exercise
price of $0.644 (“Satisfaction Warrant™), and (c) issued to Raptor 1,339,286 shares of Common Stock upon conversion of $750,000.00 of the Subordinated Note at
the reduced per share conversion price of $0.56.

The Satisfaction Agreement includes a mutual release of liability. The Satisfaction Warrant contains customary protection for stock splits, dividends and
reclassifications and provides certain rights in the event of a “Fundamental Transaction” as therein defined. Pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement (“RRA”)
dated December 11, 2020, the company also agreed to file a registration statement registering shares of Common Stock underlying the warrant for resale, provided
however, sales under the registration statement may not commence until the 6th trading day after Reed’s files its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period
ending December 31, 2020 with the Securities Exchange Commission.

Reed’s senior lender, Rosenthal & Rosenthal Inc. (“Rosenthal”), a New York corporation consented to the settlement transaction subject to pay-down by Reed’s of
senior credit line obligation to zero, in compliance with terms of existing financing documents, release of collateral securing the Subordinated Note and other
customary requirements.

Amendment to Financing Agreement

On March 11, 2021, we entered into an amendment (“Amendment”) to that certain Financing Agreement dated October 4, 2018, as amended or supplemented with
our senior secured lender, Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (“Rosenthal”) releasing that irrevocable standby letter of credit by Daniel J. Doherty, III and Daniel J.
Doherty, III 2002 Family Trust in the amount of $1.5 million (“LC”), which served as financial collateral for certain obligations of Reed’s under the Rosenthal
credit facility, with a two million dollar (82,000,000) pledge of securities to Rosenthal by John J. Bello and Nancy E. Bello, as Co-Trustees of THE JOHN AND
NANCY BELLO REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST, under trust agreement dated December 3, 2012, evidenced by that certain Pledge Agreement to Rosenthal, and
as to which Rosenthal has a first and only perfected security interest by the Securities Account Control Agreement held by securities broker (“Bello Pledge”).
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John J. Bello, current Chairman and former Interim Chief Executive Officer of Reed’s, is a related party. He is also a greater than 5% beneficial owner of Reed’s
common stock. As consideration for the collateral support, Mr. Bello received 400,000 shares of Reed’s restricted stock.

Other

Lindsay Martin, daughter of a director of the Company, was employed as Vice President of Marketing during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Ms.
Martin was paid approximately $215 and $161, respectively, for her services during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Director Independence

As of the date of this Annual Report, our board has seven directors and the following four standing committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee,
a Governance Committee and an Operations Committee. The board, upon recommendation from the Compensation Committee, determined through 2020, each of
John J. Bello, Lewis Jaffe, James C. Bass, Scott R. Grossman and Louis Imbrogno is an “independent director” as defined by Rule 5605(a)(2) of The NASDAQ
Stock Market Rules (the “NASDAQ Rules”). Independence of board members is re-evaluated by the board annually. The board determined affirmatively that John
J. Bello’s service as Interim Chief Executive Officer and the compensation received for such service would not interfere with his ability to exercise independent
judgment as a director. Subsequently, in March of 2021, the board, upon recommendation from the Compensation Committee, determined that John J. Bello is no
longer an “independent director” due to collateral support he now provides on behalf of the Company to the Company’s senior secured lender, Rosenthal &
Rosenthal, Inc. We intend to maintain at least a majority of independent directors on our board in the future.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Weinberg & Company, P.A. (“Weinberg”) was our independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The following table shows the fees paid or accrued by us for the audit and other services provided by Weinberg for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
Audit Fees $ 161,597 $ 267,184
Audit-Related Fees - -
Tax Fees 36,169 63,561
All Other Fees 93,548 83,670
Total $ 291,314 $ 414,415

As defined by the SEC, (i) “audit fees” are fees for professional services rendered by our principal accountant for the audit of our annual financial statements and
review of financial statements included in our Form 10-K, or for services that are normally provided by the accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory
filings or engagements for those fiscal years; (ii) “audit-related fees” are fees for assurance and related services by our principal accountant that are reasonably
related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported under “audit fees;” (iii) “tax fees” are fees for professional
services rendered by our principal accountant for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning; and (iv) “all other fees” are fees for products and services provided
by our principal accountant, other than the services reported under “audit fees,” “audit-related fees,” and “tax fees.”

Audit Fees

Weinberg provided services for the audits of our financial statements included in Annual Reports on Form 10-K and limited reviews of the financial statements
included in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.

Audit Related Fees

Weinberg did not provide any professional services which would be considered “audit related fees.”

Tax Fees

Weinberg prepared our 2019 and 2018 Federal and state income tax returns.

All Other Fees

Services provided by Weinberg with respect to the filing of various registration statements made throughout the year are considered “all other fees.”

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Under the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting
firm in order to ensure that they do not impair the auditors’ independence. The SEC’s rules specify the types of non-audit services that an independent auditor may
not provide to its audit client and establish the Audit Committee’s responsibility for administration of the engagement of the independent registered public
accounting firm.

Consistent with the SEC’s rules, the Audit Committee Charter requires that the Audit Committee review and pre-approve all audit services and permitted non-audit

services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm to us or any of our subsidiaries. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority
to a member of the Audit Committee and if it does, the decisions of that member must be presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.



Accordingly, 100% of audit services and non-audit services described in this Item 14 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

There were no hours expended on the principal accountant’s engagement to audit the registrant’s financial statements for the most recent fiscal year that were
attributed to work performed by persons other than the principal accountant’s full-time, permanent employees.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statements
(a) 1. Financial Statements
See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

All other financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or
notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index, which follows the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by reference.
(b) Exhibits

See Item 15(a) (3) above.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

See Item 15(a) (2) above.

Item 16. Form 10K Summary

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

Date: March 30, 2021 REED’S, INC.
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr. Chief Executive Officer, March 30, 2021
Norman E. Snyder, Jr. (Principal Executive Officer), Director
/s/ Thomas J. Spisak Chief Financial Officer March 30, 2021
Thomas J. Spisak (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ John J. Bello Chairman of the Board March 30, 2021

John J. Bello

/s/ Christopher J. Reed Chief Innovation Officer, Director March 30, 2021
Christopher J. Reed

/s/ Lewis Jaffe Director March 30, 2021
Lewis Jaffe

/s/ James C. Bass Director March 30, 2021
James C. Bass

/s/ Scott R. Grossman Director March 30, 2021
Scott R. Grossman

/s/ Louis Imbrogno, Jr. Director March 30, 2021
Louis Imbrogno, Jr.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Filed Incorporated by Reference
No. Exhibit Title Herewith Form Exhibit File No. Date Filed
3 (i) Certificate of Incorporation of Reed’s Inc., as amended X
3 (ii) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Reed’s, Inc. 10-KA 3.8 001-32501 04/08/2020
4.1 Form of common stock certificate SB-2 4.1 333-120451
4.2 Form of series A preferred stock certificate SB-2 4.2 333-120451
4.3 Form of common stock purchase warrant issued to investors on 8-K 4.1 001-32501 6/03/2016
June 2, 2016
4.4 Form of common stock purchase warrant issued to Maxim Group 8-K 4.2 001-32501 6/03/2016
LLC on June 2, 2016
4.5 Form of common stock purchase warrant issued to PMC 10-Q 10.1 001-32501 5/11/2016
Financial Services Group, LLC on November 9, 2015
4.6 Form of 2017-1 common stock purchase warrant 8-K 4.1 001-32501 4/24/2017
4.7 Form of 2017-2 common stock purchase warrant 8-K 4.2 001-32501 4/24/2017
4.8 Form of 2017-3 common stock purchase warrant 8-K 4.1 001-32501 7/14/2017
49 Form of 2017-4 common stock purchase warrant 8-K 4.2 001-32501 7/14/2017
4.10 Form of common stock purchase Warrant issued to Raptor/
Harbor Reed’s SPV on December 11, 2020 X
4 (vi) Description of registrant’s common stock X
10.1 Satisfaction Settlement and Release Agreement by and between
Reed’s. Inc. and Raptor/ Harbor Reeds SPV, dated December 11,
2020 X
10.2 Registration Rights Agreement by and between Reed’s, Inc. and
Raptor/ Harbor Reeds SPV, dated December 11, 2020 X
10.3 Amendment dated March 11, 2021 to Financing Agreement
dated October 4. 2018 by and between Reed’s Inc. and Rosenthal
& Rosenthal, Inc. X
10.4 Registration Rights Agreement by and between Reed’s Inc. and 8-K 10.3 001-32501 6/03/2016
purchasers signatory thereto dated May 26. 2016
10.5 Form of Registration Rights Agreement by and between Reed’s 8-K 10.3 001-32501 4/24/2017
Inc. and Raptor/Harbor Reeds SPV LLC dated April 21, 2017
10.6* Reed’s, Inc. 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan 8-K 4.2 333-222741
10.7* Reed’s. Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan S-8 4.2 333-252140 1/15/2021
10.8 Amendment dated December 23. 2020 to Financing Agreement
dated October 4, 2018 between Reed’s. Inc. and Rosenthal &
Rosenthal, Inc. X
10.9 Inventory Security Agreement by and between Reed’s Inc. and 10-Q 10.2 001-32501 11/14/2018
Rosenthal & Rosenthal Inc. dated October 4, 2018
10.10 Intellectual Property Security Agreement by and between Reed’s, 10-Q 10.3 001-32501 11/14/2018
Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal Inc. dated October 4, 2018
10.11 Security Interest (short form) by Reed’s. Inc. in favor of 10-Q 10.4 001-32501 11/14/2018
Rosenthal & Rosenthal Inc. dated October 4, 2018
10.12 Termination Agreement by and between Rosenthal & Rosenthal
Inc. and Raptor/Harbor Reeds SPV LLC dated October 4, 2018 X
10.13 Sublease Agreement by and between Reed’s. Inc.. Merritt 7 10-Q 10.7 001-32501 11/14/2018
Venture L.L.C.. and GE Capital US Holdings. Inc.. dated
September 1. 2018
10.14 Asset Purchase Agreement by and between Reed’s, Inc. and 8-K 10.1 001-32501 12/31/2018

California Custom Beverage LLC dated December 31, 2018
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10.15

10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19%*
10.20%*

10.21*
10.22%*

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

14.1
21
22(ii)
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1
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101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Assignment and Assumption of Lease and Consent of Lessor by
and between Reed’s, Inc. and California Custom Beverage LLC
dated December 31, 2018

Transition Services Agreement by and between Reed’s, Inc. and
California Custom Beverage LLC dated December 31, 2018

Referral Agreement by and between Reed’s Inc. and California
Custom Beverage LLC dated December 31, 2018

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Reed’s. Inc.
and officers and directors

Executive Employment Agreement by and between Reed’s Inc.
and Thomas J. Spisak dated December 2, 2019

Form of Non-Employee Director Nonstatutory Stock Option
Agreement

Form of Executive Incentive Stock Option Agreement

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between
Reed’s Inc. and Norman E. Snyder, Jr. dated June 24, 2020

Form of Reed’s, Inc. Promissory Note, in the principal amount of
$769.816 in favor of City National Bank, dated April 20, 2020.
Manufacturing and Distribution Agreement by and between
Reed’s, Inc. and B C Marketing Concepts Inc., dba Full Sail
Brewing Company dated October 11, 2019

Recipe Development Agreement Reed’s. Inc. and B C Marketing
Concepts Inc., dba Full Sail Brewing Company dated October
11,2019

Financing Agreement by and between Reed’s Inc. and Rosenthal
& Rosenthal Inc. dated October 4, 2018

Code of Ethics

Subsidiaries of Reed’s, Inc.

Affiliate Guarantor

Consent of Weinberg & Co., PA

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 filed herewith.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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8-K
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10-Q
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10-Q
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10.2

10.4

10.4

10.31

10.38

10.1

10.1

10.1

10.3

10.4

10.1

14.1

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501
001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

001-32501

333-157359

12/31/2018

12/31/2018

12/31/2018

4/01/2019

4/08/2020

8/10/2020
8/10/2020

5/01/2020

11/13/2019

11/13/2019

11/14/2018
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You may verlfy this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authwer. shtml

Delaware

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED ARE TRUE AND CORRECT
COPIES OF ALL DOCUMENTS ON FILE OF "REED'S, INC."” AS RECEIVED
AND FILED IN THIS OFFICE.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN CERTIFIED:

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION, FILED THE SEVENTH DAY OF
SEPTEMBER, A.D. 2001, AT 1:30 O'CLOCK F.M.

CERTIFICATE OF OWNERSHIF, FILED THE NINTH DAY OF OCTOBER,
A.p, 2001, AT 1:30 O'CLOCK P.M.

CERTIFICATE OF REVIVAL, FILED THE FOURTEENTH DAY OF
SEPTEMEER, A.D. 2004, AT 11 0'CLOCK A_M.

CERTIFICATE OF AMENTDMENT, FILED THE TWENTY-SEVENTE DAY OF
SEPTEMBER, A.D. 2004, AT 1:46 O CLOCK P.M.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATICON, FILED THE TWELFTHE DAY OF
OCTOEER, A.D. 2004, AT 3:04 O'CLOCK F.M.

CERTIFICATE OF CORRECTION, FILED TEE TENTH DAY OF NOVEMBER,

A.D. 2004, AT 9:57 O CLOCK F.M.

Authentication: 202382490
Date: 04-17-17

Exhibit 3.(i)




Delaware

The First State

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF
THE AFORESAID CERTIFICATE OF CORRECTION IS THE ELEVENTH DAY OF
NOVEMBER, A.D. 2004 AT 9:55 Q'CLOCK P.M.

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT, FILED THE EIGHTEENTH DAY OF
DECEMBER, A.D. 2007, AT 6:29 O CLOCK P.M.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION, FILED THE TWENTY-NINTH DAY OF
APRIL, A.D. 2008, AT 10:54 © CLOCK A.M.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION, FILED THE SIXTEENTH DAY OF
NOVEMBER, A.D. 2008, AT 2:10 © CLOCK P.M.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION, FILED THE SEVENTH DAY OF
DECEMEER, A.D. 2008, AT 6:22 O'CLOCK P.M.

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE AFORESAID
CERTIFICATES ARE THE ONLY CERTIFICATES ON RECORD OF THE

AFORESAID CORPORATION, "REED'S, INC.".

S

Authentication: 202382490
Date: 04-17-17

3433903 B100H
SRHE 20172535608

Yo may werify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/fauthver.shirml
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CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
REED'S, INC.

ARTICLE I
The name of the corporation is Reed's, Inc. (the *Corporation™).
ARTICLE LIl

Thaﬂmuufhﬂomﬁm‘:@mﬂaﬂhhhﬂwﬂ&hwnilﬂﬂmﬂmﬂ.tﬁy
dwmmmm&mm.mmlm.mWﬁmenmmhm
ARTICLE 11

mmﬂﬂumﬁmnmwuuthmlmwmﬁvhﬂmﬂhhmmmmu
organized under the General Corporation Law of Delaware.

ARTICLE IV

mmpuﬁmhmhdmm“hufMHmmh&ﬁMCth
m.miwm,mmmummucmhmmmmn 50,000,000 shares of
Common Stock.

ARTICLE V

mmmmmiwmmm,m,ummmmnm
mdmhmmmmmpmwm.ﬂmmmm
the stockholders herein are granied sabiect to this right.

ARTICLE V1

The Corporation is to have perpetual exisience.
ARTICLE VII

1. Limitation of Liability. To the fullest extent permitied by the General Corporation Law of the
hdm:mmmquMhmﬂ.:mﬂﬂmWﬂmmh
mﬂblmmm&wﬂmmhwmmmwnmﬂﬁww as a
-director,

2. mmm.mcmmmmmwmmmmmdwwm
prmmﬂwwnhm;mmnmﬁmwm,mm. civil, administrative
wmﬁpﬁn.bymdﬂnmusmhwmuﬁlmbwhmwmhﬂmuﬁm.
m«w&mmwdeﬂxCuWMwamsz
w“undhm.ofﬁnummﬂhmﬁmmummwm

3. Ammewmmmw&Mmmmmmﬂmufmy
provision of the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Anicle VI, shall eliminate or
nmmnﬁnofﬁhﬁrﬂmvmmmpmdnymwmmemhnWMWh;m
arising or that, but for this Article VII, Mdnmwms.mmmmw,wa@ﬁmdm
inconsistent provision.
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ARTICLE VIOl

Holdara of stock of any class or series of this Corparation shall not be entiiled to comulate their votes for
the election of directors or any other matter submitted 1o a vote of the stockbolders.’

ARTICLE IX
L. Mumber of Directors. The aumber of directors which constitutes the whole Board of Directors
gmmsmummhmmmmmm Initially, the number of directors shall
one (1).

2. Blection of Directors, Electlons of direciors shall oot be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of
the Corporation shall so provide.

3 w ion of [nitlal Director, The name and address of the initial director of the Corporation
ig 2§ follows: rJ. Reed, 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California 90061,
ARTICLE X

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors is
expressly authorized to make, aiter, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE XI

Meetings of stockholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware, as the Bylaws may
provide. The becks of the Corporation may be kept (subject to any provision contained in the stanates) outside of
the State of Delaware st such place or places as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or
in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE X10l
The name and mailing address of the incorporator are as follows D L. Petrucci Corparation
Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801. The undersigned ineorporator hereby

acknowledges that the above Certificate of Incorporation of Reed's, Inc. is his act and deed and that the facts
stated therein are true.

Dated: Septernber 7, 2001 : rD{’%‘MC_Q.L

. L. Petrucei
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CERTIFICATE OF OWNERSHIP AND MERGER
MERGING
ORIGINAL BEVERAGE CORPORATION
INTO
REED'S, INC.

LB AN BN N

ORIGINAL BEVERAGE CORPORATION, a corporation organized and existing under
the laws of Florida, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:

FIRST: That this corporation was incorporated on the 18" day of January, 1991,
pursuant to chapter 607 of the Laws of the State of Florida, the provisions of which permit the
merger of a corporation of another state and a corporation organized and existing under the laws
of said state.

SECOND: That this corporation owns one hundred percent of the outstanding shares of
the stock of Reed's, Inc., & cotporation incorporated on the 7th day of Sepiember, 2001 pursuant
to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

THIRD: That the directors of Original Beverage Corporation, by the following
resolutions of its Board of Directors, duly adopted at a meeting held on the 16™ day of August,
2001, determined to merge itself into said Reed's, Inc.:

RESOLVED, that Original Beverage Comoration merge, and it hereby does
merge itself into said Reed’s, Inc., which assumes all of the obligations of Original
Beverage Corporation.

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the merger shall be effective upon filing with the Secretary
of State of Delaware,

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the terms and conditions of the merger are as set forth in
the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of September 7, 2001 which is attached
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference.

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the proposed merger shall be submitted to the stockholders
of Original Beverage Corporation af a meeting of such stockholders duly called and held
after notice of the purpose thereof mailed to the address of each such stockholder as it
appears in the records of the corporation; and upon receiving the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least a majority of the outstanding stock entitled to vote thereon of Original
Beverage Corporation, the merger shall be approved,

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the proper officer of this corporation be and he or she is
hereby directed to make and execute a Certificate of Ownership and Merger setting forth

1




OCT=-25-2801 11:82 FROM CT CORPORSTION SYSTEM TO WIL FILING P. 8387

a copy of the resolutions to merge itself into said Reed's, Inc. and the date of ndoption
thereof, and to canse the same to be filed with the Secretary of State and to do all acts and
things whatsoever, whether within or without the State of Delaware, which may be in
anywise necessary or proper to effect said merger,

FOURTH: Thaiﬁwmpnsadmgarhasbemadupmd,appmwd,uxﬁﬁed,mmwd
and acknowledged by Original Beverage Corporation in accordance with the laws of the Stale of

FIFTH: Anything herein or elsewhere to the contrary notwithstanding, this merger may
be amended or terminated and abandoned by the Board of Directors of Original Beverage
Corporation at any time prior to the time that this merger filed with the Secretary of State
becomes effective.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said Original Beverage Corporation has caused this
Certificate to be signed by Christopher J. Reed, its President, this 4th day of October, 2001,

ORIGINAL BEVERAGE CORPORATION
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EXHIBIT A
AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

THIS AGREEMENT OF MERGER (the " Agreement™), dated as of September 7, 2001, is
entered into by and between Original Beverage Corporation, & Florida corporation ("OBC
Florida™} and Reed’s, Inc., 2 Delaware corporation {"Newco Delaware™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, OBC Florida is a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of
the State of Florids;

WHEREAS, the respective Boards of Directors of OBC Florida and Newco Delaware
have determined that it is advisable and in the best interests of each of such corporations that
OBC Florida merge with and into Newco Delaware (the “Merger”) upon the terms and subject to
the conditions sct forth in this Agreement for the purpose of effecting the change of the state of
incorporation of OBC Florida from Florida to Delaware;

WHEREAS, the respective Boards of Directors of DBC Florida and Newco Delaware
have, by resolutions duty adopted, approved this Agreement, subject to the approval of the
sharcholders of each of Newco Delaware and OBC Florida: and

WHEREAS, this Agreement is intended as a tax free plan of reorganization within the
meaning of Section 368 of the Imernal Revenue Code:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants set forth
herein, OBC Florida and Newco Delaware heteby agree as follows:

1. Merger. OBC Florida shall be merged with and into Newco Delaware and Newco
Delaware shall be the surviving corporation (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Surviving
Corporation”}. The Merger shall become effective upon the date and time when this Agreement
is made effective in accordance with applicable law (the “Effective Time™).

2. Governin uments. Executi irectors. The Certificate of
Incorporation of Newco Delaware, from and after the Effective Time, shall be the Certificate of
Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation without change or amendment until thereafier
amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable laws. The Bylaws of Newco
Delaware from and after the Effective Time, shall be the Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation
without change or amendment until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions
thereof, or the Centificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and applicable laws. The
members of the Board of Directors and committees of the Board of Directors and the officers of
OBC Florida immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the members of the Board of
Directors and committees of the Board of Directors and the officers of the Surviving Corporation
from and after the Effective Time, until their respective successors have been duty elected and
qualify, unless they earlier die, resign or are removed.
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3. Succession. At the Effective Time, the separate corporate existence of OBC Florida
shall cease, and the Surviving Corporation shall possess all the rights, privileges, powers and
franchises of a public and private nature of OBC Florida; and all property, real, personal and
mixed, and all debts due to OBC Florida on whatever account, as well as for share subscriptions
as all other things in action belonging to OBC Florida, shall be vested in the Surviving
Corporation; and all property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises, and all and every interest
shall be thereafter as effectually be the property of the Surviving Corporation as they were of
OBC Florida, and the title (o any real estate vested by deed or otherwise in OBC Florida shall not
revert or be in any way impaired by reason of the Merger; but all rights of creditors and all liens
upon any property of OBC Florida shall be preserved unimpaired, and all debts, liabilities and
duties of OBC Florida shall thenceforth attach to the Surviving Corporation and may be enforced
against it to the same extent as if such debis, liabilities and duties had been incurred or contracted
by it. All corporate acts, plans, policies, agreements, arrangements, approvils and authorizations
of OBC Florida, its shareholders, Board of Directors and committees thereof, officers and agents
which were valid and effective immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be taken for all
purposes as the acts, plans, policies, agreements, approvals and authorizations of the Surviving
Corporation and shall be as effective and binding thereon as the same were with respect 1o OBC
Flotida. The employees and agents of OBC Florida shall become the employees and agents of
the Surviving Corporation and continue to be entitled to the same rights and benefits which they
enjoyed as employees and agents of OBC Florida. The requirements of any plans or agreements
of OBC Florida involving the issuance or purchase by OBC Florida of certain shares of its
capital stock shall be satisfied by the issuance or purchase of a like number of shares of the
Surviving Corporation,

4, Further Assurancgs. From time to time, as and when required by the Surviving
Corporation or by its successors or assigns, there shall be executed and deliverad on behalf of
OBC Florida such deeds and other instruments, and there shall be taken or caused to be taken by
it all such further and other action, as shall be appropriate, advisable or necessary in order to
vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the Surviving Corporation the title to and
possession of all property, interests, assets, rights, privileges, immunities, powers, franchises and
authority of OBC Florida, and otherwise to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, and the
officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation are fully authorized in the name and on
behalf of OBC Florida or otherwise, to take any and all such action and lo execute and deliver
any and all such deeds and other instruments.

5. Conversion of Shares. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any
action on the part of the holder thereof:

(a) each share of the common stock, par value $.0001 per share (the "OBC Florida
Common Stock”) of OBC Florida outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be
changed and converted into and shall be one fully paid and nomassesseble share of common
stock, par value $.0001 per share (the "Sutviving Corporation Common Stock”) of the Surviving
Corporation and no fractional shares shall be issued and fractions of half or more shall be
rounded to a whole share and fractions of less than half shall be disregarded, such that the issped
and outstanding capital stock of the Surviving Corporation resulting from the conversion of the
OBC Florida Common Stock upon the Effective Time shall be equal to the number of shares of
OBC Florida Commeon Stoek at that time; and
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(b} as of the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation hereby assumes all
obligations under any and all employee benefit plans of OBC Florida in effect as of the Effective
Time or with respect to which employee rights or accrued benefits are outstanding as of the
Effective Time and shall continue 1he stock option plans, warrants or other rights to purchase, or
securities convertible into OBC Florida Common Stock. Each owtstanding and unexercised
option, warrant or other right to purchase, or security convertible into OBC Florida Common
Stock shall become an option, warrant or right to purchase, or a security convertible into the
Surviving Corporation Common Stock on the basis of one share of the Surviving Corporation
Common Stock for each share of OBC Florida Common Stock issusble pursuant to any such
option, warrant or stock purchase right or convertible security, on the same terms and conditions
and at an exercise or conversion price per share equal to the exercise or conversion price per
share applicable to any such OBC Florida option, warrant, stock purchase right o other
convertible security at the Effective Time.

A number of shares of the Surviving Corporation Common S$tock shall be reserved for
issmance upon the exercise of options, warrants, stock purchase rights and convertible securities
equal to the number of shares of OBC Florida Common Stock so reserved immediately prior to
the Effective Time.

(¢} the shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock presently issued and
outstanding in the name of OBC Florida shall be canceled and retired and resume the status of
authorized and unissued shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock, and no shares of
Surviving Corporation Commeon Stock or other securities of OBC Florida shall be issued in
respect thereof,

6. Stock Certificates. As of and after the Effective Time, all of the owtstanding certificates
which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, represented shares of OBC Florida Common
Stack shall be deemed for all purposes to evidence ownership of, and to represent, shares of
Surviving Corporation Common Stock into which the shares of OBC Florida Common Stock
formerly represented by such certificates, have been converted as herein provided. The registered
owner on the books and records of the Surviving Corporation or its transfer agents of any such
outstanding stock certificate shall, untdl such certificate shall have been surrendered for transfer
or otherwise accounted for to the Surviving Corporation of its transfer agents, have and be
entitled to exercise any voting and other rights with respect to, and to receive any dividends and
other distributions upon, the shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock evidenced by such
outstanding certificate as above provided.

7. Shareholder Approval. This Agreement has been approved by OBC Florida under
Section 607.1103 of the Florida Business Corporation Act by the shareholders representing in
excess of 50% of the issued and outstanding voting securities of OBC Florida. This
has been approved by Newco Delaware under Section 253 of the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware. The signature of OBC Florida on this Agreement shall constitute its
written consent as sole shareholder of Newco Delaware, to this Agreement and the Merger,

8. Amendment. To the full extent permitted by applicable law, this Agreement may be
amended, modified or supplemented by writien agreement of the parties hereto, either before or
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after approval of the shareholders of the constituent corporations and at any time prior to the
Effective Time with respect to any of the terms contained hecein.

9. Termination. At any time prior to the Effsctive Time, this Agreement may be
terminated and the Merger may be abandoned by the Boards of Directors of OBC Florida or
Newco Delaware, notwithstanding approval of this Agreement by the shareholders of Newco
Delaware or by the sharcholders of OBC Florida, or both, if, in the opinion of eithet of the
Boards of Directors of OBC Florida or Newco Delaware, circumstances arise which in the
opinion of such Boards of Directors, make the Merger for any reason inadvisable.

10. Counterpars. In order to facilitate the filing and recording of this Agreement, the
same may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original and the same agreement.

11. Blorida Appointment. Newco Delaware hereby agrees that it may be served with
process in the State of Florida in any action or special proceeding for enforcement of any liability
or abligation of OBC Florida or Neweco Delaware arising from the Merger. Newco Delaware
appoints the Secretary of State of the State of Florida as its agent to accept service of process in
any such suit or other proceeding and a copy of such process shall be mailed by the Secretary of
State of Florida to Newco Delaware at 13000 South Spring Street, Los Angeles, California
90061,

12. Goverping Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Delaware,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, OBC Florida and Newco Delawars have caused this
Agreement to be executed and delivered by their respective duly authorized officers as of the
date first above written.

TOTAL P.B7
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CERTIFICATE OF REKEWAL AND REVIVAL
OF
REED'S, INC.

Rued's, Tne., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware {the
“Corporation”). pursuant Section 312 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware
(the “GCL™, HEREBY CERTIFIES AS FOLLOWS:

1. The name of the Corporation is Reed's, Inc. The certificate of incorporation
of the Corparation was filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of Delaware on Seplember 7,
2001.

2. The Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is located at 222
Delaware Avenue, 9 Floor, Wilmington, New Castle County, DE 19801 The Corporation's
registered agent at such address is The Delaware Corporation Agency, [ne.

3. This renewal and revival of the charter of the Corporation is to be perpetual
and is (o commence on Febroary 29, 2004.

4,  The Corporation was duly organized and carried on the business authorized by
its charter until March 1. 2004, at which time its charter became inoperative and void for non-
payment of taxes.

5. This certificate for renewal and revival is filed by authority of the persons
who were the directors of the Corporation ai the ime ils charter became void and inoperative or
persons who were elected directors in accordance with Section 312(h} of the GCL.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOQF, the undersigned has executed this centificate this 9¢h
day of September, 2004,

3

1le: Chief Excoutive Officer

shaiZewl
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State of Delaware

. Secretezy of State
&ﬁu:&d 01:57 08/27/2004

FILED 01:46 PM 09/27/2004
SRV (40898649 — 3433003 FILE
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
or
REEDVS, INC.,

Reed’s, [ne,, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, does herchy certify as follows:

FIRST: The name of the corporation is Reed's, Tno. (the “Corporation™).

SECOND: The date on which the Corporation’s origingl Certificate of
Incorporation was filed with the Delaware Secretary of State is September 7, 2001,

THIRD: The Board of Directors of the Corporation, acting in accordance with the
provisions of Sections 141 and 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware adopted resolutions by unanimous written consent effective as of August 25,
2004 1o amend Article IV of the Certificate of Incorporate of the Corporation to read in
itg entirety as follows:

ARTICLE TV

1, This Corporation is authorized to issue 12,000,000 shares of its Capital
Stock, which shall be divided into two classes known as Common Stock
and Preferred Stock, respectively.

2, mtmlmmbwnfﬂmufﬁmmﬂtwkwﬁehﬂﬁsﬂorpcmﬁmis
authorized to issue is 11,500,000, with a par value of $.0001 per share.
The total number of shares of Preferred Stock which this Corporation is
authorized to issue is 500,000, with a par value of $10.00 per share. The
Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series,
The Board of Directors of this Corporation is hereby authorized, within
the limitations and restrictions prescribed by law or stated in this
Certificate of Incorporation, and by filing a certificate pursusnt to
applicable law of the State of Delaware, to provide for the issuance of
Preferred Stock in series and (i) 1o establish from time to time the number
of shares 10 be included in each such series; (ii} to fix the voting powers,
designations, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional or
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other rights of the shares of each such series and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions thereof, including but not limited to, the fixing,
or alteration of the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights,
conversion rale, voting rights, rights and terms of redemptions (including
sinking fund provisions), the redemption price of prices, and the
liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued series of shares of
Preferred Stock; and (jii) to increase or decrease the rumber of shares of
any series subsequent to the issue of thares of that series. but not below
the fiumber of shares of such series then outstanding. In case the number
of shares of any series shall be so decreased, the shares constituting such
decrease shall resume the status which they had prior to the adoption of
the resolution otiginally fixing the number of shares of such series.

FOURTH: Thereafter, pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors, this
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation was submitted to the
stockholders of the Corporation in accordance with Section 228 and 242 of the
General Corporate Law of the State of Delaware. The total number of
outstanding shares entitled to vote or consent to this Amendment was 4,720,591
shares of Common Stock. A majority of the outstanding shares of Common stock
voted in favor of this Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corpotation has caused this Certificate of
Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by its President and Chief
Exceutive Officer this 24th day of Septernber 2004.

J. Reed
and Chief Executive Officer

TMTA P.AR
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CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS, PREFERENCES AND RIGHTS
OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK
OF
REED'S, INC.

Pursusnt to Section 151 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware:

WHEREAS, Reed’s, Inc., & corpoation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Delaware {this “Corporation”), does hereby certify that, pursuant to the
authority cenferred on the Board of Directors of this Corporation by the Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, of this (o rporation, in accordance with Section 151 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directars of this
Corporation adopted the following resalution establishing a new series of preferred stock
of this Corporation.

RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority conterred on the Board of Directors of
this Corporation by Article 4 oof the Certificate of [ncorporation, as amended, the Board
of Ditectors of this Corporation hereby establishes a series of the authorized preferred
stock of this Corporation, $10.00 par value per share, which serics will be designated as
sseries A Convertible Preferred Stock ™ and which will have the following rights,
preferences, privileges and restrictions (capitalized terms not defined herein shall have

the meaning given to such terms in the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended. of this
Corporation):

1. Desipnation and Rapk. An amount of shares of the Preferred Stock ghall be
designated "Series A Convertible Preferred Stock” (the "Series A Preferred Stock™), par
value §10.00 per share and the amber of shares constituting such series shall be 30,000
The Series A Preferred Stock will rank the common stock (Junior Securities) of the
Corporation with respeet 10 dividend rights and rights upan liguidation. winding up and
dissolution.

2. No Essuance of Additional Shares. The pumber of authorized shares of Series
A Preferred Stock may be reduced or eliminated by the Board of Directors of this
corporation or & duly authorized committee thereof in compliance with the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware stating that such reduction has been
authorized, and the number of authorized shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall not be
incressed without the consent of the holders of a majority of the putstanding shares of

Qeries A Preferred Stock.
3. Dividends and Distributions.

(a) Subject to the terms set forth herein and the fights of the Senior Preferrad
Stock, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive out of
assets legally available for that purpose, an annual non-cumulative dividend equal to
5.0% from the date of issuance of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

S.:tlmnfmlm
cret of State
g?r . ]

Delivered 0348 PM 10/12/2004

FILED 03:04 PM 10/12/2004
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(b} All dividends or distribations daclared upon the Seres A Preferred Stock shall
be declared pro rata per share.

(c) Any such dividend shall be paid in cash or shares of Common Stock. in the
sole and absolute discretion of the Board of Directors. If such dividend is paid in shares
of Common Stock, the Board of Directars chall determine the Fair Market Value of the
Corporation’s Common Stock as of the record date for such dividend (the “Record
Date™), as follows:

(1) 1f traded on a securities exchange or tirough the
NASDAQ Mational Market, the Fair Market Value of the
Corporation’s Common Stock shall be deemed to be the average of
the closing prices of the sccurities on such exchange or system
over the thirty (30) day period ending three (3) days prior to the
Record Date;

{2y If actively traded aver-the-comnter, the Fair Market Valug
of the Corporation’s Commen Steck shall be desmed to be the
average of the closing bid or sale prices (whichever 13 applicable)
over the thirty (30) day period ending three (3) days prior to the
Record Date; and

(3) If there is no active public market, the Fair Market Valuc
of the Corporation’s Common Stock shall be the value determined
in good faith by the Board of Divectors on the Record Date, which
determination shall, absent fraud, be binding upon all holders of
shares of Series A Preferred Siock.

(d) The holders of the Serics A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to payments of
acerued and unpaid dividends upen liquidation of the Corporafion 4s s&t forth in Section
4 helow or the redemption of the Series A Preferred Stock as set forth in Section 5 below,
and in each such case shall be enitled to all accrued and unpaid dividends whether or not
deelared by the Corporafion, or 8 otherwise required under this Section 3.

(¢) The corporation shall not declare ot pay any dividend on shares of Junior
Securities until the holders of the Series A preferred Stock have received the full non-
cumulative dividend accrued thereon pursuant to clause (a).

(f) 1n computing accrued and unpaid dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock,
such dividends shall be computed on a daily basis through the date a5 of which such
dividends are required 1o be paid by the terms herenf.

{g) The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled participate
with the holders of Common Stock with respect to any dividend declared on the Commaon
Stock in proportion to the number of shares of Commeon Stock issuable upon CONVETSIOn
of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by them.
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4, Liguidation Preference.

() In the event of any liguidation, dissolution or winding up of this Corporation,
either voluntary or involuntary, subject to the rights of the Senior Preferred Stock and the
rights of series of Preferred Stock thatl may from time to time come into existence in
accordance with and subject to the terms hereof, including, without limitation, Section
9(b) hereof, the holders of Serics A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive after any
distribution with respect to Senior Preferred Stock and, prior and in prefevence Lo any
dismibution of any of the assets of this corpotation to the holders of any Junior Securities
by reason of their ownership thereof, an amount per share (the "Liquidation Preference”)
equal to the sum of (i) £10.00 for sach outsianding share of Series A Preferred Stock (the
"(ripinal Serics A lssue Price™ and (it) accrued but unpaid dividends on such share
(subject Lo adjustment of such fixed dollar amounts for any stock splits, stock dividends,
combinations, recapitalizations or the like)

{b) Upon completion of the distribution required by subsection (a) of this Section
4. all of the remaining assets of this Corporation available for distribution to stockbolders
shall be distributed among the helders of all Senior Prefened Stock, Series A Preferred
Siock and Junior Securities pro raia based on the number of sharcs of Common Stock
held by each (assuming conversion of all such Series A Preferred Stock).

(c) (i} For purposes of this Section 4, a liquidation, dissolution ot winding up of
this Corparation shall be deemed to be occasioned by, or t0 include (unless the holders of
at least a majority of the Series A Preferred Stock then owtstanding shall determine
otherwise) a transaction whereby a person of group of persons acting in coneert (other
than eurrent stockholders) shall;

{A) become (whether by merger. consolidation, or transter,
redemption or issuance of capital stock or otherwise) the
beneficial ownets (within the meaning of Rule 134-3 under the
Qecurities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of securities
constituting more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting
powet of or the economic equity interests in the then outstanding
securities of the Corporation (or emy surviving ot resulting
person); o7

(B) acquire assets constituting all or substantially all of the assets of
the Cotporation and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (with
{A) and’or (B) constituting & *(hange in Control”).

(ii) In any of such events, if the consideration received by this Corporation is
oiher than cash, its value will be deemed its fair market value, Any securities shall be
valued as follows:

P.
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(A) Securities not subject to an investment letter ot other similar
restrictions on free marketability covered by (B) below:

(1) 1f maded on a securities exchange or through the
NASDAQ National Market, the value shall be deemed to be the
average of the closing prices of the securities on such exchange or
system over the thirty (30) day period ending three (3) days prior
to the closing: i

(2) 1f actively traded over-the-counter, the value shall be
deemed to be the average of the closing bid ar sale prices
(whichever is applicable) over the thirty (30) day pericd ending
three (3) days prior to the closing; and

3) If there is no active public market, the value shall be the
fair marlet value thereof, as mutyally determined by this
Corporation anid the holders of at least a majority of the
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

(B) The method of valuation of securities subject to an investroert
letter or other restrictions on free markerability (other than
restrictions arising solely by virtue of a stockhalder's status as an
affiliate or formen affiliate) shall be to meke an appropriaie
discount from the market value determined ae shove in (&) (1), (2)
or (3) to reflect the approximats fair market vae thereof, as
munzally determined by this Corporation and the holders of at least
a majority of the outstanding shares of such Series A Preferred
Stock.

(iii) In the event the requirements of this Section 4 are not complied with, this
Corporation shall forthwith either:

(A) cause such closing to be postponed until such time as the
requirements of this Seetion 4 have been complied with; g¢

(B) cancel such iransaction, in which event the rights, preferences and
privileges of the holders of the Series A Praferred Stock shall
tevert to and be the same as such rights, preferences and privileges
existing immediately prior to the date of the first notice referred to
in subsection 4(c)(iv) hereof.

(iv} This Corporation shall give each holder of record of Series A Preferred
Srock written notice of such impending tranzaction not later than twenty (20} days prior
1o the stockholders' meeting called 10 approve such transaction, or twenty (20) days prior
10 the closing of such transaction, whichever is earlier, and shall also notify such holders
in writing of the final approval of such wransaction. The first of such notices shall describe
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the materia) terms and conditions of the impending transaction and the provisions of this
Section 4, and this Corporation shall thereafter give such holders prompt notice of any
material changes. The transaction shall in no event take place sooner than twenty (20)
days after this Corporation has given the first notics provided for herein or soomer than
ten (10) days after this corporation has given notice of any material changes provided for
herein; provided, however, that such periods may be shortencd upon the writien consemnt
of the holders of Series A Preferred Gtock that ave entitled to such notice rights or similar
notice rights and that represent at |east a majority of the outstanding sharcs of such Series
A Preferred Stock.

5. Redemption.

(&} At any time, or from time to time, afier Jupe 30, 2007 the Corporation shall
have the option, exercisable upon the expiration of the fifteen (135) day period after
written notice delivered to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock by US Mail (the
"Redemption Date™) t the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock, to redeem all or any
portion of the Series A Preferred Stock specified in such notice by paying in cash a sum
per share equal o the Original Series A lssue Price per share of Series A Preferred Stock
(as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations or the like} plus all
accrued but unpaid dividends on such share (the "Redemption Priee”). Any redemprion
of Seres A Preferred Stock effected pursuant to this subsection 5(a) shai) be made ona
pro rata basis among the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock in proportion to the
number of shares of Series A preferred Stock proposed 10 be redeemed from such
holders.

(b) At least fifteen (15) but no more then thirty (30) days prier 10 the Redemption
Date, written notice shall be mailed, first class postage prepaid, to ¢ach holder of record
(at the close of business on the business day next precediog the day on which notice is
given) of the Series A Preferred Stock to be redeemed, at the address last shown on the
records of this corporation for such holder, notifving such holder of the redemption to be
effected on the Redemption Date, specifying the mumber of shares to be redeemed from
such holder, the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price, the place at which payment
may be obtained and calling upon such holder to sworender to this Corporation, in the
manner and at the place designated, their certificate o certificates representing the shares
to be redeemed (the "Redemption Notice™}. Except as provided in subsection (5)c), on or
after cach Redemption Date, each holder of Series A Prefered Stock to be redeemed on
such Redemption Date shall aurrender to this Corporation the certificate or certificates
representing such shares, in the manmer and at the place designated in the Redemption
Notice, and thereupon the applicable Redemption Price of such shares shall be payable 10
the crder of the person whose 1ame ppears on such certificare or certificates as the
owner thereof and each surrendered certificate shall be canceled. In the event less than all
the shares represented by any such certificate are redeemed, a new certificate ghall be
issued representing the unredeemad shares.

(c) From and after each Redemption Date, unless there shall have been a default in
payment of the Redemption Price, all rights of the holders of shares of Series A Preferred

P.
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Stock designated for redemption on such Redemption Date in the Redemption Notice as
holders of Series A Preferred Stock (except the righl to receive the applicable
Redemption Price without interest upon surrender of their certificate or certificates) shall
cease with respect 1o such shares, and such shares shall not thereafier be transferred on
the books of this Corparation ot be deemed to be outstanding for any purpose
whatsoever. If the funds of this Corporation legally available for redermption of shares of
Geries A Preferred Stock on a Redemphon Date are insufficient 1o redeem the total
number of shares of Series A Preferred Syack 1o be redeemed on such date, those funds
{hat are legally uveilable will be used to redeem the maximum possible number of such
shares tatably among the holders of such shares to be redeemed such that each holder of a
share of Serics A Preferred Stock recaives the same percentage of the applicable Series A
Redemption Price. The shares of Series A Preferred Stock not redeemned shall remain
outstanding and entitled 10 all the rights and preferences proviced herein, At any time
thercafier when additional funds of this Corporation are legally available for the
redemption of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, such funds will immediately be used to
redeem the balance of the shares that this Corporation has become obliged (o redeern on
any Redemption Date but that it has not redeemed.

6. Conversion, The holders of the Series A Preferred Stack shall have conversion
rights (1he "Conversion Rights") as follows:

(a) Right to Convert. Fach share of Series A Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at
the option of the holder thereof, al any time after the date of issuance of such shares and
on or prior to the date such shares are redeemed, at the office of this Corporation or any
transfer agent for such stock, into such number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of
Common Stock as is determined by multiplying (x) 1 by (v) the conversion tate for the
Serios A Preferred Stock that is in effect at the time of conversion (the “Conversion
Rate”). The Conversion Rate for the Series A Preferred Stock shall be four (3).

(L) Meghanics of Copveraion. Before any holder of Series A Preferred Stock ghall
be entitled 1o convert the same into shares of Common Stocl. sueh holder shall surrender
the certificate ot certificates, duly endorsed, at the office of this Corporation ot of any
transfer agent for the Series A Preferred Stock, and shall give written notice to this
Corporation at ils principal corporate office, of the election to convert the same and shall
state therain the name or names in which the certificate or certificates for shares of
Common Stock are to be issued. This Corporation shall, 43 5000 a5 practicable thereafter,
issue and deliver at such office to such halder of Series A Preferred Stock, or to the
nominee or nominees of such holder, a contificate or certificates for the number of shares
of Commen Stock to which such holder shall be entitled as aforesaid. Such conversion
shall be deemed to have been made immediately prior to the close of business on the date
of such swrender of the shares of Secies A Preferred Stock 10 be comverted, and the
person ot persons entitled 10 receive the shares of Common Stock issuabie upon such
conversion shail be meated for all purposes as the recotd holder or holders of such shares
of Common Stock as of such date.

P.

a7




0rT-12— 59
12-2084 15:5 THE BAYARD FTRM IA2E5E
] E3%=  F.B8

{c) Swek Splits.

(i) In the event this cotporaiion should at any time or from time to time fix a
rocard date for the effeciuation of a split or subdivision of the outstanding shares of
Common Stock or the determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to reccive a
dividend or other distribution payable in additional shares of Common Stock without
payment of any consideration by such holder for the additional shares of Common Stock
then, a5 of such record date (or the date of such dividend, distribution, split or subdivision
if na record date is fixed), the Conversion Price of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be
appropriately decreased so that the nunber of shaes of Common Stock issuable on
conversion of each share of such serics shall be increased in proportion to such increase
of the aggregate of shares of Comtnon Stock ontstmding.

(i) 1f the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at any time is
decreased by 2 combination of the outstanding shares of Commeon Stock, then, followmg
1he record date of such combination, the Conversion Price for the Series A Preferred
Srock shall be appropriately increased so that the number of shares of Common Stock
jesuable on conversion of cach shere of such, series shall be decreased in proportion 10
such decreass of the aggregate of shares of Common Stock outstanding.

(d) Regapitalizations If at any time or from fime to time there shall be a
recapitalization ot reclassification of the Common Stock (or a merger, transfer,
consolidation, or exchange in respect of the Corporation’s securities which does not
constitute a Change in Control, other than a subdivision, combination or merger o sale of
assets ransaction provided for elsewhere in this Section 6 or Section 4) provision shall be
made so that the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall thereafier be entitled to
veceive upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock the number of shares of gock or
other securities or property of this Corporation or otherwise, 10 which a holder of
Commot Stock deliverable upon sanversion would have been entitled on such
recapitalization. In any such case, appropoate adjustment shall be made in the application
of the provisions of this Section 6 with respect to the rights of the holders of the Series A
Preferrad Stock after the recapitalization to the end that the provisions of this Section 6
(including adjustment of the Conversion Price then in effect and the number of shares
purchasable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock) shall be applicable after
that event as nearly equivalent as may be practicable,

(e) Nolmpairment. This Corperation will not, by amendment of its Certificate of
Incorporation of this Certificate of Designations (sxcept in accordance with applicable
law), or through any Teorganization, recapitalization, transfer of assets, consolidation,
merger, dissolution, issuc or salo of securities or any other voluntary action, avord or seck
1o avoid the abservance or performancs of any of the terms to be observed o performed
hereunder by this Corporation, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out
of all the provisions of this Section § and in the taking of all such sction as may be
necessary ot appropriate in order 1o protect the Conversion Rights of the holders of the
Series A Preferred Stock against impairment.
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{f) Mo Fraction ificate as to Adj

(i) No fractional shares shall be issued upon the conversion of any sharc or
ghares of the Series A Preferred Stock, and the number of shares of Commeon Stock 1o be
issued shall be rounded to the nearsst whole share.

(i) Upon the occamence of each adjustment or readjustment of the Conversion
Price of Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 6, this Corporation, at its
expense, shall promptly compute cuch adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the
{erms hereof and prepare and furnish 10 each holder of Series A Preferred Stock a
certificate setting forth such adjustment of readjustment and showing in detail the facts
upon which such adjustment or s stment is based, This Corporation shall, wpon the
written reguest at any fime of any holder of Scrics A Prefemred Stock, furnish or canse 10
be furnished o such holder a liks certificate cetting forth (A) such pdjustment and
readjustment, (B) the Conversion Price for such series of Preferred Stock at the time in
effeet, und (C) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of olber
property that at the time would be received upon the conversion of a share of Series A

Preferred Stock.
(2) Notices of Rgeord Date. In the event of any taking by this corporation of a

record of the holders of any class of securities for the purpose of determining the holders
thereaf who are entitled to receive any dividend (other than a cash dividend) or other
distributicn, any right to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any shares of stock
of any class or any other securitics or property, ot to receive any other right, this
corporation shall mail 1o each holder of Serics A Preferred Stock, at least twenty (207}
days prior to the date specified therein, a notice specifying the date on which any such
record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, diswribution or right, and the
amouat and charaeter of such dividend, distribution or right.

{h) Resarvation of Stock lssuable Upgn Conversion. This Corporation shall at all
simes reserve and keep available out of its authorized but umissued shares of Common
Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of the Series A
Preferred Stock, such number of its shares of Common Stock as shall from time 10 time:
be sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred
Stock: and if at any time the number of autharized but unissued shares of Common Stock
shall not be sufficient to effect the comversion of all then outstanding shares of the Series
A Praferred Stock, in addition to such other remedies as shall be available to the holders
of such Preferred Stock, this Corporation will take such corporate action as may, in the
opinion of its counsel, be necessary 1o increase its authorized but unissued shares of
Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purposes,
including. without limitation, engaging in best efforts 10 obtain the requisite stockholder
approval of any necessary amendment to this Certificate of Incorporation.

(i) Motices. Any notice required by the provisions of this Section 6 to be given 1o
e holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be deemed given if deposited in
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the United States mail, postage prepaid, and addressad 1o each holder of record at their
address appearing on the books of this Corporation.

(i) Unconverted Shares. If less than all of the outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock are converted pursuant 1o this Section 6, and such shares are evidenced
by a certificate representing shares in SXCess of the shares being converted and
surrendered 1o this Corporation in aggordance with the pracedures as the Board of
Directors of this Cerporation may determing, this Corporation shall execute and deliver
to or upon the writien order of the nolder of such eertificate, without charge to the holder,
a pew certificate evidencing the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock not
cn'ﬂverl‘,ed,

7. Voting. Except as provided in this Certificate of Designations or as requircd by
law, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock will have no right Lo vole On any
matiers, questions of proceadings of this Corporation including, without limitation, the

election of dirsetars.
8. Reacquired Shares. Any shares of Series A Preferred Stock, which have been

converted or redeemed, will be retired and cancelled promptly after the acquisition
theraof, All such sharcs will upen their eancellation become authorized bt unissued
shares of Preferred Stock and may be reissued as part of a new series of Preferced Stock
subject to the conditions and resuictions on issuance set forth herein, in the Certificate of
Incorporation, or in any athet certificats of designations creating a series of Preferred
Swock or any similar stock or as otherwise required by law.

9, Protective Provisions. So long as any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are
outstanding, this corporation shall not without first obtaining the approval (by vote ot
written consent, as provided by law) of ihe holders of at least a majority of the then
outstanding shares of Series A Prefemrad Stock:

(a) amend the Certificate of Incorporation (as smended) of this sorporation o the
bylaws of this corporation in any manner (ineluding, withoul limitation, by means of &
merger or consolidation) which adversely affects the rights of the Series A Preferred
Stock; of

(b) authorize or issue, O obligate itself to issue, any other equity security having a
preference over, or being on a parity with, the Serjes A Preferred Stock with respect 10
dividends, liguidation, redemption or voting, including any other security convertible into
or exercisable for any equity seeurity other than Senior Preferred Stock shares.

RESOLVED, FURTHER, that the officers of this Corporation be, and each of them
hereby is, authorized and empowered on behalf of this Corporation to execute, verify and
file a certificate of designations of prefevénces in accordance with Delaware law,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, Reed’s, Inc. has cansed this certificate to be duly
execured by its duly authorized officers thie 30" day of Jung, 2004.
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CERTIFICATE OF CORRECTION
TO
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS
OF
REEIV'S, INC.

Reed's, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Corparation™), acting pursuant to Section
103(f) of the Dalaware Genera] Corporation Law in order 1o comrect & defoct in that certain
Centificate of Designations, Prefercnces and Rights of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stack
(the “Certificate™), filsd on October 12, 2004, hersby certifles as follows:

1, The Corporation filed the Certificats, designating 50,000 shares of $10.00 par
value Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

N The Certificate is defective becaits the number “50,000” should have read
"73,000" instead, which corrected number represents the total number of shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock authorized by the Board of Dirsctars,

i The defect in the Certiflcate is hereby corrected by deleting the number “50,000"
from the 3rd line (which line begins with the word “value' of numbersd
pazagraph | and replacing it with the pumber 75,0007

4. The Certificata is further defective because certain words were inadvertently
omitted from the Certificete when it was prepared.

5 The defect in the Certificate i5 bereby corrected Ly deleting the final sentence of
numbered paragraph 1 in its entirety and replacing it with the following teo
senlences:

“The Series A Preferred Stock will rank junior, with respect to dividend rights and
Tights on Jiquidation, winding up and dissolution, to other clasees or series of
preferred stack which may be established by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation fiom time o tGme and specifically designated as semior to the Series
A Prefesred Stock (the “Senior Preferred Stock™. The Series A Preferred Stock
will rank senier to all other classes of preferred stock of the Corporation not sg
designeted in aconrdance with the previous sentenes and the common stock of the

Errsr! Unknowm document Propecty name.
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Cerporation (collectively, *Jumior Securities"), with respect to dividend
cights upon liquidation, winding up aod dissojution.” " e,

IN WITNESS WHERECF, the undersigoed has execursd

of the {Q day of November, 2004, S

itle

e £ has hrﬂ"rw
:CEG {?’

=,
Exror| Unknown document Propecty name,
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"CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
REED'S, INC.

Reed's Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), hereby certifies that the
following Certificate of Amendment 1o the Certificate of Incorporation (the
“Amendment™) of the Corporalion has been duly adopted by its Board of Directors and
stockholders, in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL™),
as set forth below:

I. The Amsndment was duly adopted by the Board of Dircctors of the
Corporation at 8 meeting of the Board of Directors on October 8, 2007, setting forth the
then proposed Amendment, declaring the advisability thereof, and calling for & meeting
of the stockholders of the Corporation for consideration thereof, as set forth below.

2. Thereafter, at the anmuwal meeting of stockholders of the Corporation duly
called and held on November 19, 2007, the stockholders of record of the issued and
outstanding capital stock of the Corporation at such mesling adopted the proposed
Amendment by the vole of in excess of 50% of the issued and oulstanding shares of each
class of the Corporation's capital stock entitled to vote thereon. The number of shares
vated for the Amendment was sufficient for approval.

3. The Amendment was duly adopted in sccordance with the provisions of
Section 242 of the DGCL.

4. The resolution by which the Corporation’s directors and stockholders adopted
the Amendment, as set forth above, provides that ARTICLE IV of the Corporation’s
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended to date, be amended to provide in its entirety as
follows:

ARTICLETV

1. This Corporation is authorized to issue 20,000,000 shares of its Capital Stock,
which shell be divided into two classes xnown 85 Common Stock and Preferred
Stock, respectively.

2. The total number of shores of Commoen Stock which this Corporation is
authorized to issue is 19,500,000, with a par value of $.0001 per share. The total
number of shares of Preferred Stock which this Corporation is authorized to issue
is 500,000, with a par vatue of 310,00 per share, The Preferred Steck may be
issued from time to time in one or more serics. The Board of Directors of this
Corporation is hereby avthorized, within the limitations and restrictions
prescribed by law or stated in this Certificate of Incorporation, and by filing a
certificate pursuant to applicable law of the State of Delaware, to provide for the

ORSRGS, OO0, 1019098181




issuance of Preferred Stock in series and (i) to establish from time to time the
number of ghares to be included in sach such series; (ii) to fix the voting powers,
designations, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional or ather
rights of the shares of each such series and the qualifications, limitetions or
restrictions thereof, including but not limited to, the fixing or alteration of the
dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, conversion rate, voting rights,
rights and terms of redemptions (including sinking fund provisions), the
redemption price of prices, and the liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued
series of shares of Preferred Stocl; and (jii) to increase or decrease the number of
shares of any series subsequent to the issue of shares of that series, but not below
the number of shares of such series then outstanding. In case the oumber of shares
of any series shall be so decreased, the shares constituting such decrease shall
resume the status which they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally
fixing the number of shares of such series.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the Corporation has caused this Amendment to be
executed by its President and Chief Executive Officer as of Degembe, 3, 2007.

REED'S, IN

Executive Officer

OBS2G3, (KGR, [DTS05E183
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REEIVS, INC,
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION

OF
SERIES B CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

{Pursuant to Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law)

Reeds, [ne., a Delaware comporation (the “Cerporgtion’), hereby certifies that, pursuant to
authority vested in the Bourd of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board of Birectors™) by
Article Fourth of the Corporation’s Cerlificate of Incorporation (the “Certlficute of
Ircorporation”) and pursuant W the previsions of Section 151 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, the following resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Directors on April
23, 2009

RESOLYED, that pursuant to the aulhority granted 1o and vested in the Board of Directors
in ageordance with the provisions of the Certificate ol Incorporation, the Board of Directors
hereby creates & series of Preferred Stock 1o be designated as Sesies B Convertible Preferred
Siock, and hereby designates the number of shares, and fixes the relative rights, powers and
preferences thereof, and the limitations or restrictions thereof (in addition to any provisions set
forth in the Certificate of Incorperation that are applicable w the Preferred Stock of all classes
and series), as fol lows:

SERIES B CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOUK

A total of one hundred and fifty thousand (1 50,0007 shares of the authorized and unissued
Preferred Stock of the Corporation, $1(000 stated value per share, are hereby designated “Series
B Convertible Preferred Stock™ (the “Seriex & Convertible Preferred Stock™ ) with such series
having the following rights, prefenences, powers, privilepes and restrictions, gualifications and
limitations:

. Raok The Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall rank (a) senior, in all matters, 10 (i)
any class of commen stock of the Corparation, including, without limitation, the Corporation’s
common slock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “Common Stock™), and any other class or series
of capital stock into which the Common Stock is reclassifed or reconstituted, (3i) any other class
or serigs of capitml stock of the Corporation gither specifically ranking by its tenms junior to the
Scrics B Converiible Preferred Stock or not specifically ranking by its terms senior to or on parity
with the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, and (ii7) any class or series of capital stock of the
Corporalion inlo which the capital stock referred to in the preceding subclauses (i) and (i} is
reclassified or reconstituted (1he capital stock referred to in this clause (a) is hereinafter referred
to as the “Junlor Steck™); (b) on parity with any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation
specifically ranking by its terms on parity. in ali matters expressly provided, with the Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock (“Parity $teck™); and {c) junior, in all matters expressly provided., o
the Corporation’s class of Prefermed Stock designated as Seres A Convertible Preferred stock and
any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation specifically mnking by iis tenms senior 10
the Scrics B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Senior Stock™).




2. Dividends.

{al Subiect 10 the prior payment in full of any dividends 10 which any Senior Stock is
entitled pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, as then amended to date, the holders of the
Series B Converlible Preferred Stock (each, a “Serfes B Holder'™) shall be entitled to receive, out
af funds legally available therefor, dividends (the “Series B Dividends™). which shal! be
cumulative and non-compounding and acerue on a daily basis from the date on which a particular
share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock is issued, af an annual rate equal to eight percent
(8%) of the Original Purchase Price (the “Serles B Dividend Rute,” subject 1o increase as
provided below), payable as provided in Section 20b) hereof. As used herein, “Origheal
Purchase Price” means ten dollars (510007

(b Series B Dividends payable pursiant to Section 2(a) hereof shall be payable only when,
as and il declared by the Board of Directors, quarterly in arears on March 31, June 30,
September 34, and December 31 of each year (unless such day is not a basiness day, in which
event such Series B Dividends shall be payable on the nexi suceeeding business ¢uy) (each such
payment date heing a “Series B Dividend Payment Date™). The amount of Series B Dividends
payable on the Series B Convertible Preferrad Stock for any period shorer than a full calendar
quarter shall be compuled on the basis of a 360-day vear of twelve 30-day months. As used
herein, “Original Purchase Date” means April 23, 2009,

{d) So long as any shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are outstanding, the
Corporation shall not pay or declare any dividend, whether in cash or property, or make any other
distribution on any Junior Stock, or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for value any shares of
Junior Stock until all Series B Dividends as set forth in Section 2(a) shall have been paid or
declared and set apart.

(e} Any Series B Dividend shall be paid in cash or shares of Common Stock, in the sole and
absolute discretion of the Board of Directors. If such dividend is paid in shares of Common
Stock, the Common Stock will be valued at Fair Market Value (defined herein).

3. Liguidsion.
(a) In the event of any liguidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whethes

voluntary or involuntary, or a Triggering Event (as defined herein) {each referred to herein as &
“Liguidation Event”), afler payment or provision for payment of debts and other liabilities of the
Corporation and all amounts due and owing 1o the holders of outstanding shares of Senior Stock,
if any, sach helder of Scrics B Convertible Preforred Stock., before any distribation or payment is
made upon any Junior Stock, shall be entitled to receive, oot of the assets of the Corporation
legally available for distribution to stackholders (the “Available Assers™), an amount egual te
each holder's Liquidation Preference. The “Liguidation Preference” payable with respect to
each share of Series B Converlible Preferred Stock shall be equal to the greater of (i) the sum af
{A) the Original Purchase Price of such share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, plus (8) an
amount equal to any unpaid and accrued dividends therean up o and including the date of the
Liguidation and (ii} if such share of Serics B Convertible Preferned Stock were then convertible
inta Common Stock, such amount which the helder of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
winald be entitled to receive in connection with the Liquidation Event if such holder had
converted his, ber or its Series B Convertible Preferred Stock immediately prior to the ocourrence
of the Liguidation Event. Shares of Series B Conventible Preferred Stock shall i) not be entitled
to any distributions in the event of a Liguidation Event other than a distribution in an amoumnt




egual w the Liguidation Preference, and (i) be deemed eancelled upon full distribution of such
Liguidation Preference.

(b IT the Available Assets shall be insufficient to permit full payment of the Liquidation
Preference upon a Liguidation Event 1 all hodders of Series B Convertible Prefemed Stock, as
well as all payments then due or due by reason of such Liguidation Event on any Parity Stock,
then the holders of Series B Convertible Proferred Stack and holdars of such Perity Stock shall
share mtebly in any such distribution of the Corporatian's assets in proportion to the fll
respective distributable amounts 1o which they are entitled.

) Written notice of'a Liguidation Event, stating a payment date, the amount of the
Liquidation Preference and the place where said sums shall be payable, shall be given by mail,
postage prepaid, not less than thirty (30) ner mare than sixty (60) days prior o the payment date
stated therein, to all holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of record, such nofice 1o be
addressad 1o each such stockhalder at such holder’s post office address ag shown by the records
ol the Corparation.

1d) Whenever the distribamion provided for in this Bection 3 shall be payable in propenty
other than cash, the value of such property shall be the Fair Market Yalue.

(e} As used herein, the following terms shall have the fellowing meanings:

(i) “Triggering Event™ means (a) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Corporation to any Person, (b} any transaction or series of transactions by which any Person or
group (os such term is used in Section |3{d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial owner
{as so defined), directly or indirectly, of shares representing more than lifty percent (50%) of the
ageregate voting power of the Corporation. or (¢) & merger, consolidation, reorganization,
recapitalization or other transaction or series of related transactions (a “Recepitalization™) in
which the stockholders of the Corparation ovwning a majority of the voting stock of the
Corporation with the right to elect & majority of the Board of Directors in the aggregate
immediately prior to such Recapitalization do not awn a majority of such voting stock or vating
power of the surviving, successor or continuing entity Tollowing such Recapitalization.

(ii} “Person™ means an individeal or corporation, parmership, trust, incorporaied ar
unineorperated association, joint venture, limited Bability company, joint stock company,
povernment {or an agency or subdivision thereof) or other emity of any kind.

(1i1) “Affiifare” means, at any time, and with respect (o gny Person, any other
Person that at such time directly or indirectly through one or more inlermediaries Controls, or is
Controlled by, or is under common Cantrol with, such first Person, and, with respect to the
Corporstion, shall include any Person beneficially owning or holding, direeily or indirectly, ten
percent (10%) or move of any class of voting or eguity interests of the Corperation or any
subsidiary or any corporation of which the Corporation and its subsidizries beneficially own or
hold, in the aggregate, dircctly or indirectly, ten percent (10%%) or more of any class of voting or
equity interests. As used in this definition, “Cantrel” means the possession, directly or indirectly,
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether
ihrough the ownership of voiing securitics, by contract or otherwise,

{iv) “Fair Marker Value” shall mean the following: (1) with respect (o equity
securities, {A) in the event such equity securitics are publicly traded, the average of the closing
prices for such cquily securities during the four () calendar weeks immediately preceding the




date of consummation of the event requiring a determination of Fair Market Value (the
“Derermination Date™) on the principal national securities exchange on which such equity
securities are listed or admirted 1o trading o, if such equity securities are not listed or admitied to
trading on any nakional securities exchange, but are traded in the over-the-counter market, the
closing sale price of such equity securities or. if no sale is publicly reported, the average of the
closing bid and asked quotations for such equity sccurities, as reported by the electronic over-the-
counter quotation system of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (*FINRA"). the OTC
Bullctin Board (the “OTCAE"), or any comparable systam or. il such equity sscurities are not
quoted on OTCBB or a comparable system, the closing sale price of the Common Stock or, if no
sale is publicly reported. the average of the closing bid and asked prices, as furnished by two
members of FINRA which make a market in such equity securities selected from time to time by
the Comporation for that purpose, or (B) in the event such equity securities are not publicly traded,
the fair market value of such equity securities shall be determined by the affinmative vote of a
majority of the members of the Board of Dirsclors or, if the requisite approval of the Board of
Directors cannot be obiained, by a nationally recognized independent appraiser or investment
bank selectad, in goed faith, by & majorily of the members of the Board of Directors; provided,
however, in no cvenl shall there be & reduction in the fair marker value of such equity securities
baged upon a “minorty” or similar discount or based upon the fact that there does not exist any
public trading market for such equity securities; {ii) with respect to debt seeuriries, the present
wvalue of such debt securities utilizing an interest rate equal to the prime rate on the Determingtion
Drate, as published in The Wall Strect Journal, Eastern Edition, on such Determination Date; or
{iii) with respect to any other property, the fair market value of such property, as determined (A)
by the affinnative vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors or (B) if the
requigite approval of the Board of Directors referred o in the preceding clause (A) cannot be
oblained, by a nationally recognized indspendent appraiser selocted, in good fuith, by 1 majority
ol the members of the Board of Directars.

4, Voting Rights.

() The holders of the fssued and outstanding Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall
have no voting rights except as required by law or a5 provided in Section 4(b).

(b} Ad any time when shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are outstanding, in
addition to any other vote required by law or the Centificare of [ncorporation, without the wriren
consent or affirmative vote of holders representing al least a majority of the shares of Series B
Convertible Preferned Siock then outstanding, the Corporation shall not issue or authorize the
issnance of any Senior Stock or Parity Siock.

(c) Any action which by law requires the affirmative vote or eonsent of the holders of Series
B Convertible Preferred Stock shall require the consent of holders representing a1 least a majority
of the shares of Series B Convertible Prefemred Stock tiven outstanding.

5. Conversion.

(a) Optional Conversion. The holders of Series B convertible Preferred Stock shall have the
following conversion rights (each shall be referred 1o herein as an “Oprlonal Con version”

(i} At any time afier the Original Purchase Date the shares of Serigs B
Convertible Preferred Stock shall be convertible at any time and from time fo time, in whale or in
part {but not in fractions of a share), at the option of the holder thereol. until any Redemption




Date, into such number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Commaon Stock as is desermined
by mubtiplying the number of shares to be converted with the Conversion Rate,

{ii) The “Conversion Rate” shall be the Original Purchase Price divided by
the Conversion Price at the time in effect for a share of such Series B Convertible Preferred
Stack. The “Comversion Price” per share of Series B Conventible Preferred Stock initially shali
be equal 1o two dollars (52,00}, subject 10 adjustment from Lime to time as provided below,

(i} As used herein, “Acquisition Eveni™ means {(A) the execution ofa
definitive agresment with a Person that is (1) the beneficial awner of at least a majority of the
then outsianding shares of Series B Convertible Prefersed Stock, or (2) an Affiliate of (1),
providing for 2 transaction which would constitute a Triggering Event or (B the publie
commencemenl by a Person that is not {1) the beneficial owner of at least a majority of the then
oustanding shares of Serfes B Convertible Preferred Stock, or {3} an Affiliare of {1}, of an
exchange or tender offer to acquire all o the Common Stock.

(b Mandatory Conversion. At any time after the Original Purchase Date, if the closing price
of the Common Stock as reported by the principal exchange or quotstion system on which such
Comman Siock is traded or reported equals or exceeds throe dollars (£3.00) per share of Common
Stock of the then current Conversion Price for ten (10) consecutive trading days, then the
Corporation thall have the right to cause all (bul nol less than all) outstanding shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stack 1o be automatically converted into shares of Common Stock (such
conversion being referred 1o herein as a “Mandatory Conversion™ and the date on which such
Mundatory Conversion becomes effective as the “Mandutory Conversion aie™).

i) Conversion of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock may be effected by any holder
thereof upon the surrender to the transfer agent for the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. or at
such other office or offices, it any, as the Board of Directors may designate, of the certificate for
such shares of the Series B Converrible Prefered Stock te be converted accompanied (if the
name(s) in which such centificate are to be registered diffir from the name(s) in which the
certilicate formerly representing shares of Series B Convenible Preferred Stock had been
registered prior (o conversion) by a written notice stating the name or names in which such holder
wishes the certificate or cerlificaios for shares of Comman $tock to be issued and, it an Opional
Canversion, stating that such holder elects to convert all or a specified whole number of such
shares. In case such notice shall specify a name or names other than that of such holder, such
notice shall be accompanied by a peyment of all wransfer taxes payable upon the issuance of
shares of Commeon Steck in such name or names. As promptly as practicable, and in any event
within five business days after the surrender of such cerlificate or centificates and the receipt of
siich notice relating thereto and, if applicable, payment of all iransfer wyes (or e demonscration
to the satisfaction of the Corporation thal such taxes have been paid), the Corporation shall
deliver ar cause 1o be delivered (i) cerificates representing the number of validly issued, fully
paid and nonassessable full shares of Common $tock to which the holder of shares of the Serics B
Convertible Preferred Stock being converted shall be entitled and (ii) if less than the full number
of shares of the Scrics B Convertible Preferred Stock evidenced by the surrendered certificate or
certificates being convened, a new centificate or certificates, of like tenor, for the number of
shiares evidenced by such surrendered certificate or cortificates less the number of shares being
convented,




id) In the event of any Optional Conversion, such conversion shall be deemed to have been
made immediztely prior to the close of business on the date of the surrender of the certificate ar
eertificates for the shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock 1o be converted and the giving
of the notice relating thereto, and the Person or Persons emitled 1o receive the shares of Commaon
Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record helder or
holders of such shares of Common Stock on such date, In the event of & Mandatory Conversion,
auch conversion shall be deemed 1o have been made on the Mandatery Conversion Date, and the
Persan or Persons entitled 1o receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion
shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of Commen Stock
on the Mandatory Comversion Daie. On the date on which a conversion is deemed pursuant to
this Section 3(d) to have been made, the rights of the holder of the shares of the Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock desmed to have been converted as o the shares being converted shall
cease except for the right 1o receive shares of Commeon Stock in accordance herewith and the
corresponding rights of a holder of Comimon Steck thereupon created.

() In conneetion with the conversion of any shares of the Series B Conventible Preferred
Siock. no fractions of shares of Commeon Stock shall be fssued, but in lieu thereof the Corporation
shal] pay a cash adjustment in respect of such fractional interest inan amount equal 1w such
fractional interest multiplied by the then effective Conversien Price. 11 more than one share of
ihe Series B Convertible Prefermed Stock shall be surrendered for conversion by the same holder
al the same Lime, the number of full shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion thereof shall
be computad on the basis of the 1olal number of shares of the Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock so surrendered.

() The Corporation shall at all times reserve, and keep available for issuance upon the
conversion of the Series B Converlible Preferred Stock, such number of its authorized bt
unissued shares of Comman Stock as will from time to time be sufficient to permit the conversion
of all outstanding shares of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, and shall take all action
reguired 10 inerease the authorized number of shares of Commen Stock if necessary 1o permit the
conversion of all outstanding shares of the Series B Converible Preferred Stock,

(g The Conversien Price shall be subject to adjustment from time to Titne as follows:

(il Adiustments for Subdivisions or Combinations of Cammen Stock, 1nthe
event the oulstanding shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided by stock split. stock dividend
or otherwise, inlo a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price of the
Series B Coavertible Preferred Stock then in effect shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of
such subdivision, be proportionately decreased. In the event the culstanding shares of Common
Stock shall be combined or consolidated info a lesser number of shares of Common Stock, the
Conversion Price of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock then in effzct shall, concurrently
wilh the effectivencss of such combination or consolidation, be proportionately incresed.

(i} Adfustments fir Non-Cash Dividends and Other Disteibugions. In the
event the Corporation makes, or lixes a record date for the determination of holders of Comunon
Stock entitled 1o receive, any distribution (excluding repurchases of scourities by the corporation
not made on a pro rata basis) payable in property or in sacurities of the Corperation other than
shares of Common Stock, then and in cach such event the holders of Series B Convertible
Preterred Stock shall receive, at the time of such distribution, the amount of propery or the
number of securities of the Corparation that they would have received had their Series B
Convertible Prefierned Stock been converted into Commen Stock on the date of such event,




(iil) Adiusinrems for Reorganizations, Reclaysifications or Similar Events. 1f
the Commaon Stock shall bz changed into the same or a different number of shares of any other
cluss or classes of stock or other seouritics or property, whether by capital reorganization,
reclassificarion or otherwise, then each sharc of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall
thereafier be convertible info the number of shares of stack er other securities or property &0
which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation deliverable upon
conversion of such shares of Series B Convertible Prefered Stock shall have been entitied upon
such reorganization, reclassification or other event.

{iv) Shares Chwned by Corporation. For purposes of this Section (g}, the
number of shares of Common Stock at any time outstanding shall not includs any shares of
Common Stock then owned or held by or for the account of the Corporation

(v Cerrificate of Independent Accowtant. The centificate of any firm of
independent public sccountants of recognized national standing selected by the Doand of
Directors of the Corporation (which may be the firm of independent public sccountants regularly
employed by the Corporation) shall be presumptively correct for any computation made under
this Section Siph

(vi) No Adjusiments for Abandoning Dividend Disteibutions.  1f the
Corporation shall take a record of the holders of its Common Stack for the purpose of entitling
them to receive a dividend or other distribution, and shall thereafter and befiore the disteibation to
stockholders thereof legally ahandon iis plan to pay or deliver such dividend or distribution, thes
theresfler no adjustment in the Conversion Price or the number of shares of Common Stock
iesunble upon exercise of the right of conversion granted by this Section Sig] shall be required by
reason of the taking of such record.

{wii) No Adiustments for Mergers, Recrganizanions, Acqeisitions or Stmilar
Events. There shall be no adjustment of the Conversion Price in case of the issuance of any stock
of the Corporation to the seeurity holders of any other corporation in 2 merger, reorganization,
acquisition or other similar transaction except as set forth in this Section 3(gh

{hy In case of any capital reorganization or reclassification of outstanding shares of
Commen Stock (other than a reclassifcation covered by Segtion S(g)(ifii), or in the case of a
share exchange of Common Stock for securities ol another corperation, or in case of any
conzolidation or menger of the Corporation with or into another corporation, or in case of any sale
ar conveyance to another corporation of the property of the Corporation as an entirety or
substantiafly as an entirety (each of the faregning being refirred to as & " Transaction™), cach
share of the Series B Convertinle Preferred Stock then owned by such holder shall thereafier be
convertible inwo. in liew of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion prior 10
consumimation of such Transaction, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities
and property receivable (including cash) upon the consummation of such Transaction by a halder
of that number of shares of Comman $tock into which one share of the Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock was convertible immedialely prior to such Transaction {including, on & pro rata
basis. the cash, securities or property received by holders of Common Stock in any tender or
cxchange offer that is a step in such Transaction).

{i} Upon any adjustment of the Canversion Price then in effect, the Corporation, 3t its
expense, shall, upon the written request of any holder of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock,
prompily compate such adjustment in accordance with the terms hereofand furnish 1o each




haldes of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock a cenificate setting forth such adjustoent and
showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based.

i) Upon any conversion af Series B Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to this Sectior 5,
the holder of such shares being converted shall receive any unpaid and accrued dividends on such
shares being convertad.

. Redemption.

fa) At any time afler the second anniversary of the Original Purchase Datz, all, but not less
than all, the shares of Serics B Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding may be redeemed by the
Carporation (2 “Mandatory Redemption”) al its sole discretion, at a price equal to the greamer of
(i) ene hundred ten pereent (110%) of the Original Purchase Price, plus 2n ameunt equal to any
unpaid and accrued dividends and (i) the Fair Marke1 Value of such number of shares of
Common Stock which the hulder of the redeemed Series B Convertible Preferred Stock would be
entitled to receive had the redeemed Series B Convertible Preferred Stock been converted
immedistely prior to the redemption. The right of the Cerporation to redeem the Series B
Conventible Preferred Stock provided under this Scclion ia), shall cease upan the occurrence of
an Acguisition Evem.

{b) Redemption Moticg. Upon the determination by the Corporation 1o effectuste a
Mandatory Redemption or a Partial Redemption, written notice of such redemption (the
“Redemption Notice™) shall be mailed, postage prepaid, 10 sach holder of record of Series B
Convenible Prefarred Stock, at its post office address last shown on the recerds of the
Corporation, 1ot less than five (5) business days prior to the date such redemption is to oceur (the
“Redemption Date™). Cach Redemption Motice shall state:

(i) the number of shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock held by the
halder that the Corporation shall redeem on the Redemption Diate:

(i} the Redemprion Date and the price the Corporation shall pay o the
holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock upon such redemption as determined pursuant to
Section 6{a], as applicable (the “Redemption Price™); and

Ciii) that the holder is to surrender to the Corporation, in the manner and at
the place designated, his, her or its certificate or certificares representing the shares of Series I3
Convertible Preferred Stock to be redeemed.

ic) Redemprion Mechanics. On any Redemption Date, the Corparation shall redeem such
number of shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock set forth in the Redemption Notice. It
on any Redemption Date the Corporation does not have sufTicient funds legally available to
redeem such number of shares of Serics B Convertibe Preferred Stuck set forth in the
Redemption Motice, the Corporation shall redeem a pro rata portien of each Series B Convertible
Prefierred Stock holder's redeemable sharss out of Tunds legally available therefor, based on the
respective amounts which would otherwise be payable in respect of such shares to be redeemed iT
the legally available finds were sufficient to redeem &ll such shares, and shall redeem the
remaining shares to have been redeemed as soon as practicable after the Corporation has funds
legally available therefor. The Corporation mey delay or cancel any redemption by providing
notice of sueh delay or cancellation to each holder of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock that
received a Redemption Motice in connection with such redemption as promptly 2s practicable
following the determination by the Corporation to delay or cancel such redemption.




) surrender of Certificates; Payment On or befors the applicablz Redempiion Date, each
holder of shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to be redeemed on such Redemption
Dute. uniess such holder has exercised his, fier o its right to convert such shares as provided in
Section 5, shall surrender the certificate or certificates representing such shares 1o the
Corporation, in the manner and &t the place designated in the Redemption Natice., and thereupen
the Redemption Price for such shares shall be payable to the order of the person whose name
appears on such certificate or centificates as the owner thereof, and each surrendercd certificate
shall be canceled and retired. In the event less than all of the shares of Series B

Convertible Preferred Stock represented by a certificate are redeemed, = new certificate
representing the unredeemed shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall promptly be
issued 1o such holder,

fe) Rights Subsequent to Redemption. 1fthe Redemption Motice shall have been duly given.
and if on the applicable Redemption Date the Redemption Price payable upan redemplion ol the
<hares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock 1o be redesmed on such Redemption Date is paid
or tendered for payment or deposited with an independent payment agent so a8 [ be available
sherefor, then notwithstanding that the cenificates evidencing any of 1he shares of Series b
Convertible Preferred Stock 5o called for redemption shall not have been surrendered, dividonds
with respect to such shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall ceasc to accrue after
such Redemption Date and all rights with respect to such shares shall forthwith after the
Redemption Date terminate, except only the right of the holders to receive the Redemption Price
without intercst upon surrender of their cartificale or certificates therefor.

7. Pavment of Taxes. The Corporation shall pay all documentary, stamp. transfer and other
taxes (other than tuxes on income of the helders of shares of Series B Convertible Preferred
Stoek) and other governmental charges attributable 10 the issuance, delivery, conversion or
redemption of shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stocks provided, fiowever, that the
Corporaticn shall net b required 1o pay any taxes payable in respect af any transfer invalved in
the issuance or delivery of any certificate for such shares in a name cther than that of the holder
of the shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Swock in respect of which such shares are being
issued.

8. Exclusion of (her Rights. Except as may otherwise be required by taw, the shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall not have any preferences or relafive, participating.
optional or other special rights, other than those specifically st farth herein. The shares of Series
B Convertible Preferred Stock shall have no presmptive or subseription rights.

9, Severbility. 1f any right, preference or Yimitation of the Series B Convertible Prefemred
Sanck set forth berein is invalid, unlawful o incapahle of being enforced by reason of any rule of
law or public policy, all other rights, preferences and limitations set forth herein which can be
given effect without the invalid, unlawful or unenforceable right, preference or Himitation shall,
nevertheless, remain in full force and effect, and no right, preference or limitation herein set forth
shall be deemed dependent upon uny other such right, preference or limitation unless so
expressed herein.

14, Chares. Shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock that have
heen jssued and reacquired in any manner shall (upon compliance with any applicable provisions
of the laws of the State of Delawzre} have the status of authorized and unissued shares of

Preferred Stock jssunble in series undesignated as 1o series and may be redesignated and reissied.




Il Waivers. The hoiders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shall also be entithed to,
ancl shall not be deemed 1o have waived, any other applicable rights granted o such holders under
the Delaware General Corporation Law. Any of the rights of the holders of Series B Converlikle
Preferred Stock set forth herein may be waived by the affirmative consent or vote of the holders
of at least a majority of the then sutstanding shares of Series B Con vertible Preferred Stock,
subjcet to applicable law,

12. Registration of Series B Convertible Preferred Stogk. The Carporation shall register
shares of the Series B Canvertible Preferred Stock, upon recends to be maintained by the
Corporation for that purpose (the “Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Register”), in the name
of the record holders thereof from fime to time. The Corporation may deem and treat the
registered holder of shares of Scries B Convertible Preferred Stock as the absolute owner thereol’
for the purpose of any distribution to such holder, and for all ether purposcs, absent actial notice
1o the contrary.

13. Registeation of Trunsfers. The Corporation shall register the transfer of any shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stack in the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Register, upon
surrender of certificates evidencing such Shares io the Corporation at its address specified
herein. Lipon any such registration or transfer, @ new cerlificate ev idencing the shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock so transforred shall be issued 1o the wansferee and a new certificate
evidencing the remaining portion of the shares not so transferred, if any, shall be issued to the
iransferring holder.

14. Replacement Certificates. [Fany certificate evidencing Series B Cuonvertible Preferred
Srock is mutilated, lost, stolen ot destroyed, the Corporation shall issue or cause to he issued in
exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation hereof, or in liew of and substitution for such
certiflcate, & new certificate, But only upon receipt of en affidavit of loss and indemnity
agrecment reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation evidencing such loss, theft or destruction
and custormary and reasonalle indemnity, if requested. Applicants for a new cerificate under
such circumstances shall also comply with such other reasonable regulations and procedures and
pay such other reasonable third-party costs as the Corporation may prescribe.

15, Reservation of Stock lssuable Upon Conversion, The Corporation shall at all times
reserve and keep zvailable out of its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock . solely for
the purposes of effecting the conversian of the shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock,
such number of its shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the
conversion of all outsianding shares of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock; and if af any
time the numbes of authorized but enizsued shures of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to
effect the conversion of all then owtstanding shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, in
addition 1o such other remedies ac shall be available 1o the holders of such Preferred Stock, the
Comoration will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to
increase is authorized but unissued shares of Common Stoek o such number of shares as shall be
sufficient for such purposes, ingluding without limitation, engaging in best efforts 1o obtain the
requisite stockholder approval of eny necessary amendment 1o the Certificate of ncorperation.

This Certificate shall become effective upon the filing thereof with the Secratary of State of
the State of Delaware,
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AMENDED CERTIFICATE Or DESIGNATION

{Pursuant te Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law)

The undersigned, Christopher 1. Reed and Judy Holloway Reed, certify that:

ONE. They are the duly ¢lected Chief Executive Officer and Secretary, respectively, of the
Reed’s, Inc., a Dolaware corporation {the “Corporation™).

‘I'WO. The Certificate of Incorporation of this Corporation provides for a class of its authorized
shares krown as Preferred Stock comprised of 500,000 shares issusble from tims Lo lime in one
or more series, of which 47,121 shares designated as Scries A Convertible Preferred Stock are
currently outstanding and no shares designated as Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are
currently outstanding.

THREE. Pursuant to and in accordance with the provisiens of Section 151 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law and the Certificate of Incorporation of this Corporation (“Certifieare of
Incorporation™), the Board of Directors has duly authorized and adopted a resolution inereasing
the number of shares of authorized and unissued Preferred Stock of the Corporation designated as
Serics B Convertible Preferred Stock to a total of four hundred thousand (400,000) shares, an
increase of two hundred ity thousand (250,000) sharcs from the one hundred and fifty thousand
{150,000) shares previcusly designated in the Cerlificate of Designation filed April 26, 2009,

FOUR.  The Board of Directors of the Corporation (“Beard of Directors™) has duly suthorized
and adopted the following recitals and resolutions on November 4, 2009:

WHERFAS, the Board of D¥irectors of this corporation is authorized to fix the number of
shares of any scrics of Preferred Stock and to detormine the designation of any such series and (he
rights, preferences, privilages and restrictions granted to or imposed upon any wholly unissusd
senies of Preferred Stock; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has previously fixed and determined the designation
aof, the number of shares constituting, and the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions
relating to a Serics B Convertible Preferred Stock, pursuant to a Certificate of Designation as
filed with the Delaware Secretary of Stats on April 29, 2009; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to amend and reslate the Certificate of
Designation filed April 29, 2009 in its sntirety.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to increase the number of shares of authorized
and unissued Preferred Stock of the Corporation designated as Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock 1o a total of four hundred thousand (400,000) shares, an increase from one hundred and
fifty thousand (150,000}, as was previously designated in the Certificate of Designation filed
April 28, 2009,




RESOLVED, a total of four hundred thousand (400,000) shares of the authorized and
unissued Preferred Stock of the Corporation shall be designated as Series B Convertible Preferred
Stosk.

RESOLVED FURTHER, that the Board of Directers hereby aménds and restates the
Certificate of Designation filed April 29, 2009 in its entirety and designates the number of shares,
and fixes the relative rights, powers and preferences thereaf, and the limitations or restriclions of
the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (in addition to any provisions set forth in the Certificate
of Incorporation that are applicable to the Preferred Stock of all classes and series), as follows:

SERIES B CONVERTINLE PREFERRED STOCK

A total of four hundred thousand (400,000) shares of the authorized and unissued Prefemed
Stock of the Corporation, $10.00 staled value per share, are hereby designated “Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock™ (the “Series B Preferred ') with such series having the following
rights, prefarences, powers, privileges and restrictions, qualifications and limitations:

1. Rapk The Series B Preferred shall rank (a) senior, in all matters, to (i) any class of common
stock of the Corporation, including, without limitation, the Corporation’s common stock, $0.0001
par value per share {the “Commen Stoek™), and any other class or series of capital stock inio
which the Common Stock is reclass:fied or recanstituted, (i1) any other class or series of capitai
stock of the Corporation either specifically tanking by its terms junior to the Series B Prefurred or
not gpecifically ranking by its terms senior to or on parity with the Series B Preferred, and (jii)
any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation into which the capital stock referred o in
the preceding subclauses (i) and (ii) is reclassified or reconstituted (the capital stock referred o in
this clause (z) is hereinafier referred to as the “Juenior Stack™); (b} on parity with any class or
series of capital stock of the Corporation specifically ranking by its terms on parity, in all matiers
expressly provided, with the Series B Preferred (“Parity Stock™); and (c) junior, in all matters
cxpressly provided, to the Corporation's class of Preferred Stock designated as Series A
Convertible Preferred stock and any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation specifically
ranking by its terms senior lo the Series B Preforred (“Semior Stock™).

2. Dividends,

(a) Subject to the prior payment in full of any dividends to which any Senior Stock is
entited pursuent to the Certificete of Incorporation, as then amended to date, for a peniod ol thres
(3) years from the date of issuance of the Series B Preferred, the holders of the Series H Preferred
(each, & “Series B Holder") shall be entitled to receive, oul of funds legally available thercfor,
dividends (the “Serigs B Dividends™), which shall be cumulative and non-compounding and
accrue on a daily basis from the date on which a particular share of Series B Preferred is izsued, at
an znnual rate equal o Gve percent (5% of the Original Purchase Price (the “Series B Dividend
Rate,” subject to increase as provided below), payable ay provided in Section 2(b) hereof. As
used herein, ' Original Purchase Price” means ten dollars ($10.00).

(b)  Serics B Dividends payahle pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof shall be payable in quarterly
dividends equal to 1.25% of such Liguidation Value (defined below) on each of September 30,
December 31, March 31 and June 30 of each year (the “Series B Déividend Payment Date™), for a




pariod of 36 months from the date of issuance of the Series B Preferred Convertible Preferred
Stock. Such dividends shall be payable, on each Series B Dividend Payment Date, in additional
shares of Series B Preferred Convertible Preferred Stock (PIK Dividends™), or, in the sole
diseretion of the Board of Directors, in cash or Common Stock and such dividends shall be
curnulative and shall accrue whether or not declared, carned or payable from and afier the date of
issue of the Series B Preferred. The shares of Series B Preferred distributed as a PIK Dividend
shall be deemed to be issued and cutstanding from and afier such Series B Dividend Payment
Date, and the amount of shares issued as & PIK Dividend shall have an aggregate Liquidation
Vahue, at the Series B Dividend Payment Date equal to the value of the dividend accmed and
payable. The initial “Liguidation Value" of each share of Seriea B Preferred will be $10.00 per
share, and thereafter, there will be added to the Liquidation Value of each shara of Series B
Praferred, as of any Series B Dividend Payment Date, the amount of any dividends payable on
such share an that Series B Dividend Payment Date but not paid on that Serics B Dividend
Payment Date, whether or not such dividends arc declared, camed or payable. The amount of
Series B Dividends payable on the Series B Preferred for any period shorter than a full calendar
quarter shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day vear of twelve 30-day months.

{c) So long as any shares of Serics B Preferred are outstanding, the Carporation shall not
pay or declare any dividend, whether in cash or propecty, or make any other distribution on any
Junior Stock, or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Junior Stock until
ull Series B Dividends as set forth in Section 2(a) shall have been paid or declared and set apart.

(d) Any Series B Dividend ghall be paid in PIK Dividends, cash or shares of Commen Stock,
in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board of Directors,

(£) If the Corporation elects to pay any Series B Dividend due in Common Stock (“Fréerest
Shares™), the issnance price of the Interest Shares will be equel to the 10-day Weighted Average
Price (a5 defined below) of the Common Stock ending on the day prior to Series B Dividend
Payment Date, "Weighted Average Price” means, for any security as of any date, the dollar
volume-weighted average price for such security on the principal national securities exchange on
which such equity securities are listed or admitted to trading (“Principal Market”) during the
period beginning at 9:30:01 e.m., New York Time {or such other time as the Principal Market
publicly announces is the official open of trading), and ending &t 4:00:00 p.m., New York Time
{or such other time as the Principal Market publicly announces is the official close of rading) as
reporied by Bloomberg through its "Volume at Price™ functions, or, if tho foregoing does not
apply, the dollar volume-woeighted average price of such security in the over-the-counter market
on the electronic bulletin board for such security during the period beginning at 9.30:01 a.m.,
New York Time {or such ether time a5 such market publicly announces is the official epen of
trading), and ending at 4:00:00 p.m., New York Time (or such other time as such market publicly
announces is the ofTicial close of trading) as reported by Bloomberg, or, if no dollar volume-
weighted average price is reported for such security by Bloomberg for such hours, the average of
the highest closing bid price and the lowest closing ask price of any of the market makers for such
security as reported in the "pink sheets” by Pink Sheets LLC {formerly the National Quotation
Hureau, Inc.). If the Weighted Average Price cannot be caleulated for a security on 2 particular
date on any of the foregoing bases, the Weighted Average Price of such security on such date
shall be as determined by the affirmetive vote of a majority of the members of the Boand of
Directors, or, if the requisite approval of the Board of Directors cannot be obtained, by 2
nationally recognized independent appraiser or investment bank sclected, in good faith, by a
majority of the members of the Board of Directors; provided, however, in no event shall there be
a reduction in the fair markei value of such equily securities based upon a “minority™ or similar
discount or based upon the fact that there does not exist any public trading market for such equity




securitica. All such determinations to be appropriately adjusted for any stock dividend, stock
split, stock cambination or other similar transaction during the applicable caleulation period.

3. Liquidation.

{a} In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether
valuttary or involuntary, or a Triggering Event (as defined herein) (each refiared to hersin as a
“Liguidation Event™), after payment or provision for payment of debts and other liabilities of the
Corporation and all ameunts due and owing to the holders of outstanding shares of Senior Stock,
if any, each holder of Series B Preferred, belore any distribulion or payment is mads upon any
Junior Stock, shall be entitled to recsive, out of the assets of the Corporation legally available for
distribution to stockholders (the “Available Assets™), an amount equal to each holder’s
Liquidation Preference. The “Liguidation Preference” payable with respect to esch share of
Series B Preferred shall be equal to the greater of (i) the Liguidation Value and (ii) if such share
of Series B Preferred were then convertible into Common Stock, such amount which the holder of
Scrics B Preferred would be entitled to receive in connection with the Liquidation Event if such
holder had converted his, her or its Series B Preferred immediately prior to the occurrence of the
Liguidation Event. Shares of Series B Preferred shall {i) not be entifled to any distributions in the
event of a Liquidation Event other than a distribution in &n amount equal to the Liquidation
Preference, and (ii) be deemed cancelled upon full distribution of such Liquidation Preference.

) [f the Availahle Assets shall be insufficient to permit full payment of the Liquidation
Preference upon & Liquidation Bvent to all holders of Series B Preferred, as well as all payments
then dus or due by reason of sach Liguidation Event on any Parity Stock, then the holders of
Series B Preferred and holders of such Parity Stock shall share ratably in any such distribution of
the Corporation’s assets in propartion to the full respective distributable amounts to which they
arc colitled.

(c) Written notice of & Liguidation Event, slating a payment date, the amount of the
Liquidation Preference and the place where said sums shall be payable, shall be given by mail,
postage prepaid, not less than thirty {307 nor mors than sixty (60) days prior to the payment date
stated thercin, to all holders of Scries B Preferred of recoed, such notics to be addressed to each
such stockholder at such holder's post office address as shown by the records of the Corporation.

{d} Unless otherwise provided hersin, whenever the distribution provided for in this Sechion
3 shall be payable in property other than cash, the value of such property shall be the Fair Market
Walue.

{e) As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

{1} “Triggering Hvent" means (z) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Corporation to any Person, (b) any transaction or series of tansactions by which any Person or
group (as such term is used in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial owner
(a= so defined), direcily or indirectly, of shares representing more than fifty percent (50°%) of the
ageregate voting power of the Corporation. or (&)} a merger, consolidation, reorpanization,
recapitalization or other transnetion or series of related transactions (a “Recapitalizetion™) in
which the stockholders of the Corporation owning a majority of the voling stock of the
Corporation with the right to elect a majority of the Board of Directors m the agpregate
immediately prior to such Recapitalization do not own a majority of such voting stock or voting
power of the surviving, successor or continuing entity following such Recapitalization.




ii) “Person” means an individuel or corporation, partnership, trust, insorporated or
unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company, joint stock company,
govemnment (or &n ageacy or subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind,

(i) “Affiliate” means, at any time, and with respect to any Person, any ather
Person thet af such time directly or indirsctly through one or more intermediaries Controls, or ig
Controlled by, or is under commeon Control with, such first Person, and, with respect to the
Corporation, shall includs any Person beneficially owning or holding, divectly or indirectly, ten
percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or equity interests of the Corporation or any
subsidiary or any corporation of which the Corporation and its subsidiaries benoficially own or
hold, in the aggregate, directly or indireetly, ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or
equity interests. As used in this definition, “Confrel” means the possession, dircctly or indirectly,
of the powaer to direet or cause the dircetion of the management and policies of a Person, whether
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

(v} “Fair Market Value” shall mean the following: (i) with respect to equity
securities, (A) in the event such equity sscurities are publicly traded, the 10-day Weighted
Average Price for such cquity securitiss preceding the date of consummation of the event
requiring & determination of Fair Market Value (the “Determination Date”) (B) in the event such
equity securities arc not publicly traded, the fair market value of such equity securities shall be
determined by the affirmative vole of a maonily of the members of the Board of Dhrectors or, iF
the requisite approval of the Board of Directors cannot be obtained, by a nationally recognized
independent appraiser or mvestmesnt bank selected, in good faith, by a majority of the members of
the Board of Directors; provided, however, in no event shall there be a reduction in the fair
market value of such equity securilies based upon a “"minority™ or similar discount or based upan
the fact that thers does not exist any public trading market for such equity securities; (it} with
respect o debt securities, the present value of such debt securities ctilizing an interest rate equal
to the prime rate on the Determination Date, a8 published in The Wall Street Journal, Eastern
Edition, on such Delermination Date; or (iii) with respect to any other property, the fair market
value of such property, as determined (A) by the affirmatve vote of a majority of the members of
the Board of Directors or (B) if the requisite approval of the Board of Direciors referred to in the
preceding clavse (A) cannot be cbtained, by a nationally recognized independenl appraiser
seloeted, in good faith, by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors.

a4 Voting Rights.

(a) The holders of the issued and outstarding Series B Preferred shall have no voting rights
except as required hy law or as provided in Section 4(h).

(b} At any time when shares of Series B Preferred are outstanding, in additon to any other
vote required by law or the Cestificate of Incorporation, without the written consent or affirmative
vote of holders representing at least a majority of the shares of Series B Preferred then
cutstanding, the Corporation shall not issue or authorize the issuance of any Senior Stock or
Parity Stock.

(c} Any action which by law requires the affirmative vols or consent of the holders of Series
B Prefermed shall require the consent of holders representing at least a majority of the shares of
Series B Proferred then outstanding.

3. Conversion.




(a) Optional Conversion. The holders of Series B Preferred shall have the following
conversion rights {each shall be referred to herein as an *Optional Conversion™):

(i} At any time after issuance the shares of Sories B Preferred shall be
convertible at any time and from time to time, in whole or in part (but not in fractions ol a share),
&t the option of the holder thereof, until any Redemption Date, into such nurmber of fully paid and
nonassessable shares of Commen Stock as is determined by mulliplying the number of shares to
be converted with the Conversion Hate.

{ii) The “Conversion Rate” shall be the Original Purchase Price divided by
the Conversion Price at the time in offcet for a share of such Series B Preferred. The
“Cunversion Price” per share of Series B Prefirred initially shall be equal w Two Dollars
($2.00), subject to adjustinent from time 1o time as provided below.

{iii) As used herein, “Aecquisition Event” means (A) the execution of a
definitive agreament with a Person that is (1) the heneficial owner of at least a majority of the
then outstanding sharcs of Series B Preferred, or (2) an Affiliate of (1), providing for a ransaction
which would constitute & Triggering Event or (B} the public commencernent by a Person that i
nat (1) the beneficial owner of at [east a majority of the (hen outstanding shares of Scries B
Preferred, or (3) an Affiliate of (1), of an exchange or tender offer to acquire a1l of the Common
Stock.

(3] Mandstory Conversion. Al any time after izsuance of the Series B Preferred, if the
closing price of the Common Stock as reportad by the Principal Market or quotation syslem on
which such Common Stock is traded or reported equals or exceeds Two Doliars and Seventy Five
Cents ($2.75) per share of Common Stock of the then current Conversion Price for five (3)
consecutive trading days, then the Corporation shall have the right to cause all {but not less than
all) outstanding shares of Series B Preferred to be automatically converied into shares of
Common Stock (such conversion being referred to herein as a “Manrdatery Conversion™ and the
date on which such Mandatory Conversion becomes effective as the “Mandatory Conversion
Date”),

(o) Clanversion of the Series B Preferred may be effected by any holder thereof upon the
surrender to the transfer apent for the Series B Prefemed, or at such other office or offices, if any,
a5 the Board of Directors may designate, of the certificate for such shares of the Series B
Preferred to be converted accompanied (if the name(s) in which such certificate are 1o be
registered differ from the name(s) in which the cerfificats formerly representing shares of Series
B Preferred had been registered prior to conversion) by a writlen nolice stating the name or names
in which such holder wishes the certificate or certificates for shares of Common Stock to be
igsued and, if an Oplional Conversion, slating that sisch holder slects to convert all or a specified
whale number of such shares. In case such notice shall specify a name or names other than that
of such holder, such notice ahall be accompanied by a payment ol all transfer taxes payable upon
the issuance of shares of Commeon Stock in such name or nameas. As promptly as practicable, wnd
in any event within five business days afer the surrender of such certificale or ceniificatss and the
receipt of such notice relating thereto and, if applicable, payment of all transfor laxes (or the
demonstration to the satisfaction of the Corporation that such taxes have been paid), the
Corporation shall deliver or canse lo be delivered (f) certificates representing the number of
wvalidly issued, fully paid and nonassessable full shares of Common Stock to which the holder of
shares of the Series B Preferred being converted shall be entitled and (id) if less than the full
number of shares of the Series BB Preferred evidenced by the surrendered centificate or certificates




being converted, a new certificate or certificates, of like tenor, for the number of shares evidenced
by such surrendered certificate or centificates less the number of shares being convertsd.

i) In the event of any Optional Conversion, such conversion shall be deemed to have been
made immediately prior fo the close of buainess on the date of the surrender of the certificate or
certificates for the shares of Series B Preferred o be converted and the giving of the notice
relating thereto, and the Person or Persons entitled to receive the shares of Comman Stock
issuable upon such conversion shali be reated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of
such shares of Common Stock on such date, In the event of @ Mandatory Conversion, sach
conversion shall be deemed to have heen made on the Mandatory Conversion Date, and the
Person or Persons entitled to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion
shall be treated for all pumposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of Common Stock
on the Mandatory Conversion Date. On the date on which a conversion is deemed pursuent to
this Seclion 5(d) to have been made, the rights of the holder of the shares of the Series B
Preferred deemed to have been converled as to the shares being converted shall cease except for
tha right to receive shares of Common Stock in aceordance herewith and the corresponding rights
of a bolder of Common Stock thereupon created.

(&) In connection with the conversion of any shares of the Series B Preferred, no fractions of
shares of Common Stock shall be issued, but in leu thereof the Corporation shall pay a cash
adjustment in respect of such fractional interest in an amount squal to such fractional interest
muliplied by the then affective Conversion Price. If more than onc share of the Serics B
Preferred shall be surrendered for conversion by the same holder at the same lime, the number of
full shares of Common Stock issuable an conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the
{olal number of shares of the Series B Preferred so surrendered,

n The Corporation shall at all imes reserve, and keep available for issuance upon the
conversion of the Series B Preferred, such number of its authorized but unissued shares of
Commeon Stock as will from time to time be sufficient 1 permit the conversion of all outstanding
sharca of the Series B Preferred, and shall take all action required to increase the authorized
number of shares of Common Stock if necessary to permit the conversion of all outstanding
sheres of the Series B Preferred.

® The Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows:

(i Adjustmenss for Subdivisions or Combinations of Common Stock. In the
event the outstanding shares of Commaon Stock shall be subdivided by stock split, stock dividend
or otherwise, into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price of the
Series B Preferred then i effect shall, concurrently with the effectivencss of such subdivision, be
proportionately decreased. In the event the outstanding shares of Commeon Stock shall be
combined or consalidated mnlo a lesser oumber of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion I'rice
of the Serics B Preferred then in effect shall, concurrently with the effectiveness of such
combinaticn or consolidation, be proporticnately increased.

(i) Adfusiments for Non-Cash Dividends and Other Distributions. In the
event the Corporation mekes, or fixes a record date for the determination of holders of Common
Stock entitled to receive, any distnbution (sxcluding repurchases of securitics by the corpocation
not made on a pro rata basis) paysble in property or in sseurities of the Corporation other than
shares of Common Stock, then and in each such event the holders of Series B Preferred shall




receive, af the time of such distribution, the amount of property or the number of securities of the
Corporation that they would have received had their Series B Preferred been converted into
Comman Stock on the date of such event.

{iii) Adjustmenis for Reorganizaiions, Reclassifications or Similar Events, If
the Commaon Stock shall be changed into the same or & different number of shares of any other
class or ¢lasses of stock or other securities or property, whether by capital reorganization,
reclassification ar otherwise, then sach share of Seres B Preferred shall thereafter be convertible
into the number of shares of stock or other securities or property to which & holder of the number
of shares of Common Stock of the Corporaticn deliverable upon cenversion of such shares of
Scries B Preferred shall have been entitled upon such reorganization, reclassification or other
evenl.

{iv) Shares wned by Corporgiion, For purposes of this Section 5(g), the
numaber of shares of Common Stock at any time outstanding shall not include any shares of
Commaon Stock then uwnnd or held by or for the account of the Corporation,

) Centificate of Independeni Accowniani, The certificate of any fitm of
independent public accountants of recognized national standing selected by the Board of
Directors of the Corporation (which mey be the firm of independent public accountanis regularly
employead by the Corporation) shall be presumptively correct for any computation made under
this Sectipn 5{g).

(wi) Ne Adjustments for Abandoning Dividend Distributions. 1T the
Comporation shall take a record of the holders of its Commuon Stock for the purpose of entitling
them to receive a dividend or other distribution, and shall thereafter and before the distribution to
stockholders thereof legally abandon its plan o pay or deliver such dividend or distribution, then
thercafter no adjustment in the Conversion Price or the number of shares of Commeon Stock
issuable wpon exercise of the right of conversion granted by this Section 5{g) shall be required by
rezson of the taking of such record,

{vid) No Adjustments for Mergers, Reorganizations, Acquisitions ar Similar
Events, There shall be no adjustment of the Conversion Prics in case of the issuance of any stock
of the Corporation to the security holders of any other corporation in a merger, reorganization,
acquisition or other similar transaction except as set forth in this Section Sig).

{h} In case of any capital reorganization or reclassification of outstanding shares of
Common Stock {other than & reclassification covered by Section 5{g)iii}), or in the case of a
share exchange of Common Stock for securities of another corporation, or in case of any
consolidation or merger of the Corporation with or into another corporation, or in case of any sale
of conveyanee to anather corporation of the properry of the Corporation as an entirety or
substantially as an entirety (each of the foregoing being referred to as a * Trassaciion™), each
share of the Series B Preferred then owned by such holder shall thercafter be convertible into, in
lieu of the Commeon Stock issuable upon such conversion prior to consummation of such
Transaction, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable
(mcluding cash) upon the consummation of such Transaction by & holder of that number of shares
of Common Stock into which one share of the Seres B Preforred was convertible immediately
peior to such Transaction (including, on a pro rata basis, the eash, securities or property received
by holders of Common Stock in amy tender or exchange offer that is a step in such Transaction).




(i) Upon any adjustment of the Conversion Price then in effect, the Corporation, al its
expense, shall, upon the written request of any holder of Series B Preferred, prompily compute
such adjustment in accordance with the: tenms hereof and furnish to each holder of Series B
Preferred a certificate setting forth such adjustment and showing in reasonable datail the facls
upin which such adjustment 15 based.

1} Upon any conversion of Serics B Preferred pursuant to this Section 5, the holder of such
shares being converted shall receive any unpaid and accrued dividends on such shares heing
converted.

G Redsmption.

{2) Al any time afler the third anniversary of the issuance of the Serics B Preferred, all, but
not less than all, the shares of Series B Preforred outstanding may be redsemed by the
Corporation {a “Mandatory Redemption™) al its sole discretion, ai a price equal to the preater of
(i) one hundred ten porcent {110%) of the Original Purchase Price, plus an amount equal to any
unpaid and accrued dividends and (i) the Fair Market Value on the Redemption Date of such
number of shares of Common Stock which the holder of the redeemed Series B Preferred would
be entitled to receive had the redeemed Series B Preferred been converted immediately prior to
the redemplion. The right of the Corporation to redeem the Scrics B Preferred provided under this
Section 6[a), shall cease upon the oecurrence of un Acquigition Evenl

(h) Redemption Motice. Upon the determination by the Corporation Lo efleciuate a
Mandaiory Hedemption or 2 Partial Redemption, written notice of such redemption (the
“Redemption Notice™) shall be mailed, poslage prepaid, o each holder of record of Series B
Preferred, at its post office address last shown on the records of the Corporation, not less than five
(5) business days prior to the dats such redemption is to occur (the “Redempiion Date”). Hach
Redemption Notice shall state:

(1) the number of shares of Series B Preferred held by the holder that the
Corporation shall redeem on the Redemption Date;

(i} the Redemption Date and the price the Corporation shzll pay to the
heolders of Series B Preferred upon such redemption as detenmined pursuant to Section 6{a), as
applicable (the “Redemption Price™}, and

(iii} that the holder is 1w surrender to the Corporation, in the manner and at
the place designated, his, her or its certificate or certificates representing Lhe shares of Serics B
Preferred to be redesmed.

() Redenption Mechanics, On any Rtedemption Date, the Corporation shall redeem such
number of shares of Series B Preferred set forth in the Redemption Notice, [f on any Redemption
Date the Corporation does not have sufficient funds legally available to redeem such number of
shares of Series B Preferred set forth in the Redemption Notice, the Corporation shall redeem a
pro rata portion of each Series B Preferred holder’s redeemable shares out of funds legally
available therefor, based on the respoctive amouats which would otherwise be payable in respect
of such sheres to be redeemed if the legally available funds were sufTicient to redeern all such
shures, end shall redeom the remaining shares to have becn redeemed us soon as practicable after
the Corporation has funds legally available therefor. The Cerporation may delay or cancel any
redemption by providing notice of such deley or eancellation to each holder of Series B Preferred




that received a Redemption Motice in connection with such redemption as promptly as praciicable
following the detormination by the Corporation to deley or caneel such redemption.

() Surrender of Certificates; Payment. On of before the applicable Redemption Date, sach
holder of shares of Series B Preferred to be redeemed on such Redemption Date, unless such
holder has exercised his, her or its right to converl such shares as provided in Sectiop 5, shall
surrender the certificate or certificates representing such shares to the Corporation, in the manner
and at the place designated in the Redemption Notice, and thereupon the Redemption Price for
such shares shall be payable to the crder of the person whose name appesrs on such certificate or
certificates as the owner thereof, and cach surrendered certificate shall be canceled md retired. In
the evenl less than all of the shares of Series B Prelorred repeesented by a certificate are
redeemed, a new certificate represcoting the unredeemed shares of Series B Preferred shall
promptly be 1ssued to such holder.

{c) Rights Subscquent to Redsmption. If the Redsmption Motice shall have been duly given,
and if on the applicable Redemption Date the Redemption Mrice payable upon redemption of the
shares of Series B Preferred to he redeemed on such Hedemption Date is paid or tendered for
payment or deposited with an independent payment agent so as to be available therefor, then
naotwithstanding that the certificates evidencing any of the shares of Series B Preferred so called
for redemption shall not have been surrendered, dividends with respect to such shares of Series B
Prefarred shall cease o acerue afler such Redemplion Date and all rights with respeet to such
shares shall forthwith after the Redemption Date terminate, except only the right of the holders to
receive the Redemption Price without interest upon surrender of their certificate or certificates
therefor.

T Payment of Taxes. The Corporation shall pay all documentary, stamp, trunsfer and other
taxes (other than taxes on income of the holders of shares of Series B Preferred) and other
governmental charges attributable to the issuance, delivery, conversion or redemption of shares of
Series B Preferred, provided, however, that the Corporation shall not be required to pay any taxes
payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance ar delivery of any certificate for such
shares in a name other than that of the holder of the shares of Series B Preferred in respect of
which such shares are being issued.

b Baclusion of Other Rights. Except as may otherwise be required by law, the shares of
Series B Preferred shall not have any preferences or relative, participating, optional or other
special rights, other than those specifically set forth herein. The shares of Series B Preferred shall
have no precmplive or subseription rights.

9. Severability. 1fany right, preference or limitation of the Series B Preferred set forth
berein is invalid, unlawful or incapable of being enforced by reason of any rule of law or public
policy, all other rights, preferences and limitations set forth herein which can be given effect
without the invelid, unlawful or unenforceable right, preference or Hmitation shall, nevertheless,
remmain in full force and effect, end no right, preference or limitation herein set forth shall be
deemed dependent upon any other such right, preference or limitation unless so expressed berein,

140. Status of Reacquired Shares. Shares of Serics B Preferred that have been issued and
rescquired in any manner shall {upon compliance with any applicable provisions of the laws of
the State of Delaware) have the status of authonized and unissued shares of Preferred Stock
issuahle in serics undesignated as to series and may be redesignated and reissued.
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11. Waivera. The holders of Series B Preferred shall also he entitied to, and shall not be
deemed to have waived, any other applicable rights granted to such holders under the Delaware
General Corporation Law. Any of the rights of the holders of Series B Preferred set forth herein
may be waived by the affirmative consent or vote of the holders of at [east a majority of the then
oulstanding shares of Series B Preferred, subject to applicable law.

12, cgistrati ertible . The Corporation shall register
shares ufﬂ:e Sanea B Prefen:ed upl:m mnm:is m be nmntm&l by the Corporation for that
purpose (the “Series B Preferred Register'™), in the name of the record holders thereof from time
to lime, ‘The Corporation may deem and treal the registered holder of shares of Series B Prafemred
as the absolute owner thereof for the purpose of any distribution to such holder, and for all ather
purposes, absent actual notice to the conbrary.

13 Registration of Tranafers. The Corporation shall register the transfer of any shares of
Series B Preferred in the Series B Preferred Register, upan surrender of certificates evidencing
such Sheres to the Corporation at its address specified herein. Upon any such registration or
transfer, a new certificate évidencing the shares of Series B Preferred so transferred shall be
issued to the transferse and a new certificate evidencing the remaining portion of the shares not so
tranaferred, if any, shall be issued to the transferring holder.

14. Replacement Certificates. If any certificate evidencing Series B Preferred is mutilated,
lost, stolen or destroyed, the Corporation shall issue or cause to be 1ssued in exchangs and
substitution for and upon cancellation hereof, or in liew of and substitution for such cedifieate, 2
new certificate, but enly upon receipt of an affidavit of loss and indemnity agresment reasomably
satisfactory to the Corporation evidencing such loas, theft er destruction and customary and
reasonable indemnity, if requested. Applicants for a new certificate under such circumstances
shall also comply with such other reasonable regulations and procedures and pay such other
reasonable third-party costs as the Corporation may prescribe.

15. Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The Corporation shall at all times
reserve and keep availablz out of its authorized but unissued shares of Commen Stock | solely for
the purposes of effecting the conversion of the shares of Scries B Preferred, such number of its
shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all
oulstanding shares of the Series B Preferred; and if at any time the number of authorized but
uniissucd shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to cffect the conversion of &ll then
oulstanding shares of Series B Preferred, in addition to such other remedies as shell be available
to the holders of such Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take such corporate action as may, in
the opimon of its counsel, be necessary (o increass 115 authorized but unissued shares of Commaon
Stock to such number of ehares as ghall be sufficient for such purposes, including without
limitation, engaging in best affarts to obtair the requisite stockholder approval of any necessary
amendment to the Centificats of Incorporation.

This Certificate shall become effective upon the filing (thereof with the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware.
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The Corporation has caused this Certificate of Designatien of Series B Convertible
Prefermed Stock 1o be duly executed and acknowledged by its undersigned duly suthorized
officers this 10th day of November, 2004,

REED’S,
By:

Name: Christopher I Reed
Til]n}.’/ ident & Chicl Exccutive Officer

,Ii e ‘M
o Judy Holloway Reed
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AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION

(Pursuant 1o Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law)

The undersigned, Christopher J. Reed and Judy Hallowny Reed, centify that:

ONE. They are the duly elected Chief Executive Cfficer and Secretary, respectively, of the
Reed's, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Corparation’™),

TWO. The Certificate of Incarporation of this Corporation provides for a class of its authorized
shares known es Preferred Stock comprised of 500,000 shares issueble from time o time in one
or more series, of which 47,121 shares designated as Series A Converible Preferrad Stock are
currently outstanding and no shares designated as Series B Converlible Preferred Stock are
currently ootstanding.

THREE. Pursuant to snd in agcordance with the provisions of Section 151 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law and the Certificats of Inearparation of this Corporation {"“Certificate af
Fncorporation™), the Board of Directors of the Corporation (“Board of Directors™) has duly
autharized and adopted resolutinns amending the Certificare of Designation originally filed Aprit
29, 2009 and amended November 16, 2009, by decreasing the Conversion Frice (defined
hereinbelow) of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to $1.43.

FOUR. The Board of Directors. of the Corporation has duly antherized and adopled the following
recitals and resolutions on Decermber 4, 2009:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of this werparetion is authorized o fix the number of
shares of any series of Preferred Siock and to determine the designaticn of any such series and the
rights, preferences, privileges and restricticns granted o or imposed upon amy whaolly unizsued
scries of Preferred Stock; and

WHCREAS, the Board af Directors has previously fixed and determined the designation
of, the number of shares constinting, and the rights, preferances, privileges and resirictions
relating to a Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, pursuant 1o a Certificate of Desipnation as
filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on April 25, 2009 =nd amended November 16, 2009,
and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to amend and resiate the Certificate af
Dresignation originally filed April 29, 2009 and amended November 16, 2004, by decreasing the
Conversion Price (defined hereinbelow) of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock to $7.43,

RESOLVED, that the Board of Direstors hereby umerds and restates the Cerrificats of
Designation filed April 29, 2009 and amended November 16, 2004 in its entirety und designates
the number of shares, and fixes the relative rights, powers and preferences thereof, and the
limitations or restrictions of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (in eddition to any
provisions set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation that are spplicable 10 the Preferrad Stock of
all classes and series), as fallows:




SERIES B CONVERTINLE PREFERRED STOCK

A total of four hundred thousand (400,000) shares of the authorized and unizsued Preferred
Stock of the Corporation, $10.00 stated valus per share, are hereby designated “Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock™ {the “Series B Preferred™) with such series having the following
rights, preferences, powers, privileges and restrictions, qualifications and limitations:

1. Rank. The Series B Preferred shall rank (a) seniot, in all matters, to (i) any class of common
stock of the Corporation, including, without limitation, the Corporation’s common stock, $0.0001
par valve per share (the “Common Stock™), and any other class or serfes of capital stock into
which the Common Stock is reclassified or reconstituted, (i) any other class or series of capita)
stock of the Corporation sither specifically ranking by its terms junior to the Series B Preferred or
not specifically ranking by its terms semior to or on parity with the Series B Preferred, and {iii)
any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation inte which the capital stock referred 1o in
the preceding subclauses (i) and (ii] is reclassified or reconstinled (the capital siock referred to in
this clanse (a) is herefnafter referred 1o os the “Janior Stock™y, (b) on parity with any class or
séries of capital stock of the Corporation specifically ranking by its terms on parity, in #lf marters
expressly provided, with the Series B Prefered (“Parity Stoek™); and () junior, in all matters
expressly provided, to the Corporation’s ¢lass of Preferred Stack designated as Series A
Convertible Preferred slock and any class or series of capital stock of the Corpotation specifically
ranking by its terms senior to the Series B Preferrsd {“Bentor Stock™),

2. Dividends

i(a) Subject to the prior payment in full of any dividends to which any Senior Stock is
entitled pursuant 1o the Certificate of Incorporation, as then smended to date, for a period of three
(3) years from the date of issuance of the Sarjes B Preferred, the holders of the Series B Prefered
(each, & “Series & Holder| shall be entitlad to receive, out of funds legally available therefor,
dividends (the “Series B Dividends™, which shall be cumulative and non-corepounding and
accrue o & daily basis from the date on which a particular share of Series B Preferred iz issued, at
an aniual rate equal to five percent (3%) of the Original Purchase Price (the “Series 8 Dividend
Rate,” subject 1o increase as provided below), peyable as provided in Section 2(b) hereof, As
used herein, “Origingl Purchase Price™ means ten doliars ($10.00).

(b} Series B Dividends payable pursuant 1o Section 2(a) hereof shall be payahble in quarterly
dividends equal 1o 1.25% of such Liquidation Value {defined below) cn each of September 30,
Docember 31, March 31 and June 30 of sach year (the “Series B Dividand Paymem Date™), for a
neriod ef 36 months from the daze of issuance of the Series T Preferred Convertible Preferred
Stock. Such dividends shall be payable, on each Series B Dividend Payment Date, in additional
shares of Series B Preforred Convertible Preforred Stock ("“PIK Dividends"™), or, in the sole
discretion of the Board of Directors, in cash or Cemmon Stock and such dividends shall be
cumulative and shall accrue whether or not declered, earned or pavable from and after the date of
issue of the Series B Preferred. The shares of Seriss 3 Preferred distributed as a PTK. Dividend
shall be deemed to be issued and outstanding from and after such Series B Dividend Payment
Date, and the amount of shares issued as a PIK Dividend shall have an aggregate Liguidation
Value, at the Series B Dividend Payment Date equal to the value of the dividend accrued ang
payable. The initial “Liguldarion Value™ of each share of Series B Preferred will be $10.00 per
share, and thereafter, there will be added to the Liguidation Value of each share of Series B




Preferred, as of any Series B Dividend Payment Date, the amount of any dividends payable en
such share an that Serics B Dividend Payment Dute but not paid on that Series B Dividend
Payment Date, whether or not such dividends are declarsd, earned or payable. The ameount of
Series B Dividends payable on the Series B Preferred for any period shorter than a full calendar

quarier shall be computed on the hasis of 2 360-duy year of twelve 30-day manths.

(e} S0 long as any shares of Series B Preferred arc outstanding, the Comporation shall not
pay or declare any dividend, whether in cash or property. or meke any other distribution on any
dunior Stock, or purchase, redecm or otherwise aequire for value any shares of Junjor Stock until
all Series B Dividends as set forth in Section 2(a) shall have been paid or declared and set apart.

{d)  Any Series B Dividend shall be peid in PIK Dividends, cash or shares of Common Stock,
in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board of Directors,

(e} Ifthe Comporation elects to pay any Series B Dividend dus in Commen Stock (*ftarese
Shares"), the issuance price of the Inierest Shares will be equal to the 10-day Weighted Avernge
Price (a5 defined below) of the Common Stock eading on the duy prior ta Series B Dividend
Payment Date, ™ elghted Average Price™ means, for any security as of any date, the dollar
volume-weighted average price for such security on the principal national securities exchange on
which such equity securities are listed or sdmitied to treding (“Principal Marker™) during the
pericd beginning at 9:30:01 a.m., New York Time (or such other time as the Principat Market
publicly anncunces is the official open of trading), and ending at 4:00:00 pam., New York Time
(ur such other time as the Principal Market wublicly announces is the official close of trading) as
reported by Bloomberg through its "Volume at Price™ firnetions, or, if the foregoing does not
apply, the dollar volume-weighted average price of such security in the over-the-counter market
on the electronie bulletin board for such security during the period beginning at 9:30:01 am.,
New York Time {or such other time as such market publicly announces is the official open of
trading), and ending at 4:00:00 p.m., New York Time (or such other time as such market publicly
announces i the official close of trading) as reported by Bloomberg, or, if no dollar volume-
weighted average price is reported for such security by Bloomberg for such hours, the average of
the highest closing bid price and the lowest ciosing usk price of any of the market makers for such
security as reported in the "pink sheets" by Pink Sheets LLC (formerly the Mational Quotation
Bureay, Ine.). I the Weighted Avernge Price cannot be caleulated for a security on a particular
date on any of the foregoing bases, the Weighted Average Frice of such security on such date
shall be as determined by the affirmative vote of 3 majority of the members of the Board of
Directors, or, if' the requisite approval of the Doard of Directors cannot be obtained, bya
nationally recognized independent appraiser or invesiment bank delected, in good faith, by a
mujorily of the members of [he Board of Directors; provided however, in no evant shall there be
o reduction in the fair market value of such equily securilies based upon 1 “minorin™ er similar
discount or based upon the fact thar there does not exist any public trading market for such equity
securities. All such determinations to be appropriately adjusted for any stock dividend, stack
split, stock combination or other similar transaction during the applicabls calcaletion period.

3. Liguidution.

{a} In the event of any liquidation, dissalution or winding up of the Corporation, whether
voluntary or involuntary, or a Triggening Event (as defined herein) (cach referred to herein as a
“Liguidation Evenf"), afier payment or provision for payment of debts and other liabilities of the
Corporation and all amounts due and owing to the holders of outstanding shares of Senior Stock,
if any, each holder of Series B Preferred, before any distribution or payment is made upon any
Tunior Stock, shall be entitled to receive, out of the assets of the Corporation legafly available for




distribution to stockholders {the “Aveilable Asseis”), an amount equal 1 each holders
Liguidation Preference, The “Liguidasion Proference” payable with respect to each share of
Series B Preferred shall be equal 1o the greater of (i) the Liquidation Value and (ii) if such share

ol Series B Preferred were then converthle into Common Steck, such amouni which the holder of
Series B Preferred would be entitied 1o receive in connection with the Liguidation Event if such
holder had canverted his, ber or its Series B Preferned immediately prior te the occurrence of the
Liquidaticon Event. Shares of Scries B Preferred shall (1) not be entitled to any distributions in the
event of a Liquidation Even: other than a distribution in an amount equal to the Liguidation
Prefecence, and (i) be deemed cancelled upon full distribution of such Liguidation Preference.

(b If the Available Assers shall be jnsufficient to permit full payment of the Liquidation
Preference wpon a Liguidation Event to all holders of Series B Preferred, as well 15 all payments
then due or due by reason of such Liquidation Event on any Parity Stock, then the holders of
Series B Preferred and holders of such Parity Stock shall share ratably in any such distribution of
the Corporation”s assets in proportion 10 the full respective distriburable ameunts to which they
are entitlad.

{c) Written notice of a Liguidation Event, staling a payment date, the amount of the
Liguidation Preference and the place where said sums shall be payable, shall be given by mail,
postage prepaid, not less than thirty (10) nor more than sixty (50} days prior to the payment dare
stated therein, o all holders of Series B Prefarrsd af record, such notice 1o be addressed 1o each
such stockholder at such holder's post office address as shown by the records of the Corperation.

(d) Unless otherwise provided herein, whenever the distribution provided for in this Section
3 shall be payabls in property other than cash, the value of such property shall be the Fair Market
Yalue,

(e} As used herein, te following terms shall have the following meanings:

iy “Triggering Evenr” means (a) a sale of all or substantially 211 of the assets of the
Corporation to any Person, (b} any transaction or series of ransactions by which any Person or
group (as such term is used in Section 13(d} ef the Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial owner
(as so defined), directly ar indirectly, of shares representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the
aggregals voling power of the Corporation. or (c) amerger, consolidation, recrganization,
recapitalization or other ransaction or series of related transactions {2 “Recapitalization™) in
which the stuckholders of the Corporation owning a mujority of the voting stock of the
Corporation with the right to elect g majority of the Buard of Directors in the aggrapate
immediastely prior to such Recapitalization do not own a majority of such voting stock or voling
power of the surviving, successor or continuing entily following such Recapitalizarion.

(i) “Person” means an individual o7 gorporation, partnership, st incorporated or
unincorporated association, jolit venture, limited liability company, joint stock company,
gevernment (or an agency or subdivision thereaf) or other entity of any kind.

{iii} “Affillate” means, at any time, and with respect to any Person, any ather
Person theat at such time directly or indirectly through one or mere infermediaries Controls, or is
Contrelled by, or iz under common Contral with, such first Person, and, with respect to the
Corporation, shall include any Person beneficially owning or kolding, directly or indirectly, ten
percent (10%) ar tore of any class of voting or equity interests of the Corparation or any
subsidiary or any corparation of which the Corporatinn and its subsidiarjes benefizially own or
hold, in the aggregate, directly or indirestly, ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or




equity interests, As used in this definition, “Confraf” means the possession, directly or indirectly,
of the power 1o direct or cause the direction of the management and palicies of a Person, whether
through the ownership of viting securities, by contract or otherwise,

{iv) “Fuir Marker Value” shall mean the following: (i) with respect 10 equity
securities, {A) in the event such equity securities are publicly traded. the 10-day Weighiad
Average Price for such equily securities preceding the date of consummation of the event
requiring a determination of Fair Market Value (the “Berermination Date™) (B) in the event such
equity securities are mot publicly traded, the fair market valus of such equity securities shal| be
determined by the affirmative vots of a majority of the members of the Board of Disectors or, if
the requisite approval of the Board of Directors cannat be oblained, by & nationally recognired
independent appraiser of investment bank selected, in good faith, by a majority of the members of
the Board of Directors; provided. however, in no event shall there be a reduction in the fair
market value of such equity securitics hased upon a “minority™ or similar discount or based upun
the fact that there does not axist any pubiic trading market for such &quity secerities; (i) with
respect o debt securities, the present value of such debt securities utilizing an inferest rate equal
to the prime rate on the Determination Date, as published in The Wall Strect Journal, Fasiern
Edition, on such Determination Date; or (i) with respect o any other property, the Fair market
value of such propeny. as determined (A) by the affimmative vote of & majority of the members of
the Board of Directors or (B) il the requisite appraval of the Board of Directors referred to in the
preceding clause (A) cannat be shiained, by a nationally recognized independent appraiser
selected, in good faith, by a majority of the members of the Board of Directers,

&, Moting Rights,

(&) The holders of the issued and outstanding Series B Preferred shall have no valing rights
excepl as required by law or as provided in Sectipn 4(b}.

(b} Atany time when shares of Series B Preferred arc cutstanding, in addition to any other
vole required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, withou! the written consent or affirmative
vole of holders represenring at leest a majority of the shares of Series B Prefered then
outslanding, the Corporation shall net issue o authorioe the issuance of any Senior Stock or
Parity Stock.

ic) Any action which by lew requires the alfirmative vate or consznt of the holders of Series
B Preferred shall require the consent of holders representing at least @ majority of the shares of
Series B Preferred then outstanding,

A, LConversion,

(@) Optio ing. ‘The holders of Series B Preforred shall have the iollowing
conversion rights (cach shall be referred to herein as an “Oprional Conversion):

{1 At any time after issuance the sharcs of Series B Preferred shall be
canvertible at any time and from time 1o time, in whale or in part {but not in fractions of a share),
at the oplion of the holder thereof, until any Redemption Date, into such fumber of fully paid and
nenassessable shares of Common $tock ae is determined by multiplying the number of shares 1o
be converted with the Conversion Rate.




{iiy The “Conversion Rate” sheil be the Original Purchase Price divided by
the Conversion Price st the time in effoct for 2 share of such Series B Preferred. The
“Conversion Price™ per share of Series B Preferred initially shall be equal to One Dallar and
Forty Three Cents ($1.43), subject to adjustment from time to time as provided below.

(i As used herein, “Acquisition Evens” means (A) the execution of a
definitive agrecment with 2 Person that is (1) the beneficial owner of ar least a majority of the
then outstanding sharcs of Series B Preferred, or (2) an Affiliste af (1), providing for e transaction
which would constitute a Trigsering Event or (D) the public commencement by & Person that fs
not (1) the beneficial owner of at loast a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series B
Preferred, or (3) an Affiliate of {1}, of an exchange or tender offer acquirs all of the Common
Stock.

{h) Mendatory Conversion. At any time after issuance of the Series B Prefecred, if the
closing price of the Common Stock as reported by the Principa] Marked or quotation system on
which such Common Stock is traded or reported cquals or exceeds Two Dollers and Seventy Five
Cents ($2.75) per share of Common Stock of the then current Conversion Price for five ($)
congecutive trading days, then the Corparation shall have the right to canse all (but not less than
all) entstanding shares of Series B Preforred 1o he automeatically converted into sheres of
Common Stock (such conversion being referred fo hercin as a “Mandatory Canversion” and the
date on which such Mandatory Conversion becomes effective as the “Mandatory Conversion
Date™).

i} Cenversion of the Series B Proferred may be effected by any holder thercof upon the
surrender 1o the transfer agent for the Series B Preferred. or at such ather office or offices, if any,
as the Board of Directors may designate, of the certificate for such shares of the Series B
Preferred to be converted accompanied (if the name(s) in which such certificate are to be
registered differ from the names) in which the cerrificate formerly representing shares of Series
B Freferred had been regisiered prioe to conversion) by & written notice stating the name or names
in which such holder wishes the certificate or centificates for shares of Common Stock to be
issued end, if an Optional Conversion, stating that such holder elects to convert all or a specified
whole number of such shares. [n case such notice <hall specily 8 nama or names other than that
of such holder, such notice shall be accompanied by a payment of all transfer taxes payable upar
the issuance of shares of Common Stock in such name or names. As promptly as practicable, and
in any event within five business days after the surrender of such certificate or certificates and the
receipt of such notice relating thereto and, i applicable, payment of &ll transfer taxes (or the
demonstration to the satisfaction of the Corporation that such taxes have been paid), the
Corporation shall deliver or cause to be delivered (i) certificates representing the number of
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable fiull shares of Common Stoek to which the holder of
shares of the Series B Preferred being converted shall be sntitled and (i} if less than the full
number of shares of the Series B Proferred evidenced by the suendered certificate or certificates
being converted, a new certificate or certificates, of like tenar, for the number of shares evidenced
by such surrendered centificate or certificates less the number of shares being converted.

(d) In the event of any Optional Conversion, such conversion shall be deemed to have been
made immediately prior to the close of business on the date of the surrender of the certificate ar
certificates for the shares of Series B Preferred to be converted and the giving of the notice
relating thereto, and the Person or Persons entitled to receive the shanes of Common Stack
issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record halder or holders of
such shares of Commen Stock on such date, In the event of & Mandstory Conversion, such




conversion shall be deemed to have been made on the Mandatory Conversion Date, and the
Ferson or Persons entitled to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upen such conversion
shall be eated for all purposes as the record halder or holders of such shares of Common Stock
on the Mandatory Conversion Date. On the date on which a conversion is desmed pursuant 1o
this Section 5(d) to have been made, the rights of the holder of the shares of the Series B
Preferred deemed to have been converted as to the shares being converted shall cense excopt for
the right to receive shares of Common Stock in aceordancs herewith and the comrespanding rights
ol a holder of Common Stock thereupon crested,

(e} In connection with the conversion of any shares of the Series B Preferred, no fractions of
shares of Common Stock shall be issucd, but in lieu thereof the Comporation shall pay a cash
adjustment in respect of such fractional interest in an amount equal to such ftactional interest
multiplied by the then effective Conversion Price. If more than one share of the Series B
Preferred shall be surrendered for conversicn by the same halder al the same time, the number of
full shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the
toal number of shares of the Serdes B Preferred 50 surrendered.

(Fy The Corporation shall at all times reserve, end keep available for issuance upon the
conversion of the Series B Preferred, such number of iis authorized but unissued shares of
Commen Stock as will from time fo time be sulficient o permit the conversion of all vulstanding
shares of the Series B Preferred, and shall take all action reguired to increase the authorized
oumber of shares of Common Stock il necessary to penmit the conversion of all outstanding
shares of the Series B Preferred,

{gh The Cenversior Price shall be subject 1o adjustment from time to time as follows:

(i} Adfustments for Subdivisions or Combimaticns af Common Stock. Tn the
event the ouistanding shares of Common Stock shal? be subdivided by stock split, stock dividend
or otherwise, into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Prize of the
Series B Preferred then in effect shall, ecncurrently with the effectiveness of such subdivision, be
proportionately decrensed. In the event the outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be
combined or consolidated into a lesser number of shaes of Common Stock, the Conversion Price
of the Series B Preferred then in effect shail, concurrently with the effoctivensss of such
combination o consolidaticn, be proportinnately increased.

{ii} Adjustments for Non-Cash Dividends and Crther Distributions. In the
event the Corporation makes, or fixes a record date for the determination of holders of Comman
Stock entitled to receive, any distribution (excluding repurchases of securities by the coporation
oot made on a pro rata basis) pavable in property or in securities of the Corporation ather than
shares of Commaon Stock, then and in each such event the holders of Series B Preferred shall
receive, at the time of such distribution, the amount af property or the number of securities of the
Corporation that they would have received had their Series B Preferred been converted into
Common Stock on the date of such event.

(iiiy Adjusiments for Reorganizations, Reclassifications or Similar Evenms. Tf
the Commen Stock shall be changed into the same or a different number of shares of any other
class or classes of stock o other securities ar property, whother by capital reorganization,
reciassification or otherwise, then each share of Series B Preferred shall thereafter be convertible
into the number of shares of stock or other securities or property to which a holder of the number
of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation deliverable upan conversion of such shares of




Series B Preferred shall have been entitled upan sech reorganization, reclassification or other
evend,

{iv) Sharves Chwned by Corporation. For purposes of this Section 5(g), the
number of shares of Common Stock at any time cutstanding shall not include any shares of
Common Stock then owned or held by or for the account of the Corporation,

v Certificate af Independen Accowmtant, The certificate of any fiem of
independent public accountants of recopnized national standing selected by the Board of
Dircctors of the Corporation (which may be the firm of independent public accountants regularly
employed by the Corporation) shall be presumptively correet for any computation made undar
this Section S(g).

{vi) Mﬂ'ﬂﬂmhﬁrdﬁmm_g Dividend Distributians, 1 the
Corporativn shall take 2 record of the holders of its Commeon Stock far the purpose of entitling
them to receive a dividend or other distribution, and shall thereafter and before the distribution o
stockholders thereof legally ahandan its plan to pay or deliver such dividend or distribution, then
thereafter no adjustrment in the Conversion Price or (he nurber of shares of Common Stock
izsuable upon exercise of the right of conversion granted by this Seciion 5(g) <hall be required by
reason of the taking of such recond,

(wii) No Adjustments for Mergers, Reorganizations, Acguisitions or Simifar
Events. There shall he no adjusiment of the Conversion Price in cese of the issuance of any stock
of the Corporation to the security holders of iy other corporation in a merger, recrganization,
acquisition or other similar transaction except as set forth in this Seclion 5(g).

(h) In case of any capital reorganization or reclassification of outstanding shares of
Common Stock {other than a reclassification covered by Seetion S{gi(iii)), or in the case of
share exchange of Common Stock for securities of ancthet corparation, or in case of any
consolidation or merger of the Corporation with or into another corporation, or in case of any sale
or conveyinze to aticther carporation of the property of the Corporation as an entirety or
substantially as an entirety (each of the foregoing being referred 10 as o * Fransaction™), ench
share of the Series B Preferred then owned by such holder shall thercatter be converiible into, in
lieu of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion prior to consummation of such
Transaction, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable
tincluding cash) upon the consummarion of such Transaction by a holder of that number of shares
of Comman Stock inte which one share of the Series B Praferred was convertibie immediately
prior to such Transaction (including, on a pro rata basi, the cash, securities or property received
by hetders of Common Stock in any tender or enchange offcr that is & siep in such Transaction),

(i) Upon any adjustment of the Conversion Price then in effect, the Carporetion, at ils
expense, shall, upon the written request of any holder of Series B Preferred, prompily compute
such adjustment in accordance with the torms hereof and furnish to each holder of Serios B
Preferred a certificate setting forth such adjustment and showing in reasonable detail the facts
upon which such adjusiment is hased.

{j Upon any conversion of Serics B Preferred pursuent to this Section 5, the holder of such

shares being converted shall receive any unpaid and accrued dividends on such shares being
comverted.

6. Redemption.




() Atany time after the third anniversary of the issuance of the Series B Preferred, all, but
naot less than all, the shares of Series B Preferred outstanding may be redeemed by the
Corporation (a “Mandatery Redemption™) at its sole discretion, at & price equal Lo the grester of
(1) one hundred ten percent {11024) of the Original Purchase Price, plus an amount equal to any
unpiid and accrued dividends and (i) the Fair Market Walue on the Redemption Date of such
number of shares of Camman Stock which the holder of the redeemed Series B Preferred would
be entitled to reccive had the redeemed Series B Preferred been converted immediately prior to
the redemption. The right of the Corporation to redeer the Series B Proferred provided under this
Section f(a), shall ceass upon the cccurrence of an Acquisition Fvent.

b Bedemption Notige. Upon the determinatian by the Corporation to effectuate a
Mandatory Redemption or 1 Partial Redemption, written notice of such redemption (the
“Reddempiion Notice™) shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to each holder of record of Serics B
Proferred. at its post office address last shown on the records of the Corporatien, not less than five
(5) business days prior 10 the date such redemption is 1o oecwr (the “Redemption Date”). Ench
Redemption Notice shall state:

(i) the number of shares of Serias B Preferred held by the holder thar the
Corporation shall redeem on the Redemption Diage:

(i) the Redemption Date and the price the Corporation shall pay to the
holders of Series B Prefurred upod such redemption as delermined pursuant {0 Section €(g), as
applicable (the “Redempiion Price™); and

(i) that the holder is to surrender 1o the Corporation, in the manner and g
the place designared, his, her or its certificaie ar certificates representing the shares of Series B
Preferved to be redeemed.

() Redemption Mechanics. On any Redemption Date, the Corporation shall redeem such
number of shares of Series B Preferred sed forth in the Redemption Wetice. If on any Redemprion
Date the Corporation does not have sufficient fundy legally available to redeem such number of
shares of Series B Preferred set forth in the Redempticm Naotice, the Corporation shall redeem «
pro rata portion of each Series B Preferred holder's redeemable shares out of funds legally
wvailable therefior, based an the respective amounts which would otherwise be payable in respect
of such shares to be redeemed if the legally available funds were sufficient te redeem all such
shares, and shall redeem the remaining shares to have been redoemed as soon og practicable after
the Corporation has funds legally available thersefor.  The Corporation may delay or cancel any
redemption by providing notice of such deley or cancellation 10 gach balder of Scries B Preferred
that received & Redemption Notice in eonneerion with such redemption as promptly as practicable
following the determinasion by the Corporation to delay or cancel such redemption,

(d) ificates; - On or before the applicable Redemption Date, each
holder of shares of Series B Preferred to be redeemed cn such Redemption Date, unbess such
holder has exercised his, her or its right to convert such shares as provided in Section 5, shall
sumender the certificate or cenificates representing such shares to the Corporation, in the manner
and at the place designated in the Redemption Notice, and thereupan the Redemption Price for
such shares shall be payable to the order of the person whose mame appears on such certificats ar
certificates as the owner thercof, and each surrendered certificate shall be canceled and retired, In
the event less than all of the shares of Serjes B Preferred ropresented by a cenificate are




redeemed, & new certificate represemting the unredeemed shares of Series B Preferred zhall
promptly be izsned to such holder,

03] Rights Subsequent to Redemption. 1f the Redemption Notice shall have been duly given,
and i on the applicable Redemption Date the Redemption Price payable upon redemption of the
shares of Series B Preferred to be redeemed on such Redemption Date is paid or tendersd for
payment or deposited with an independent paymen! agent 5o as to be available therefor, then
notwithstanding that the certificates evidencing any of the shares of Series B Preferred so called
for redemption shall not have been surrendered, dividends with respect lo such shares of Series B
Preferred shall cease to accrue afler such Redemption Date and al] rights with respect 1o such
shares shall forthwith afier the Redemption Date terminate, except only the right of the holders to
receive the Redemption Prive without interest upon surrender of their certificate o certificates
therefor,

7. Pavment of Taxes. The Corporation shall pay all docwmentary, stamp, transfer and other
taxes (other than taxes on income of the holders of shares of Series B Freferred) and ather

eovernmental charges attributable o the issuance, delivery, conversion or redemption of shares of
Serivs B Preferred; provided, however, that the Corporation shall not be required to pay any taxes
payahle in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance o delivery of any certificate for such
shares in a name other than that of the holder of the shares of Series B Preferred in respect of
which such shares are being issued.

g Exolusion of {hher Rights. Except as may otherwise be requited by law, the shares of
Series B Preferred shall not have any preferences or relative, participating, optiotal or other
special rights, other than those specifically set forth herein, The shares of Serizs B Preferred shall

have no presmptive or subscription rights.

9 Severabilitv. If any right, preference or limitation of the Series B Preferred set forh
hierein is invalid, unlawful or incapable of heing enforced by reason of any rule of law or public
policy, all other rights, preferences and limitations set forth herein which can be given effect
without the invalid, unlawful or unenforceahle righi, prefirence or limitation shall, nevertheless,
remain in full force and effiect, and no right, preference or limitation herein set forth shall be
deemed dependent upon any other such right, preference or limitation unless so expressed herzin,

10. Status of Reacquired Shargs. Shares of Series B Preferred that have been issued and
reacquired in any manser shall (upon compliance with any applicable provisions of the laws of
the State of Delaware) have the status of authorized and unissued shares of Preferred Stock
issuable in series undesignated as to serics imd may be relesignated and reissued,

1L Waivers. The holders of Series B Preferred shell also be entitled to, and shall not be
deemed to have waived, any other applicable rights granted to such holders under the Delaware
General Corporation Law. Any of the rights of the holders of Series B Freferred set forth herein
may be waived by the affirmative consent or vote of the holders of at least a majority of the then
vutsianding shares of Series B Preferred, subject to applicable law,

12, Registration of Series B Convertible Preforred Stock. The Corporation shall register
shares of the Serbes B Freferred, upan records to be maintained by the Corporation for that
purposs (the “Serias B Preferred Register™), in the name of the record holders thereof fom time
to time. The Corporation may deem and treat the registered holder of shares of Series B Preferned
as the absolute owner thereof for the purpose of any distribution o such holder, and for all other
purposes, absent actual notice to the contrary.

]




13. Registration of Transfers. The Corporation shall register the transfer of any shares of
Series B Preferred in the Series B Preferred Register, upon surrender of certificates evidenzing
such Shares to the Corporation at its sddress specified herein. Upon any such registration or
transfer, & new certificate evidencing the shares of Series B Preferred so transferred shall be
issued to the transferee and a new certificate evidencing the remaining portion of the shares not so
transferred, if any, shall be issued o the translerming holder,

14. Replacement Certificates. IF amy certificare evidencing Series B Preferred is mitilated,
lost, stolen or destroyed, the Corporation shall issue or canse 1o be jssned in exchange and
substitution for and upon cancellation hereof, or in liey of and substitution for such certificate, a
new certificate, but only wpon receipt of an affidavit of loss and indemnity agreement reasonably
satisfactory to the Corporation evidencing such loss, theft or destruction and customary and
reascnable indemnity, if requested. Applicants for a new certificate under such circumstances
shall also comply with such other rezsonable repilations and procedures and pay such ather
reasonable third-party eosts as the Corporation may prescribe,

15, Reservation of Stock Issuable Upen Conversion. The Corporation shall at all times
rescrve and keep available out of its autharized but unissued shares of Comman Stoek | solely for
the purposes of effecting the conversion of the shares of Series B Preferred, such number of it
shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be sulficient to effect the conversion of all
suistanding shares of the Secies B Preferred; and if at &ny time the number of authorized but
unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient 1o effect the conversion of all then
outstanding shares of Series B Preferred, in addition to such other remedies as shall be available
to the holders of such Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take such COMparate Eclion &s may, in
the opinion of its counsel, be necsssAny 1o increass its authorized but unissued shares of Common
Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purposes, mcluding without
limitation, engaging in best efforts to obtain the requisite stockholder approval of any neCessary
amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation,

This Certificate shall become effective upon ihe filing thereof with the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware,

[signature page follows)
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The Corporation has caused this Amended Certificate of Designation to be duly executed
and acknowledged by its undersigned duly authorizad officers this 4 of December, 2009,

REED'S, INC,

By: o
Mame: CHe er J. Reed
Title:  Presidenin & Chief Executive Officer

Wit fo)

Judy Holloway Reed
Title:  Secretary
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FILED 12:55 FM 101022017
SR 10176550955 - Fik Number 3433903 CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
REED'S, INC,

Reed's, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), does hereby certify:

FIRST: That the Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly adopted reselutions (i)
authorizing the Corporation to execute and file with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware this Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation (this “Amendment”™) to
increase its authorized capital stock to Forty Million Five Hundred Thousand (40,500,000}, of
which Forty Million (40,000,000} shall be shares of Common Stock having a par value of $.0001
per share and Five Hundred Thousand (500,000) shall be shares of Preferred Stock having a par
value of $10.00 per share; and (ii) declaring this Amendment 1o be advisable, submited 1o and
considered by the stockholders of the Corporation entitled w vote thereon for approval by the
affirmative vote of such stockholders in accordance with the terms of the Corporation’s
Centificate of Incorporation, as previously amended (the “Cedificate of corporation™) and
Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL™) and
recommended for approval by the stockholders of the Corporation.

SECOND: That thereafter, pursuant to resolutions of its Board of Directors, at the annual
meeting of the stockholders of said Corporation, duly called and held upon notice in accordance
with Section 222 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the necessary number
of shares as required by statute were voted in favor of the Amendment.

THIRD: That this Amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the terms of the Certificate
of Incorporation and the provisions of Section 242 of the DGCL by the Board of Directors and
stockholders of the Corporation.

FOURTH: The Certificate of Incorporation is amended by amending Article IV thereof to read in
its entirety as follows:

The 1otal number of shares of capital stock which the Corporation is authorized 1o issue is Forty
Million Five Hundred Thousand (40,500,000}, of which Forty Million (40,000,000 shall be
shares of Commeoen Stock having a par value of $.0001 per share and Five Fundred Thousand
(500,000} shall be sharcs of Preferred Stock having a par value of $10.00 per share, The
Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors 15
hereby authorzed, subject to hmitations preseribed by law, to fix by resolution or resolutions the
designations, powers, preferences, and rights and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions
therecf, of each such series of Preferred Siock, including without limitation, authority to fix by
resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, rights
and terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemplion price or prices, and
liguidation preferences of any wholly unissued scries of Preferred Stock, and the number of
shares constituting such series and the designation thereof, or any of the foregoing. The Board of
Directors is further authorized to increase (but not above the total number of authorized shares of
the class) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of any such series then outstanding)




the number of shares of any senes, the number of which was fixed by it, subseguent to the issue
of shares of such series then |!I.|,[_'\-[‘_|\}||:].i'||i_'“ g.ilh_;c'{l 10 the POWETS, [Helerencas, s l?}__‘hl.‘(—' and the
qualifications, Hmitations, and. restrictions thereof stated in the resolution of the Board of
Directors originaliy fixmg the number of shares of such sencs.. 3f the number of shares of any
serien s so decreased. then the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the statas which
they had peior to the adoption of the resolation originally fixing the number of shares of such
HETTES

N OWITKESS WHEREOQFE, the Corporation has coused thiv Centificatz of Amendment of
Certificate of Incorporation 10 be sigred by the President of the Corporation on Cctober 9, 2047

REED'S, iNC

I A
By F"H(E/ éff/,-_: ?ﬁi’f_i

MName: Valentin Stalowir
Tule: President and Chief Executive Officer
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i s i CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
REED'S, INC.

 Reed's, Inc., a corpotation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Comeration

Law of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), docs hercby certify:

FIRST: That the Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly adopted resolutions (i) autharizing
the Corporation to execute and file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware this
Cerificate of Amendment of Centificate of Incomporation (this “Amendment™) 1o increase ils
authorized copiml stock to Seventy Million Five Hundred Thousand (70,500,000), of which
Seventy Million (70,000,000) shall be shares of Common Stock having o par value of 5.0001 per
share and Five Hundred Thousand (500,008) shall be shares of Preferred Stock having a par value

. of $10.00 per share; and (i) declsring this Amendment Lo be advisable, submitted o and
constdesed by the siockholders of the Comporation eafilled lo vole thereon for approval by the
affirmative vote ol such stockholders in accordance with the 1emns of the Corporation’s Cerlificale
of Incorporation, as previously amended (the “Certificale of lncorporation™) and Scclion 242 of
the General Corporstion Low of the State of Delaware (the “DHECL") and recommended for
approval by the stockholders of the Corposation.

SECOMD: That thereafier, pursuani to resalutions of its Board of Dircctors, at the anmual mecting
of the stockholders of said Corporation, duly called and held wpon notice in accordance with
Section 222 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the necessary number of
shares as required by statule were voled in favor of the Amendment,

THIRD: That thiz Amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the térms of the Certificate

of Incorporation snd the provisions of Seetion 242 of the DGCL by the Board of Dircctors and
stockholders of the Corparation.

FOURTH: The Certificate of Incorparation is amended by amending Article IV thereof to read in
its entirety as follows:

The edz] number of shares of capilal stock which the Corporation is euthorized {o issue is Seventy
Million Five Hundred Thousand (706,500,000), of which Seventy Million (70,000,000) shall be
shares of Common Stock having & par value of 50001 per shore and Five Hundred Thousand
(500,000 p shall be shanes of Preferred Sock hoving a par value of $10.00 per share, The Prefesed
Stock may be issued from time Lo time in one or more serics. The Board of Directors 15 herchy
authorized, subject o limitations prescribed by law, 1o fix by resolotion or resolutions the
designations, powers, preferences, and rights and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions
thereof, of each such series of Profesred Stock, including without limitation, suthority to fix by
resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend roie, conversion righls, voting rights, rights
and lerms of redemption (incleding sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, and
liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued series of Prefermed Stock, and the number of shares
constiluling such series and the designation thereof, or any of the forcgoing. The Doard of
Drirectors is further authorized te increase (but not sbove the tote] number of authosized shares of
the class) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of any such series then outsinnding) the




number of sharcs of any scrics, the number of which was fixed by il, subscquent to the issue of
shares of such serics (hen outstanding, subject 1o the powers, preferences, and rights and the
gualifications, limilations, and restrictions thercof stated in Lhe resolution of the Board of Direclors
originally fixing the number of shares of such series. [F the number of shares of any series 15 5o
decreased, then the sharos constituting such decrease shall resume (he stalus which they had prior
1o the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Cenificate of Amendment of
Centificate of Incorporation to be signed by the President of the Corporation on December 17,
2018,

REED'S, INC.

Mame: Valentin Stalowir R
Thle: President and Chief Executive Officer




State of Delawan:

Seeretary of Stale
Distsien of Corperations
LD bkt Aoty CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF
oo Bt CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF

REED'S, INC.

Reed’s, Inc., & corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), does hereby certify:

FIRST: That the Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly adoptad resolutions (i) authorizing
the Corporation to execute and file with the Secretary of State of the State of Defaware this
Centificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation {this “Amendment™) to increase its
authorized capital stock to One Hundred Million Five Hundred Thousand {100,500,000), of which
One Hundred Million { 100,000,000) shall be shares of Common Stock having a par value of 3.0001
per share and Five Hundred Thousand (5000007 shall be shares of Preferred Stock having a par
value of 510,00 per share; and (i) declaring this Amendment to be advisable, submitted to and
considered by the stockholders of the Corporation entitled 1o voie thereon for approval by the
affirmative vote of such stockholders in accordance with the terms of the Corporation’s Certificate
of Incorporation, as previously amended (the “Certificate of Incorporation™) and Section 242 of
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”™) and recommended for
approval by the stockholders of the Corporation.

SECOND: That thereafier, pursuant to resolutions of its Board of Directors, at the annual meeting
of the stockholders of said Corporation, duly called and held upon notice in accordance with
Section 222 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the necessary number of
shares as required by statuie were voted in favor of the Amendment.

THIRD: That this Amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the terms of the Certificate
of Incorporation and the provisions of Section 242 of the DGCL by the Board of Directors and
stockholders of the Corporation.

FOURTH: The Certificate of Incorporation is amended by amending Article IV thereof to read in
its entirety as follows:

The total number of shares of capital stock which the Corporation is authorized to issue is One
Hundred Million Five Hundred Thouwsand (100,500,000), of which One Hundred Willion
(100,000,000 shall be shares of Common Stock having a par value of 5.0001 per share and Five
Hundred Thousand (500,000) shall be sharcs of Preferred Stock having a par valuc of $10.00 per
share. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in ong or more series, The Board of
Directors is hereby authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by law, to fix by resolution or
resofutions the designations, powers, preferences, and rights and the qualifications, limitations, or
restrictions thereof, of each such series of Preferred Stock, including without limitation, authority
to fix by resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voling
rights, rights and terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemplion price or
prices, and liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued senies of Preferred Stock, and the
number of shares constituting such series and the designation thereof, or any of the foregoing. The
Board of Directors is further authorized to increase (but not above the total number of authorized
shares of the class) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of any such series then




outstanding) the number of shares of any series, the number of which was fixed by it, subsequent
io the issue of shares of such series then outstanding, subject to the powers, preferences, and righis
and the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions thereof stated in the resolution of the Board of
Direetors originally fixing the number of shares of sech series. If the number of shares of any
series is so decreased, then the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status which they
had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Corporation has caused this Certificate of Amendment of
Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation on
December 20, 2019,

REED'S, INC.

= A
B e
&

By: Thomas I. Spisak
Title: Chief Financial Officer




DocuSign Envelope I0: BESTC151-6CAS-051E-B34F-881B3DAISEDT

State of Delaware
Seeretary of State
Diwision of Corperations

ot e CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF
. s ot O CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
REED'S, INC.

Reed’s, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), does hereby certify:

FIRST: That the Board of Directors of the Corporation has duly adopted resclutions (i) authorizing
the Corporstion to execute and file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware this
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation (this “Amendment™) to increase its
authorized capital stock to One Hundred Twenty Million Five Hundred Thousand (120,500,000},
of which One Hundred Twenty Million {120,000,000) shall be shares of Common Stock having a
par value of $.0001 per share and Five Hundred Thousand (500,000 shall be shares of Preferred
Stock having a par value of $10.00 per share; and (ii) declaring this Amendment to be advisable,
submited 1o and considered by the stockholders of the Corporation entitled 1o vote thereon for
approval by the affirmative vote of such stockholders in accordance with the terms of the
Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, as previously amended (the “Centificate of
Incorporation™) and Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the
“DGCL) and recommended for approval by the stockholders of the Corporation.

SECOND: That thereafter, pursuant to resolutions of its Board of Directors, at the annual meeting
of the stockholders of said Corporation, duly called and held upon notice in accordance with
Section 222 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the necessary number of
shares as required by statute were voted in favor of the Amendment.

THIRD: That this Amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the terms of the Certificate
of Incorporation and the provisions of Section 242 of the DGCL by the Board of Directors and
stockholders of the Corporation,

FOURTH: The Certificate of Incorporation is amended by amending Article TV thereof to read in
its enfirety as follows:

The total number of shares of capital stock which the Corporation is authorized to issue is One
Hundred Twenty Million Five Hundred Thousand (120,500,000}, of which One Hundred Twenty
Million {120,000,000) shall be shares of Common Stock having a par value of $.000] per share
and Five Hundred Thousand (500,000) shall be sharcs of Preferred Stock having a par value of
$10.00 per share. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, The
Board of Directors is hereby authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by law, to fix by
resolution or resolutions the designations, powers, pn:&rmces, and rights and the qualifications,
limitations, or restrictions thereof, of each such series of Preferred Stock, ineluding without
limitation, authority to fix by resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend rate,

conversion rights, voling rights, rights and terms of redemption {including sinking fund
provisions), redemption price or prices, and liquidation preferences of any wholly unissued series
of Preferred Stock, and the number of shares constituting such series and the designation thereof,
or any of the foregoing. The Board of Directors is further authorized to increase (but not above the
total number of authorized shares of the class) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of
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any such series then outstanding) the number of shares of any series, the number of which was
fixed by it, subsequeni to the issue of shares of such series then outstanding, subject to the powers,
preferences, and rights and the gualifications, limitations, and restrictions thereof stated in the
resolution of the Board of Direclors originally fixing the number of shares of such series. If the
number of shares of any series is so decreased, then the shares conatituting such decrease shall
resume the status which they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the
number of shares of such serizs,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Certificate of Amendment of
Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation on
December 30, 2020.

REED'S, INC,

Desubigred iy

Thoomas ). Spisak

EDFSEAZIRMCF ..

By: Thomas J. Spisak
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 4.10

EXERCISABLE HAVE BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY
STATE IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OR PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THIS SECURITY AND THE
SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE OF THIS SECURITY MAY BE PLEDGED IN CONNECTION WITH A BONA FIDE MARGIN ACCOUNT OR
OTHER LOAN SECURED BY SUCH SECURITIES.

COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT
REEDS, INC.

Warrant Shares: 1,000,000 Initial Issuance Date: December 11, 2020
No. S-1

THIS COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT (the “Warrant™) certifies that, for value received, Raptor/Harbor Reeds SPV LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company or its assigns (the “Holder™) is entitled, upon the terms and subject to the limitations on exercise and the conditions hereinafter
set forth, at any time on or after the Initial Issuance Date (the “Initial Exercise Date”) and on or prior to the close of business on December 11, 2025 (the
“Termination Date”) but not thereafter, to subscribe for and purchase from Reeds, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), up to ONE MILLION
(1,000,000) shares (as subject to adjustment hereunder, the “Warrant Shares”) of Common Stock. The purchase price of one share of Common Stock under this
Warrant shall be equal to the Exercise Price, as defined in Section 2(b). This Warrant is issued pursuant to that certain Satisfaction, Settlement and Release of
Claims by and between the Holder and the Company dated December 11, 2020 (the “Satisfaction Agreement”).

Section 1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Satisfaction Agreement.

a) “Business Day” means any day except any Saturday, any Sunday, any day which is a federal legal holiday in the United States or any day on which
banking institutions in the State of New York are authorized or required by law or other governmental action to close.

b) “Commission” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
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<)

d

e)

2

h)

i)

k)

“Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share, and any other class of securities into which such securities
may hereafter be reclassified or changed.

“Common Stock Equivalents” means any securities of the Company or the Subsidiaries which would entitle the holder thereof to acquire at any time
Common Stock, including, without limitation, any debt, preferred stock, right, option, warrant or other instrument that is at any time convertible into
or exercisable or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles the holder thereof to receive, Common Stock.

“Person” means an individual or corporation, partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company,
joint stock company, government (or an agency or subdivision thereof) or other entity of any kind.

“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended or interpreted from time
to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission having substantially the same purpose and effect as such Rule.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Subsidiary” means any subsidiary of the Company as set forth in the SEC Reports, and shall, where applicable, also include any direct or indirect
subsidiary of the Company formed or acquired after the date hereof.

“Trading Day” means a day on which the principal Trading Market is open for trading.

“Trading Market” means any of the following markets or exchanges on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted for trading on the date in
question: the NYSE MKT, the Nasdaq Capital Market, the Nasdaq Global Market, the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the New York Stock Exchange,
OTCQB or OTCQX (or any successors to any of the foregoing).

“Transfer Agent” means Transfer Online, the current transfer agent of the Company, with a mailing address of 317 SW Alder St # 200, Portland,
Oregon 97204, and any successor transfer agent of the Company.




Section 2. Exercise.

a) Exercise of Warrant. Exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant may be made, in whole or in part, at any time or times on or
after the Initial Exercise Date and on or before the Termination Date by delivery to the Company (or such other office or agency of the Company as it
may designate by notice in writing to the registered Holder at the address of the Holder appearing on the books of the Company) of a duly executed and
completed facsimile copy (or e-mail attachment) of the Notice of Exercise in the form annexed hereto and, within three (3) Trading Days of the date of
said Notice of Exercise is delivered to the Company, payment of the aggregate Exercise Price of the shares thereby purchased by wire transfer or cashier’s
check drawn on a United States bank or, if available, pursuant to the cashless exercise procedure specified in Section 2(c) below is specified in the
applicable Notice of Exercise. No ink-original Notice of Exercise shall be required, nor shall any medallion guarantee (or other type of guarantee or
notarization) of any Notice of Exercise form be required. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Holder shall not be required to physically
surrender this Warrant to the Company until the Holder has purchased all of the Warrant Shares available hereunder and the Warrant has been exercised
in full, in which case, the Holder shall surrender this Warrant to the Company for cancellation within three (3) Trading Days of the date the final Notice of
Exercise is delivered to the Company. Partial exercises of this Warrant resulting in purchases of a portion of the total number of Warrant Shares available
hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the outstanding number of Warrant Shares purchasable hereunder in an amount equal to the applicable number
of Warrant Shares purchased. The Holder and the Company shall maintain records showing the number of Warrant Shares purchased and the date of such
purchases. The Company shall deliver any objection to any Notice of Exercise within two (2) Business Days of receipt of such notice. The Holder and any
assignee, by acceptance of this Warrant, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph, following the purchase of a portion of
the Warrant Shares hereunder, the number of Warrant Shares available for purchase hereunder at any given time may be less than the amount stated on
the face hereof.

b) Exercise Price. The exercise price per share of the Common Stock under this Warrant shall be $0.644, subject to adjustment hereunder (the
“Exercise Price”).

c) Cashless Exercise. This Warrant may also be exercised, in whole or in part, at such time by means of a “cashless exercise” in which the
Holder shall be entitled to receive a number of Warrant Shares equal to the quotient obtained by dividing [(A-B) (X)] by (A), where:

(A) = the last VWAP immediately preceding the time of delivery of the Notice of Exercise giving rise to the applicable “cashless exercise”, as
set forth in the applicable Notice of Exercise (to clarify, the “last VWAP” will be the last VWARP as calculated over an entire Trading
Day such that, in the event that this Warrant is exercised at a time that the Trading Market is open, the prior Trading Day’s VWAP shall
be used in this calculation);

(B) = the Exercise Price of this Warrant, as adjusted hereunder; and

(X) = the number of Warrant Shares that would be issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in accordance with the terms of this Warrant if such
exercise were by means of a cash exercise rather than a cashless exercise.

If Warrant Shares are issued in such a cashless exercise, the parties acknowledge and agree that in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the
Securities Act, the Warrant Shares shall take on the characteristics of the Warrants being exercised, and the holding period of the Warrant Shares being

issued may be tacked on to the holding period of this Warrant. The Company agrees not to take any position contrary to this Section 2(c).
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“VWAP” means, for any date, the price determined by the first of the following clauses that applies: (a) if the Common Stock is then listed or
quoted on a Trading Market, the daily volume weighted average price of the Common Stock for such date (or the nearest preceding date) on the Trading
Market on which the Common Stock is then listed or quoted as reported by Bloomberg L.P. (based on a Trading Day from 9:30 a.m. (New York City
time) to 4:02 p.m. (New York City time)), (b) if OTCQB or OTCQX is not a Trading Market, the volume weighted average price of the Common Stock
for such date (or the nearest preceding date) on OTCQB or OTCQX as applicable, (c) if the Common Stock is not then listed or quoted for trading on
OTCQB or OTCQX and if prices for the Common Stock are then reported in the “Pink Sheets” published by OTC Markets Group, Inc. (or a similar
organization or agency succeeding to its functions of reporting prices), the most recent bid price per share of the Common Stock so reported, or (d) in all
other cases, the fair market value of a share of Common Stock as determined by an independent appraiser selected in good faith by the Purchasers of a
majority in interest of the Securities then outstanding and reasonably acceptable to the Company, the fees and expenses of which shall be paid by the
Company.

d) Mechanics of Exercise.

i. Delivery of Warrant Shares Upon Exercise. The Company shall cause the Transfer Agent to transmit the Warrant Shares
purchased hereunder to the Holder by (a) crediting the account of the Holder’s or its designee’s balance account with The Depository
Trust Company through its Deposit or Withdrawal at Custodian system (“DWAC”) if the Company is then a participant in such system
and either (A) there is an effective registration statement permitting the issuance of the Warrant Shares to or resale of the Warrant
Shares by the Holder or (B) the Warrant Shares are eligible for resale by the Holder without volume or manner-of- sale limitations
pursuant to Rule 144 or (b) otherwise by physical delivery of a certificate, registered in the Company’s share register in the name of the
Holder or its designee, for the number of Warrant Shares to which the Holder is entitled pursuant to such exercise to the address
specified by the Holder in the Notice of Exercise by the date that is one (1) Trading Day after the delivery to the Company of the Notice
of Exercise (such date, the “Warrant Share Delivery Date”). For purposes of Rule 200 under Regulation SHO of the Securities Act, the
Warrant Shares shall be deemed to have been issued, and Holder shall be deemed for all such purposes to have become the holder of
record of the Warrant Shares with respect to which this Warrant has been exercised upon delivery of the Notice of Exercise,
irrespective of the date of delivery of the Warrant Shares; provided payment of the aggregate Exercise Price (other than in the case of a
Cashless Exercise) is received within three Trading Days of delivery of the Notice of Exercise. The Company agrees to maintain a
transfer agent that is a participant in the FAST Automated Securities Transfer program so long as this Warrant remains outstanding and
exercisable.




ii. Delivery of New Warrants Upon Exercise. If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall, at the
request of a Holder and upon surrender of this Warrant certificate, at the time of delivery of the Warrant Shares, deliver to the Holder a
new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to purchase the unpurchased Warrant Shares called for by this Warrant, which new
Warrant shall in all other respects be identical with this Warrant.

iii. Rescission Rights. If the Company fails to cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder the Warrant Shares pursuant
to Section 2(d)(i) by the Warrant Share Delivery Date, subject to receipt of the aggregate exercise price for the applicable exercise
(other than in the case of a Cashless Exercise), then the Holder will have the right to rescind such exercise.

iv. Compensation for Buy-In on Failure to Timely Deliver Warrant Shares Upon Exercise. If the Company fails to cause the
Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder the Warrant Shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 2(d)(i) above pursuant to an
exercise on or before the Warrant Share Delivery Date (subject to receipt of the aggregate Exercise Price for the applicable exercise
(other than in the case of a Cashless Exercise)), and if after such date the Holder is required by its broker to purchase (in an open
market transaction or otherwise) or the Holder’s brokerage firm otherwise purchases, shares of Common Stock to deliver in satisfaction
of a sale by the Holder of the Warrant Shares which the Holder anticipated receiving upon such exercise (a “Buy-In”), then the
Company shall (A) pay in cash to the Holder the amount, if any, by which (x) the Holder’s total purchase price (including brokerage
commissions, if any) for the shares of Common Stock so purchased exceeds (y) the amount obtained by multiplying (1) the number of
Warrant Shares that the Company was required to deliver to the Holder in connection with the exercise at issue times (2) the price at
which the sell order giving rise to such purchase obligation was executed, and (B) at the option of the Holder, either reinstate the
portion of the Warrant and equivalent number of Warrant Shares for which such exercise was not honored (in which case such exercise
shall be deemed rescinded) or deliver to the Holder the number of shares of Common Stock that would have been issued had the
Company timely complied with its exercise and delivery obligations hereunder. For example, if the Holder purchases Common Stock
having a total purchase price of $11,000 to cover a Buy- In with respect to an attempted exercise of shares of Common Stock with an
aggregate sale price giving rise to such purchase obligation of $10,000, under clause (A) of the immediately preceding sentence the
Company shall be required to pay the Holder $1,000. The Holder shall provide the Company written notice indicating the amounts
payable to the Holder in respect of the Buy-In and, upon request of the Company, evidence of the amount of such loss. Nothing herein
shall limit a Holder’s right to pursue any other remedies available to it hereunder, at law or in equity including, without limitation, a
decree of specific performance and/or injunctive relief with respect to the Company’s failure to timely deliver shares of Common Stock
upon exercise of the Warrant as required pursuant to the terms hereof.
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v. No Fractional Shares or Scrip. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon the exercise
of this Warrant. As to any fraction of a share which the Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such exercise, the
Company shall, at its election, either pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction
multiplied by the Exercise Price or round up to the next whole share.

vi. Charges. Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of Warrant Shares shall be made without charge to the Holder for any issue or
transfer tax or other incidental expense in respect of the issuance of such Warrant Shares, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid
by the Company, and such Warrant Shares shall be issued in the name of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by
the Holder; provided, however, that in the event that Warrant Shares are to be issued in a name other than the name of the Holder, this
Warrant when surrendered for exercise shall be accompanied by the Assignment Form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder and
the Company may require, as a condition thereto, the payment of a sum sufficient to reimburse it for any transfer tax incidental thereto.
The Company shall pay all Transfer Agent fees required for same-day processing of any Notice of Exercise and all fees to the
Depository Trust Company (or another established clearing corporation performing similar functions) required for same-day electronic
delivery of the Warrant Shares.

vii. Closing of Books. The Company will not close its stockholder books or records in any manner which prevents the timely
exercise of this Warrant, pursuant to the terms hereof.

Section 3. Certain Adjustments.

a) Stock Dividends and Splits. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding: (i) pays a stock dividend or otherwise makes a
distribution or distributions on shares of its Common Stock or any other equity or equity equivalent securities payable in shares of Common Stock (which,
for avoidance of doubt, shall not include any shares of Common Stock issued by the Company upon exercise of this Warrant), (ii) subdivides outstanding
shares of Common Stock into a larger number of shares, (iii) combines (including by way of reverse stock split) outstanding shares of Common Stock into
a smaller number of shares or (iv) issues by reclassification of shares of the Common Stock any shares of capital stock of the Company, then in each case
the Exercise Price shall be multiplied by a fraction of which the numerator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock (excluding treasury shares, if
any) outstanding immediately before such event and of which the denominator shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately
after such event, and the number of shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be proportionately adjusted such that the aggregate Exercise Price
of this Warrant shall remain unchanged. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 3(a) shall become effective immediately after the record date for
the determination of stockholders entitled to receive such dividend or distribution and shall become effective immediately after the effective date in the
case of a subdivision, combination or re-classification.




b) [RESERVED]

¢) Subsequent Rights Offerings. In addition to any adjustments pursuant to Section 3(a) above, if at any time the Company grants, issues or sells
any Common Stock Equivalents or rights to purchase stock, warrants, securities or other property pro rata to all the record holders of any class of shares
of Common Stock (the “Purchase Rights”), then the Holder will be entitled to acquire, upon the terms applicable to such Purchase Rights, the aggregate
Purchase Rights which the Holder could have acquired if the Holder had held the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon complete exercise
of this Warrant (without regard to any limitations on exercise hereof, including without limitation, the Beneficial Ownership Limitation) immediately
before the date on which a record is taken for the grant, issuance or sale of such Purchase Rights, or, if no such record is taken, the date as of which the
record holders of shares of Common Stock are to be determined for the grant, issue or sale of such Purchase Rights (provided, however, to the extent that
the Holder’s right to participate in any such Purchase Right would result in the Holder exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation, then the Holder
shall not be entitled to participate in such Purchase Right to such extent (or beneficial ownership of such shares of Common Stock as a result of such
Purchase Right to such extent) and such Purchase Right to such extent shall be held in abeyance for the Holder until such time, if ever, as its right thereto
would not result in the Holder exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation).

d) Pro Rata Distributions. During such time as this Warrant is outstanding, if the Company shall declare or make any dividend or other
distribution of its assets (or rights to acquire its assets) to holders of shares of Common Stock as a class, by way of return of capital or otherwise
(including, without limitation, any distribution of cash, stock or other securities, property or options by way of a dividend, spin off, reclassification,
corporate rearrangement, scheme of arrangement or other similar transaction) (a “Distribution™), at any time after the issuance of this Warrant, then, in
each such case, the Holder shall be entitled to participate in such Distribution to the same extent that the Holder would have participated therein if the
Holder had held the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon complete exercise of this Warrant (without regard to any limitations on exercise
hereof, including without limitation, the Beneficial Ownership Limitation) immediately before the date of which a record is taken for such Distribution,
or, if no such record is taken, the date as of which the record holders of shares of Common Stock are to be determined for the participation in such
Distribution (provided, however, to the extent that the Holder’s right to participate in any such Distribution would result in the Holder exceeding the
Beneficial Ownership Limitation, then the Holder shall not be entitled to participate in such Distribution to such extent (or in the beneficial ownership of
any shares of Common Stock as a result of such Distribution to such extent) and the portion of such Distribution shall be held in abeyance for the benefit
of the Holder until such time, if ever, as its right thereto would not result in the Holder exceeding the Beneficial Ownership Limitation). To the extent that
this Warrant has not been partially or completely exercised at the time of such Distribution, such portion of the Distribution shall be held in abeyance for
the benefit of the Holder until the Holder has exercised this Warrant.




¢) Fundamental Transaction. If, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, (i) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related
transactions effects any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another Person, (ii) the Company, directly or indirectly, effects any sale,
lease, license, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of its assets in one or a series of related transactions, (iii)
any, direct or indirect, purchase offer, tender offer or exchange offer (whether by the Company or another Person) is completed pursuant to which holders
of Common Stock are permitted to sell, tender or exchange their shares for other securities, cash or property and has been accepted by the holders of 50%
or more of the outstanding Common Stock, (iv) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions effects any reclassification,
reorganization or recapitalization of the Common Stock or any compulsory share exchange pursuant to which the Common Stock is effectively converted
into or exchanged for other securities, cash or property, or (v) the Company, directly or indirectly, in one or more related transactions consummates a
stock or share purchase agreement or other business combination (including, without limitation, a reorganization, recapitalization, spin-off or scheme of
arrangement) with another Person or group of Persons whereby such other Person or group acquires more than 50% of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock (not including any shares of Common Stock held by the other Person or other Persons making or party to, or associated or affiliated with the other
Persons making or party to, such stock or share purchase agreement or other business combination) (each a “Fundamental Transaction”), then, upon any
subsequent exercise of this Warrant, the Holder shall have the right to receive, for each Warrant Share that would have been issuable upon such exercise
immediately prior to the occurrence of such Fundamental Transaction, at the option of the Holder, the number of shares of Common Stock of the
successor or acquiring corporation or of the Company, if it is the surviving corporation, and any additional consideration (the “Alternate Consideration™)
receivable as a result of such Fundamental Transaction by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is exercisable
immediately prior to such Fundamental Transaction. For purposes of any such exercise, the determination of the Exercise Price shall be appropriately
adjusted to apply to such Alternate Consideration based on the amount of Alternate Consideration issuable in respect of one share of Common Stock in
such Fundamental Transaction, and the Company shall apportion the Exercise Price among the Alternate Consideration in a reasonable manner reflecting
the relative value of any different components of the Alternate Consideration. If holders of Common Stock are given any choice as to the securities, cash
or property to be received in a Fundamental Transaction, then the Holder shall be given the same choice as to the Alternate Consideration it receives upon
any exercise of this Warrant following such Fundamental Transaction. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, in the event of a Fundamental
Transaction (other than a Fundamental Transaction not approved by the Company’s Board of Directors) the Company or any Successor Entity (as defined
below) shall, at the Holder’s option, exercisable at any time concurrently with, or within 30 days after, the consummation of the Fundamental Transaction
(or, if later, the date of the public announcement of the applicable Fundamental Transaction), purchase this Warrant from the Holder by paying to the
Holder an amount of cash equal to the Black Scholes Value of the remaining unexercised portion of this Warrant on the date of the consummation of such
Fundamental Transaction; provided, however, that for the avoidance of doubt, if the Fundamental Transaction is not approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors, Holder shall not have the option to require the Company to purchase this Warrant. “Black Scholes Value” means the value of this Warrant
based on the Black and Scholes Option Pricing Model obtained from the “OV” function on Bloomberg, L.P. (“Bloomberg”) determined as of the day of
consummation of the applicable Fundamental Transaction for pricing purposes and reflecting (A) a risk-free interest rate corresponding to the U.S.
Treasury rate for a period equal to the time between the date of the public announcement of the applicable Fundamental Transaction and the Termination
Date, (B) an expected volatility equal to the greater of 100% and the 100 day volatility obtained from the HVT function on Bloomberg as of the Trading
Day immediately following the public announcement of the applicable Fundamental Transaction, (C) the underlying price per share used in such
calculation shall be the sum of the price per share being offered in cash, if any, plus the value of any non- cash consideration, if any, being offered in such
Fundamental Transaction and (D) a remaining option time equal to the time between the date of the public announcement of the applicable Fundamental
Transaction and the Termination Date. The payment of the Black Scholes Value will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds within five
Business Days of the Holder’s election (or, if later, on the effective date of the Fundamental Transaction). The Company shall cause any successor entity
in a Fundamental Transaction in which the Company is not the survivor (the “Successor Entity”) to assume in writing all of the obligations of the
Company under this Warrant and the other Transaction Documents in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3(e) pursuant to written agreements
in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Holder and approved by the Holder (without unreasonable delay) prior to such Fundamental
Transaction and shall, at the option of the Holder, deliver to the Holder in exchange for this Warrant a security of the Successor Entity evidenced by a
written instrument substantially similar in form and substance to this Warrant which is exercisable for a corresponding number of shares of capital stock
of such Successor Entity (or its parent entity) equivalent to the shares of Common Stock acquirable and receivable upon exercise of this Warrant (without
regard to any limitations on the exercise of this Warrant) prior to such Fundamental Transaction, and with an exercise price which applies the exercise
price hereunder to such shares of capital stock (but taking into account the relative value of the shares of Common Stock pursuant to such Fundamental
Transaction and the value of such shares of capital stock, such number of shares of capital stock and such exercise price being for the purpose of
protecting the economic value of this Warrant immediately prior to the consummation of such Fundamental Transaction), and which is reasonably
satisfactory in form and substance to the Holder. Upon the occurrence of any such Fundamental Transaction, the Successor Entity shall succeed to, and be
substituted for, the Company (so that from and after the date of such Fundamental Transaction, the provisions of this Warrant and the other Transaction
Documents referring to the “Company” shall refer instead to the Successor Entity), and the Successor Entity may exercise every right and power of the
Company and shall assume all of the obligations of the Company under this Warrant and the other Transaction Documents with the same effect as if such
Successor Entity had been named as the Company herein. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Warrant, and without limiting the
buy-in provision in Section 2(d)(iv), in the event that the Company does not have an effective registration statement registering, or the prospectus
contained therein is not available for the issuance of, the Warrant Shares to the Holder, there is no circumstance that would require the Company to net
cash settle the Warrant.




f) Calculations. All calculations under this Section 3 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest 1/100th of a share, as the case may be. For
purposes of this Section 3, the number of shares of Common Stock deemed to be issued and outstanding as of a given date shall be the sum of the number
of shares of Common Stock (excluding treasury shares, if any) issued and outstanding.

) Notice to Holder.

i. Adjustment to Exercise Price. Whenever the Exercise Price is adjusted pursuant to any provision of this Section 3, the
Company shall promptly deliver to the Holder by facsimile or email a notice setting forth the Exercise Price after such adjustment and
any resulting adjustment to the number of Warrant Shares and setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment.

ii. Notice to Allow Exercise by Holder. If (A) the Company shall declare a dividend (or any other distribution in whatever
form) on the Common Stock, (B) the Company shall declare a special nonrecurring cash dividend on or a redemption of the Common
Stock, (C) the Company shall authorize the granting to all holders of the Common Stock rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase
any shares of capital stock of any class or of any rights, (D) the approval of any stockholders of the Company shall be required in
connection with any reclassification of the Common Stock, any consolidation or merger to which the Company is a party, any sale or
transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or any compulsory share exchange whereby the Common Stock is
converted into other securities, cash or property, or (E) the Company shall authorize the voluntary or involuntary dissolution,
liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Company, then, in each case, the Company shall cause to be delivered by facsimile or
email to the Holder at its last facsimile number or email address as it shall appear upon the Warrant Register of the Company, at least
30 calendar days prior to the applicable record or effective date hereinafter specified, a notice stating (x) the date on which a record is
to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution, redemption, rights or warrants, or if a record is not to be taken, the date as of
which the holders of the Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distributions, redemption, rights or warrants are to be
determined or (y) the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer or share exchange is expected to become
effective or close, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of the Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their
shares of the Common Stock for securities, cash or other property deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale,
transfer or share exchange; provided that the failure to deliver such notice or any defect therein or in the delivery thereof shall not affect
the validity of the corporate action required to be specified in such notice. To the extent that any notice provided in this Warrant
constitutes, or contains, material, non-public information regarding the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, the Company shall
simultaneously file such notice with the Commission pursuant to a Current Report on Form 8-K. The Holder shall remain entitled to
exercise this Warrant during the period commencing on the date of such notice to the effective date of the event triggering such notice
except as may otherwise be expressly set forth herein.
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Section 4. Transfer of Warrant.

a) Transferability. Subject to compliance with any applicable securities laws and the conditions set forth in Section 4(d) hereof and to the
provisions of Sections 4(f), 4(g) and 4(h) hereof, this Warrant and all rights hereunder (including, without limitation, any registration rights) are
transferable, in whole or in part, upon surrender of this Warrant at the principal office of the Company or its designated agent, together with a written
assignment of this Warrant substantially in the form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney and funds sufficient to pay any
transfer taxes payable upon the making of such transfer. Upon such surrender and, if required, such payment, the Company shall execute and deliver a
new Warrant or Warrants in the name of the assignee or assignees, as applicable, and in the denomination or denominations specified in such instrument
of assignment, and shall issue to the assignor a new Warrant evidencing the portion of this Warrant not so assigned, and this Warrant shall promptly be
cancelled. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Holder shall not be required to physically surrender this Warrant to the Company unless
the Holder has assigned this Warrant in full, in which case, the Holder shall surrender this Warrant to the Company within three (3) Trading Days of the
date the Holder delivers an assignment form to the Company assigning this Warrant full. The Warrant, if properly assigned in accordance herewith, may
be exercised by a new holder for the purchase of Warrant Shares without having a new Warrant issued.

b) New Warrants. This Warrant may be divided or combined with other Warrants upon presentation hereof at the aforesaid office of the
Company, together with a written notice specifying the names and denominations in which new Warrants are to be issued, signed by the Holder or its
agent or attorney. Subject to compliance with Section 4(a), as to any transfer which may be involved in such division or combination, the Company shall
execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in exchange for the Warrant or Warrants to be divided or combined in accordance with such notice. All
Warrants issued on transfers or exchanges shall be dated the original issuance date and shall be identical with this Warrant except as to the number of
Warrant Shares issuable pursuant thereto.
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c) Warrant Register. The Company shall register this Warrant, upon records to be maintained by the Company for that purpose (the “Warrant
Register”), in the name of the record Holder hereof from time to time. The Company may deem and treat the registered Holder of this Warrant as the
absolute owner hereof for the purpose of any exercise hereof or any distribution to the Holder, and for all other purposes, absent actual notice to the
contrary.

d) Transfer Restrictions. If, at the time of the surrender of this Warrant in connection with any transfer of this Warrant, the transfer of this
Warrant shall not be either (i) registered pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and under applicable state securities or
blue sky laws or (ii) eligible for resale without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions or current public information requirements pursuant to Rule 144, the
Company may require, as a condition of allowing such transfer, that the Holder or transferee of this Warrant, as the case may be, comply with the
provisions of Sections 4(f), 4(g) and 4(h) hereof.

¢) Representation by the Holder. The Holder, by the acceptance hereof, represents and warrants that it is acquiring this Warrant and, upon any
exercise hereof, will acquire the Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise, for its own account and not with a view to or for distributing or reselling
such Warrant Shares or any part thereof in violation of the Securities Act or any applicable state securities law, except pursuant to sales registered or
exempted under the Securities Act.

f) The Warrant Shares may only be disposed of in compliance with state and federal securities laws. In connection with any transfer of Warrant
Shares other than pursuant to an effective registration statement or Rule 144, to the Company or to an affiliate of Holder, the Company shall, upon the
request of the transferor and at the expense of the Company, provide an opinion of counsel selected by the transferor and reasonably acceptable to the
Company effect that registration of such Warrant Shares shall not be required under the Securities Act. As a condition of transfer, in the event that such
transfer is not made (i) in accordance with Rule 144, (ii) pursuant to an effective registration statement or (iii) in a transfer not involving a change in
beneficial ownership, any such transferee shall agree in writing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement and the Registration Rights Agreement;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the other provisions of this sentence, if the transfer does not satisfy parts (i) and (ii) of this sentence but satisfies
part (iii) of this sentence, the transferee shall agree in writing to be bound by the terms of this Warrant and the Registration Rights Agreement. If such
conditions are satisfied, such transferee shall have the rights and obligations of the Holder under this Warrant and the Registration Rights Agreement

11




g) Certificates evidencing the Warrant Shares shall not contain any legend (i) if sold pursuant to a registration statement covering the resale of
such security that is effective under the Securities Act, (ii) in connection with a sale, assignment or other transfer, in which a holder of the Warrant Shares
provides the Company with an opinion of counsel, the form and substance of which opinion shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company, that the sale,
assignment or transfer of the Warrant Shares may be made without registration under the applicable requirements of the Securities Act, (iii) following any
sale of such Warrant Shares pursuant to Rule 144, (iv) if such Warrant Shares are eligible for sale under Rule 144, without the requirement for the
Company to be in compliance with the current public information required under Rule 144 as to such Warrant Shares and without volume or manner-of-
sale restrictions, or (v) if such legend is not required under applicable requirements of the Securities Act (including judicial interpretations and
pronouncements issued by the staff of the Commission). The Company shall cause its counsel to issue a legal opinion to the Transfer Agent promptly
after the Effective Date (but no later than 3 Business Days after the Effective Date) if required by the Transfer Agent to effect the removal of the legend in
accordance with the provisions of this Warrant, at Company’s expense. If all or any portion of this Warrant is exercised at a time when there is an
effective registration statement to cover the resale of the Warrant Shares, or if such Warrant Shares may be sold under Rule 144 and the Company is then
in compliance with the current public information required under Rule 144, or if the Warrant Shares may be sold under Rule 144 without the requirement
for the Company to be in compliance with the current public information required under Rule 144 as to such Warrant Shares or if such legend is not
otherwise required under applicable requirements of the Securities Act (including judicial interpretations and pronouncements issued by the staff of the
Commission) then such Warrant Shares shall be issued free of all legends. The Company agrees that following the Effective Date or at such time as such
legend is no longer required, it will, no later than three (3) Trading Days following the delivery by the Holder to the Company or the Transfer Agent of a
certificate representing Warrant Shares, as the case may be, issued with a restrictive legend (such third Trading Day, the “Legend Removal Date”), deliver
or cause to be delivered to such Purchaser a certificate representing such shares that is free from all restrictive and other legends. The Company may not
make any notation on its records or give instructions to the Transfer Agent that enlarge the restrictions on transfer set forth in this Section 4. Certificates
for Warrant Shares subject to legend removal hereunder shall be transmitted by the Transfer Agent to the Purchaser by crediting the account of the
Holder’s prime broker with the Depository Trust Company System as directed by the Holder.

h) Holder agrees with the Company that such Holder will sell any Warrant Shares pursuant to either the registration requirements of the
Securities Act, including any applicable prospectus delivery requirements, or an exemption therefrom, and that if Warrant Shares are sold pursuant to a
registration statement, they will be sold in compliance with the plan of distribution set forth therein, and acknowledges that the removal of any restrictive
legend from certificates representing Warrant Shares is predicated upon the Company’s reliance upon this understanding.

Section 5. Miscellaneous.

a) No Rights as Stockholder Until Exercise. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting rights, dividends or other rights as a
stockholder of the Company prior to the exercise hereof as set forth in Section 2(d)(i), except as expressly set forth in Section 3.
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b) Loss, Theft. Destruction or Mutilation of Warrant. The Company covenants that upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably
satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant or any stock certificate relating to the Warrant Shares, and in case of loss, theft
or destruction, of indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to it (which, in the case of the Warrant, shall not include the posting of any bond), and
upon surrender and cancellation of such Warrant or stock certificate, if mutilated, the Company will make and deliver a new Warrant or stock certificate
of like tenor and dated as of such cancellation, in lieu of such Warrant or stock certificate.

c¢) Saturdays. Sundays, Holidays. etc. If the last or appointed day for the taking of any action or the expiration of any right required or granted
herein shall not be a Business Day, then, such action may be taken or such right may be exercised on the next succeeding Business Day.

d) Authorized Shares.

The Company covenants that it has reserved and, during the period the Warrant is outstanding, it will reserve and keep available at all
times, its authorized and unissued Common Stock, free of preemptive rights, a sufficient number of shares to provide for the issuance of the
Warrant Shares upon the exercise of this Warrant. If at any time the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be
sufficient to effect the conversion of the Warrants, the Company shall take such corporate act as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary
to increase its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock to such number as shall be sufficient for such purposes. The Company further
covenants that its issuance of this Warrant shall constitute full authority to its officers who are charged with the duty of issuing the necessary
Warrant Shares upon the exercise of the purchase rights under this Warrant. The Company will take all such reasonable action as may be
necessary to assure that such Warrant Shares may be issued as provided herein without violation of any applicable law or regulation, or of any
requirements of the Trading Market upon which the Common Stock may be listed. The Company covenants that all Warrant Shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant will, upon exercise of the purchase rights represented by this
Warrant and payment for such Warrant Shares in accordance herewith, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free
from all taxes, liens and charges created by the Company in respect of the issue thereof (other than taxes in respect of any transfer occurring
contemporaneously with such issue).

Except and to the extent as waived or consented to by the Holder, the Company shall not by any action, including, without limitation,
amending its articles of incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of
securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, but will at all
times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of all such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to protect
the rights of Holder as set forth in this Warrant against impairment. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company will (i) not
increase the par value of any Warrant Shares above the amount payable therefor upon such exercise immediately prior to such increase in par
value, (ii) take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and
nonassessable Warrant Shares upon the exercise of this Warrant and (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all such authorizations,
exemptions or consents from any public regulatory body having jurisdiction thereof, as may be, necessary to enable the Company to perform its
obligations under this Warrant.
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Before taking any action which would result in an adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is exercisable or
in the Exercise Price, the Company shall obtain all such authorizations or exemptions thereof, or consents thereto, as may be necessary from any
public regulatory body or bodies having jurisdiction thereof.

¢) Jurisdiction. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Warrant shall be governed by and
construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, without regard to the principles of conflicts of law thereof. Each
party agrees that all legal proceedings concerning the interpretations, enforcement and defense of the transactions contemplated by this Warrant (whether
brought against a party hereto or its respective affiliates, directors, officers, shareholders, partners, members, employees or agents) shall be commenced
exclusively in the state and federal courts sitting in the City of New York. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state
and federal courts sitting in the City of New York, Borough of Manhattan for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with
any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein (including with respect to the enforcement of any of the Warrant), and hereby irrevocably
waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, that such
suit, action or proceeding is improper or is an inconvenient venue for such proceeding. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process
and consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof via registered or certified mail or overnight delivery
(with evidence of delivery) to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under this Warrant and agrees that such service shall constitute good and
sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any other
manner permitted by law. If either party shall commence an action or proceeding to enforce any provisions of the Warrant, then the prevailing party in
such action, suit or proceeding shall be reimbursed by the other party for its reasonable attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred with the
investigation, preparation and prosecution of such action or proceeding.

f) Restrictions. The Holder acknowledges that the Warrant Shares acquired upon the exercise of this Warrant, if not registered, will have
restrictions upon resale imposed by state and federal securities laws.

14




g) Nonwaiver and Expenses. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of Holder shall operate as a
waiver of such right or otherwise prejudice the Holder’s rights, powers or remedies, notwithstanding the fact that all rights hereunder terminate on the
Termination Date. If the Company willfully and knowingly fails to comply with any provision of this Warrant, which results in any material damages to
the Holder, the Company shall pay to the Holder such amounts as shall be sufficient to cover any costs and expenses including, but not limited to,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by the Holder in collecting any amounts due pursuant hereto or in otherwise
enforcing any of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.

h) Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be provided hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed given and effective on the earliest of: (a) the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered via facsimile or e-mail at
the facsimile number or e-mail address set forth on the signature pages attached hereto at or prior to 5:30 p.m. (New York City time) on a ***Trading
Day, (b) the next Trading Day after the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered via facsimile or e-mail at the facsimile number
or e-mail address set forth on the signature pages attached hereto on a day that is not a Trading Day or later than 5:30 p.m. (New York City time) on any
Trading Day, (c) the second (2“d) Trading Day following the date of mailing, if sent by U.S. nationally recognized overnight courier service or (d) upon
actual receipt by the party to whom such notice is required to be given. The address for such notices and communications shall be as set forth on the
signature pages attached hereto. To the extent that any notice provided pursuant to any Transaction Document constitutes, or contains, material, non-
public information regarding the Company or any Subsidiaries, the Company shall simultaneously file such notice with the Commission pursuant to a
Current Report on Form 8-K.

i) Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of any affirmative action by the Holder to exercise this Warrant to purchase
Warrant Shares, and no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of the Holder, shall give rise to any liability of the Holder for the purchase price of
any Common Stock or as a stockholder of the Company, whether such liability is asserted by the Company or by creditors of the Company.

j) Remedies. The Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law, including recovery of damages, will be entitled to
specific performance of its rights under this Warrant. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss
incurred by reason of a breach by it of the provisions of this Warrant and hereby agrees to waive and not to assert the defense in any action for specific
performance that a remedy at law would be adequate.

k) Successors and Assigns. Subject to applicable securities laws, this Warrant and the rights and obligations evidenced hereby shall inure to the
benefit of and be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of the Company and the successors and permitted assigns of Holder. The provisions
of this Warrant are intended to be for the benefit of any Holder from time to time of this Warrant and shall be enforceable by the Holder or holder of
Warrant Shares.
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1) Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions hereof waived with the written consent of the Company and each
Holder.

m) Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under
applicable law, but if any provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent
of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provisions or the remaining provisions of this Warrant.

n) Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be deemed a part of this
Warrant.

0) Acceptance. Receipt of this Warrant by the Holder shall constitute acceptance of and agreement to all of the terms and conditions contained
herein.

p) Governing Law. This Warrant shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and all questions concerning the construction, validity,
interpretation and performance of this Warrant shall be governed by, the internal laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of
law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdictions) that would cause the application of the laws of any
jurisdictions other than the State of New York. The Company hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts
sitting in The City of New York, Borough of Manhattan, for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction
contemplated hereby or discussed herein, and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not
personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, that such suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of such
suit, action or proceeding is improper. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any manner permitted
by law. In the event that any provision of this Warrant is invalid or unenforceable under any applicable statute or rule of law, then such provision shall be
deemed inoperative to the extent that it may conflict therewith and shall be deemed modified to conform with such statute or rule of law. Any such
provision which may prove invalid or unenforceable under any law shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Warrant.
Nothing contained herein shall be deemed or operate to preclude the Holder from bringing suit or taking other legal action against the Company in any
other jurisdiction to collect on the Company’s obligations to the Holder to realize on any collateral or any other security for such obligations or to enforce
a judgment or other court ruling in favor of the Holder. THE COMPANY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO,
AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION
WITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS WARRANT OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

sfe 3t she 3t she sfe e sfe s she st she sfeske sfe sk sk sk

(Signature Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date first
above indicated.

REEDS, INC.
By:

Name: Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Title:  Chief Executive Officer
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NOTICE OF EXERCISE
TO:  REEDS, INC.

(1) The undersigned hereby elects to purchase Warrant Shares of the Company pursuant to the terms of the attached Warrant
(only if exercised in full), and tenders herewith payment of the exercise price in full, together with all applicable transfer taxes, if any.

(2) Payment shall take the form of (check applicable box):
[ ]in lawful money of the United States; or
[ ] [if permitted the cancellation of such number of Warrant Shares as is necessary, in accordance with the formula set forth in subsection
2(c), to exercise this Warrant with respect to the maximum number of Warrant Shares purchasable pursuant to the cashless exercise

procedure set forth in subsection 2(c).

(3) Please issue said Warrant Shares in the name of the undersigned or in such other name as is specified below:

The Warrant Shares shall be delivered to the following DWAC Account Number:

(4) Accredited Investor. The undersigned is an “accredited investor” as defined in Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended.

[SIGNATURE OF HOLDER]

Name of Investing Entity:
Signature of Authorized Signatory of Investing Entity:
Name of Authorized Signatory:
Title of Authorized Signatory:
Date:




(To assign the foregoing Warrant, execute this form and supply required information. Do not use this form to purchase shares.)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the foregoing Warrant and all rights evidenced thereby are hereby assigned to

Name:

Address:

Phone Number:

Email Address:

Dated:

Holder’s Signature:

Holder’s Address:

ASSIGNMENT FORM

EXHIBIT B

(Please Print)

(Please Print)




Exhibit 4(vi)

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of December 31, 2020, Reed’s, Inc.’s (“Reed’s,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us”) common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock™) was
registered under Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the
symbol “REED”.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following is a summary of the material terms of our common stock. This summary does not purport to be exhaustive and is qualified in its entirety by
reference to our certificate of incorporation, as amended (“Certificate”) and our amended and restated bylaws, as further amended (“Bylaws”) and to the applicable
provisions of Delaware law.

We are authorized to issue 120,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value. Holders of common stock are each entitled to cast one vote for each
share held of record on all matters presented to shareholders. Cumulative voting is not authorized; the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of common
stock may elect all directors. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by our board out of funds legally available and, in
the event of liquidation, to share pro rata in any distribution of our assets after payment of liabilities. Our directors are not obligated to declare a dividend. It is not
anticipated that dividends will be paid in the foreseeable future. Holders of common stock do not have preemptive rights to subscribe to any additional shares we
may issue in the future. There are no conversion, redemption, sinking fund or similar provisions regarding the common stock. All outstanding shares of common
stock are fully paid and nonassessable.

As of December 31, 2020, we had 86,317,096 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Certificate and Bylaws

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), an anti-takeover law. Subject to certain
exceptions, the statute prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of
three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder unless:

e prior to such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder;

e upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least
85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of
shares outstanding those shares owned (1) by persons who are directors and also officers and (2) by employee stock plans in which employee participants
do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

e on or after such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and
not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

For purposes of Section 203, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder, and an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to the date of determination
whether the person is an “Interested Stockholder” did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s voting stock.

In addition, our authorized but unissued shares of common stock are available for our board to issue without stockholder approval. We may use these
additional shares for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public or private offerings to raise additional capital, corporate acquisitions and employee
benefit plans. The existence of our authorized but unissued shares of common stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of our
company by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or other transaction. Our authorized but unissued shares may be used to delay, defer or prevent a tender
offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the
shares held by our stockholders. The board of directors is also authorized to adopt, amend or repeal our Bylaws (provided, however, that no such adoption,
amendment, or repeal shall be valid with respect to bylaw provisions which have been adopted, amended, or repealed by the stockholders; and further provided,
that bylaw provisions adopted or amended by the board of directors and any powers thereby conferred may be amended, altered, or repealed by the stockholders)
which could delay, defer or prevent a change in control.




We are subject to the laws of Delaware on corporate matters, including their indemnification provisions. Section 102 of the DGCL permits a corporation
to eliminate the personal liability of directors of a corporation to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of fiduciary duty as a
director, except where the director breached his duty of loyalty, failed to act in good faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law,
authorized the payment of a dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of Delaware corporate law or obtained an improper personal benefit.

Section 145 of the DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, provides that a Delaware corporation may indemnify any persons who were,
or are threatened to be made, parties to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative
(other than an action by or in the right of such corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was an officer, director, employee or agent of such
corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise. The indemnity may
include expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with
such action, suit or proceeding, provided such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the corporation’s
best interests and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was illegal. A Delaware corporation
may indemnify any persons who are, were or are threatened to be made, a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the
corporation by reason of the fact that such person was a director, officer, employee or agent of such corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such
corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise. The indemnity may include expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually
and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit, provided such person acted in good faith and in a
manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the corporation’s best interests, provided that no indemnification is permitted without judicial
approval if the officer, director, employee or agent is adjudged to be liable to the corporation. Where an officer, director, employee, or agent is successful on the
merits or otherwise in the defense of any action referred to above, the corporation must indemnify him or her against the expenses which such officer or director
has actually and reasonably incurred.

Section 145 of the DGCL further authorizes a corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer,
employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or
enterprise, against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not
the corporation would otherwise have the power to indemnify him or her under Section 145 of the DGCL.

Our Certificate provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, as it may be amended from time to time, none of our directors will be
personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty as a director. Our Certificate also provides discretionary
indemnification for the benefit of our directors, officers and employees, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, as it may be amended from time to time.
Pursuant to our Bylaws, we are required to indemnify our directors, officers, employees and agents, and we have the discretion to advance his or her related
expenses, to the fullest extent permitted by law.

We do currently provide liability insurance coverage for our directors and officers. We also have entered into indemnification agreements with certain of
our officers and directors.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) may be permitted to our directors,
officers and controlling persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is
against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.

Transfer Agent and Registrar; Market Listing

The transfer agent for the Company’s common stock is Transfer Online, Inc., telephone (503) 227-2950. Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital
Market under the symbol “REED.”




Exhibit 10.1
SATISFACTION, SETTLEMENT AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS
THIS SATISFACTION SETTLEMENT AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS dated December 11, 2020 (this “Agreement”) is made by and between
Reed’s Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Reed’s”) and Raptor/Harbor Reeds SPV LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Raptor”). Raptor and Reed’s are each

referred to herein as a “Party”, and collectively, the “Parties”.

WHEREAS, Raptor and Reed’s are parties to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement dated April 21, 2017 (“SPA”) and that certain Second Lien
Security Agreement dated April 21, 2017 (“Second Lien Security Agreement”),

WHEREAS, Raptor and Reed’s are parties to that certain First Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement and Transaction Documents dated as of
October 4, 2018 (“First Amendment”), which amended the SPA and the Second Lien Security Agreement;

WHEREAS, Raptor is holder of that certain Amended and Restated Subordinated Convertible Non-Redeemable Secured Note (“Subordinated Note”)
dated October 4, 2018 in the maximum principal amount of Seven Million Four Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($7,400,000.00), issued by Reed’s;

WHEREAS, Reed’s and Rosenthal & Rosenthal Inc., a New York corporation (“Rosenthal”) are parties to that certain Financing Agreement dated
October 4, 2018 pursuant to which Rosenthal makes certain loans and other financial accommodations available to Reed’s;

WHEREAS, Raptor, the “Junior Lender”, and Rosenthal, the “Senior Lender”, are parties to that certain Subordination Agreement dated October 4,
2018 (“Subordination Agreement”);

WHEREAS, Raptor and Reed’s desire to settle and release their claims related to the “Junior Lender Indebtedness” (as defined in the Subordination
Agreement), including but not limited to termination of the Subordinated Note, Note Purchase Agreement, First Amendment and Second Lien Security Agreement

(“Junior Lender Transaction Documents”);

WHEREAS, Rosenthal has consented to and waived as an “Event of Default” (as defined in the Financing Agreement) the payment by Reed’s to Raptor
of consideration set forth herein as payment in full of Junior Lender Indebtedness subject to terms set forth herein.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Incorporation of Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference.

2. Pay-Off Consideration. In full and complete satisfaction of the Junior Lender Indebtedness and termination of the Junior Lender Transaction Documents, with
no further obligations or liabilities to Raptor, Reed’s hereby agrees to pay and issue to Raptor the following consideration ((a) through (c) collectively referred to
herein as the “Pay-Off Consideration™)):

(a) $4,250,000 in cash proceeds received from Reed’s recently completed public offering, which closed on or about November 24, 2020, payable only
after “Senior Lender Indebtedness” (as defined in the Subordination Agreement) is reduced to a zero balance;
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(b) 5-year warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value, of Reed’s (“Common Stock) with an exercise price of $0.644, in
the form set forth on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Warrant”), which Common Stock shall be subject to resale
pursuant to a registration statement meeting the requirements set forth in the Registration Rights Agreement in the form set forth on Exhibit B, attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this reference (the “Registration Rights Agreement”); and

(c) 1,339,286 unrestricted shares of Common Stock to be issued upon conversion of $750,000.00 of the Subordinated Note at the Offering Price of $0.56
(“Conversion Shares”). The Conversion Shares are registered on an effective Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-212206) (the
“Registration Statement”) and shall be delivered to First Republic Securities Company LLC in accordance with the instructions set forth on Exhibit C.

The Pay-Off Consideration shall be due and payable no later than December 11, 2020, and the Company shall deliver the Registration Rights Agreement,
duly executed by the Company, concurrent with the payment of the Pay-Off Consideration.

3. Termination of Junior Lender Transaction Documents. The Junior Lender Transaction Documents are hereby terminated and neither Party has any
obligations or liabilities to the other Party arising under the Junior Lender Transaction Documents; provided that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,
the Junior Lender Transaction Documents shall be reinstated if (and to the extent) after receipt of the Pay-Off Consideration, any such payment or part thereof is
subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside, and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver, or any similar official in respect of
Reed’s under any bankruptcy law, any other state or federal law, common law, or any equitable cause, then, to the extent of such recovery, the obligation or part
thereof originally intended to be satisfied, and all security interests, liens, rights, and remedies therefor or related thereto, shall be revived and continued in full
force and effect as if such payment or payments had not been made or such enforcement or setoff had not occurred.

4. Termination of UCC Financing Statement. Upon receipt of the Pay-Off Consideration, Raptor agrees to promptly terminate Financing Statement No.
20172660931 filed April 24, 2017 at the office of the Delaware Secretary of State, evidencing release of Raptor’s security interest in Reed’s intellectual property.

5. Release. Raptor and Reed’s do hereby release, cancel, and forever discharge the other Party, including but not limited to, its directors, officers, employees,
subsidiaries, affiliates, agents, and representatives from any and all claims, complaints, causes of action, demands, damages, obligations, liabilities, losses,
promises, agreements, controversies, penalties, expenses, and executions of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether known or unknown, actual or potential,
whether arising in law or in equity, which each Party may have, may have had, or may in the future obtain, arising out of or relating out of the acts, omissions,
agreements, or events relating in any manner to the Junior Lender Indebtedness and Junior Lender Transaction Documents (the “Release’). Each Party represents
and warrants that it has not filed any action or initiated any other proceeding with any court or government authority against or involving the other Party that may
constitute a claim or provide the basis for any liability that is excluded from the Release provide for in this Section 5. Each Party also represents and warrants that
it is not aware of any action by the other Party that could result in a claim filed or initiated in another proceeding with any court or government authority against or
involving the other Party that may provide the basis for any liability that is excluded from the Release provided for in this Section 5.

6. Consideration. Each of Raptor and Reed’s acknowledges and agrees that it has received good, valuable and sufficient consideration for making the Release. In
particular, upon execution of and compliance with this Agreement by Raptor, Reed’s shall pay and issue, and Raptor shall receive the Pay-Off Consideration.
Raptor acknowledges and agrees that it will not be entitled to and shall not assert any claim for any additional amount from Reed’s, other than the aforementioned
Pay-Off Consideration. Raptor agrees that it will not seek anything further, directly or indirectly, for itself or any person, corporation, partnership or other entity,
including any other payment or consideration, with respect to the Junior Lender Indebtedness and Junior Lender Transaction Documents and the claims released
pursuant to this Agreement. Raptor shall be solely responsible for all taxes and withholdings that may be owed to any federal, state, or local taxing authority as a
result of the Pay-Off Consideration received under this Agreement.
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7. Effect. This Agreement and the Release is intended to be a general release in the broadest form. It is understood and agreed that the Parties hereby expressly
waive any and all laws and statutes, of all jurisdictions whatsoever, which may provide that a general release does not extend to claims not known or suspected to
exist at the time of executing a release which if known would have materially affected the decision to give said release. It is expressly intended and agreed that this
Agreement and the Release does, in fact, extend to such unknown and unsuspected claims related to anything which has happened to the date hereof which is
covered by this Agreement and the Release, even if knowledge thereof would have materially affected the decision to give the Release. Each Party further
represents and warrants that it has not assigned any of its rights with respect to the Junior Lender Indebtedness or the Junior Lender Transaction Documents to any
other party. In addition, the Parties warrant and represent to the other that the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Release does not, and with the
passage of time will not, violate any obligation of the Party to any third party.

8. Rosenthal Waiver and Consent. The Parties acknowledge and agree that Rosenthal consented to and waived as an Event of Default the payment by Reed’s to
Raptor of the Pay-Off Consideration as payment in full of Junior Lender Indebtedness.

9. No Admission. Raptor and Reed’s expressly agree and acknowledge that this Agreement represents the final settlement and compromise of the Junior Lender
Indebtedness and the Junior Lender Transaction Documents, and that by entering into this Agreement, neither Party hereto admits or acknowledges the existence of
any liability, obligation, or wrongdoing on its part. Each Party expressly denies any and all liability or wrongdoing with respect to the Junior Lender Indebtedness
and the Junior Lender Transaction Documents.

10. Independent Legal Counsel. The Parties acknowledge that they have had an opportunity to consult with independent legal counsel of their choosing regarding
the legal effect of this Agreement and the Release and that each Party freely and voluntarily enters into this Agreement.

11. Who Is Bound. Each Party intends to be legally bound by this Agreement. Any person or corporation, partnership or other entity which succeeds to a Party’s
rights and responsibilities is also bound. This Agreement is made for the benefit of the Parties, their past, present and future officers, directors, shareholders,
employees, and agents, and the Parties’ affiliates and subsidiaries, and all who succeed to their rights and responsibilities, as well as any successors and assigns of
the Parties.

12. Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, notwithstanding its choice
of law provisions. The Parties agree that any claims or legal actions by one Party against the other to enforce the terms of this Agreement or concerning any rights
under this Agreement shall be commenced and maintained in any state or federal court located in the State of New York, Borough of Manhattan.

13. Confidentiality. The Parties agree to keep confidential all negotiations and discussions leading up to this Agreement.

14. Fees and Expenses. Each Party hereto shall bear its own fees and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

15. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original, but all of which together will
constitute one and the same instrument, without necessity of production of the others. An executed signature page delivered via facsimile transmission or electronic
signature shall be deemed as effective as an original executed signature page.
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16. Waiver. No waiver of any term or right in this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing, signed by an authorized representative of the waiving Party. The
failure of either Party to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or modification of such provision, or impairment of its right to
enforce such provision or any other provision of this Agreement thereafter.

17. Construction. The headings/captions appearing in this Agreement have been inserted for the purposes of convenience and ready reference, and do not purport
to and shall not be deemed to define, limit or extend the scope or intent of the provisions to which they appertain. This Agreement shall not be construed more
strongly against either Party regardless of which Party is more responsible for its preparation.

18. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Warrant set forth the entire and complete understanding and agreement between the Parties regarding the subject
matter hereof including, but not limited to the settlement of all disputes and claims with respect to the Junior Lender Indebtedness and the Junior Lender
Transaction Documents and supersede any and all other prior agreements or discussions, whether oral, written, electronic or otherwise, relating to the subject
matter hereunder. Any additions or modifications to this Agreement must be made in writing and signed by authorized representatives of both Parties. The Parties
acknowledge and agree that they are not relying upon any representations or statements made by the other Party or the other Party’s employees, agents,
representatives or attorneys regarding this Agreement, except to the extent such representations are expressly set forth herein.

19. Severability. In the event that any term of this Agreement is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or otherwise unenforceable (a) the Parties shall use all reasonable
efforts to negotiate in good faith to amend the term to eliminate any such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability to the extent practically possible, taking into full

account their original intent when entering into this Agreement in the first instance, and (b) the remaining provisions hereof shall continue in full force and effect.

20. Authority to Bind. By signing below the Parties represent that the signatories are authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of themselves and/or their
respective corporations and that the execution and delivery of this Agreement are the duly authorized and binding acts of their respective corporations.

[Signature page follows]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties hereto have executed this Satisfaction, Settlement and Release of Claims effective as of the date set forth above.

RAPTOR/HARBOR REEDS SPV LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

BY: RAPTOR HOLDCO GP LLC, ITS MANAGER

/s/ Robert Needham

REED’S INC., a Delaware corporation

/s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
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By: Robert Needham
Its: Chief Financial Officer

By: Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Its:

Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 10.2
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Registration Rights Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of December 11, 2020, between Reeds, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”) and the purchaser signatory hereto (the “Purchaser™).

This Agreement is made pursuant to the Satisfaction, Settlement and Release of Claims, dated as of the date hereof, between the Company and the
Purchaser (the “Settlement Agreement”).

The Company and Purchaser hereby agree as follows:
1. Definitions

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein that are defined in the Settlement Agreement shall have the meanings given such terms
in the Settlement Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Advice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(c).

“Effectiveness Date” means, with respect to the Initial Registration Statement required to be filed hereunder, the 90th calendar day following the date

hereof (or, in the event of a “full review” by the Commission, the 120™ calendar day following the date hereof) and with respect to any additional Registration

Oth

Statements which may be required pursuant to Section 2(c) or Section 3(c), the 60" calendar day following the date on which an additional Registration Statement

is required to be filed hereunder (or, in the event of a “full review” by the Commission, the 90'™ calendar day following the date such additional Registration
Statement is required to be filed hereunder); provided, however, that in the event the Company is notified by the Commission that one or more of the above
Registration Statements will not be reviewed or is no longer subject to further review and comments, the Effectiveness Date as to such Registration Statement shall
be the fifth Trading Day following the date on which the Company is so notified if such date precedes the dates otherwise required above, provided, further, if such
Effectiveness Date falls on a day that is not a Trading Day, then the Effectiveness Date shall be the next succeeding Trading Day.

“Effectiveness Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(a). “Event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(d).

“Event Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(d).

“Filing Date” means, with respect to the Initial Registration Statement required hereunder, the 30™ calendar day following the date hereof and, with
respect to any additional Registration Statements which may be required pursuant to Section 2(c) or Section 3(c), the earliest practical date on which the Company
is permitted by SEC Guidance to file such additional Registration Statement related to the Registrable Securities.

“Holder” or “Holders” means the holder or holders, as the case may be, from time to time of Registrable Securities.




“Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c).

“Indemnifying Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c)

“Initial Registration Statement” means the initial Registration Statement filed pursuant to this Agreement.
“Losses” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(a).

“Plan of Distribution” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).

“Prospectus” means the prospectus included in a Registration Statement (including, without limitation, a prospectus that includes any information
previously omitted from a prospectus filed as part of an effective registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A promulgated by the Commission pursuant to
the Securities Act), as amended or supplemented by any prospectus supplement, with respect to the terms of the offering of any portion of the Registrable
Securities covered by a Registration Statement, and all other amendments and supplements to the Prospectus, including post-effective amendments, and all
material incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated by reference in such Prospectus.

“Registrable Securities” means, as of any date of determination, (a) all Warrant Shares then issued or issuable upon exercise of the Warrant (assuming on
such date the Warrant is exercised in full without regard to any exercise limitations therein) and (c) any securities issued or then issuable upon any stock split,
dividend or other distribution, recapitalization or similar event with respect to the foregoing; provided. however, that any such Registrable Securities shall cease to
be Registrable Securities (and the Company shall not be required to maintain the effectiveness of any, or file another, Registration Statement hereunder with
respect thereto) upon the earlier of (i) the fifth anniversary of the date hereof or such time that (i) a Registration Statement with respect to the sale of such
Registrable Securities is declared effective by the Commission under the Securities Act and such Registrable Securities have been disposed of by the Holder in
accordance with such effective Registration Statement, (iii) such Registrable Securities have been previously sold in accordance with Rule 144, or (iv) such
securities become eligible for resale without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions and without current public information pursuant to Rule 144 as set forth in a
written opinion letter to such effect, addressed, delivered and acceptable to the Transfer Agent and the Holder (assuming that such securities and any securities
issuable upon exercise, conversion or exchange of which, or as a dividend upon which, such securities were issued or are issuable, were at no time held by any
Affiliate of the Company), as reasonably determined by the Company, upon the advice of counsel to the Company and all stock transfer restrictions and restrictive
legends applicable thereto shall have been removed..

“Registration Statement” means any registration statement required to be filed hereunder pursuant to Section 2(a) and any additional registration
statements contemplated by Section 2(c) or Section 3(c), including (in each case) the Prospectus, amendments and supplements to any such registration statement
or Prospectus, including pre- and post-effective amendments, all exhibits thereto, and all material incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated by
reference in any such registration statement.




“Rule 415” means Rule 415 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended or interpreted from time to
time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission having substantially the same purpose and effect as such Rule.

“Rule 424” means Rule 424 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended or interpreted from time to
time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the Commission having substantially the same purpose and effect as such Rule.

“Selling Stockholder Questionnaire” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3(a).

“SEC Guidance” means (i) any publicly-available written or oral guidance of the Commission staff, or any comments, requirements or requests of the
Commission staff and (ii) the Securities Act.

2.  Shelf Registration

a. On or prior to each Filing Date, the Company shall prepare and file with the Commission a Registration Statement covering the resale of all of the
Registrable Securities that are not then registered on an effective Registration Statement for an offering to be made on a continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415.
Each Registration Statement filed hereunder shall be on Form S-3 (except if the Company is not then eligible to register for resale the Registrable Securities on
Form S-3, in which case such registration shall be on another appropriate form in accordance herewith, subject to the provisions of Section 2(e)) and shall contain
substantially the “Plan of Distribution” attached hereto as Annex A ; provided, however, that no Holder shall be required to be named as an “underwriter” without
such Holder’s express prior written consent. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Company shall use its best efforts to cause a Registration Statement filed
under this Agreement (including, without limitation, under Section 3(c)) to be declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as possible after the filing
thereof, but in any event no later than the applicable Effectiveness Date, and shall use its best efforts to keep such Registration Statement continuously effective
under the Securities Act until the earliest of (i) the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date or (ii) until all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration
Statement have been sold, thereunder or pursuant to Rule 144, or (iii) until all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement may be sold without
volume or manner-of-sale restrictions pursuant to Rule 144 and without the requirement for the Company to be in compliance with the current public information
requirement under Rule 144, as determined by the counsel to the Company pursuant to a written opinion letter to such effect, addressed and acceptable to the
Transfer Agent and the affected Holders (the “Effectiveness Period”). The Company shall telephonically request effectiveness of a Registration Statement as of
5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on a Trading Day. The Company shall promptly notify the Purchaser via facsimile or by e-mail of the effectiveness of a Registration
Statement. The Company shall, by 9:30 a.m. Eastern Time on the Trading Day after the effective date of such Registration Statement, file a final Prospectus with
the Commission as required by Rule 424.




b. Notwithstanding the registration obligations set forth in Section 2(a), if the Commission informs the Company that all of the Registrable Securities
cannot, as a result of the application of Rule 415, be registered for resale as a secondary offering on a single registration statement, the Company agrees to
promptly inform each of the Holders thereof and use its commercially reasonable efforts to file amendments to the Initial Registration Statement as required by the
Commission, covering the maximum number of Registrable Securities permitted to be registered by the Commission, on Form S-3 or such other form available to
register for resale the Registrable Securities as a secondary offering and subject to the provisions of Section 2(d) with respect to the payment of liquidated
damages; and provided that the Company shall be obligated to use its best efforts to advocate with the Commission for the registration of all of the Registrable
Securities.

c. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement and subject to the payment of liquidated damages pursuant to Section 2(d), if the
Commission or any SEC Guidance sets forth a limitation on the number of Registrable Securities permitted to be registered on a particular Registration Statement
as a secondary offering (and notwithstanding that the Company used diligent efforts to advocate with the Commission for the registration of all or a greater portion
of Registrable Securities), unless otherwise directed in writing by a Holder as to its Registrable Securities, the number of Registrable Securities to be registered on
such Registration Statement will be reduced as follows:

i.  First, the Company shall reduce or eliminate any securities to be included by any Person other than a Holder; and

ii. Second, the Company shall reduce Registrable Securities (applied, in the case that some Registrable Securities may be registered, to the
Holders on a pro rata basis based on the total number of unregistered Registrable Shares held by such Holders).

In the event of a cutback hereunder, the Company shall give the Holder at least five (5) Trading Days prior written notice along with the calculations as to such
Holder’s allotment. In the event the Company amends the Initial Registration Statement in accordance with the foregoing, the Company will use its best efforts to
file with the Commission, as promptly as allowed by Commission or SEC Guidance provided to the Company or to registrants of securities in general, one or more
registration statements on Form S-3 or such other form available to register for resale those Registrable Securities that were not registered for resale on the Initial
Registration Statement, as amended. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no liquidated damages are payable to Holders in the event of a
cutback by the SEC, as described in this Section 2(e).




d. If: (i) the Initial Registration Statement is not filed on or prior to its Filing Date, or (ii) the Company fails to file with the Commission a request for
acceleration of a Registration Statement in accordance with Rule 461 promulgated by the Commission pursuant to the Securities Act, within five Trading Days of
the date that the Company is notified (orally or in writing, whichever is earlier) by the Commission that such Registration Statement will not be “reviewed” or will
not be subject to further review, or (iii) prior to the effective date of a Registration Statement, the Company fails to file a pre-effective amendment and otherwise
respond in writing to comments made by the Commission in respect of such Registration Statement within ten (10) calendar days after the receipt of comments by
or notice from the Commission that such amendment is required in order for such Registration Statement to be declared effective, (iv) a Registration Statement
registering for resale all of the Registrable Securities is not declared effective by the Commission by the Effectiveness Date of the Initial Registration Statement,
(v) the Company fails to file a final Prospectus with the Commission or (vi) after the effective date of a Registration Statement, such Registration statement ceases
for any reason to remain continuously effective as to all Registrable Securities included in such Registration Statement or the Holders are otherwise not permitted
to utilize the Prospectus therein to resell such Registrable Securities, for more than ten (10) consecutive Trading Days or more than an aggregate of fifteen (15)
Trading Days (which need not be consecutive) during any 12-month period (any such failure or breach being referred to as an “Event”, and for purposes of clauses
(1), (iv) and (v), the date on which such Event occurs, and for purpose of clause (ii) the date on which such five (5) Trading Day period is exceeded, and for
purpose of clause (iii) the date which such ten (10) calendar day period is exceeded, as applicable, is exceeded and for purposes of clause (vi), the date which such
ten or fifteen days, as applicable, is exceeded, being referred to as “Event Date”), then, in addition to any other rights the Holders may have hereunder or under
applicable law, on each such Event Date and on each monthly anniversary of each such Event Date (if the applicable Event shall not have been cured by such date)
until the applicable Event is cured, the Company shall pay to each Holder an amount in cash, as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, equal to $8,000. The
parties agree that the maximum aggregate liquidated damages payable to a Holder under this Agreement shall be $80,000. The partial liquidated damages pursuant
to the terms hereof shall apply on a daily pro rata basis for any portion of a month prior to the cure of an Event.

e. If Form S-3 is not available for the registration of the resale of Registrable Securities hereunder, the Company shall (subject to the payment of
liquidated damages pursuant to Section 2(d)) (i) register the resale of the Registrable Securities on another appropriate form and (ii) undertake to register the
Registrable Securities on Form S-3 as soon as such form is available, provided that the Company shall maintain the effectiveness of the Registration Statement
then in effect until such time as a Registration Statement on Form S-3 covering the Registrable Securities has been declared effective by the Commission.

f. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall the Company be permitted to name any Holder or affiliate of a Holder
as any Underwriter without the prior written consent of such Holder.

3. Registration Procedures

In connection with the Company’s registration obligations hereunder, the Company shall: Not less than five (5) Trading Days prior to the filing of each
Registration Statement and not less than one (1) Trading Day prior to the filing of any related Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto (including any
document that would be incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference), the Company shall (i) furnish to each Holder copies of all such
documents proposed to be filed, which documents (other than those incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference) will be subject to the review of such
Holders, (ii) cause its officers and directors, counsel and independent registered public accountants to respond to such inquiries as shall be necessary, in the
reasonable opinion of respective counsel to each Holder, to conduct a reasonable investigation within the meaning of the Securities Act and (iii) deliver to such
each Holder an Accountant’s cold comfort letter and opinion of counsel to the Company in a form customary for underwritten registrations.




a. Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall not be obligated to provide the Holders advance copies of any universal shelf registration statement
registering securities in addition to those required hereunder, or any Prospectus prepared thereto. The Company shall not file a Registration Statement or any such
Prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto to which the Holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities shall reasonably object in good faith,
provided that, the Company is notified of such objection in writing no later than five (5) Trading Days after the Holders have been so furnished copies of a
Registration Statement or one (1) Trading Day after the Holders have been so furnished copies of any related Prospectus or amendments or supplements thereto.
Each Holder agrees to furnish to the Company a completed questionnaire in the form attached to this Agreement as Annex B (a “ Selling Stockholder
Questionnaire™) within five Trading Days after the Closing Date.

b. (i) Prepare and file with the Commission such amendments, including post- effective amendments, to a Registration Statement and the Prospectus
used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep a Registration Statement continuously effective as to the applicable Registrable Securities for the
Effectiveness Period and prepare and file with the Commission such additional Registration Statements in order to register for resale under the Securities Act all of
the Registrable Securities, (ii) cause the related Prospectus to be amended or supplemented by any required Prospectus supplement (subject to the terms of this
Agreement), and, as so supplemented or amended, to be filed pursuant to Rule 424, (iii) respond as promptly as reasonably possible to any comments received
from the Commission with respect to a Registration Statement or any amendment thereto, and (iv) comply in all material respects with the applicable provisions of
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act with respect to the disposition of all Registrable Securities covered by a Registration Statement during the applicable
period in accordance (subject to the terms of this Agreement) with the intended methods of disposition by the Holders thereof set forth in such Registration
Statement as so amended or in such Prospectus as so supplemented.

c. If during the Effectiveness Period, the number of Registrable Securities at any time exceeds 100% of the number of shares of Common Stock then
registered in a Registration Statement, then the Company shall file as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any case prior to the applicable Filing Date, an
additional Registration Statement covering the resale by the Holders of not less than the number of such Registrable Securities.




d. Notify the Holders of Registrable Securities to be sold (which notice shall, pursuant to clauses (iii) through (vi) hereof, be accompanied by an
instruction to suspend the use of the Prospectus until the requisite changes have been made) as promptly as reasonably possible (and, in the case of (i)(A) below,
not less than one (1) Trading Day prior to such filing) and (if requested by any such Person) confirm such notice in writing no later than one (1) Trading Day
following the day (i)(A) when a Prospectus or any Prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment to a Registration Statement is proposed to be filed, (B)
when the Commission notifies the Company whether there will be a “review” of such Registration Statement and whenever the Commission comments in writing
on such Registration Statement, and (C) with respect to a Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment, when the same has become effective, (ii) of any
request by the Commission or any other federal or state governmental authority for amendments or supplements to a Registration Statement or Prospectus or for
additional information, (iii) of the issuance by the Commission or any other federal or state governmental authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness
of a Registration Statement covering any or all of the Registrable Securities or the initiation of any Proceedings for that purpose, (iv) of the receipt by the Company
of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification or exemption from qualification of any of the Registrable Securities for sale in any
jurisdiction, or the initiation or threatening of any Proceeding for such purpose, (v) of the occurrence of any event or passage of time that makes the financial
statements included in a Registration Statement ineligible for inclusion therein or any statement made in a Registration Statement or Prospectus or any document
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference untrue in any material respect or that requires any revisions to a Registration Statement, Prospectus
or other documents so that, in the case of a Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as the case may be, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading, and (vi) of the occurrence or existence of any pending corporate development with respect to the Company that the Company believes may
be material and that, in the determination of the Company, makes it not in the best interest of the Company to allow continued availability of a Registration
Statement or Prospectus, provided, however, in no event shall any such notice contain any information which would constitute material, non-public information
regarding the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

e. Use its best efforts to avoid the issuance of, or, if issued, obtain the withdrawal of (i) any order stopping or suspending the effectiveness of a
Registration Statement, or (ii) any suspension of the qualification (or exemption from qualification) of any of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction,
at the earliest practicable moment.

f. Furnish to each Holder, without charge, at least one conformed copy of each such Registration Statement and each amendment thereto, including
financial statements and schedules, all documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference to the extent requested by such Person, and all
exhibits to the extent requested by such Person (including those previously furnished or incorporated by reference) promptly after the filing of such documents
with the Commission; provided, that any such item which is available on the EDGAR system (or successor thereto) need not be furnished in physical form.

g. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Company hereby consents to the use of such Prospectus and each amendment or supplement thereto by
each of the selling Holders in connection with the offering and sale of the Registrable Securities covered by such Prospectus and any amendment or supplement
thereto, except after the giving of any notice pursuant to Section 3(d).

h. Should the Company’s common stock cease to be listed on a national securities exchange, prior to any resale of Registrable Securities by a Holder,
use its commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify or cooperate with the selling Holders in connection with the registration or qualification (or exemption
from the Registration or qualification) of such Registrable Securities for the resale by the Holder under the securities or Blue Sky laws of such jurisdictions within
the United States as any Holder reasonably requests in writing, to keep each registration or qualification (or exemption therefrom) effective during the
Effectiveness Period and to do any and all other acts or things reasonably necessary to enable the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities
covered by each Registration Statement; provided, that, the Company shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction where it is not
then so qualified, subject the Company to any material tax in any such jurisdiction where it is not then so subject or file a general consent to service of process in
any such jurisdiction.




i. If requested by a Holder, cooperate with such Holder to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates representing Registrable
Securities to be delivered to a transferee pursuant to a Registration Statement, which certificates shall be free, to the extent permitted by the Settlement Agreement,
of all restrictive legends, and to enable such Registrable Securities to be in such denominations and registered in such names as any such Holder may request.

j- Upon the occurrence of any event contemplated by Section 3(d), as promptly as reasonably possible under the circumstances taking into account
the Company’s good faith assessment of any adverse consequences to the Company and its stockholders of the premature disclosure of such event, prepare a
supplement or amendment, including a post-effective amendment, to a Registration Statement or a supplement to the related Prospectus or any document
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference, and file any other required document so that, as thereafter delivered, neither a Registration
Statement nor such Prospectus will contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make
the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. If the Company notifies the Holders in accordance with clauses
(iii) through (vi) of Section 3(d) above to suspend the use of any Prospectus until the requisite changes to such Prospectus have been made, then the Holders shall
suspend use of such Prospectus. The Company will use its best efforts to ensure that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed as promptly as is practicable. The
Company shall be entitled to exercise its right under this Section 3(j) to suspend the availability of a Registration Statement and Prospectus, for a period not to
exceed 60 calendar days (which need not be consecutive days) in any 12-month period.

k. Comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission.

1. The Company shall use its best efforts to maintain eligibility for use of Form S-3 (or any successor form thereto) for the registration of the resale of
Registrable Securities.

m. The Company may require each selling Holder to furnish to the Company a certified statement as to the number of shares of Common Stock
beneficially owned by such Holder and, if required by the Commission, the natural persons thereof that have voting and dispositive control over the shares and the
status of Holder as, or affiliation of Holder with, a broker-dealer. During any periods that the Company is unable to meet its obligations hereunder with respect to
the registration of the Registrable Securities because any Holder fails to furnish such information within three Trading Days of the Company’s request, any
liquidated damages that are accruing shall be tolled and any Event that may otherwise occur because of such delay shall be suspended until such reasonable time
required after such information is delivered to Company.




4. Registration Expenses. All fees and expenses incident to the performance of or compliance with, this Agreement by the Company shall be borne by the
Company whether or not any Registrable Securities are sold pursuant to a Registration Statement. The fees and expenses referred to in the foregoing sentence shall
include, without limitation, (i) all registration and filing fees (including, without limitation, fees and expenses of the Company’s counsel and independent
registered public accountants) (A) with respect to filings made with the Commission, (B) with respect to filings required to be made with any Trading Market on
which the Common Stock is then listed for trading and (C) should the Company’s common stock cease to be listed on a national securities exchange, in compliance
with applicable state securities or Blue Sky laws reasonably agreed to by the Company in writing (including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of counsel
for the Company in connection with Blue Sky qualifications or exemptions of the Registrable Securities) , (ii) printing expenses (including, without limitation,
expenses of printing certificates for Registrable Securities), (iii) messenger, telephone and delivery expenses, (iv) fees and disbursements of counsel for the
Company, (v) Securities Act liability insurance, if the Company so desires such insurance, and (vi) fees and expenses of all other Persons retained by the Company
in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In addition, the Company shall be responsible for all of its internal
expenses incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including, without limitation, all salaries and
expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), the expense of any annual audit and the fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the listing of the Registrable Securities on any securities exchange as required hereunder. In no event shall the Company be responsible for any broker or
similar commissions of any Holder. The Company shall pay Holder’s legal fees in an amount not to exceed $50,000 in connection with the registration
contemplated hereunder.

5. Indemnification

a. Indemnification by the Company. The Company shall, notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement, indemnify and hold harmless each
Holder, the officers, directors, members, partners, agents, brokers (including brokers who offer and sell Registrable Securities as principal as a result of a pledge or
any failure to perform under a margin call of Common Stock), investment advisors and employees (and any other Persons with a functionally equivalent role of a
Person holding such titles, notwithstanding a lack of such title or any other title) of each of them, each Person who controls any such Holder (within the meaning of
Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act) and the officers, directors, members, stockholders, partners, agents and employees (and any
other Persons with a functionally equivalent role of a Person holding such titles, notwithstanding a lack of such title or any other title) of each such controlling
Person, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees) and expenses (collectively, “Losses”), as incurred, arising out of or relating to (1) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material
fact contained in a Registration Statement, any Prospectus or any form of prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto or in any preliminary prospectus,
or arising out of or relating to any omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the
case of any Prospectus or supplement thereto, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, (2) any violation or alleged violation by
the Company of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or any state securities law, or any rule or regulation thereunder, in connection with the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent, but only to the extent, that (i) such untrue statements or omissions are based solely upon information
regarding such Holder furnished in writing to the Company by such Holder expressly for use therein, or to the extent that such information relates to such Holder
or such Holder’s proposed method of distribution of Registrable Securities and was reviewed and expressly approved in writing by such Holder expressly for use in
a Registration Statement, such Prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto (it being understood that the Holder has approved the first and second
paragraphs of Annex A hereto for this purpose) or (ii) in the case of an occurrence of an event of the type specified in Section 3(d)(iii)-(vi), the use by such Holder
of an outdated, defective or otherwise unavailable Prospectus after the Company has notified such Holder in writing that the Prospectus is outdated, defective or
otherwise unavailable for use by such Holder and prior to the receipt by such Holder of the Advice contemplated in Section 6(c), but only if and to the extent that
following the receipt of the Advice the misstatement or omission giving rise to such Loss would have been corrected or (3) any breach or violation of this
Agreement by the Company. The Company shall notify the Holders promptly of the institution, threat or assertion of any Proceeding arising from or in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement of which the Company is aware. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any
investigation made by or on behalf of such indemnified person and shall survive the transfer of any Registrable Securities by any of the Holders in accordance with
Section 6(f).




b. Indemnification by Holders. Each Holder shall, severally and not jointly, indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors, officers, agents
and employees, each Person who controls the Company (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act), and the
directors, officers, agents or employees of such controlling Persons, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against all Losses, as incurred, to
the extent arising out of or based solely upon any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement, any Prospectus, or
in any amendment or supplement thereto or in any preliminary prospectus, or arising out of or relating to any omission or alleged omission of a material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of any Prospectus or supplement thereto, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made) not misleading (i) to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information so furnished
in writing by such Holder to the Company expressly for inclusion in such Registration Statement or such Prospectus or (ii) to the extent, but only to the extent, that
such information relates to such Holder’s proposed method of distribution of Registrable Securities and was reviewed and expressly approved in writing by such
Holder expressly for use in a Registration Statement (it being understood that the Holder has approved the first and second paragraphs of Annex A hereto for this
purpose), such Prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto or (iii) in the case of an occurrence of an event of the type specified in Section 3(d)(iii)-(vi),
to the extent, but only to the extent, related to the use by such Holder of an outdated, defective or otherwise unavailable Prospectus after the Company has notified
such Holder in writing that the Prospectus is outdated, defective or otherwise unavailable for use by such Holder and prior to the receipt by such Holder of the
Advice contemplated in Section 6(d), but only if and to the extent that following the receipt of the Advice the misstatement or omission giving rise to such Loss
would have been corrected. In no event shall the liability of any selling Holder under this Section 5(b) be greater in amount than the dollar amount of the net
proceeds received by such Holder upon the sale of the Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification obligation.

c. Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings. If any Proceeding shall be brought or asserted against any Person entitled to indemnity hereunder (an
“Indemnified Party”), such Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Person from whom indemnity is sought (the “Indemnifying Party”) in writing, and the
Indemnifying Party shall have the right to assume the defense thereof, including the employment of counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party and
the payment of all fees and expenses incurred in connection with defense thereof; provided, that, the failure of any Indemnified Party to give such notice shall not
relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations or liabilities pursuant to this Agreement, except (and only) to the extent that it shall be finally determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction (which determination is not subject to appeal or further review) that such failure shall have materially and adversely prejudiced the
Indemnifying Party.

An Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such Proceeding and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and
expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnified Party or Parties unless: (1) the Indemnifying Party has agreed in writing to pay such fees and
expenses, (2) the Indemnifying Party shall have failed promptly to assume the defense of such Proceeding and to employ counsel reasonably satisfactory to such
Indemnified Party in any such Proceeding, or (3) the named parties to any such Proceeding (including any impleaded parties) include both such Indemnified Party
and the Indemnifying Party, and counsel to the Indemnified Party shall reasonably believe that a material conflict of interest is likely to exist if the same counsel
were to represent such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party (in which case, if such Indemnified Party notifies the Indemnifying Party in writing that it
elects to employ separate counsel at the expense of the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to assume the defense thereof and the
reasonable fees and expenses of no more than one separate counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnifying Party). The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable
for any settlement of any such Proceeding effected without its written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No Indemnifying
Party shall, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, effect any settlement of any pending Proceeding in respect of which any Indemnified Party
is a party, unless such settlement includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Party from all liability on claims that are the subject matter of such
Proceeding.

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, all reasonable fees and expenses of the Indemnified Party (including reasonable fees and expenses to the extent
incurred in connection with investigating or preparing to defend such Proceeding in a manner not inconsistent with this Section) shall be paid to the Indemnified
Party, as incurred, within ten Trading Days of written notice thereof to the Indemnifying Party; provided, that, the Indemnified Party shall promptly reimburse the
Indemnifying Party for that portion of such fees and expenses applicable to such actions for which such Indemnified Party is finally determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction (which determination is not subject to appeal or further review) not to be entitled to indemnification hereunder.

10




d. Contribution. If the indemnification under Section 5(a) or 5(b) is unavailable to an Indemnified Party or insufficient to hold an Indemnified Party
harmless for any Losses, then each Indemnifying Party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Indemnified Party, in such proportion as is
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Indemnifying Party and Indemnified Party in connection with the actions, statements or omissions that resulted in
such Losses as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of such Indemnifying Party and Indemnified Party shall be determined by
reference to, among other things, whether any action in question, including any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged
omission of a material fact, has been taken or made by, or relates to information supplied by, such Indemnifying Party or Indemnified Party, and the parties’
relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such action, statement or omission. The amount paid or payable by a party
as a result of any Losses shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, any reasonable attorneys’ or other fees or expenses
incurred by such party in connection with any Proceeding to the extent such party would have been indemnified for such fees or expenses if the indemnification
provided for in this Section was available to such party in accordance with its terms.

The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 5(d) were determined by pro rata allocation or by
any other method of allocation that does not take into account the equitable considerations referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph. Notwithstanding the
provisions of this Section 5(d), no Holder shall be required to contribute pursuant to this Section 5(d), in the aggregate, any amount in excess of the amount by
which the net proceeds actually received by such Holder from the sale of the Registrable Securities subject to the Proceeding exceeds the amount of any damages
that such Holder has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.

The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in this Section are in addition to any liability that the Indemnifying Parties may have to the
Indemnified Parties.

6. Miscellaneous

a. Remedies. In the event of a breach by the Company or by the Holder of any of their respective obligations under this Agreement, the Holder or the
Company, as the case may be, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law and under this Agreement, including recovery of damages, shall be
entitled to specific performance of its rights under this Agreement. Each of the Company and Holder agrees that monetary damages would not provide adequate
compensation for any losses incurred by reason of a breach by it of any of the provisions of this Agreement and hereby further agrees that, in the event of any
action for specific performance in respect of such breach, it shall not assert or shall waive the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate.

b. Prohibition on Filing Other Registration Statements: Restriction on Sales under Registration Statement. The Company shall not file any other
registration statements until all Registrable Securities are registered pursuant to a Registration Statement that is declared effective by the Commission, provided

that this Section 6(a) (i) shall not prohibit the Company from filing amendments to registration statements filed prior to the date of this Agreement, (ii) shall not
prohibit the Company from filing a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 for a primary offering by the Company, provided that the Company makes no offering
of securities pursuant to such shelf registration statement prior to the effective date of the Registration Statement required hereunder that includes all of the
Registrable Securities and (iii) shall not prohibit the Company from filing a registration statement on Form S-8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained

in this Agreement, Holder agrees that no sales will be made pursuant to the Registration Statement prior to the sixth (6th) business day after the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 has been filed with the SEC.
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c. Compliance. Each Holder covenants and agrees that it will comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act as applicable to
it (unless an exemption therefrom is available) in connection with sales of Registrable Securities pursuant to a Registration Statement.

d. Discontinued Disposition. By its acquisition of Registrable Securities, each Holder agrees that, upon receipt of a notice from the Company of the
occurrence of any event of the kind described in Section 3(d)(iii) through (vi), such Holder will forthwith discontinue disposition of such Registrable Securities
under a Registration Statement until it is advised in writing (the “Advice”) by the Company that the use of the applicable Prospectus (as it may have been
supplemented or amended) may be resumed. The Company will use its best efforts to ensure that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed as promptly as is
practicable. The Company agrees and acknowledges that any periods during which the Holder is required to discontinue the disposition of the Registrable
Securities hereunder shall be subject to the provisions of Section 2(d).

e. Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of this Agreement, including the provisions of this sentence, may not be amended, modified or
supplemented, and waivers or consents to departures from the provisions hereof may not be given, unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Company
and the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding Registrable Securities (for purposes of clarification, this includes any Registrable Securities issuable upon
exercise or conversion of any Security). If a Registration Statement does not register all of the Registrable Securities pursuant to a waiver or amendment done in
compliance with the previous sentence, then the number of Registrable Securities to be registered for each Holder shall be reduced pro rata among all Holders and
each Holder shall have the right to designate which of its Registrable Securities shall be omitted from such Registration Statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
a waiver or consent to depart from the provisions hereof with respect to a matter that relates exclusively to the rights of a Holder or some Holders and that does not
directly or indirectly affect the rights of other Holders may be given only by such Holder or Holders of all of the Registrable Securities to which such waiver or
consent relates; provided, however, that the provisions of this sentence may not be amended, modified, or supplemented except in accordance with the provisions
of the first sentence of this Section 6(d). No consideration shall be offered or paid to any Person to amend or consent to a waiver or modification of any provision
of this Agreement unless the same consideration also is offered to all of the parties to this Agreement.

f. Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be provided hereunder shall be delivered as set forth in
the Settlement Agreement.
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g. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of each of the
parties and shall inure to the benefit of each Holder. The Company may not assign (except by merger) its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written
consent of at least a majority of the Holders of the then outstanding Registrable Securities. Purchaser may assign any or all of its rights under this Agreement to
any controlled Affiliate, provided that such transferee agrees in writing to be bound, with respect to the transferred Securities, by the provisions of the Transaction
Documents that apply to the “Purchaser.”

h. No Inconsistent Agreements. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered, as of the date hereof, nor shall the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries, on or after the date of this Agreement, enter into any agreement with respect to its securities, that would have the effect of impairing the rights
granted to the Holders in this Agreement or otherwise conflicts with the provisions hereof. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has previously entered
into any agreement granting any registration rights with respect to any of its securities to any Person that have not been satisfied in full.

i. Execution and Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which when taken together shall be considered
one and the same agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party, it being understood that
both parties need not sign the same counterpart. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data
file, such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is executed) with the same force and effect
as if such facsimile or “.pdf” signature page were an original thereof.

j- Governing Law. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be determined in
accordance with the provisions of the Settlement Agreement.

k. Cumulative Remedies. The remedies provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of any other remedies provided by law.

1. Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, void
or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions set forth herein shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be
affected, impaired or invalidated, and the parties hereto shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to find and employ an alternative means to achieve the same
or substantially the same result as that contemplated by such term, provision, covenant or restriction. It is hereby stipulated and declared to be the intention of the
parties that they would have executed the remaining terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions without including any of such that may be hereafter declared
invalid, illegal, void or unenforceable.

m. Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only, do not constitute a part of the Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or
affect any of the provisions hereof.

n. Independent Nature of Holders’ Obligations and Rights. The obligations of each Holder hereunder are several and not joint with the obligations of
any other Holder hereunder, and no Holder shall be responsible in any way for the performance of the obligations of any other Holder hereunder. Nothing
contained herein or in any other agreement or document delivered at any closing, and no action taken by any Holder pursuant hereto or thereto, shall be deemed to
constitute the Holders as a partnership, an association, a joint venture or any other kind of group or entity, or create a presumption that the Holders are in any way
acting in concert or as a group or entity with respect to such obligations or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other matters, and the Company
acknowledges that the Holders are not acting in concert or as a group, and the Company shall not asset any such claim, with respect to such obligations or
transactions. Each Holder shall be entitled to protect and enforce its rights, including without limitation the rights arising out of this Agreement, and it shall not be
necessary for any other Holder to be joined as an additional party in any proceeding for such purpose. The use of a single agreement with respect to the obligations
of the Company contained was solely in the control of the Company, not the action or decision of any Holder, and was done solely for the convenience of the
Company and not because it was required or requested to do so by any Holder. It is expressly understood and agreed that each provision contained in this
Agreement is between the Company and a Holder, solely, and not between the Company and the Holders collectively and not between and among Holders.

(Signature Pages Follow)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Registration Rights Agreement as of the date first written above.

REEDS, INC.

By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

December 11, 2020

[SIGNATURE PAGE OF PURCHASER FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE OF HOLDERS TO REEDS, INC. REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT]

Name of Holder: RAPTOR/HARBOR REEDS SPV LLC

Signature of Authorized Signatory of
Holder:

Name of Authorized Signatory: ROBERT NEEDHAM

Title of Authorized Signatory: CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

[SIGNATURE PAGES CONTINUE]
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Annex A
Plan of Distribution

Each Selling Stockholder (the “Selling Stockholders™) of the securities and any of their pledgees, assignees and successors-in-interest may, from time to
time, sell any or all of their securities covered hereby on the principal Trading Market or any other stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the
securities are traded or in private transactions. These sales may be at fixed or negotiated prices. A Selling Stockholder may use any one or more of the following
methods when selling securities:

[ 1 ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers;

[ 1 block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the securities as agent but may position and resell a portion of the block as principal to
facilitate the transaction;

[ 1 purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;
[ 1 an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

[ 1 privately negotiated transactions;

[ 1 settlement of short sales;

[ ] in transactions through broker-dealers that agree with the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of such securities at a stipulated price per
security;

[ 1 through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether through an options exchange or otherwise;
[ 1 acombination of any such methods of sale; or
[ 1 any other method permitted pursuant to applicable law.

The Selling Stockholders may also sell securities under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), if available, rather
than under this prospectus.

Broker-dealers engaged by the Selling Stockholders may arrange for other brokers-dealers to participate in sales. Broker-dealers may receive
commissions or discounts from the Selling Stockholders (or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent for the purchaser of securities, from the purchaser) in amounts to be
negotiated, but, except as set forth in a supplement to this Prospectus, in the case of an agency transaction not in excess of a customary brokerage commission in
compliance with FINRA Rule 2440; and in the case of a principal transaction a markup or markdown in compliance with FINRA 1M-2440.
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In connection with the sale of the securities or interests therein, the Selling Stockholders may enter into hedging transactions with broker-dealers or other
financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of the securities in the course of hedging the positions they assume. The Selling Stockholders may
also sell securities short and deliver these securities to close out their short positions, or loan or pledge the securities to broker-dealers that in turn may sell these
securities. The Selling Stockholders may also enter into option or other transactions with broker-dealers or other financial institutions or create one or more
derivative securities which require the delivery to such broker-dealer or other financial institution of securities offered by this prospectus, which securities such
broker-dealer or other financial institution may resell pursuant to this prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflect such transaction).

The Selling Stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the securities may be deemed to be “underwriters” within the
meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales. In such event, any commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale
of the securities purchased by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act. Each Selling Stockholder has informed
the Company that it does not have any written or oral agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities.

The Company is required to pay certain fees and expenses incurred by the Company incident to the registration of the securities. The Company has agreed
to indemnify the Selling Stockholders against certain losses, claims, damages and liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

Because Selling Stockholders may be deemed to be “underwriters” within the meaning of the Securities Act, they will be subject to the prospectus
delivery requirements of the Securities Act including Rule 172 thereunder. In addition, any securities covered by this prospectus which qualify for sale pursuant to
Rule 144 under the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 rather than under this prospectus. The Selling Stockholders have advised us that there is no
underwriter or coordinating broker acting in connection with the proposed sale of the resale securities by the Selling Stockholders.

We agreed to keep this prospectus effective until the earliest of (ii) the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, (ii) the date on which the securities may be
resold by the Selling Stockholders without registration and without regard to any volume or manner-of-sale limitations by reason of Rule 144, without the
requirement for the Company to be in compliance with the current public information under Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other rule of similar effect or
(iii) all of the securities have been sold pursuant to this prospectus or Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any other rule of similar effect. The resale securities will
be sold only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers if required under applicable state securities laws. In addition, in certain states, the resale securities
covered hereby may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in the applicable state or an exemption from the registration or qualification
requirement is available and is complied with.

Under applicable rules and regulations under the Exchange Act, any person engaged in the distribution of the resale securities may not simultaneously
engage in market making activities with respect to the common stock for the applicable restricted period, as defined in Regulation M, prior to the commencement
of the distribution. In addition, the Selling Stockholders will be subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder,
including Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of securities of the common stock by the Selling Stockholders or any other person. We
will make copies of this prospectus available to the Selling Stockholders and have informed them of the need to deliver a copy of this prospectus to each purchaser
at or prior to the time of the sale (including by compliance with Rule 172 under the Securities Act).
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Annex B
REEDS, INC.
Selling Stockholder Notice and Questionnaire

The undersigned beneficial owner of common stock (the “Registrable Securities”) of Reeds, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), understands
that the Company has filed or intends to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) a registration statement (the “Registration
Statement”) for the registration and resale under Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of the Registrable Securities, in
accordance with the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) to which this document is annexed. A copy of the
Registration Rights Agreement is available from the Company upon request at the address set forth below. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Registration Rights Agreement.

Certain legal consequences arise from being named as a selling stockholder in the Registration Statement and the related prospectus. Accordingly, holders
and beneficial owners of Registrable Securities are advised to consult their own securities law counsel regarding the consequences of being named or not being
named as a selling stockholder in the Registration Statement and the related prospectus.

NOTICE

The undersigned beneficial owner (the “Selling Stockholder”) of Registrable Securities hereby elects to include the Registrable Securities owned by it in
the Registration Statement.

The undersigned hereby provides the following information to the Company and represents and warrants that such information is accurate:
QUESTIONNAIRE
1. Name.
(a) Full Legal Name of Selling Stockholder
(b) Full Legal Name of Registered Holder (if not the same as (a) above) through which Registrable Securities are held:
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(c) Full Legal Name of Natural Control Person (which means a natural person who directly or indirectly alone or with others has
power to vote or dispose of the securities covered by this Questionnaire):

2. Address for Notices to Selling Stockholder:
Telephone:
Fax:
Contact Person:
3. Broker-Dealer Status:
(a) Are you a broker-dealer
Yes|[ ] No [ ]
(b) If“yes” to Section 3(a), did you receive your Registrable Securities as compensation for investment banking services to the Company?
Yes|[ ] No [ ]
Note:  If “no” to Section 3(b), the Commission’s staff has indicated that you should be identified as an underwriter in the Registration Statement.
(c) Are you an affiliate of a broker-dealer?
Yes|[ ] No [ ]

(d) If you are an affiliate of a broker-dealer, do you certify that you purchased the Registrable Securities in the ordinary course of business, and at the
time of the purchase of the Registrable Securities to be resold, you had no agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to
distribute the Registrable Securities?

Yes|[ ] No [ ]
Note:  If “no” to Section 3(d), the Commission’s staff has indicated that you should be identified as an underwriter in the Registration Statement.
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4. Beneficial Ownership of Securities of the Company Owned by the Selling Stockholder.

Except as set forth below in this Item 4, the undersigned is not the beneficial or registered owner of any securities of the Company other than the
securities issuable pursuant to the Settlement Agreement.

(a) Type and Amount of other securities beneficially owned by the Selling Stockholder:

5. Address for Notices to Selling Stockholder:
Except as set forth below, neither the undersigned nor any of its affiliates, officers, directors or principal equity holders (owners of 5% of more of the
equity securities of the undersigned) has held any position or office or has had any other material relationship with the Company (or its predecessors or
affiliates) during the past three years.

State any exceptions here:

The undersigned agrees to promptly notify the Company of any inaccuracies or changes in the information provided herein that may occur subsequent to
the date hereof at any time while the Registration Statement remains effective.

By signing below, the undersigned consents to the disclosure of the information contained herein in its answers to Items 1 through 5 and the inclusion of
such information in the Registration Statement and the related prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto. The undersigned understands that such
information will be relied upon by the Company in connection with the preparation or amendment of the Registration Statement and the related prospectus and any
amendments or supplements thereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, by authority duly given, has caused this Notice and Questionnaire to be executed and delivered either in
person or by its duly authorized agent.

Date: Beneficial
Owner:

By:
Name:
Title:

PLEASE FAX A COPY (OR EMAIL A .PDF COPY) OF THE COMPLETED AND EXECUTED NOTICE AND QUESTIONNAIRE, AND RETURN
THE ORIGINAL BY OVERNIGHT MAIL, TO:

Libertas Law Group, Inc.
Attention: Ruba Qashu
225 Santa Monica Boulevard, 5th Floor
Santa Monica, CA 90401
Fax: (310) 356-1922
Email: ruba@libertaslaw.com
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Exhibit 10.3

ROSENTHAL & ROSENTHAL, INC.
1370 Broadway
New York, NY 10018

March 11, 2021
Reed’s Inc.
201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park
Norwalk, CT 06851

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to the Financing Agreement entered into between us dated October 4, 2018, as amended and/or supplemented (the “Financing Agreement”).
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Financing Agreement.

This agreement (“Agreement”) hereby amends the Financing Agreement as follows:

1. Section 1.6 of the Financing Agreement is hereby amended, in its entirety, as follows:

“1.6 “Collateral Documents” shall mean any and all security agreements, deposit account control agreements, mortgages and other documents executed
and delivered to Lender to secure the Obligations including but not limited to the Pledged Securities, the Pledge Agreement executed by John J. Bello and Nancy
E. Bello, as Co-Trustees of THE JOHN AND NANCY BELLO REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST, under agreement dated December 3, 2012, executed
contemporaneously with this Agreement (“Pledge Agreement”) and the Control Agreement defined in the Pledge Agreement.”

2. Section 1.14 is deleted in its entirety and all references to Intercreditor Agreement in the Financing Agreement are hereby deleted by virtue of
Satisfaction, Settlement and Release of Claims dated December 11, 2020 and Termination Agreement dated December 23, 2020 which provided for,
among other things, the payment in full of the defined Junior Lender Indebtedness.

3. Section 1.17 is deleted in its entirety, and the following is added as a new Section 1.31(a):

“1.31(a) “Pledged Securities” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1”

4. Section 1.21 is amended and restated in its entirety so as to read as follows:

“1.21 “Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, this Agreement, the Pledged Securities, the Collateral Documents, and each guaranty, certificate,

agreement, or document now or hereafter executed by Borrower or any of its future guarantors and delivered to Lender in connection with the foregoing or as they
may be amended.”




5. Section 2.1 (B) (y) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety so as to read as follows:

s (y) an amount equal to one million five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000) provided that the Obligations are secured by the value of
securities having a fair market value determined by Lender on the date of this amendment of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000) and at all times
thereafter of not less than one million seven hundred sixty-five thousand dollars ($1,765,000) pledged to Lender by John J. Bello and Nancy E. Bello, as Co-
Trustees of THE JOHN AND NANCY BELLO REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST, under agreement dated December 3, 2012, held in account #1134-4851 at
Charles Schwab & Co., Inc., evidenced by that certain Pledge Agreement, and as to which Pledged Securities Lender has a first and only perfected security interest
by the Control Agreement in form and substance acceptable to Lender (the “Pledged Securities”), minus such reserves as Lender may deem, in its sole discretion,
to be necessary from time to time.”

6. Section 4.1(v) is amended and restated in its entirety so as to read as follows:

s (v) all accounts, instruments, chattel paper, documents, general intangibles, deposit accounts, investment property, and the Pledged Securities,
and all letter of credit rights, whether or not arising out of the sale of goods or rendition of services, and including choses in action, causes of action, tax refunds
(and claims), and reversions from terminated pension plans...... ”

7. Section 9.1 (2) is amended and restated in its entirety so as to read as follows:

s (2) if any person or party who has pledged, granted, issued or arranged collateral security or the Pledged Securities for the Obligations (a
“Pledgor”), shall die, dissolve, liquidate, terminate or attempt to terminate its obligations; or if there shall be any breach by such person or party of, or any default
of, any of the terms, covenants, conditions or provisions of any agreement by which Lender is secured or has a perfected security interest in such Collateral; or if a
material portion of any Collateral or the Pledged Securities for the Obligations is destroyed or lost or rendered valueless or no longer subject to insurance...... ”

8. Section 9.1 (9) is hereby deleted.

9. Section 9.1 (10) is hereby deleted.

10. Section 9.1 (11) is amended and restated in its entirety so as to read as follows:
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11. if at any time the fair market value of the Pledged Securities as determined by Lender is less than one million seven hundred sixty-five thousand
dollars ( $1,765,000) and is not restored within three (3) business days to a value of two million dollars ($2,000,000) in substance satisfactory to
Lender as provided in the Pledge Agreement;

11. Section 9.1 (12) is deleted in its entirety.
12. Section 9.1(ii) is amended and restated to the extent set forth below so as to read as follows:

......... (ii) Lender shall have the right (in addition to any other rights Lender may have under this Agreement or otherwise) without further notice or
demand to Borrower, to enforce payment of any Receivables or Collateral, to settle, compromise, or release in whole or in part, any amounts owing on Receivables
or Collateral, to prosecute any action, suit or proceeding with respect to Receivables or Collateral, to extend the time of payment of any and all Receivables or
Collateral, to make allowances and adjustments with respect thereto, to issue credits in Lender’s name or Borrower’s, to require additional Collateral, to reduce the
amount of the Permitted Overadvance, to reduce the amount of Loan Availability, to exercise any other remedies set forth in the Loan Documents, to sell, assign
and deliver the Receivables or Collateral (or any part thereof) and any returned, reclaimed or repossessed merchandise or other property held by Lender or by
Borrower for Lender’s account, at public or private sale, at broker’s board, for cash, upon credit or otherwise, at Lender’s sole option and discretion, and Lender
may bid or become purchaser at any such sale if public, free from any right of redemption which is hereby expressly waived. Borrower agrees that the giving of
five days’ notice by Lender, sent by ordinary mail, postage prepaid, to the mailing address of Borrower set forth in this Agreement, designating the place and time
of any public sale or the time after which any private sale or other intended disposition of the Receivables or Collateral or any other security held by Lender is to be
made, shall be deemed to be reasonable notice thereof and Borrower waives any other notice with respect thereto... .”

13. Section 11.1 is amended and restated in its entirety so as to read as follows:

If to Lender: If to Borrower:
Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. Reed’s Inc.

1370 Broadway 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park
New York, New York 10018 Norwalk, Connecticut 06851
Attn: Robert Miller Attn: Thomas J. Spisak
Facsimile: (212) 356-0989 Email: tspisak@Reedsinc.com
with a copy to with a copy to
Becker & Poliakoff LLP Paul H. Shur, Esq. Libertas Law Group Inc.
45 Broadway Ruba Qashu

17" Floor 225 Santa Monica Blvd. 5™ Floor
New York, New York 10006 Santa Monica, CA 90401
Email: pshur@beckerlawyers.com Email:ruba@libertaslaw.com

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank-Signature Page Follows]
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Except as hereinabove specifically set forth, all of the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement remain in full force and effect and shall continue
unmodified.

Very truly yours,
ROSENTHAL & ROSENTHAL, INC.

By: /s/ lan Brown

Ian Brown, Vice President
Agreed:
REED’S INC.

By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Norman E. Snyder, Jr., CEO

By: /s/ Thomas J. Spisak
Thomas J. Spisak, CFO and Secretary




Exhibit 10.8
Execution version
AGREEMENT OF AMENDMENT TO FINANCING AGREEMENT
This Agreement of Amendment to Financing Agreement (“Amendment”) is effective December 23, 2020 by and between ROSENTHAL &
ROSENTHAL, INC., a New York corporation, with an address at 1370 Broadway, New York, New York 10018 (“Lender”), and REED’S INC., a Delaware
corporation, with an address at 201 Merritt 7 Corporate Park, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851 (“Borrower”).
RECITALS
A. Lender and Borrower have executed a Financing Agreement dated October 4, 2018 (“Financing Agreement”).
B. Borrower has requested an amendment to the Financing Agreement and Lender has agreed to such modification as set forth in this Amendment.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, covenants and understandings set forth in this Amendment and the benefits to be received from
the performance of such promises, covenants and understandings, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

AGREEMENTS

1. Lender and Borrower reaffirm, consent and agree to all of the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement and the Loan Documents defined therein as
binding, effective and enforceable according to their stated terms, except to the extent that such Loan Documents are hereby expressly modified by this
Amendment.

2. In the case of any ambiguity or inconsistency between the Loan Documents and this Amendment, the language and interpretation of this Amendment is to be
deemed binding and paramount.

3. The Loan Documents (and any exhibits thereto) are hereby amended as follows:

As to the Financing Agreement:

(i) The definition of “Loan Documents” is hereby amended to include this Amendment.
(ii) Section 9.1 (12) is amended to read as follows:
“(12) if the LC is not extended or renewed to Lender’s satisfaction within sixty (60) days prior to any Renewal Date.”

4. Borrower represents and warrants that there are no Defaults or Events of Default pursuant to or defined in any of the Loan Documents, and that all warranties
and covenants which have been made or performed by Borrower in connection with the Loan Documents were true and complete when made or performed.




5. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect, in accordance with their respective terms. The parties hereto
hereby expressly confirm and reaffirm all of their respective liabilities, obligations, duties and responsibilities under and pursuant to said Loan Documents and
consent to the terms of this Amendment. Capitalized terms used in this Amendment which are not otherwise defined herein have the meaning ascribed thereto in
the Loan Documents.

6. The parties agree to sign, deliver and file any additional documents and take any other actions that may reasonably be required by Lender including, but not
limited to, affidavits, resolutions, or certificates for a full and complete consummation of the matters covered by this Amendment.

7. This Amendment is binding upon, inures to the benefit of, and is enforceable by the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties. This
Amendment is not assignable by Borrower without the prior written consent of Lender.

8. This Amendment may only be changed or amended by a written agreement signed by all of the parties. By the execution of this Amendment, Lender is not to be
deemed to consent to any future amendment to the Loan Documents. This Amendment is deemed to be part of and integrated into the Loan Documents.

9. This Amendment is governed by and is to be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of New York as though made and to be fully performed in New
York (without regard to the conflicts of law rules of New York).

10. Borrower agrees to pay all attorneys’ fees and other costs incurred by Lender or otherwise payable in connection with this Amendment (in addition to those
otherwise payable pursuant to the Loan Documents), which fees and costs are to be paid as of the date hereof.

11. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed is deemed to be an original and all of which taken together
constitute but one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment by telefacsimile or other electronic method of transmission
shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment. Any party delivering an executed counterpart of this Amendment
by telefacsimile or other electronic method of transmission also shall deliver an original executed counterpart of this Amendment but the failure to deliver an
original executed counterpart shall not affect the validity, enforceability, and binding effect of this Amendment.

THE BORROWER, FOR ITSELF, ITS SUBSIDIARIES (IF ANY) AND LENDER HEREBY WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY
IN ANY LITIGATION RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT OR THE LOAN DOCUMENTS AS AN INDUCEMENT TO THE EXECUTION OF
THIS AMENDMENT.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Amendment.

REED’S INC.

By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Name: Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Title: Chief Executive Officer

ROSENTHAL & ROSENTHAL, INC.

By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Name: Robert A. Miller
Title: Executive Vice President

[Signature Page to Agreement of Amendment to Financing Agreement|
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Exhibit 10.12
TERMINATION AGREEMENT

This TERMINATION AGREEMENT (“Termination Agreement”), effective as of December 23, 2020, is entered into by and between ROSENTHAL &
ROSENTHAL, INC., a New York corporation (“Senior Lender”) and RAPTOR/HARBOR REEDS SPV LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Junior
Lender”) and terminates that certain Subordination Agreement by and between the parties dated October 4, 2018 (“Subordination Agreement”). Capitalized terms
not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Subordination Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Junior Lender Indebtedness has been satisfied in full pursuant to that certain Satisfaction, Settlement and Release of Claims agreement
dated December 11, 2020; and

WHEREAS, Junior Lender and Senior Lender desire to terminate the Subordination Agreement and release each other from all obligations, rights,
responsibilities, and duties thereunder, including but not limited to Junior Lender’s purchase right set forth in Section 7.3 of the Subordination Agreement
(“Purchase Right”) and the Overadvance Put set forth in Section 7.4.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

1. Termination. Each of Senior Lender and Junior Lender hereby terminates the Subordination Agreement, effective as of the date hereof, and hereby agrees that
from and after the date hereof, the Subordination Agreement shall be of no further force and effect and none of the parties thereto shall have any further
obligations, rights, responsibilities or duties under such Subordination Agreement. As such, Junior Lender’s Purchase Right and Overadvance Put are hereby
terminated.

2. Entire Agreement. This Termination Agreement contains the sole and entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and
supersedes any and all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, among the parties with respect to the subject matter

hereof.

3. Successors and Assigns. This Termination Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

4. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, its construction, interpretation and enforcement, and the rights of the parties hereunder shall be determined
under, governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

5. Counterparts. This Termination Agreement may be executed in counterparts, delivered by facsimile, electronic mail (including any electronic signature
complying with the U.S. Federal E-SIGN Act of 2000) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and
validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.




IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused their duly authorized representatives to execute this Termination Agreement as of the date
first written above.

ROSENTHAL & ROSENTHAL, INC.,
a New York corporation

By: /s/ Robert Miller

Name: Robert Miller
Title: EVP

RAPTOR/HARBOR REEDS SPV LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Robert Needham

Name: Robert Needham
Title: CFO




Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of Reed’s, Inc.

None




Exhibit 22(ii)

Affiliate Guarantor of Reed’s, Inc.

On March 11, 2021, Reed’s, Inc. (“Reed’s) entered into an amendment to that certain Financing Agreement dated October 4, 2018,as amended or supplemented,
with its senior secured lender, Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (“Rosenthal”) releasing that irrevocable standby letter of credit by Daniel J. Doherty, III and Daniel J.
Doherty, III 2002 Family Trust in the amount of $1.5 million, which letter of credit served as financial collateral for certain obligations of Reed’s under the
Rosenthal credit facility, with a $2 million dollar pledge of securities to Rosenthal by John J. Bello and Nancy E. Bello, as Co-Trustees of The John and Nancy
Bello Revocable Living Trust, under trust agreement dated December 3, 2012, evidenced by that certain Pledge Agreement to Rosenthal (“Bello Pledge”). Pledged
securities do not includes securities in Reed’s, Inc.

John Bello, current Chairman and former Interim Chief Executive Officer of Reed’s, is a related party. He is also a greater than 5% beneficial owner of common
stock of Reed’s, Inc. As consideration for the Bello Pledge, Mr. Bello received 400,000 shares of Reed’s restricted stock from Reed’s.




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-1 (No. 333-221059), Forms S-3 (Nos. 333- 212206, 333-218679, 333-
220184, 333-223037, 333-229105, 333-172614, 333-164965) and Forms S-8 (Nos. 333-203469, 333-222741, 333-178623, 333-235851 and 333-252140) of
Reed’s, Inc. of our report dated March 30, 2021, relating to the financial statements of Reed’s, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and for the years then
ended, which appear in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on March 30, 2021.

/s/ Weinberg & Company, P.A.
Los Angeles, California
March 30, 2021




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Norman E. Snyder, Jr., certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2021 /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas J. Spisak, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2021 /s/ Thomas J. Spisak

Thomas J. Spisak
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2020 as filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Norman E. Snyder, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

REED’S, INC.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ Norman E. Snyder, Jr.

Norman E. Snyder, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Reed’s, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2020 as filed with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Thomas J. Spisak, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of her knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

REED’S, INC.

Date: March 30, 2021 By: /s/ Thomas J. Spisak

Thomas J. Spisak
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




